

Mayne, Kaitlin Jane (2025) Effects of empagliflozin on fluid overload, weight and blood pressure in chronic kidney disease. PhD thesis.

# https://theses.gla.ac.uk/85017/

Copyright and moral rights for this work are retained by the author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This work cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission from the author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given

Enlighten: Theses <u>https://theses.gla.ac.uk/</u> research-enlighten@glasgow.ac.uk

# Effects of empagliflozin on fluid overload, weight and blood pressure in chronic kidney disease

# Dr Kaitlin Jane Mayne MBChB (Hons) MRCP PGCert

Submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD)

to

The University of Glasgow

#### From

The School of Cardiovascular & Metabolic Health College of Medical, Veterinary and Life Sciences University of Glasgow

&

The Clinical Trial Service Unit and Epidemiological Studies Unit Nuffield Department of Population Health University of Oxford

#### **Supervisors**

Professor William G Herrington (Professor of Trials and Epidemiology of Kidney Disease, University of Oxford; Honorary Clinical Senior Lecturer\*) Professor Patrick B Mark (Professor of Nephrology\*) Dr Jennifer S Lees (Senior Clinical Research Fellow\*) \* School of Cardiovascular & Metabolic Health, University of Glasgow

Submitted October 2024

#### ABSTRACT

#### BACKGROUND

Chronic kidney disease (CKD) is common worldwide and associated with considerable morbidity and mortality, largely due to cardiovascular disease. As CKD progresses, fluid overload is a common manifestation which has both clinical and prognostic implications. Bioimpedance spectroscopy is commonly used in the dialysis setting to assess fluid status but less so in earlier stages of CKD.

Sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibitors have recently been shown to slow the progression of kidney disease and additionally have cardiovascular benefits. The underlying mechanisms of SGLT2 inhibitors remain incompletely understood but include diuretic effects and so they may reduce fluid overload. Trial reports demonstrate consistent treatment effects across a range of patient subgroups however these don't address the real-life scenario in which the highest risk patients (such as those with frailty) exhibit several characteristics in combination. Clinicians may hesitate to prescribe SGLT2 inhibitors in patients with frailty (which is common in CKD) due to perceived altered risk-benefit profile.

The hypothesis of this work is that the beneficial effects of empagliflozin (an SGLT2 inhibitor) on kidney and cardiovascular outcomes in CKD may be in part explained by fluid reduction which can be assessed using bioimpedance spectroscopy. This work will explore potential contributory mechanisms (through effects on fluid overload and blood pressure) and whether there is heterogeneity of treatment effect (focusing on frailty).

#### **METHODS**

A systematic review was conducted to inform the analysis strategy for analyses of the effects of empagliflozin on fluid overload. The full methods of the EMPA-KIDNEY trial have been reported elsewhere. In brief, 6609 patients with CKD at risk of progression with an estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR)  $\geq$ 20 and <90 mL/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup> were randomised to either empagliflozin or matching placebo. The primary outcome was the first occurrence of kidney disease progression or death from cardiovascular causes. An EMPA-KIDNEY bioimpedance substudy obtained bioimpedance measurements in

addition to routine trial procedures at the randomisation, 2- and 18-month follow-up visits in 660 participants. Weight and blood pressure were measured at all visits. "Risk of hospitalisation during follow-up" at baseline was used as the primary frailty indicator with supplementary analyses by multimorbidity, polypharmacy and health-related quality of life at baseline.

Effects of empagliflozin on fluid status, blood pressure and weight were assessed using a mixed model repeated measures (MMRM) approach; and effects on binary endpoints were assessed using Cox regression models; with adjustment for age, sex, prior diabetes, eGFR, and urinary albumin-to-creatinine ratio (uACR) in the categories used in the minimised randomisation algorithm. Pre-specified subgroups were categories of sex, diabetes, eGFR and N-terminal pro B-type natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP) and subgroup-specific treatment effects were estimated by fitting interaction terms in the MMRM or Cox models and calculating heterogeneity or trend statistics. Frailty (predicted risk of hospitalisation) was determined by logistic regression models with recorded hospitalisation (first event) as the response variable. All variables which were significantly associated (P<0.01) with hospitalisation in univariable models proceeded to inclusion in multivariable model building using forward stepwise selection and likelihood ratio tests with significance threshold P<0.01. Frailty subgroups were defined according to predicted risk of hospitalisation and relative and estimated absolute effects on the trial's primary outcome and all-cause hospitalisation were assessed.

#### RESULTS

In 620 substudy participants included in the primary assessment, compared to placebo, the study-average absolute difference in absolute "Fluid Overload" was -0.24 L (95% CI -0.38, -0.11). Effects were similar at 2- and 18-months (-0.23 [-0.37, -0.08] and -0.26 [-0.46, - 0.06] L, respectively; P value for interaction with time = 0.11) and across the pre-specified subgroups. There were no significant between-group differences in bioimpedance-derived fat or lean tissue parameters. In the bioimpedance substudy cohort, the study-average between-group difference in total body weight in kg was -0.7 kg (95% CI -1.3, -0.1), consistent with the -0.9 kg (95% CI -1.2, -0.6) difference observed in the full trial cohort. In the full trial, the effects on weight persisted over time (P for interaction = 0.47) with consistent effects across subgroups. The study-average between-group differences in

systolic and diastolic blood pressure in the full trial cohort were -2.6 mmHg (95% CI -3.3, -1.9) and -0.5 mmHg (95% CI -0.9, -0.1), respectively with similar results in the substudy cohort. There was no evidence of heterogeneity of the blood pressure lowering effect of empagliflozin when subdivided by sex, baseline eGFR or NT-proBNP but there was some evidence to suggest greater systolic blood pressure lowering in patients with diabetes (-4.1 [0.3] versus -1.9 [0.3] mmHg; heterogeneity P value = 0.001).

Overall, compared to placebo, empagliflozin reduced the risk of the primary composite outcome of kidney disease progression or cardiovascular death by 28% (HR 0.72, 95% CI 0.64-0.82), with no significant difference in relative effects by baseline frailty (P for heterogeneity all >0.05). In absolute terms, there was evidence of larger estimated benefits on the primary outcome in participants in the highest category of frailty (based on risk of hospitalisation) compared to those with lesser degrees of frailty: per 1000 participants treated, empagliflozin was estimated to result in 38 fewer primary outcomes among those in the highest frailty category compared to 14 primary outcomes avoided annually in the lowest third of frailty. Safety outcomes such as dehydration and bone fractures were more common in participants with indicators of increased frailty, but there was no significant effect of study treatment on any of these outcomes overall or among those who were most frail.

#### CONCLUSION

The findings from this thesis demonstrate that the benefits of SGLT2 inhibitor treatment extend beyond the main effects on slowing kidney disease progression and provide some mechanistic insights into how these benefits are mediated. Empagliflozin resulted in sustained reductions in "Fluid Overload", weight and blood pressure in patients with CKD with and without diabetes with no demonstrable effect on fat mass. This effect was evident even in patients with low levels of kidney function. In the studied population, the absolute benefits of empagliflozin on the primary outcome (kidney disease progression or cardiovascular death) were greater in patients with the highest levels of frailty and outweighed the absolute risks of adverse events.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ABSTRACT  |
|---|
| Background  |
| Methods   |
| Results   |
| Conclusion  |
| LIST OF TABLES  |
| LIST OF FIGURES14   |
| LIST OF DISSEMINATION ACTIVITIES17  |
| PREFACE   |
| Thesis context  |
| Background to the project   |
| Research questions  |
| Outline of thesis chapters  |
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENT   |
| AUTHOR'S DECLARATION  |
| DEFINITIONS/ABBREVIATIONS   |
| Chapter 1 – INTRODUCTION  |
| 1.1 Background – Chronic kidney disease   |
| 1.1.1 Chronic kidney disease definition and epidemiology  |
| 1.1.2 Staging and progression of chronic kidney disease   |
| 1.1.3 Complications of reduced glomerular filtration  |
| 1.2 Background – Treatment of chronic kidney disease  |
| 1.3 Background – Relevance of frailty, multimorbidity, polypharmacy and health-                                   |
| related quality of life in the treatment of chronic kidney disease  |
| 1.4 Background – Fluid overload in chronic kidney disease   |
| 1.5 Background – Bioimpedance techniques and devices  |
| <ul> <li>Background – Applications of bioimpedance spectroscopy in CKD &amp; heart failure</li> <li>47</li> </ul> |

| 1.6.1       | Applications in dialysis context                                      | 48      |
|-------------|---|---------|
| 1.6.2       | Applications in non-dialysis CKD                                      | 55      |
| 1.6.3       | Applications in heart failure   | 57      |
| 1.7 Ai      | ms of the thesis  | 59      |
| Chapter 2 – | METHODS   | 62      |
| 2.1 Sy      | stematic review of bioimpedance-derived fluid overload and associatio | ns with |
| clinical of | utcomes in CKD and heart failure                                      | 62      |
| 2.1.1       | Review conception and protocol registration                           | 62      |
| 2.1.2       | PI(E)COS framework  | 64      |
| 2.1.3       | Exclusion criteria  | 64      |
| 2.1.4       | Exposures and comparisons   | 65      |
| 2.1.5       | Outcomes  | 65      |
| 2.1.6       | Search strategy   | 66      |
| 2.1.7       | Data extraction and reporting   | 67      |
| 2.1.8       | Risk of bias in individual studies                                    | 67      |
| 2.1.9       | Summary measures  | 68      |
| 2.1.10      | Synthesis of results  | 68      |
| 2.2 Me      | ethods of the EMPA-KIDNEY trial                                       | 68      |
| 2.2.1       | Clinical assessments in the full trial cohort                         | 69      |
| 2.2.2       | Laboratory assessments in the full trial cohort                       | 69      |
| 2.3 Bi      | oimpedance substudy: design and conduct                               | 70      |
| 2.3.1       | Substudy design   | 70      |
| 2.3.2       | Substudy training   | 70      |
| 2.3.3       | Data capture  | 71      |
| 2.3.4       | Initial data quality assessment                                       | 72      |
| 2.3.5       | Data storage  | 72      |
| 2.3.6       | Accompanying data   | 72      |
| 2.3.7       | Data extraction and transfer  | 73      |
|             |   |         |

| 2    | 2.3.  | 8 Derivation of analysis parameters                                     | 73   |
|------|-------|---|------|
| 2    | 2.3.  | 9 Data cleaning   | 75   |
| 2.4  |       | Bioimpedance substudy: Data quality assessment                          | 76   |
| 2    | 2.4.  | 1 Cole-Cole plots   | 76   |
| 2    | 2.4.  | 2 Original proposed data quality assessment criteria                    | 79   |
| 2    | 2.4.  | 3 Pilot data quality assessment   | 79   |
| 2    | 2.4.  | 4 Revised data quality assessment criteria                              | 80   |
| 2.5  |       | Bioimpedance substudy: Analysis   | 88   |
| 2    | 2.5.  | 1 Baseline characteristics  | 88   |
| 2    | 2.5.  | 2 Bioimpedance-derived "Fluid Overload" terminology                     | 89   |
| 2    | 2.5.  | 3 Time windows  | 93   |
| 2    | 2.5.  | 4 Weighting of measurements   | 93   |
| 2    | 2.5.  | 5 Substudy outcomes   | 94   |
| 2.6  |       | Frailty analysis  | 96   |
| 2.7  |       | Statistical methods   | 99   |
| 2    | 2.7.  | 1 Handling of missing and duplicate data                                | 101  |
| 2    | 2.7.  | 2 Sensitivity analyses in the bioimpedance substudy                     | 103  |
| 2    | 2.7.  | 3 Methods of additional supplementary analyses in the full trial cohort | 103  |
| 2    | 2.7.  | 4 Predicted risk of hospitalisation                                     | 104  |
| 2    | 2.7.  | 5 Estimated absolute effects  | 106  |
| Chap | ter í | 3 – SYSTEMATIC REVIEW OF BIOIMPEDANCE-DERIVED FLUID                     |      |
| OVE  | RLO   | DAD AND ASSOCIATIONS WITH CLINICAL OUTCOMES IN CKD AND                  |      |
| HEAI | RT    | FAILURE   | .107 |
| 3.1  |       | Introduction  | .107 |
| 3.2  |       | Results   | .108 |
|      | 3.2.  | 1 Search results  | 108  |
|      | 3.2.  | 2 Study characteristics   | .110 |
| ŝ    | 3.2.  | 3 Measurement of fluid status   | .115 |
|      | 3.2.  | 4 All-cause mortality   | 117  |

| 3.2.5       | Cardiovascular outcomes   | 120  |
|-------------|---|------|
| 3.2.6       | Progression of CKD  | .121 |
| 3.2.7       | Risk of bias  | .125 |
| 3.3 Di      | scussion  | .126 |
| Chapter 4 – | EFFECTS OF EMPAGLIFLOZIN ON BIOIMPEDANCE-DERIVED FLU                        | ЛD   |
| OVERLOA     | D   | .130 |
| 4.1 Int     | roduction   | 130  |
| 4.2 Re      | esults  | .131 |
| 4.2.1       | Substudy participants, completeness, data quality and adherence             | .131 |
| 4.2.2       | Baseline characteristics  | .135 |
| 4.2.3       | Correlation between bioimpedance-derived fluid overload and other           |      |
| charact     | teristics at baseline   | .139 |
| 4.2.4       | Effects on "Fluid Overload" as a continuous variable                        | .143 |
| 4.2.5.      | Effects on the composite of categorical fluid overload outcomes and heart   |      |
| failure     | 146   |      |
| 4.2.6       | Effects on extracellular and intracellular water                            | .148 |
| 4.2.7       | Effects on dehydration adverse events and diuretic use                      | 148  |
| 4.3 Di      | scussion  | .149 |
| Chapter 5 – | EFFECTS OF EMPAGLIFLOZIN ON BODY COMPOSITION                                | .153 |
| 5.1 Int     | roduction   | .153 |
| 5.2 Re      | sults   | .154 |
| 5.2.1       | Effects of empagliflozin on bioimpedance-derived adiposity parameters       | .154 |
| 5.2.2       | Post-hoc analyses of the effects of empagliflozin on extracellular and      |      |
| intrace     | llular resistance   | 154  |
| 5.2.3       | Effects of empagliflozin on weight, body mass index and waist-to-hip rati   | o in |
| the full    | l trial cohort and bioimpedance substudy                                    | 156  |
| 5.2.4       | Effects of empagliflozin on related biochemical parameters in the full tria | 1    |
| cohort      | and bioimpedance substudy   | 161  |
| 5.3 Di      | scussion  | 162  |

| Chapter 6 – | EFFECTS OF EMPAGLIFLOZIN ON BLOOD PRESSURE                                | .165  |
|-------------|---|-------|
| 6.1 Int     | troduction  | .165  |
| 6.2 Re      | esults  | .165  |
| 6.2.1       | Effects of empagliflozin on systolic and diastolic blood pressure         | .165  |
| 6.2.2       | Effects of empagliflozin on pulse pressure and mean arterial pressure     | .171  |
| 6.2.3       | Effects of empagliflozin on anthropometry, blood pressure and laboratory  | 7     |
| parame      | eters by race   | .173  |
| 6.3 Di      | scussion  | .174  |
| Chapter 7 – | IMPACT OF FRAILTY, MULTIMORBIDITY, POLYPHARMACY AND                       | )     |
| HEALTH-F    | RELATED QUALITY OF LIFE ON THE EFFECTS OF EMPAGLIFLOZI                    | N     |
|             |   | .178  |
| 7.1 Int     | troduction  | .178  |
| 7.2 Re      | esults  | .179  |
| 7.2.1       | Derivation of frailty   | .179  |
| 7.2.2       | Frailty indicators and baseline characteristics                           | .182  |
| 7.2.3       | Adherence to study treatment  | .187  |
| 7.2.4       | Effects of empagliflozin on the primary outcome by frailty indicators     | .187  |
| 7.2.5       | Effects of empagliflozin on key secondary outcomes by frailty indicators  | .189  |
| 7.2.6       | Effects of empagliflozin on safety outcomes by frailty indicators         | .196  |
| 7.2.7       | Aggregated absolute effects of empagliflozin by frailty indicators        | .201  |
| 7.2.8       | Effects of empagliflozin on bioimpedance parameters by frailty indicators | \$203 |
| 7.3 Di      | scussion  | .205  |
| Chapter 8 – | FINAL DISCUSSION  | .208  |
| 8.1 Su      | ımmary of findings  | .208  |
| 8.2 Im      | plications  | .212  |
| 8.2.1       | Patients  | .212  |
| 8.2.2       | Clinicians  | .213  |
| 8.2.3       | Researchers   | .214  |
| 8.3 Fu      | ture directions   | .215  |

| 8.4   | Conclusions |     |
|-------|-------------|-----|
| DEFED |             | 210 |
| REFER | ENCES       |     |

## LIST OF TABLES

| Table 1-1: Existing literature on the effects of SGLT2 inhibition on fluid status           | 43    |
|---|-------|
| Table 1-2: Trials of bioimpedance as an intervention  | 51    |
| Table 1-3: Ongoing/published trials using bioimpedance for eligibility/supplementary        |       |
| assessment  | 52    |
| Table 2-1: Existing systematic review and meta-analyses summarising associations            |       |
| between bioimpedance-derived fluid excess and clinical outcomes in CKD/heart failur         | re    |
| populations   | 63    |
| Table 2-2: PI(E)COS framework   | 64    |
| Table 2-3: Systematic review outcome definitions  | 66    |
| Table 2-4: Kidney disease outcome nomenclature  | 66    |
| Table 2-5: Summary of original and revised data quality criteria identifying measurem       | ients |
| for Cole-Cole plot review   | 87    |
| Table 2-6: Description of "Fluid Overload" parameters applied in the EMPA-KIDNE             | Y     |
| bioimpedance substudy   | 90    |
| Table 2-7: "Fluid Overload" thresholds used in previous cohort studies employing the        |       |
| BCM   | 92    |
| Table 2-8: Scheduled follow-up visits relative to the randomisation visit date              | 93    |
| Table 2-9: Variables assessed as potential predictors of hospitalisation                    | 97    |
| Table 2-10: Composition of multimorbidity subgroups   | 98    |
| Table 3-1: Studies with multiple reports identified   | 109   |
| Table 3-2: Summary of characteristics of identified cohorts                                 | 110   |
| Table 3-3: Study characteristics for all included CKD cohorts                               | 111   |
| Table 3-4: Study characteristics for all included heart failure cohorts                     | 112   |
| Table 3-5: Baseline participant characteristics from CKD cohorts                            | 113   |
| Table 3-6: Baseline participant characteristics from heart failure cohorts                  | 114   |
| Table 3-7: Summary of bioimpedance indices of fluid status employed in included stu         | dies  |
| Table 3-8: Associations between fluid excess and risk of all-cause mortality in CKD cohorts | 118   |
| Table 3-9: Associations between fluid excess and risk of all-cause mortality in heart       |       |
| failure cohorts   | 119   |
| Table 3-10: Associations between fluid excess and risk of cardiovascular outcomes in        |       |
| CKD cohorts   | 122   |

| Table 3-11: Associations between fluid excess and risk of cardiovascular outcomes in heart     |
|--|
| failure cohorts123   |
| Table 3-12: Associations between fluid excess and risk of kidney disease progression124        |
| Table 3-13: Risk of bias assessment for all included studies                                   |
| Table 4-1: Summary of valid, invalid and missing BCM measurements131                           |
| Table 4-2: Reasons for measurements being deemed invalid                                       |
| Table 4-3: Number of participants with valid measurements by visit                             |
| Table 4-4: Distribution of BCM quality scores (Q values)                                       |
| Table 4-5: Key baseline characteristics of the bioimpedance substudy population136             |
| Table 4-6: Additional baseline characteristics of the bioimpedance substudy population 137     |
| Table 4-7: Baseline characteristics of the substudy population relative to trial regions139    |
| Table 4-8: Key baseline characteristics according to baseline fluid status         142         |
| Table 4-9: Effects of empagliflozin on bioimpedance-derived parameters143                      |
| Table 4-10: Sensitivity analyses145  |
| Table 4-11: Effects of empagliflozin on cardiovascular composite outcome (bioimpedance         |
| substudy cohort)147  |
| Table 4-12: Effects of empagliflozin on tertiary bioimpedance-derived parameters by time       |
|  |
| Table 4-13: Effects of empagliflozin on dehydration       149                                  |
| Table 5-1: Effects of empagliflozin on bioimpedance-derived adiposity parameters155            |
| Table 5-2: Effects of empagliflozin on extracellular and intracellular resistance155           |
| Table 5-3: Effects of empagliflozin on weight (kg)156  |
| Table 5-4: Effects of empagliflozin on body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )160                 |
| Table 5-5: Effects of empagliflozin on waist-to-hip ratio                                      |
| Table 5-6: Effects of empagliflozin on HbA1c (mmol/mol)    161                                 |
| Table 5-7: Effects of empagliflozin on haematocrit (%)    162                                  |
| Table 6-1: Effects of empagliflozin on systolic and diastolic blood pressure166                |
| Table 6-2: Effects of empagliflozin on pulse pressure and mean arterial pressure in the full   |
| trial cohort171  |
| Table 7-1: Univariable associations with hospitalisation: continuous                           |
| Table 7-2: Univariable associations with hospitalisation: categorical & binary variables 180   |
| Table 7-3: Incremental impact of each variable in the final multivariable model                |
| Table 7-4: Final multivariable model used to predict risk of hospitalisation                   |
| Table 7-5: Characteristics of participants at recruitment by predicted risk of hospitalisation |
| 183  |

| Table 7-6: Reasons for discontinuing randomised treatment                      | 187 |
|--|-----|
| Table 7-7: Primary and secondary outcomes by predicted risk of hospitalisation | 192 |
| Table 7-8: Primary and secondary outcomes by multimorbidity                    | 193 |
| Table 7-9: Primary and secondary outcomes by concomitant medication count      | 194 |
| Table 7-10: Primary and secondary outcomes by health-related quality of life   | 195 |
| Table 7-11: Safety outcomes by predicted risk of hospitalisation               | 197 |
| Table 7-12: Safety outcomes by multimorbidity                                  | 198 |
| Table 7-13: Safety outcomes by concomitant medication count                    | 199 |
| Table 7-14: Safety outcomes by health-related quality of life                  | 200 |

## LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure 1-1: KDIGO staging of CKD (KDIGO, 2024)   | 34  |
|--|-----|
| Figure 1-2: Summary of whole-body bioimpedance methods                                   | 44  |
| Figure 1-3: Relationship of the derived "Fluid Overload" parameter to body weight and    |     |
| tissue mass  | 46  |
| Figure 1-4: Potential roles for bioimpedance spectroscopy in CKD                         | 56  |
| Figure 2-1: BCM electrode placement  | 71  |
| Figure 2-2: BCM device set-up and data card  | 71  |
| Figure 2-3: Excerpt from Moissl et al paper illustrating the formulae (formulae 9 to 12) |     |
| used to calculate extracellular and intracellular water volumes                          | 75  |
| Figure 2-4: Bland-Altman plot showing agreement of manually-derived OH with BCM-         |     |
| computer OH to validate the methods used for substudy analyses (figure provided by       |     |
| collaborators)   | 75  |
| Figure 2-5: Interpretation of the Cole-Cole plot   | 77  |
| Figure 2-6: Examples of good ("pass") and poor ("fail") quality bioimpedance data        |     |
| (according to the principles in the box above)   | 78  |
| Figure 2-7: Expected associations based on the Cole-Cole plot                            | 78  |
| Figure 2-8: Extreme positive outliers  | 82  |
| Figure 2-9: Extreme negative outliers  | 83  |
| Figure 2-10: Identification of the -5 L extreme outlier cut-off                          | 84  |
| Figure 2-11: Application of a -6 L cut-off and inappropriate inclusion of poor quality   |     |
| measurements   | 84  |
| Figure 2-12: Application of a -4 L cut-off and inappropriate exclusion of two            |     |
| measurements of acceptable data quality  | 84  |
| Figure 2-13: Cole-Cole plots for measurements with multiple measurements on the same     | е   |
| card   | 85  |
| Figure 3-1: PRISMA flow diagram  | 108 |
| Figure 4-1: Bioimpedance substudy cohort CONSORT flowchart                               | 132 |
| Figure 4-2: Correlation between "Fluid Overload" and NT-proBNP                           | 140 |
| Figure 4-3: Correlations between "Fluid Overload" and other laboratory parameters        | 140 |
| Figure 4-4: Correlation between "Fluid Overload" and blood pressure                      | 141 |
| Figure 4-5: Effects of empagliflozin on "Fluid Overload" by time                         | 144 |
| Figure 4-6: Distribution of time to bioimpedance measurement                             | 144 |
| Figure 4-7: Effects on absolute "Fluid Overload" by pre-specified subgroups              | 145 |
| Figure 4-8: Effects on absolute "Fluid Overload" by post-hoc subgroups                   | 146 |

| Figure 4-9: Effects on the composite cardiovascular secondary outcome                         |
|---|
| Figure 5-1: Effects of empagliflozin on weight (kg) in the full trial cohort by key           |
| bioimpedance substudy pre-specified subgroups157  |
| Figure 5-2: Effects of empagliflozin on weight over time in (i) the substudy population; (ii) |
| the full trial cohort applying two time windows (as per substudy approach); and (iii) the     |
| full trial cohort using all available data158   |
| Figure 5-3: Sensitivity analysis applying two time window approach in subgroup analyses       |
| of effects on weight in the (i) substudy and (ii) full trial cohorts                          |
| Figure 6-1: Effects of empagliflozin on systolic blood pressure in the full trial cohort by   |
| key bioimpedance substudy pre-specified subgroups167  |
| Figure 6-2: Effects of empagliflozin on systolic blood pressure in the full trial cohort by   |
| additional post-hoc subgroups167  |
| Figure 6-3: Effects of empagliflozin on systolic and diastolic blood pressure over time in    |
| (i) the substudy population; (ii) the full trial cohort applying two time windows (as per     |
| substudy approach); and (iii) the full trial cohort using all available data169               |
| Figure 6-4: Sensitivity analysis applying two time window approach in subgroup analyses       |
| of effects on systolic blood pressure in the (i) substudy and (ii) full trial cohorts170      |
| Figure 6-5: Effects of empagliflozin over time on systolic blood pressure, pulse pressure,    |
| diastolic blood pressure and mean arterial pressure in the full trial cohort                  |
| Figure 6-6: Effects of empagliflozin in the full trial cohort by race                         |
| Figure 7-1: Performance of the final multivariable logistic regression model                  |
| Figure 7-2: Associations between predicted risk of hospitalisation and multimorbidity;        |
| polypharmacy; and health-related quality of life185   |
| Figure 7-3: Number of participants in the top thirds of predicted risk of hospitalisation     |
| (>35%), multimorbidity ( $\geq$ 3 conditions excluding chronic kidney disease) and            |
| polypharmacy (≥9 concomitant medications) showing degrees of overlap186                       |
| Figure 7-4: Number of participants in the highest level of frailty (defined as predicted risk |
| of hospitalisation >45%) in EMPA-KIDNEY showing overlap with conventional                     |
| definitions of multimorbidity and polypharmacy186   |
| Figure 7-5: Effects of empagliflozin on the primary outcome of kidney disease progression     |
| or cardiovascular death by frailty indicators   |
| Figure 7-6: All hospitalisations grouped by cause   |
| Figure 7-7: Effects of empagliflozin on recurrent all-cause hospitalisations by frailty       |
| indicators  |

| Figure 7-8: Effects of empagliflozin versus placebo on weight and blood pressure by frailty |
|---|
|   |
| Figure 7-9: Absolute benefits and harms of empagliflozin per 1000 patient-years by frailty  |
|   |
| Figure 7-10: Associations between predicted risk of hospitalisation and bioimpedance        |
| parameters at baseline  |
| Figure 7-11: Associations between multimorbidity and bioimpedance parameters at             |
| baseline  |
| Figure 7-12: Associations between polypharmacy and bioimpedance parameters at baseline      |
|   |
| Figure 7-13: Associations between HRQoL (EQ5D index) and bioimpedance parameters at         |
| baseline204   |
| Figure 7-14: Effect of empagliflozin on absolute "Fluid Overload" (L) by predicted risk of  |
| hospitalisation   |

## LIST OF DISSEMINATION ACTIVITIES

#### PEER-REVIEWED PUBLICATIONS DIRECTLY ARISING FROM THIS THESIS

- Mayne KJ, Sardell RJ, Staplin N, Judge PK, Zhu D, Sammons E et al. Frailty, multimorbidity and polypharmacy: exploratory analyses of the effects of empagliflozin from the EMPA-KIDNEY trial. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol*. 2024 Sep;19(9):1119–29. doi: 10.2215/CJN.00000000000498. PMID: 38949880; PMCID: PMC11390031.
- Mayne KJ, Staplin N, Keane DF, Wanner C, Brenner S, Cejka V et al. Effects of Empagliflozin on Fluid Overload, Weight and Blood Pressure in Chronic Kidney Disease. *J Am Soc Nephrol.* 2024 Feb 1;35(2):202-215. doi: 10.1681/ASN.00000000000271. PMID: 38082486; PMCID: PMC7615589.
- Mayne KJ, Shemilt R, Keane DF, Lees JS, Mark PB, Herrington WG. Bioimpedance indices of fluid overload and cardiorenal outcomes in heart failure and chronic kidney disease: a systematic review. *J Card Fail*. 2022;28(11):1628-1641. doi: 10.1016/j.cardfail.2022.08.005. PMID: 36038013; PMCID: PMC7613800.
- Mayne KJ, Lees JS, Herrington WG. Bioimpedance in CKD: an untapped resource? *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. 2022;38(3):583-585. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfac275. PMID: 36260361; PMCID: PMC9976732.

#### SUPPLEMENTARY PEER-REVIEWED PUBLICATIONS

- Mayne KJ, Sardell RJ, Staplin N, Judge PK, Zhu D, Sammons E et al. Empagliflozin lowers serum uric acid in chronic kidney disease: exploratory analyses from the EMPA-KIDNEY trial. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. 2024 Sep 14:gfae203. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfae203. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 39277784; PMCID: PMC7616479.
- Fletcher RA, Herrington WG, Agarwal R, Mayne KJ, Arnott C, Jardine MJ et al. Effects of SGLT2 inhibitors on cause-specific cardiovascular death in patients with chronic kidney disease: a meta-analysis of CKD progression trials. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* 2024 Sep. doi: 10.2215/CJN.000000000000470. PMID: 38622766; PMCID: PMC11390023.
- Nangaku M... Mayne KJ... et al. Effects of empagliflozin in patients with chronic kidney disease from Japan: exploratory analyses from EMPA-KIDNEY. *Clin Exp Nephrol.* 2024 Jun;28(6):588-595. doi: 10.1007/s10157-024-02489-4. PMID: 38643286; PMCID: PMC11116192.

- Judge PK, Staplin N, Mayne KJ, Wanner C, Green JB, Hauske SJ et al. on behalf of EMPA-KIDNEY Collaborative Group. Impact of Primary Kidney Disease on the Effects of Empagliflozin in Patients with Chronic Kidney Disease. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* 2023 Dec 4. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(23)00322-4. PMID: 38061372.
- EMPA-KIDNEY Collaborative Group including Mayne KJ. Effects of empagliflozin on progression of chronic kidney disease: a pre-specified secondary analysis from the EMPA-KIDNEY trial. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* 2023 Dec 4. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(23)00321-2. PMID: 38061371; PMCID: PMC7615591.
- Mayne KJ, Preiss D, Herrington WG. SGLT2 inhibitors in CKD and HFpEF: two new large trials and two new meta-analyses. *Br J Cardiol*. 2023;30:7-9. doi: 10.5837/bjc.2023.003. PMID: 37705832; PMCID: PMC10495762.
- Staplin N, Haynes R, Mayne KJ, Roddick AJ, Neuen BL, Hauske SJ et al. Impact of diabetes on the effects of sodium glucose co-transporter-2 inhibitors on kidney outcomes: collaborative meta-analysis of large placebo-controlled trials. *Lancet*. 2022;400(10365):1788-1801. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(22)02074-8. PMID: 36351458; PMCID: PMC7613836.
- EMPA-KIDNEY Collaborative Group including Mayne KJ. Empagliflozin in Patients with Chronic Kidney Disease. *N Engl J Med.* 388(2):117-127. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2204233. PMID: 36331190; PMCID: PMC7614055.
- EMPA-KIDNEY Collaborative Group including Mayne KJ. Design, recruitment, and baseline characteristics of the EMPA-KIDNEY trial. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. 2022; 37(7):1317-1329. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfac040. PMID: 35238940; PMCID: PMC9217655.

## SCIENTIFIC PRESENTATIONS AND ABSTRACTS

- Oral presentation ("Free Communication" highest scoring abstracts) at the European Renal Association Congress, May 2024 Title: 'The impact of multimorbidity on the effects of empagliflozin in chronic kidney disease (CKD): exploratory analyses from the EMPA-KIDNEY trial'
- Poster presentation at the International Society of Nephrology World Congress of Nephrology, Apr 2024
   Title: 'The impact of frailty on the effects of empagliflozin: *post-hoc* analyses from the EMPA-KIDNEY trial'
- 3. Poster presentation at the American Society of Nephrology Kidney Week, Nov 2023

Title: 'Effects of empagliflozin on weight & blood pressure in chronic kidney disease: analyses from the EMPA-KIDNEY trial'

- 4. Oral presentation ("Free Communication" highest scoring abstracts) at the European Renal Association Congress, Jun 2023 Title: 'Effects of empagliflozin on fluid overload in chronic kidney disease: an EMPA-KIDNEY bioimpedance substudy'
- Poster presentation at Oxford Population Health 10<sup>th</sup> Anniversary Symposium, Jun 2023

Title: 'Effects of empagliflozin on fluid overload in chronic kidney disease: an EMPA-KIDNEY bioimpedance substudy'

 Co-author oral presentation at the American Society of Nephrology (ASN) Kidney Week, Nov 2022

Title: 'Sodium glucose co-transporter-2 (SGLT2) inhibitors among patients with and without diabetes: collaborative meta-analysis of large placebo-controlled trials' Authors: Natalie Staplin, Kaitlin J. Mayne, Richard Haynes, William G. Herrington

## INVITED PRESENTATIONS

- Invited speaker, Clinical Trial Service Unit and Epidemiological Studies Unit (CTSU) Joint Annual Collaborator Meeting, May 2024 & Annual Symposium June 2024, Nuffield Department of Population Health, University of Oxford Title: 'Too frail for flozins?'
- Invited speaker, Oxford Kidney Unit Academic Meeting, Dec 2023 & May 2024 Title: 'Results from the EMPA-KIDNEY bioimpedance substudy' &
- Invited speaker, South West Renal Meeting, Jul 2023
   Title: 'Results from the EMPA-KIDNEY trial'
- Invited plenary speaker, Scottish Renal Association Annual Conference, Nov 2022 Title: 'Results from the EMPA-KIDNEY trial'

#### PREFACE

#### THESIS CONTEXT

EMPA-KIDNEY was a multicentre randomised double-blind placebo-controlled clinical trial of the sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 inhibitor, empagliflozin versus placebo to assess cardiovascular and kidney outcomes in patients with chronic kidney disease at risk of progression. A formal interim analysis in March 2022 found that the trial had met the pre-specified criteria for stopping early for efficacy. The trial therefore closed in July 2022 and the main results were reported in November 2022 in the *New England Journal of Medicine* (EMPA-KIDNEY Collaborative Group, 2023). The doctoral research project is based on data collected from the EMPA-KIDNEY trial which I had direct access to as a Clinical Research Fellow, working with the Renal Studies Group at the central coordinating office (Nuffield Department of Population Health, University of Oxford) full-time for three years (2021-2024).

EMPA-KIDNEY was initiated, designed, conducted and analysed by the Renal Studies Group. My role in the group included development and implementation of trial procedures; monitoring the safety of trial participants day-to-day and providing advice for clinicians caring for trial participants around the world, and adjudication of trial outcomes. I therefore had a key role in data collection and co-authoring key manuscripts from the trial (as a member of the trial's Steering Committee). The main EMPA-KIDNEY results are briefly discussed in Chapter 1 and do not form part of this thesis.

A 660-participant subset of the trial's 6609 participants were enrolled in an optional bioimpedance substudy which forms the basis of this doctoral research project and is reported herein. Results presented within this thesis are only those I have personally analysed (unless otherwise stated). The bioimpedance substudy had been fully recruited at the beginning of this doctoral project but I then took over responsibility for the day-to-day running and delivery of the substudy in October 2021 under the supervision of the trial's Principal Investigators. I coordinated substudy operations, drafted the data analysis plan (with supervision from the Chief Investigator and trial statistician) and conducted all of the data cleaning and statistical analyses of the substudy.

Once the main results of the trial were published, I was afforded access to the main trial dataset and, in addition to analyses of the bioimpedance substudy population, was then able to conduct related analyses in the complete trial population to explore effects on anthropometry, blood pressure and the impact of frailty (as well multimorbidity, polypharmacy and health-related quality of life) as reported herein.

My doctoral project was completed as part of a unique collaboration between the University of Oxford and the University of Glasgow. Data were generated by the University of Oxford which necessitated residing in Oxford for the duration of this doctoral research programme and studying under University of Glasgow "furth of Glasgow" regulations. This was possible due to existing links with the University of Glasgow where I held Honorary Clinical Lecturer status in association with a West of Scotland National Training Number in Renal and General Internal Medicine. A highly effective supervisory arrangement developed via approximately monthly virtual meetings with supervisors from both institutions supplemented with in-person meetings several times per year often at conferences. Lead University of Glasgow supervisor Professor Patrick Mark signed a confidentiality disclosure agreement to allow sharing of confidential results necessary for the supervision of my project without direct access to data which could be accessed by myself and Professor Will Herrington. Funding for the EMPA-KIDNEY trial was from Boehringer Ingelheim and Eli Lilly (along with core departmental funding to the University of Oxford from the UK Medical Research Council, the British Heart Foundation, the National Institute for Health and Care Research Biomedical Research Council, and Health Data Research UK) paid my salary and tuition fees as a result of competitive application to the post of Clinical Research Fellow.

#### BACKGROUND TO THE PROJECT

Chronic kidney disease (CKD) is common worldwide and associated with considerable morbidity and mortality, largely through associated cardiovascular disease burden. CKD has numerous causes with diabetes and hypertension among the most common. CKD is a progressive condition which may eventually necessitate kidney replacement therapy by dialysis or kidney transplantation. Treatments to slow the progression of CKD have, for many decades, been very limited. In recent decades, disease-modifying treatment has focused on renin-angiotensin system (RAS) inhibitors which were shown, in large randomised controlled trials of patients with diabetes, to reduce proteinuria and progression of kidney disease as well as modestly reducing blood pressure in CKD. Additional treatments are desperately needed to further reduce the burden of progressive CKD.

Sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibitors which were originally developed to lower blood glucose in the treatment of type 2 diabetes were incidentally found to have beneficial effects on cardiovascular and renal outcomes in safety trials (Zinman et al., 2015, Neal et al., 2017). This led to the dedicated testing of these agents in heart failure populations in which exploratory analyses suggested the drugs may also have kidneyprotective effects. This hypothesis was confirmed in the CREDENCE trial assessing kidney disease outcomes in a population with type 2 diabetes (Perkovic et al., 2019). Hypotheses emerged that SGLT2 inhibitors may also be efficacious in patients without diabetes, hypotheses which were again confirmed in further trials in heart failure populations without diabetes (Packer et al., 2020, Anker et al., 2021, Solomon et al., 2022, McMurray et al., 2019). There was therefore a need to test these drugs in a dedicated CKD trial in patients with and without diabetes which led to the design of EMPA-KIDNEY. A similar trial, the DAPA-CKD trial, of the SGLT2 inhibitor dapagliflozin ran in parallel and reported in late 2020. The results of DAPA-CKD showed that dapagliflozin reduced the risk of a composite kidney disease progression or cardiovascular death outcome by 29% (hazard ratio 0.71, 95% confidence interval 0.55-0.92) (Heerspink et al., 2020). DAPA-CKD studied 4304 participants with CKD with an estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) between 25 and 75 mL/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup> and a urinary albumin-to-creatinine ratio (uACR) of 200-5000 mg/g; two-thirds of whom had type 2 diabetes. The EMPA-KIDNEY trial would extend these findings having recruited a larger population of 6609 participants and address remaining uncertainty in certain patient groups namely those with CKD

22

without diabetes (69% had a non-diabetic cause of kidney disease) and those with lower levels of eGFR and low levels of or no detectable albuminuria.

Although the benefits of SGLT2 inhibitors in diabetes, heart failure and CKD have been increasingly recognised and are now well-established, the underlying mechanisms remain incompletely understood. Benefits were originally largely attributed to glycosuric effects however the persistence of effect in individuals without diabetes challenged this hypothesis. Amongst other mechanisms, the diuretic and natriuretic properties of SGLT2 inhibitors are thought to play a role however this has not been properly evaluated, particularly in CKD. Large randomised trials, in addition to testing key hypotheses, offer opportunities to conduct additional analyses seeking to better understand the mechanisms underlying the observed effects on primary efficacy outcomes. The EMPA-KIDNEY trial therefore included a substudy in an approximate 10% subset of the recruited population incorporating additional assessments using bioimpedance measurements at randomisation and twice during scheduled follow-up. The substudy was conceived with the aim of better understanding the effects of empagliflozin on fluid status and body composition to contribute to mechanistic understanding. Once the main results of the trial and substudy were known, additional exploratory analyses were possible to complement pre-specified analyses where these were deemed scientifically and clinically important and approved by the trial's Steering Committee. To contextualise results of the bioimpedance substudy, expanded analyses were conducted of the effects of empagliflozin on anthropometry, blood pressure and related laboratory parameters in the whole trial population. The results of the EMPA-KIDNEY trial informed clinical guideline updates, extending the use of SGLT2 inhibitors in patients with CKD. The United Kingdom Kidney Association's updated guidelines, published in 2023, acknowledged the need to take account of frailty and multimorbidity and consider the balance of disease and treatment burden when prescribing SGLT2 inhibition in CKD. In order to provide randomised evidence to specifically support such clinical decisions, the impact of frailty (and related metrics) were analysed and related to effects on body water and composition as discussed in this thesis.

The following pages outline the research questions addressed in this doctoral research project and provide an outline of thesis chapters.

## **RESEARCH QUESTIONS**

## **HYPOTHESIS**

The hypothesis of this thesis is that empagliflozin (and the sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 inhibitor class of drugs) has beneficial effects on kidney and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with CKD which may be in part explained by effects on fluid status which can be assessed using bioimpedance spectroscopy. I will explore potential contributory mechanisms (through effects on fluid overload, body composition and blood pressure) and whether there is heterogeneity of treatment effect (focusing on indicators of patients who may be vulnerable to diuresis and blood pressure lowering).

These research questions and associated objectives outlined below are expanded upon in 1.7 Aims of the thesis.

## **RESEARCH QUESTION 1**

Is bioimpedance spectroscopy a valuable tool in clinical and research settings in nondialysis chronic kidney disease - what are the associations between bioimpedance-derived fluid overload and clinical outcomes?

## **RESEARCH QUESTION 2**

What are the effects of empagliflozin on fluid status estimated by bioimpedance spectroscopy?

## **RESEARCH QUESTION 3**

What are the effects of empagliflozin on body composition and is weight lost due to fluid or reduced adiposity?

## **RESEARCH QUESTION 4**

What are the effects of empagliflozin on blood pressure and how do these relate to effects on fluid status?

## **RESEARCH QUESTION 5**

What is the impact of frailty, multimorbidity, polypharmacy and health-related quality of life on the effects of empagliflozin on clinical outcomes and physical measurements?

## **OUTLINE OF THESIS CHAPTERS**

**Chapter 1** provides background of the existing literature on chronic kidney disease, its treatment, fluid overload as a manifestation of chronic kidney disease and the use of bioimpedance techniques. The aims of this thesis are summarised at the end of this chapter.

**Chapter 2** details the methods for all aspects of the thesis: systematic review, EMPA-KIDNEY trial and bioimpedance substudy, frailty analyses and statistical methods.

**Chapter 3** reports the findings of a systematic review of bioimpedance-derived fluid overload and associations with clinical outcomes in CKD and heart failure (research question 1).

**Chapter 4** reports results on the effects of empagliflozin on bioimpedance-derived fluid overload (research question 2).

**Chapter 5** reports results on the effects of empagliflozin on body composition (research question 3).

**Chapter 6** reports results on the effects of empagliflozin on blood pressure (research question 4).

**Chapter 7** reports results on the impact of frailty, multimorbidity, polypharmacy and health-related quality of life on the effects of empagliflozin on clinical outcomes and physical measurements (research question 5).

**Chapter 8** summarises the key findings from chapters 3-7 in the context of existing literature and discusses implications and future directions.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I am indebted to my inspiring supervisory team of Professor William Herrington, Professor Patrick Mark and Dr Jennifer Lees. As lead University of Glasgow supervisor, I'm grateful to Professor Mark for his enthusiasm and creativity in pursuing "furth of Glasgow" doctoral study and taking me on in slightly unconventional circumstances which importantly allowed me to keep a connection with Glasgow and foster collaboration. I sincerely thank Dr Lees for her role not only as supervisor but mentor, role model and friend. It has been my privilege to be her first PhD student and having a third supervisor at an earlier career stage has added enormous value to my experience. I thank Professor Herrington for braving the Courts of Glasgow to facilitate my PhD and trusting me with analysis of EMPA-KIDNEY data. I thank him especially for exceptionally timeous and attentive review of my work amidst many other priorities.

None of this would have been possible without Professor Richard Haynes and I sincerely thank him for his unwavering support. I'm grateful, not least, to Professor Haynes (along with Professor Herrington) for employing me and paying my salary and tuition fees to the University of Glasgow with grant funding for the trial coming from Boehringer Ingelheim and Eli Lilly. It has been an incredible privilege to work on a trial such as EMPA-KIDNEY which has formed the basis of my research and I am grateful for the invaluable experience and indoctrination in large randomised trial methodology. I'm also particularly grateful for the opportunities Professors Haynes & Herrington provided for me to travel internationally to present work which has contributed importantly to my professional and personal development and my enjoyment.

This work also would not have been possible without those who supported me to conduct the analyses. Trial statistician Associate Professor Natalie Staplin provided consistent support with statistical analyses, demonstrating incredible patience and always making herself available to me. Though not officially a supervisor, these analyses would not have been possible without her support and my data programming and statistical analysis skills have flourished under her guidance. I also thank Dr Rebecca Sardell for her time and patience in verifying analyses reported in Chapter 7. I owe most of what I know about the technical aspects of bioimpedance to Dr David Keane and sincerely thank him for donating his expertise, patiently educating me on Cole-Cole plots and always making time to discuss out of genuine interest and enthusiasm. I also owe thanks to Daniele Trinca for his essential contribution in the initial processing of bioimpedance data.

I must thank friends, peers and colleagues at the Clinical Trial Service Unit and Epidemiological Studies Unit, Oxford for their support. Dr Doreen Zhu and Dr Sarah Ng welcomed me so warmly when I joined and have become cherished friends and cheerleaders, enriching my life as a Research Fellow both in and outside of work. My thanks for their support and friendship also to Associate Professor Kirsty Reith, Dr Waseem Karsan, Dr Nikita Agarwal and Dr Ryoki Arimoto. I must also thank many others at CTSU who delivered the EMPA-KIDNEY trial: Professor David Preiss, Professor Jonathan Emberson and Dr Parminder Judge all added value in reviewing manuscripts and generally supporting; and colleagues who were particularly key to the successful conduct of the bioimpedance substudy include: Rejive Dayanandan, Dr Ryonfa Lee, John Nolan, Akiko Omata, Mo Gray and based in Wurzburg, Germany: Dr Marcela Fajardo-Moser.

I thank my brother in arms and fellow University of Glasgow PhD student Dr Benjamin Elyan for his friendship. Our approximately monthly VIRMs and in-person catch-ups when in Glasgow or at conferences have provided much light relief and fuel for the road. I am incredibly grateful to others in Glasgow who provided research opportunities for me at an early stage and motivated me to pursue this path: Dr Kenneth Mangion, Dr Alastair Rankin and Dr Keith Gillis. Without such experience and their mentorship, the University of Oxford might not have employed me and none of this would have been possible. I am also incredibly thankful for my Glasgow-based non-renal support network of friends and family. My family tolerated 300-mile physical distance during difficult times while I pursued this experience in Oxford and always encourage me. They have supported me in many ways despite physical distance and found creative ways to overcome this.

Lastly, it has been a real honour to be able to study and analyse data from EMPA-KIDNEY, a project which was the work of hundreds of investigators worldwide. I express my sincere gratitude to all individuals involved (local site staff, regional and central coordinating centre staff, and all members of EMPA-KIDNEY committees) and most importantly, the patients who bravely volunteered to participate and made this work possible.

#### AUTHOR'S DECLARATION

The work presented in this thesis was conducted by myself under the supervision of the supervisors. I acknowledge support from statisticians Associate Professor Natalie Staplin and Dr Rebecca Sardell (Nuffield Department of Population Health, University of Oxford) in advising on statistical methods and replicating analyses for necessary verification purposes required by the Renal Studies Group prior to publication. All analyses reported herein were conducted by me personally (and verified by departmental statisticians) with the exception of (i) analysis of effects on waist:hip ratio requiring multiple imputation (see 5.2.3) and (ii) analyses of first and recurrent hospitalisations (see 7.2.5) due to the need for trial statisticians to be able to exactly replicate my results later if requested (e.g. by regulators) and the complexity of producing these particular analyses in two different statistical programmes (R which I used versus SAS used by trial statisticians).

I also acknowledge the contribution of Dr David Keane and Daniele Trinca in processing the raw bioimpedance data to derive parameters suitable for analysis using proprietary coefficients provided to them by the device manufacturer. I also acknowledge support from Dr Richard Shemilt (University of Glasgow) in performing dual screening and data extraction for the systematic review. Most importantly, I acknowledge the critical contribution of hundreds of investigators from the 241 contributing sites worldwide who conducted the EMPA-KIDNEY trial, the associated coordinating centres and committees who collaborated between 2018 and 2022, and the 6609 participants.

This thesis, including all statistical analysis (unless otherwise stated above) and presentation of results, is my own work. It has not previously been submitted for a higher degree.

Kaitlin J Mayne October 2024

# **DEFINITIONS/ABBREVIATIONS**

| Abbreviation | Definition   |
|--------------|--|
| ACEi         | Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor                |
| ACR          | Albumin-to-creatinine ratio                            |
| AF           | Atrial fibrillation                                    |
| AHF          | Acute heart failure                                    |
| AIC          | Akaike information criterion                           |
| AKI          | Acute kidney injury                                    |
| ANOVA        | Analysis of variance                                   |
| ARB          | Angiotensin receptor blocker                           |
| ATM          | Adipose tissue mass                                    |
| AUC          | Area under the curve                                   |
| AUROC curve  | Area under the receiver operating characteristic curve |
| BCM          | Body composition monitor                               |
| BIA          | Bioimpedance analysis                                  |
| BIS          | Bioimpedance spectroscopy                              |
| BIVA         | Bioimpedance vector analysis                           |
| BMI          | Body mass index  |
| BNP          | Brain natriuretic peptide                              |
| BP           | Blood pressure   |
| CA125        | Cancer antigen 125                                     |
| CHF          | Chronic heart failure                                  |
| CI           | Confidence interval                                    |
| CKD          | Chronic kidney disease                                 |
| CKD-EPI      | Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration      |
| CKD-MBD      | Chronic kidney disease mineral and bone disorder       |
| CRP          | C-reactive protein                                     |
| CV           | Cardiovascular   |
| CVD          | Cardiovascular disease                                 |
| DEXA         | Dual energy x-ray absorptiometry                       |
| DPP-4        | Dipeptidyl peptidase-4                                 |
| ECW          | Extracellular water                                    |
| EDMS         | Electronic document management system                  |
| ESKD         | End-stage kidney disease                               |

| ESRD   | End-stage renal disease                        |
|--------|--|
| eGFR   | Estimated glomerular filtration rate           |
| FTI    | Fat tissue index                               |
| GFR    | Glomerular filtration rate                     |
| GLP-1  | Glucagon-like peptide-1                        |
| HbA1c  | Glycated haemoglobin                           |
| HD     | Haemodialysis                                  |
| HF     | Heart failure                                  |
| HFpEF  | Heart failure with preserved ejection fraction |
| HFrEF  | Heart failure with reduced ejection fraction   |
| HHF    | Hospitalisation for heart failure              |
| HI     | Hydration index                                |
| HR     | Hazard ratio                                   |
| HRQoL  | Health-related quality of life                 |
| ICW    | Intracellular water                            |
| IQR    | Interquartile range                            |
| KDIGO  | Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes       |
| KF     | Kidney failure                                 |
| KRT    | Kidney replacement therapy                     |
| LCC    | Local Clinical Centre                          |
| LDL    | Low density lipoprotein                        |
| LL     | Lower limit                                    |
| LRC    | LCC Research Coordinator                       |
| LRT    | Likelihood ratio test                          |
| LTI    | Lean tissue index                              |
| LTM    | Lean tissue mass                               |
| LVEF   | Left ventricular ejection fraction             |
| MACE   | Major adverse cardiovascular events            |
| MedDRA | Medical Dictionary for Regulatory Activities   |
| MI     | Myocardial infarction                          |
| MMRM   | Mixed model repeated measures                  |
| MRI    | Magnetic resonance imaging                     |
| MV     | Multivariable                                  |
| MVSA   | Multivariable survival analysis                |
| NGAL   | Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin     |

| NT-proBNP | N-terminal pro B-type natriuretic peptide |
|-----------|---|
| NYHA      | New York Heart Association                |
| ОН        | Overhydration                             |
| OR        | Odds ratio                                |
| PCI       | Percutaneous coronary intervention        |
| PD        | Peritoneal dialysis                       |
| PVD       | Peripheral vascular disease               |
| RAS       | Renin-angiotensin system                  |
| RCT       | Randomised controlled trial               |
| ROB       | Risk of bias                              |
| ROC       | Receiver operating characteristic         |
| RR        | Relative risk                             |
| RRT       | Renal replacement therapy                 |
| SD        | Standard deviation                        |
| SE        | Standard error                            |
| SGLT2     | Sodium-glucose cotransporter 2            |
| SOP       | Standard operating procedure              |
| TBW       | Total body water                          |
| uACR      | Urinary albumin-to-creatinine ratio       |
| UL        | Upper limit                               |
| VAD       | Ventricular assist device                 |
| WCC       | White cell count                          |

#### **CHAPTER 1 – INTRODUCTION**

This chapter sets out the background to this thesis. It discusses chronic kidney disease (CKD), its treatment, fluid overload as a manifestation of CKD and the use of bioimpedance techniques to assess fluid status. The aims of this thesis are summarised at the end of this chapter.

#### 1.1 BACKGROUND – CHRONIC KIDNEY DISEASE

#### 1.1.1 CHRONIC KIDNEY DISEASE DEFINITION AND EPIDEMIOLOGY

CKD is defined as abnormal kidney structure or function which persists for at least three months (KDIGO, 2024). This includes biochemical evidence of kidney dysfunction as well as imaging or histopathological findings. The heterogeneous term includes kidney disease of any aetiology and encompasses a wide range of pathophysiology. CKD is now thought to affect around 10% of the global population and risk factors include advancing age, female sex, non-White race, diabetes and hypertension (Kovesdy, 2022, GBD Chronic Kidney Disease Collaboration, 2020). Temporal trends in incidence and prevalence are difficult to ascertain with discrepant patterns observed between countries. However, CKD is an important cause of death worldwide and projected to be the fifth leading cause of death worldwide by 2040 (Foreman et al., 2018). CKD-related mortality has remained stubbornly high while mortality from other cardiovascular diseases like stroke and myocardial infarction has fallen in recent decades (Hockham et al., 2022).

Diabetes and hypertension cause the majority of CKD worldwide though the potential causes of CKD are manifold. Other causes can be largely grouped into glomerulonephritis, multisystem disorders, genetic conditions and other/unknown disorders. Glomerulonephritis is an umbrella term for conditions, usually immunological in nature, which damage the glomerulus of the kidney. Multisystem diseases most commonly implicated in CKD include systemic vasculitis, connective tissue disorders such as systemic lupus erythematosus, and haematological conditions such as multiple myeloma. Genetic or inherited causes of CKD such as adult polycystic kidney disease and Alport's syndrome are responsible for ~10-15% of CKD in adults and a much greater proportion of early-onset CKD (Torra et al., 2021). Acute kidney injury (AKI) due to any cause is also an important risk factor for CKD – both due to non-recovery following the initial insult causing persisting kidney disease as well as increased risk of CKD in later life in those who have recovered from AKI. Though the list of potential causes of CKD is long,

diabetes and high blood pressure are considered to be by far the largest contributors to CKD burden. CKD attributed to diabetes is associated with much greater morbidity and mortality (measured in disability-adjusted life years, DALYs) than CKD due to glomerulonephritis or other/unspecified causes (GBD Chronic Kidney Disease Collaboration, 2020).

#### 1.1.2 STAGING AND PROGRESSION OF CHRONIC KIDNEY DISEASE

The staging of CKD is determined by laboratory measures: estimated glomerular filtration rate (GFR, eGFR) and albuminuria (or proteinuria). Kidney function can be more accurately determined by directly measured GFR by the clearance of exogenous filtration markers which are purely renally excreted (such as iohexol, chromium 51-ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid) however this requires repeated blood collection over several hours which is costly and impractical hence the needed for indirect estimations of GFR using endogenous filtration markers (serum creatinine or cystatin C). Estimated GFR is derived using equations of which several exist, the most commonly used in current European practice being the race-free 2009 CKD-EPI equation (Levey et al., 2009) which uses serum creatinine, age and sex. The inclusion of race is controversial since its use often reflects ethnicity rather than the biological construct of race and so a 2021 update to the CKD-EPI equation was designed not to include a race coefficient at all. The 2021 equation was found to underestimate GFR in Black populations but overestimate GFR in non-Black populations (Inker et al., 2021) therefore the 2009 equation (without the race coefficient) has remained the preferred method in European nephrology (largely White populations) (Gansevoort et al., 2023). Attempts to improve the estimation of GFR have seen the development of equations using the biomarker cystatin C which overcomes some of the limitations of non-GFR determinants of serum creatinine which can bias estimates of GFR especially in those with extremes of muscle mass. Equations using both serum creatinine and cystatin C perform better in estimation of GFR than either analyte in isolation (Inker et al., 2021). Nevertheless, cystatin C too has limitations (its own non-GFR determinants and systematic differences between manufacturers at present) meaning there is still a need for further work to improve the estimation of GFR.

Albuminuria describes the presence of abnormal levels of albumin (protein) in the urine which is pathognomonic of kidney damage. Since albumin's small molecules are not

normally filtered across the semi-permeable membrane of the glomerulus in health, albuminuria is an early indicator of glomerular damage and often precedes reduction in GFR. Albuminuria is preferred to the less specific assessment of proteinuria. Proteinuria is a more general term reflecting abnormal levels of protein in the urine which can have several causes; not just the glomerular damage resulting in albuminuria. Other causes of proteinuria include "tubular proteinuria" due to failure of normal tubular reabsorption of filtered proteins; as well as increased protein production, for example due to haematological disorders producing excess immunoglobulin light chains. Guidelines recommend the quantification of albuminuria rather than proteinuria in the assessment of CKD since albumin is the main component of proteinuria in most CKD and has also been shown to be independently associated with kidney and cardiovascular outcomes (KDIGO, 2024).

CKD is broadly categorised as stages 1-5 based on eGFR however a more detailed classification also takes account of albuminuria in which these GFR-based stages 1-5 are reported as G1-G5 with an additional categorisation applied reflecting levels of albuminuria A1-A3 in mg/g or mg/mmol (varies geographically). CKD stage is therefore reported, in its more detailed form, for example, as CKD stage G3bA2. The staging of CKD as per the Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) guidelines is depicted in Figure 1-1 in which heat map colouring reflects the associated combined risks of CKD progression, cardiovascular outcomes and mortality for each stage (KDIGO, 2024).



#### Figure 1-1: KDIGO staging of CKD (KDIGO, 2024)

Green: low risk (if no other markers of kidney disease, no CKD); Yellow: moderately increased risk; Orange: high risk; Red: very high risk. GFR, glomerular filtration rate.

The clinical manifestations of CKD are hugely variable and somewhat affected by cause and individual disease course. Though often an incidental finding and asymptomatic until the later stages of disease, the diagnosis of CKD has important health implications which can be broadly categorised as (1) progressive decline in kidney function; (2) complications of reduced glomerular filtration; and (3) cardiovascular disease.

CKD is typically a progressive condition and the eventual outcome is kidney failure necessitating kidney replacement therapy with either dialysis or kidney transplantation. The need for kidney replacement therapy occurs in a minority of people with CKD but is a very costly treatment which is associated with markedly reduced life expectancy.

A more sophisticated estimation of risk of CKD progression has recently been developed in the Kidney Failure Risk Equation (KFRE) which incorporates age, sex, eGFR and albuminuria in the 4-variable equation (Tangri et al., 2011). An eight-variable equation was also developed which additionally incorporates serum albumin, bicarbonate, calcium and phosphate. The 4-variable KFRE has been validated in UK (and multinational) cohorts for the prediction of 2- and 5-year risk of kidney failure (Major et al., 2019) and adopted to guide referrals from primary to secondary care in the UK.

#### 1.1.3 COMPLICATIONS OF REDUCED GLOMERULAR FILTRATION

Complications of CKD occur increasingly at more advanced stages of disease and commonly include hypertension, anaemia, mineral bone disorder and other metabolic disturbance. These objective and measurable complications are also often accompanied by less well-defined symptoms such as nausea, itch, anorexia, cachexia, sexual dysfunction, fatigue, poor sleep and overall reduced quality of life.

High blood pressure is both a cause and consequence of CKD and is a particularly concerning complication since it is thought to further accelerate the progression of declining glomerular filtration as well as being independently associated with mortality and cardiovascular disease (Bello et al., 2017). Hypertension occurs as a complication of CKD by several mechanisms including disordered salt and water homeostasis and activation of the sympathetic nervous and renin-angiotensin systems. CKD causes anaemia
since red blood cell production relies on renal production of the hormone erythropoietin as well as functional iron deficiency. Anaemia may cause fatigue and shortness of breath and is treated with erythropoiesis-stimulating agents and iron supplementation in CKD. Mineral bone-related complications of CKD are defined as a syndrome referred to as CKD-mineral and bone disorder (CKD-MBD). CKD-MBD encompasses a range of manifestations of hyperphosphataemia, vitamin D deficiency and secondary hyperparathyroidism as direct consequences of CKD; all of which have specific pharmacological treatments. Salt and water retention, electrolyte disturbance and metabolic acidosis are all further sequelae of advanced CKD which contribute to the morbidity of CKD. All of the aforementioned complications generally rely on monitoring and clinician identification since they are either asymptomatic or manifest as non-specific symptoms.

The increased burden of cardiovascular disease (CVD) is an important and modifiable consequence of CKD since it is the commonest cause of death in people with CKD and more common than reaching kidney failure (requiring initiation of kidney replacement) (Thompson et al., 2015). Both reduced eGFR and albuminuria are independently associated with the increased risk of CVD in CKD (Matsushita et al., 2010, van der Velde et al., 2011). Recent figures from the US Renal Data System (USRDS) 2022 report that 65% of those with CKD have CVD, increasing to 80% in those aged 85 years and over. Cardiovascular disease overall is 2-3 times more common in individuals with CKD than those without, with the largest gaps seen for heart failure and myocardial infarction specifically, both of which are around 4 times more common in individuals with CKD. The burden of CVD in CKD also increases with advancing CKD stage, particularly for heart failure which was 1.5 times more common in CKD stages 4-5 versus stage 3 in the 2022 United States data (United States Renal Data System, 2022).

The associations between CKD and CVD are in part due to shared risk factors such as diabetes, blood pressure and obesity; but also pathophysiological changes associated with advancing CKD (as discussed in the previous section) which affect the cardiovascular system such as uraemic toxicity, anaemia, inflammation, fluid overload and activation of the sympathetic and renin-angiotensin systems (Matsushita et al., 2022). Heart failure, arrhythmia and related sudden cardiac death are more prominent pathologies in CKD than atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease presentations. Treatment of CKD must importantly

be aimed at addressing associated cardiovascular comorbidity as well as slowing kidney disease progression.

#### 1.2 BACKGROUND – TREATMENT OF CHRONIC KIDNEY DISEASE

For about two decades, pharmacotherapy to slow the progression of CKD was largely limited to the use of renin-angiotensin system (RAS) inhibitors from ~2001-2019. RAS inhibitors were shown, in large randomised controlled trials, to reduce proteinuria and progression of kidney disease as well as modestly reducing blood pressure in CKD. The REIN trial, reported in 1997, assessed the effect of the angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor ramipril on GFR decline in 352 patients with non-diabetic causes of proteinuric kidney disease. Ramipril significantly slowed GFR decline and reduced proteinuria versus placebo though blood pressure was similar in both groups (Porter, 1997). The RENAAL trial, reported in 2001, tested the angiotensin receptor blocker losartan in 1513 patients with type 2 diabetes and nephropathy and reported risk reductions of around one quarter in kidney disease progression outcomes relative to placebo, after adjustment for blood pressure, though no effect was observed on mortality. Losartan use was also associated with a 35% reduction in proteinuria (Brenner et al., 2001). The discovery of RAS inhibitors had an important impact on the treatment of CKD however considerable excess risk of adverse outcomes remained, driving the need for discovery of additional therapies.

Sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibitors are the first class of drugs to show promise in slowing the progression of CKD since the advent of RAS inhibition. SGLT2 inhibitors were originally developed to lower blood glucose in the treatment of type 2 diabetes and were incidentally found to have beneficial effects on cardiovascular outcomes in safety trials. This led to the dedicated testing of these agents in heart failure populations in which exploratory analyses suggested the drugs may also have kidney-protective effects. This hypothesis was confirmed in the CREDENCE trial assessing kidney disease outcomes in a population with type 2 diabetes (Perkovic et al., 2019). Hypotheses emerged that SGLT2 inhibitors may also be efficacious in patients without diabetes, hypotheses which were again confirmed in further trials in heart failure populations without diabetes. There was therefore a need to test these drugs in a dedicated CKD trial in patients with and without diabetes which led to the EMPA-KIDNEY trial. A similar trial, the DAPA-CKD trial, of the SGLT2 inhibitor dapagliflozin ran in parallel and reported its results in late 2020. The results of DAPA-CKD reported that dapagliflozin reduced the risk of a composite kidney disease progression or cardiovascular death outcome by 29% (hazard ratio 0.71, 95% confidence interval 0.55-0.92) (Heerspink et al., 2020). DAPA-CKD studied 4304 participants with CKD with an eGFR between 25 and 75 mL/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup> and a urinary albumin-to-creatinine ratio (uACR) of 200-5000 mg/g; two-thirds of whom had type 2 diabetes. The EMPA-KIDNEY trial would extend these findings having recruited a larger population of 6609 participants and address remaining uncertainty in certain patient groups namely those with CKD without diabetes and those with low levels of or no detectable albuminuria.

EMPA-KIDNEY was also stopped early for benefit having met its pre-specified criteria for stopping early for efficacy in March 2022. The results of the trial are reported elsewhere but in brief, empagliflozin 10 mg once daily reduced the risk of kidney disease progression or cardiovascular death by 28% (95% CI 18-36%) in 6609 patients with CKD at risk of progression (EMPA-KIDNEY Collaborative Group, 2023). Meta-analyses combining results from EMPA-KIDNEY with twelve other trials in diabetes, heart failure and CKD populations conclusively demonstrated the benefits of SGLT2 inhibitors in reducing adverse kidney and cardiovascular outcomes irrespective of diabetes status or kidney function. Furthermore, although EMPA-KIDNEY alone was unable to quantify effects on cardiovascular outcomes and acute kidney injury owing to low numbers of events, meta-analyses of data from four CKD trials demonstrate that SGLT2 inhibitors reduce the risk of cardiovascular death or hospitalisation for heart failure by 23% (relative risk [RR] 0.77, 95% confidence interval [CI] 0.74-0.81) and reduce the risk of acute kidney injury by 23% (RR 0.77, 95% CI 0.70-0.84) (Nuffield Department of Population Health Renal Studies Group and SGLT2 inhibitor Meta-Analysis Cardio-Renal Trialists' Consortium, 2022).

SGLT2 inhibitor trials have also consistently demonstrated modest blood pressure lowering effects and weight loss in the region of 1-2 kg with reduction in waist circumference (Zinman et al., 2015). However, the mechanisms underlying the beneficial effects on clinical outcomes are incompletely understood. Moreover, whether weight loss reflects fat loss versus reduction in fluid volume or even muscle mass is uncertain. Several purported mechanisms have been proposed to explain the kidney and cardioprotective effects observed. Haemodynamic effects represent a primary mechanism and of particular relevance to fluid overload and the focus of this thesis, is the diuretic and natriuretic effect of SGLT2 inhibitors (Herrington et al., 2021). This results in a reduction in interstitial fluid and blood volume (Griffin et al., 2020, Hallow et al., 2018) as well as blood pressure which, in combination, reduce cardiac preload and afterload (Herrington et al., 2021). SGLT2 inhibitors also exert metabolic effects which are also highly relevant to body composition. Previous studies in people with diabetes and without kidney disease using dual energy X-ray absorptiometry have found weight loss with SGLT2 inhibitors to be largely attributable to reduced adiposity (Ridderstråle et al., 2014). However, other randomised evidence suggests these weight loss benefits are maintained at lower levels of kidney function despite the reduced glycosuric effect of these drugs with reduced kidney function (Petrykiv et al., 2017, Kohan et al., 2014, Cherney et al., 2018) which supports the hypothesis of reduction in body water as a major determinant of weight loss. These studies also highlight important differences between people at different stages of the CKD trajectory who, as well as behaving differently with respect to glycosuria, have differing degrees of disturbed salt and water homeostasis contributing to fluid overload.

# 1.3 BACKGROUND – RELEVANCE OF FRAILTY, MULTIMORBIDITY, POLYPHARMACY AND HEALTH-RELATED QUALITY OF LIFE IN THE TREATMENT OF CHRONIC KIDNEY DISEASE

The effects of empagliflozin on the primary outcome of progression of kidney disease or cardiovascular death in the EMPA-KIDNEY trial were broadly consistent across the subgroups studied. Key subgroups were by diabetes status, eGFR and uACR with additional subgroups including age, sex, region, prior disease status (cardiovascular disease, heart failure, peripheral arterial disease and cause of kidney disease separately), medication use and other clinical and laboratory parameters measured at recruitment. In reality, patients often have several of these subgroup characteristics in combination, particularly patients who are older in age and/or who have frailty. In clinical practice, uncertainty exists surrounding the benefit-risk profile of disease-modifying drugs like SGLT2 inhibitors in older patients with frailty. Clinical guidelines recommend an individualised approach to prescription of SGLT2 inhibition in CKD taking account of frailty and multimorbidity; and the balance of disease and treatment burden. Since frailty is associated with increased burden of long-term conditions and associated polypharmacy, there may be clinician and/or patient reluctance to prescribe drugs like SGLT2 inhibitors due to perceived altered benefit-risk ratio. Conversely, frail patients may be at high

absolute risk of adverse outcomes and consequently may particularly benefit from the effects of SGLT2 inhibition. Reliable evidence is therefore needed to enable practical implementation of current SGLT2 inhibitor guidelines since without randomised evidence, perceived altered benefit-risk profile may lead to under-treatment of frail patients.

Frailty can be defined as the state of increased vulnerability due to age-related decline in physiological reserve. The relationship between frailty and CKD is bidirectional and frailty occurs more commonly in CKD relative to the general population (Hurst et al., 2022), particularly as CKD progresses (Wilkinson et al., 2022). Frailty confers poor prognosis with greater risks of death, hospitalisation and progression to kidney failure compared to non-frail adults with CKD (Mei et al., 2021, Zhang et al., 2020, Wilkinson et al., 2022). Multimorbidity and polypharmacy are closely related but distinct concepts to frailty. Multimorbidity is typically defined as the presence of two or more long term conditions (Ho et al., 2022), and polypharmacy is generally defined as the regular prescription of five or more drugs (Masnoon et al., 2017). Various instruments are also used to assess healthrelated quality of life, one such tool is the EuroQol EQ-5D-5L questionnaire (Herdman et al., 2011). Importantly, health-related quality of life is a patient-reported measure reflecting symptom burden and may therefore add valuable information to the assessment of frailty beyond clinician assessments. There are several different tools applied to quantify frailty in clinical practice and research. "Validated" approaches in general populations include the Fried frailty phenotype (Fried et al., 2001), the Clinical Frailty Scale (CFS)(Rockwood et al., 2005) and the Rockwood Frailty Index (Searle et al., 2008). Common components of frailty assessments include comorbid medical conditions, quality of life, cognitive assessments, physical measurements and laboratory parameters; all of which reflect deficits in health which accumulate with aging. The Rockwood Frailty Index was developed in community-dwelling adults aged over 70 years in the United States of America and applies weights to each comorbidity (Searle et al., 2008) which may not be generalisable across diseased populations. A bespoke approach was therefore used in analyses of the EMPA-KIDNEY trial population as outlined in sections 2.6 and 2.7 of the Methods Chapter.

#### 1.4 BACKGROUND – FLUID OVERLOAD IN CHRONIC KIDNEY DISEASE

Though CKD is often asymptomatic, fluid overload is a common manifestation as the disease progresses and has both clinical and prognostic implications (prognostic implications are discussed in section 1.6.1.3 and Chapter 3). Disturbed water and sodium homeostasis causes expansion of the extracellular water compartment (Liu et al., 2021) and as CKD progresses, removal of excess fluid is impaired which manifests as symptomatic fluid overload, ultimately requiring kidney replacement therapy. An important factor which contributes to fluid overload in CKD is concomitant heart failure. The conditions commonly coexist but are often considered separately in research and clinical practice. The burden of heart failure increases with advancing CKD with estimated prevalence of clinical heart failure of around 40% in patients requiring dialysis (House et al., 2019, Foley, 2003, Mark et al., 2022). Structural heart disease on echocardiography is perhaps twice as common, with heart failure with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF) the more frequent phenotype in CKD than heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) (Foley, 2003, Mark et al., 2022). This interrelationship may be explained in part by shared risk factors but also by bidirectional aetiological mechanisms. Heart failure increases the risk of CKD due to impaired perfusion of the kidneys and neurohormonal activation (Tuegel and Bansal, 2017, Fonarow and Heywood, 2006), and there are a number of pathophysiological changes associated with advancing CKD which contribute to heart failure. These include chronic hypertension and fluid overload as well as the possibility for direct uraemia-related cardiotoxicity (Tuegel and Bansal, 2017). The mechanisms underlying the development of fluid overload in heart failure specifically are less well understood than the development of fluid overload due to impaired kidney function however its consequences are clear – increased diastolic filling pressures and impaired cardiac function (Miller, 2016). Though there may be distinct mechanisms at play, CKD and heart failure share evidence-based treatments, first in RAS inhibitors and more recently in SGLT2 inhibitors and mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists.

SGLT2 inhibitors are now established treatments for both CKD and heart failure and though their osmotic and diuretic mechanisms are undoubted, their effects on fluid status have not been well-demonstrated in previous trials. *Post-hoc* analyses of the earliest cardiovascular outcome SGLT2 inhibitor trial, EMPA-REG OUTCOME which studied 7020 people with type 2 diabetes and established cardiovascular disease explored effects on haematocrit, a surrogate of plasma volume (Inzucchi et al., 2018). Analyses suggested

significant increases in haematocrit in those receiving empagliflozin versus placebo and that this mediated 52% of the treatment effect on cardiovascular death. However, a key limitation of haematocrit as a fluid status surrogate in this setting is that SGLT2 inhibitors promote erythropoiesis and so increases in haematocrit are likely multifactorial (Inzucchi et al., 2018). In the EMPEROR-Reduced trial assessing the effects of empagliflozin in 3730 people with heart failure with reduced ejection fraction, a crude clinical assessment of fluid status was made at baseline but there were no repeated measures of fluid status and therefore no assessment of treatment effect on fluid status (Packer et al., 2021). Randomised evidence relating to fluid status is even more limited in CKD-specific populations with no randomised data available prior to the work described in this thesis. Small observational studies largely in cohorts with diabetes and/or heart failure but with preserved kidney function do provide some evidence of transient reductions in body fluid (both plasma volume and interstitial fluid) with SGLT2 inhibitor administration using a variety of fluid status assessment methods, as summarised in Table 1-1.

Fluid overload is traditionally assessed non-quantitatively by clinical examination (Miller, 2016) taking account of factors such as perceptible oedema, chest auscultation and jugular venous pressure combined with objective assessments of body weight and blood pressure. Serological markers can also give information on volume status such as sodium, haematocrit and natriuretic peptides. Each of these methods have limitations therefore bedside medical devices which may have the potential to automate and standardise clinical assessment have been developed using ultrasound and bioimpedance technology. Both methods can be employed with relatively little training and allow rapid clinic-based measurements. Ultrasound modalities include lung ultrasonography (Rastogi et al., 2022, Ekinci et al., 2018, Zoccali et al., 2021) and less commonly, vascular ultrasound of the inferior vena cava and internal jugular veins (Ekinci et al., 2018, Pellicori et al., 2021). Bioimpedance methods have been demonstrated to be highly reproducible and have been validated against gold standard techniques (Wabel et al., 2009) more extensively than ultrasound approaches. Ultrasound methods require specially-trained operators however bioimpedance devices can be employed with little training required, making this an attractive approach. Bioimpedance is widely employed in clinical management of CKD in the dialysis setting but not routinely in earlier CKD nor at all in the management of heart failure.

42

| Study   | Design   | Population   | Intervention/control  | Outcomes  | Fluid assessment method   | Findings  |
|---|--|--|---|---|---|---|
| Van Ruisen, 2022<br>Cardiovasc<br>Diabetology<br>DECREASE trial           | Randomised controlled<br>trial (RCT)<br>16 weeks                                 | n=66<br>Type 2 diabetes without CKD  | Dapagliflozin, exenatide,<br>dapagliflozin plus exenatide,<br>placebo | Estimated plasma volume<br>Haemodynamic parameters  | Estimated plasma volume<br>using haematocrit<br>ImpediMed bioimpedance<br>spectroscopy device   | Dapagliflozin compared with<br>placebo<br>decreased extracellular fluid and<br>estimated plasma volume after 10<br>days, but not after 16 weeks   |
| Sen, 2022<br>Diab Obes Metab<br>DAPASALT &<br>DIAMOND studies             | Single arm<br>interventional study<br>(DAPASALT) &<br>crossover RCT<br>(DIAMOND) | DAPASALT n=6 with CKD<br>(stratum 3) (mean eGFR 39)<br>DIAMOND n=53 with CKD<br>(mean eGFR 59) | Dapagliflozin   | 24-hour sodium excretion, blood<br>pressure<br>Bioimpedance-derived extracellular<br>and intracellular water                              | ImpediMed bioimpedance<br>spectroscopy device   | Transient reduction in extracellular<br>(but not intracellular) water at day 4,<br>recovered by day 14<br>(Effects on sodium excretion, blood<br>pressure reported from both studies<br>in same paper, appears<br>bioimpedance data from<br>DAPASALT only, not DIAMOND) |
| Scholtes, 2021<br>Diabetes Care<br>DAPASALT study*                        | Single arm<br>interventional study<br>18 days                                    | n=14<br>Type 2 diabetes, preserved eGFR<br>(stratum 2)   | Dapagliflozin   | 24-hour sodium excretion<br>Bioimpedance-derived extracellular<br>and intracellular water   | ImpediMed bioimpedance<br>spectroscopy device   | Transient reduction in extracellular<br>(but not intracellular) water at day 4,<br>recovered by day 14  |
| Espriella, 2021<br>Int J of Cardio  | Retrospective cohort<br>Median 1.8 years   | n=60<br>Heart failure with type 2 diabetes   | Empagliflozin   | CA125, NT-proBNP (as surrogates of fluid overload)  | CA125, NT-proBNP  | Decrease in log CA125 but not NT-<br>proBNP   |
| Jensen, 2021<br>Lancet Diabetes<br>Endocrinol<br>Empire HF Renal<br>trial | RCT<br>12 weeks  | n=120<br>Heart failure (HFrEF)   | Empagliflozin versus<br>placebo                                       | Estimated plasma and extracellular<br>volumes<br>Measured GFR   | Estimated plasma volume<br>using haematocrit<br>Estimated extracellular<br>volume using 51Cr-EDTA<br>distribution volume and<br>the body surface area | Empagliflozin reduced estimated<br>plasma and extracellular volumes<br>versus placebo at 12 weeks   |
| Schork, 2019<br>Cardiovasc<br>Diabetology                                 | Longitudinal<br>observational study<br>6 months                                  | n=27<br>Type 2 diabetes eGFR>60  | Empagliflozin or<br>dapagliflozin initiated<br>routinely              | HbA1c, weight, body mass index<br>BCM-derived overhydration,<br>extracellular water, adipose, fat and<br>lean tissue mass<br>Plasma renin | Fresenius BCM   | Transient reductions in OH, ECW at<br>day 3, recovered by 3- and 6 months<br>Significant decrease in adipose and<br>fat tissue mass<br>Concluded weight loss is due to fat<br>loss  |
| Schwaiger, 2019<br>Am J Transplant<br>EMPTRA-DM<br>study                  | Pilot study<br>1 year  | n=8<br>Kidney transplant recipients with<br>post-transplant diabetes                           | Empagliflozin non-<br>inferiority to insulin                          | Glycaemic markers<br>eGFR, bioimpedance-derived<br>extracellular and total body water   | Fresenius BCM   | Transient reductions in extracellular<br>and total body water at 4 weeks then<br>recovered  |
| Heerspink, 2013<br>Diab Obes Metab  | RCT<br>12 weeks  | n=75<br>Type 2 diabetes without CKD  | Dapagliflozin versus<br>hydrochlorothiazide versus<br>placebo         | Plasma volume<br>NT-proBNP  | Plasma volume using<br>radioisotope techniques<br>with 51Cr-labelled<br>erythrocytes and 125I-<br>labelled human serum<br>albumin                     | Plasma volume fell in dapagliflozin<br>group<br>NT-proBNP increased slightly in<br>dapagliflozin group  |
| Santos-Gallego<br>[ongoing study]<br>ERTU-SODIUM<br>trial<br>NCT05152940  | RCT (crossover)  | n=28<br>Heart failure (HFrEF)  | Ertugliflozin versus placebo  | Skin water content<br>Secondary outcomes include interstitial<br>fluid volume (extracellular minus<br>plasma volume)                      | Method not reported on registration   | Ongoing study (estimated<br>completion December 2024)   |

\* The DAPASALT study had three strata: patients with type 2 diabetes and impaired kidney function (stratum 1), type 2 diabetes and preserved kidney function (stratum 2), and no diabetes but impaired kidney function (stratum 3), with a total sample size of 51 patients (17 patients per stratum); results are reported in separate papers as above for strata 2 and 3.

# 1.5 BACKGROUND – BIOIMPEDANCE TECHNIQUES AND DEVICES

Bioimpedance is a non-invasive measure of resistance and reactance of body tissues quantified by application of an electrical current via electrodes attached to the skin from which fluid compartment volumes and body composition can be estimated. Bioimpedance methods include both bioimpedance analysis (BIA) (single-, multi-frequency and bioimpedance vector analysis [BIVA]) and bioimpedance spectroscopy (BIS). Although often incorrectly used interchangeably, bioimpedance analysis and bioimpedance spectroscopy are not synonymous terms. These four main bioimpedance approaches are summarised in Figure 1-2 including their analysis methods, commonly reported parameters and key advantages/disadvantages. BIA traditionally used only a single frequency before multi-frequency BIA devices were developed which measure impedance at 50-200 discrete frequencies between 3-1000 kHz. BIS extends this range by extrapolation to zero and infinity kHz. Greater frequency range improves discrimination of extracellular (ECW) from intracellular water.



Figure 1-2: Summary of whole-body bioimpedance methods

References: Khalil et al. Sensors (Basel). 2014; Piccoli et al. Kidney Int. 2005; Jaffrin et al. Med Eng Phys. 2008; Keane. University of Leeds (thesis). 2016. Chamney et al. Am J Clin Nutr. 2007.

Both single and multiple frequency BIA methods are dependent upon empirical regression equations to translate impedance data into fluid overload parameters (Jaffrin and Morel, 2008). BIS uses a more complex method involving extrapolation of impedance to zero and infinity frequencies to estimate extracellular and total body water volumes (Jaffrin and Morel, 2008). Bioimpedance vector analysis (BIVA) is an alternative technique which is less reliant on assumptions of tissue properties than BIA/BIS methods and directly plots raw reactance and resistance as vectors on a graph for which reference ranges have been established however BIVA is a single-frequency technique (Keane, 2016).

While both BIA and BIS have been applied in heart failure and CKD, the Fresenius Medical Care (FMC) Body Composition Monitor (BCM) which uses BIS is the most widely employed in patients with kidney disease and was selected for use in the EMPA-KIDNEY bioimpedance substudy. A key advantage of this device is that it employs secondary calculations taking account of estimates of lean and adipose tissue mass (by applying a three compartment model (Chamney et al., 2007)) thereby providing more specific estimates of fluid excess, independent of body composition – the only commercially-available device to do this. As indicated by the green arrows in Figure 1-2, vector plots, BIVA hydration index and phase angle can be derived by all devices; ECW ratios, fat and fat-free mass can only be derived from BIA & BIS devices; and only the BCM device produces absolute and relative "Fluid Overload" independent of body composition.

The three-compartment model (Figure 1-3) was described by Chamney et al. in 2007 (Chamney et al., 2007) and builds upon methodology published in the earlier paper by the same group (Moissl et al., 2006). The group first present equations for determination of extracellular and intracellular water with correction for body mass index. The subsequent paper then expanded the methodology to allow derivation of excess fluid volume which accumulates in pathological states, distinct from total body (extracellular and intracellular) water. This led to the three-compartment model separately estimating normally-hydrated lean tissue mass, normally-hydrated adipose tissue mass and the volume of excess extracellular fluid (termed "overhydration" and more recently "absolute Fluid Overload") which can reside in either adipose or lean tissue. This assumes that in a state of health, lean and adipose tissue are considered "normally-hydrated" and the excess extracellular fluid

volume accumulates in disease states. Excess fluid volume can be estimated with precision of  $\pm 0.5$  kg based on the assumption of fixed tissue hydration parameters (i.e. any given mass of tissue has a fixed proportion of extra- and intracellular water, irrespective of body composition (Chamney et al., 2007)). The ratio of extra- to intracellular water in both lean and adipose tissue is therefore considered constant. The methodology was developed in adults and has not been directly applied in children since the water content of adipose tissue changes during childhood. Normally-hydrated lean tissue comprises largely water (extra- and intracellular), plus protein, minerals (osseous and non-osseous) and essential lipids while normally-hydrated adipose tissue is composed largely of fat tissue (stored lipids), with some water, protein and non-osseous minerals to a lesser extent (see Figure 1-3). Lean and fat tissue masses are indexed to height squared and expressed as lean and fat tissue indices (LTI and FTI) in  $kg/m^2$ , these indexed parameters are also reported directly by the device and preferred for analysis purposes. Of note, relating these indices to the three-compartment model, LTI is calculated directly from lean tissue mass (LTM) indexed to height squared whereas FTI comes from the fat tissue component of the adipose tissue mass compartment (not the entire compartment mass), indexed to height squared.



*Figure 1-3: Relationship of the derived "Fluid Overload" parameter to body weight and tissue mass* 

Based upon the three-compartment model described by Chamney et al. (Chamney et al., 2007) \* Refers to normally-hydrated lean and adipose tissue mass. ECW = extracellular water; ICW = intracellular water. The figure is not to scale since compartment proportions vary between individuals and "Fluid Overload" is usually smaller than depicted (and can be a negative value in fluid depletion). The mean baseline values in the EMPA-KIDNEY substudy were: total body weight 88.8 kg; "Fluid Overload" 0.4 L; lean tissue mass 38.8 kg; and adipose tissue mass 49.6 kg. In the EMPA-KIDNEY substudy, mean total ECW at baseline was 18.7 L and ICW 20.4 L.

Importantly, the three-compartment model methodology employed by the BCM device does not delineate intravascular or plasma volume. Since plasma contains both lipids and proteins and since excess fluid or "overhydration" accumulates both intravascularly and in interstitial tissue, plasma volume likely resides within all three compartments of the threecompartment model.

The BCM device has been validated for fluid status assessment in kidney failure populations against gold standard techniques (Wabel et al., 2009) and shown to have acceptable reproducibility (Hannan et al., 1995, Wabel P, 2007). Differing reference methods are used for difference bioimpedance-derived parameters: bromide dilution for extracellular water; total body potassium for intracellular water; and deuterium dilution for total body water (Wabel et al., 2009). The "Fluid Overload" parameter is described by the device manufacturer Fresenius as validated "by expert clinical assessment" – no specific method exists for this comparison however "Fluid Overload" is derived from extracellular water which is validated with an accepted reference method. Lean and adipose tissue mass are compared to dual energy x-ray absorptiometry (DEXA) assessments with additional techniques employed to compare adipose tissue mass (air displacement plethysmography and under water weighing).

# 1.6 BACKGROUND – APPLICATIONS OF BIOIMPEDANCE SPECTROSCOPY IN CKD & HEART FAILURE

Bioimpedance spectroscopy has many potential applications in CKD but is presently almost exclusively used in clinical practice to assess fluid status in patients with kidney failure requiring haemodialysis (and much less so in the setting of peritoneal dialysis). Similarly, research using bioimpedance spectroscopy in CKD is largely restricted to analysis of fluid parameters in kidney failure populations. These clinical and research applications are discussed further in sections 1.6.1.1 and 1.6.1.2 which follow. The adiposity parameters derived by the BCM device (lean and fat tissue indices, LTI and FTI) are much less studied and much less used in clinical practice despite theoretical benefits to nutritional assessment.

## **1.6.1 APPLICATIONS IN DIALYSIS CONTEXT**

#### 1.6.1.1 CLINICAL APPLICATIONS IN DIALYSIS

Clinically, accurate volume assessment is an essential component of dialysis prescription. Although routine clinical assessments may often be sufficient to avoid extremes of hydration status, adjunctive BCM assessments have theoretical advantages in kidney failure requiring replacement therapy. Tracking fluid status using a BCM can be achieved with minimal training and should provide objective measures with less potential for between-observer differences than clinical assessments. Measurements are typically made pre-dialysis (rather than after fluid removal achieved by ultrafiltration during haemodialysis treatment) and observational associations with mortality are more consistent when fluid status is assessed pre- rather than post-haemodialysis (Tangvoraphonkchai and Davenport, 2016, Dekker et al., 2017, Hecking et al., 2018).

The use of the BCM in routine clinical practice is much less common in patients receiving peritoneal dialysis compared with haemodialysis. It is generally considered that BCM measurements are not affected by presence or absence of peritoneal dialysate (Van Biesen et al., 2011) although measurements are generally obtained with dialysate *in situ* (O'Lone et al., 2014, Jotterand Drepper et al., 2016) and there is some uncertainty (Arroyo et al., 2015). The presence or absence of indwelling dialysate is likely inconsequential in practice if serial measurements follow a consistent approach for the individual patient.

#### 1.6.1.2 RESEARCH APPLICATIONS IN DIALYSIS

The BCM device has also been widely used in clinical research in dialysis populations. The most common research application is the study of associations between BCM parameters and clinical outcomes (as discussed in section 1.6.1.3) and other related parameters in observational study designs. However the BCM device has also been employed in randomised controlled trials in haemodialysis populations, both as an intervention itself (Table 1-2) and as a mechanistic assessment of another intervention (Table 1-3).

Bioimpedance-based assessment of fluid status versus standard clinical assessment has been shown in randomised controlled trials to improve parameters such as blood pressure, left ventricular mass and arterial stiffness (Scotland et al., 2018, Hur et al., 2013, Onofriescu et al., 2014, Huan-Sheng et al., 2016). Reduction in intradialytic hypotension was also a theorised benefit of bioimpedance however this has not been conclusively demonstrated in randomised trials (Beaubien-Souligny et al., 2019). The observed clinical benefits are, however, yet to be shown to impact upon risk of hard clinical outcomes: randomised trials comparing bioimpedance added to standard care versus standard of care alone have not demonstrated meaningful impact on hospitalisations (Huan-Sheng et al., 2016, Siriopol et al., 2017a), preservation of residual kidney function (Davies et al., 2023, Yoon et al., 2019, Oh et al., 2018), cardiovascular outcomes or death (Siriopol et al., 2017a, Tian et al., 2020, Onofriescu et al., 2014, Huan-Sheng et al., 2016), but numbers of outcomes in completed trials are generally small. The most recent of these trials was the BISTRO trial, reported in 2023, which randomised 439 UK haemodialysis patients with residual kidney function (more than 500 ml urine production per day or eGFR greater than 3 mL/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup>) to either bioimpedance-supplemented fluid assessment or a standardised clinical assessment proforma (without bioimpedance) for up to 2 years. The trial found no significant between-group differences in the primary outcome of time to anuria nor were there any differences in rate of residual kidney function decline, blood pressure or patientreported outcomes. There were only 32 deaths during follow-up, 15 in the intervention group versus 17 in the control group. The trial was unfortunately limited by underrecruitment during the COVID-19 pandemic and lower-than-expected decline in residual kidney function limiting power for this assessment. The investigators concluded that the standardised protocol (used in the control group) was associated with excellent clinical management and preservation of residual kidney function which could not be improved by the addition of bioimpedance assessments (Davies et al., 2023).

In trials of other interventions, the BCM has been used to assess eligibility and outcomes and guide interventions. In the BVM-Reg trial of different techniques to monitor ultrafiltration (Antlanger et al., 2017), BCM-assessed severe "Fluid Overload" ≥15% was an inclusion criterion. The SOLiD trial (Marshall et al., 2020) found that although allocation to a lower dialysate sodium of 135 mmol/L versus 140 mmol/L did not lead to any significant effect on the primary outcome of left ventricular mass index, the intervention did reduce BCM-measured ECW by about 0.6 L over the 12-month trial. Bioimpedance is also being employed in the ongoing RESOLVE trial (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02823821) evaluating dialysate sodium seeking to provide further randomised evidence in this area. The BCM was also used as an outcome assessment in a small crossover trial of salt-restricted diet in people with stage 3-4 CKD and hypertension in which the intervention was shown to reduce extracellular water volume (McMahon et al., 2013). Though not the BCM device, a multifrequency bioimpedance analysis device (InBody 720) was used in a trial in a slightly different manner to inform the intervention protocol: the BELIEVE pilot trial tested intravenous bicarbonate for prevention of contrast-induced acute kidney injury after coronary angiography and used bioimpedance measurements to dictate the volume of intravenous bicarbonate to be prescribed (Kananuraks et al., 2020). The pilot study found no significant effect of the intervention but nevertheless demonstrates another potential application of the technology in clinical trials.

# Table 1-2: Trials of bioimpedance as an intervention

| Trial                                 | Design        | Population                          | Intervention/control                                    | Outcome                             | Results  |  |  |
|---------------------------------------|---------------|-------------------------------------|---|-------------------------------------|--|--|--|
| Haemodialysis                         |               |                                     |   |                                     |  |  |  |
| Davies, 2023                          | RCT           | n=439                               | 1-to-3-monthly BCM-guided dry weight assessment         | Residual kidney function            | No significant difference  |  |  |
| Kidney International                  | 2 year        | Haemodialysis                       | Control: BCM performed but not available to treating    |                                     |  |  |  |
| BISTRO trial                          | D.CTT         | UK (34 centres)                     |   |                                     |  |  |  |
| Sommerer, 2021                        | RCT           | n=132                               | BCM at first & last visit & according to clinical need  | NT-proBNP                           | No significant difference  |  |  |
| HD International                      | <0 months     | Haemodialysis                       | Control: BCM at first & last visit but not available to |                                     | More hypovolaemia adverse events in intervention $(41 \text{ yrs} 24 \text{ m} = 0.002)$ |  |  |
| Lin 2020                              | DCT           | centrally (single centre)           | 2 monthly DCM avided dry weight accessment              | Composite of death ML strake        | group (41 vs 24, p=0.002)  |  |  |
| BMC Nephrology                        | 1 year        | Haemodialysis                       | Control: BCM performed but not available to treating    | peripheral vascular disease         | No significant difference  |  |  |
| BOCOMO study                          | i year        | China (11 centres)                  | clinicians  | peripheral vascular disease         |  |  |  |
| Patel 2019                            | RCT           | n=50                                | 2-weekly BCM-guided dry weight assessment               | Blood pressure intradialytic        | Blood pressure similar but with reduced pill burden in                                   |  |  |
| Indian I Nephrol                      | 6 months      | Haemodialysis                       | Control: BCM performed but not available to treating    | complications                       | intervention group   |  |  |
| indian e riepiner                     | o monuio      | India (2 centres)                   | clinicians  | comproducing                        | Less intradialytic hypotension in intervention group                                     |  |  |
| Siriopol, 2017                        | RCT           | n=250                               | Weekly/monthly lung ultrasound + BCM if clinical        | Composite all-cause mortality and   | No significant difference  |  |  |
| Int Urol Nephrol                      | 2 year        | Haemodialysis                       | hypovolaemia  | CVE - death, stroke, MI             | Less pre-dialysis dyspnoea, but more intradialytic                                       |  |  |
| BUST study                            |               | Romania (2 centres)                 | Control: routine care                                   |                                     | cramps in intervention   |  |  |
| Huan-Sheng, 2016                      | RCT           | n=298                               | Monthly BCM-guided dry weight assessment                | All-cause hospitalisation           | No significant difference  |  |  |
| Int Urol Nephrol                      | 1 year        | Haemodialysis                       | Control: Monthly BCM performed but not available to     | Acute fluid overload or CV-related  |  |  |  |
| ABISAD-III                            |               | Taiwan (6 centres)                  | treating clinicians                                     | event, hypertension, intra-dialysis |  |  |  |
|                                       |               |                                     |   | morbidity                           |  |  |  |
| Onofriescu, 2014                      | RCT           | n=131                               | 3-monthly BCM-guided dry weight assessment              | All-cause mortality                 | Only 1 versus 8 deaths – underpowered (adjusted HR                                       |  |  |
| Am J Kid Dis                          | 2.5 year      | Haemodialysis                       | Control: 3-monthly BCM performed but not available to   | Arterial stiffness, fluid overload, | 0.11, 95% CI 0.01-0.92, p=0.04)  |  |  |
|                                       |               | Romania (single centre)             | treating clinicians                                     | blood pressure                      | Significantly lower arterial stiffness but not blood                                     |  |  |
| Banaa 2014                            | DCT           | m-190                               | Monthly DCM guided day weight accomment                 | Elvid overlagd intradicivitie       | Flyid evenload reduced   |  |  |
| Police, 2014<br>Port I Nonbrol Huport | KCI<br>1 voor | II=109<br>Online heamodiafiltration | Control: Monthly BCM performed but not available to     | Fluid Overload, Intradiatytic       | No significant difference heavitalisations/mortality                                     |  |  |
| Fort J Nephior Hypert                 | i yeai        | Portugal (23 centres)               | treating clinicians                                     | hypotension, blood pressure,        | No significant difference hospitalisations/mortanty                                      |  |  |
| Hur 2013                              | RCT           | n=156                               | Twice monthly BCM-guided dry weight assessment          | Left ventricular mass index         | Significant regression of LVML mean difference   |  |  |
| Am J Kid Dis                          | 1 vear        | Haemodialysis                       | Control: 3-monthly BCM but not available to treating    | Blood pressure, left atrial volume. | between groups: $-10.2 \text{ g/m}^2$ (95% CL -19.2, $-1.17 \text{ g/m}^2$ :             |  |  |
|                                       | 1 your        | Turkey (2 centres)                  | clinicians  | arterial stiffness by pulse-wave    | p=0.04). Other parameters also decreased in the  |  |  |
|                                       |               |                                     |   | velocity                            | intervention group, but not control.   |  |  |
| Onofriescu, 2012                      | RCT           | n=135                               | 3-monthly BCM-guided dry weight assessment              | Blood pressure, arterial stiffness, | No significant difference  |  |  |
| Int Urol Nephrol                      | 1 year        | Haemodialysis                       | Control: 3-monthly BCM performed but not available to   | NT-proBNP                           | (Blood pressure & NT-proBNP fell in both groups;   |  |  |
|                                       |               | Romania (single centre)             | treating clinicians                                     |                                     | arterial stiffness improved intervention)  |  |  |
| Peritoneal dialysis                   | 1             |                                     |   |                                     | 1  |  |  |
| Brimble, 2022                         | 2 by 2        | n=65                                | (1) Multifrequency BIA using Quadscan 4000 (Bodystat)   | Left ventricular mass index         | No significant difference  |  |  |
| Am J Kid Dis                          | factorial RCT | Peritoneal dialysis                 | versus routine care                                     |                                     |  |  |  |
| FLUID trial                           | 1 year        | Canada (6 centres)                  | (2) Colecalciferol vs placebo                           |                                     | NT 1 100   |  |  |
| Tian, 2020                            | RCT           | n=240                               | 1-to-3-monthly BCM-guided management                    | All-cause mortality, cardiovascular | No significant difference  |  |  |
| CJASN                                 | 1 year        | China (single contro)               | Control: routine care                                   | mortanty, technique survival        |  |  |  |
| Voor 2010                             | DCT           |                                     | 1 to 2 monthly DCM avided day weight accessment         | Desidual hidrox function all course | No significant difference  |  |  |
| Nephrology (APSN)                     | KCI<br>1 veer | II=196<br>Paritonaal dialysis       | Control: BCM performed 0, 6 & 12 months but not         | mortality cardiovascular events     | No significant difference  |  |  |
| riephiology (Ai 514)                  | i year        | Korea (5 centres)                   | available to treating clinicians                        | peritonitis hospitalisations        |  |  |  |
| Oh. 2018                              | RCT           | n=137                               | 2-monthly BCM-guided dry weight assessment              | Residual kidney function            | No significant difference  |  |  |
| PD International                      | 1 vear        | Peritoneal dialysis                 | Control: BCM performed at start & end but not available | residual kidney function            |  |  |  |
| COMPASS study                         |               | Korea (5 centres)                   | to treating clinicians                                  |                                     |  |  |  |
| Luo, 2011                             | RCT           | n=160                               | ~6-weekly BCM-guided dry weight assessment              | Fluid overload                      | Significant reduction in fluid overload & blood  |  |  |
| Blood Purif                           | 12 weeks      | Peritoneal dialysis                 | Control: BCM performed but not available to treating    | Blood pressure                      | pressure in intervention versus control groups   |  |  |
|                                       |               | China (single centre)               | clinicians  | -                                   |  |  |  |

| T 11 1 2 0      | • / 11•1 1      | 1 .              | 1 • • 1      | c 11.1.        | / 1 /            |              |
|-----------------|-----------------|------------------|--------------|----------------|------------------|--------------|
| 1 able 1-3. ()n | oning/nublished | trials using     | hioimpedance | tor eligibilit | v/sunnlementarv  | ) assessment |
| 10010 1 5. 011  | Sound phonstica | in teres tisting | orompedance  |                | y supprementally | abbebbnieni  |

| Trial  | Design   | Population                                       | Intervention/control   | Outcome  | Application of bioimpedance  |
|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Marshall, 2020<br>CJASN<br>SOLiD trial   | RCT<br>1 year<br>New Zealand (11 centres)                      | n=99<br>Haemodialysis                            | Low dialysate sodium versus conventional   | Left ventricular mass index on cardiac MRI<br>Secondary outcomes included BCM-derived<br>extracellular fluid volume  | Device: Fresenius BCM<br>Application: outcome assessment<br>No significant effect on primary outcome but<br>intervention led to significant reduction in<br>extracellular fluid volume       |
| Kananuraks, 2020<br>KI Reports<br>BELIEVE trial  | Pilot RCT<br>Thailand (single centre)                          | n=61<br>At risk of AKI                           | BIA-guided volume expansion with intravenous<br>bicarbonate for prevention of contrast-induced<br>AKI after coronary angiography   | Contrast-induced AKI   | Device: MF-BIA (InBody 720)<br><b>Application: guided intervention</b><br>(intervention prescribed according to<br>ECW/TBW)<br>No significant effect   |
| Antlanger, 2017<br>BMC Nephrol<br>BVM-Reg trial  | RCT<br>4 weeks<br>Austria (multi-centre)                       | n=50<br>Haemodialysis                            | Fluid removal techniques to improve dry weight<br>reduction: ultrafiltration and dialysate<br>conductivity (UCR) and/or regulation of<br>ultrafiltration and temperature (UTR) versus<br>conventional dialysis | Dry weight reduction, blood pressure,<br>ultrafiltration rates, complications  | Device: Fresenius BCM<br><b>Application: eligibility</b> - inclusion required<br>BCM "Fluid Overload" >15%   |
| Beduschi, 2013<br>Renal Failure  | RCT<br>16 weeks<br>Brazil (single centre)                      | n=52<br>Haemodialysis                            | Dialysate sodium reduction from 138 to 135 mEq/L versus no reduction   | Biomarker (TNF-α, IL-6) reduction, blood<br>pressure, interdialytic weight gain, dialysis<br>adequacy, complications | Device: SF-BIA (Biodynamics analyser 450)<br><b>Application: outcome assessment</b><br>Reduction in biomarkers but no significant<br>change in extracellular water (BIA)                     |
| McMahon, 2013<br>JASN<br>LowSALT study   | RCT (crossover)<br>6 weeks (first phase)<br>UK (single centre) | n=20<br>Stage 3-4 CKD with<br>hypertension       | Salt restricted diet versus control  | Blood pressure, extracellular fluid volume, albuminuria  | Device: Fresenius BCM<br><b>Application: outcome assessment</b><br>Reductions in blood pressure, extracellular<br>fluid volume and albuminuria   |
| Jagodzinska, 2011<br>J Ren Nutri   | Trial (not<br>randomised/controlled)                           | n=38<br>Haemodialysis                            | Chewing gum to reduce thirst, dry mouth and fluid overload   | Symptom questionnaires, monthly bioimpedance assessment  | Device: not stated<br><b>Application: outcome assessment</b><br>Chewing gum did not improve fluid status   |
| DAPA-HD<br>NCT05179668<br>[ongoing trial]  | RCT<br>6 months  | n=108<br>Haemodialysis                           | Dapagliflozin versus placebo   | Left ventricular mass index on cardiac MRI<br>BCM fluid assessment at baseline, 3 months<br>and end of study         | Device: Fresenius BCM<br><b>Application: additional monitoring</b><br><b>assessment/outcome</b> (if hypervolaemia,<br>dialysis prescription sdjusted)<br>Estimated completion September 2025 |
| DAPA-advKD<br>NCT05196347 [trial<br>completed, results<br>not yet published at<br>thesis submission] | RCT<br>1 year<br>Taiwan (3 centres)                            | n=225<br>CKD with GFR 10-30                      | Dapagliflozin versus routine care  | eGFR slope   | Device: Fresenius BCM<br><b>Application: additional monitoring</b><br><b>assessment/outcome</b> (used to control "Fluid<br>Overload" between 0-1 Litres)                                     |
| RESOLVE<br>NCT02823821<br>[ongoing trial]  | Cluster RCT<br>Event-driven (~5 years)<br>International        | n~50000<br>Maintenance<br>haemodialysis patients | Dialysate sodium 140mmol/l versus 137mmol/l  | Major cardiovascular events and all-cause death  | Estimated completion December 2024   |

## 1.6.1.3 ASSOCIATIONS WITH ADVERSE OUTCOMES

Widespread measurement of BCM-determined "Fluid Overload" across the Nephrocare-FMC 26-country dialysis centre network has facilitated large-scale observational studies, which have demonstrated strong positive associations with all-cause mortality in patients requiring dialysis, independent of blood pressure (Zoccali et al., 2017, Barra et al., 2022, Siriopol et al., 2019). These studies used relative "Fluid Overload" derived by indexing absolute excess fluid volume to the volume of the extracellular water (ECW) compartment as the exposure, thereby allowing for comparisons between individuals (Wizemann et al., 2009).

In the Wizemann et al. cohort of 269 patients on haemodialysis, 86 died during 3.5 years of follow-up and the adjusted hazard ratio (HR) for all-cause mortality associated with predialysis relative "Fluid Overload" >15% was 2.1 (95% confidence interval [CI] 1.4-3.2) compared to  $\leq$ 15% (Wizemann et al., 2009). Pre-dialysis relative "Fluid Overload" >15% was more strongly associated with death than age or systolic blood pressure (Wizemann et al., 2009). The >15% threshold, equivalent to approximately +2.5 L absolute "Fluid Overload" (Wizemann et al., 2009), has subsequently been widely used in confirmatory studies in haemodialysis populations (Zoccali et al., 2017, Dekker et al., 2017, Kim et al., 2015, Onofriescu et al., 2015, Siriopol et al., 2019).

Other studies have also used a lower threshold of >7% relative "Fluid Overload", which in a healthy reference population is equivalent to approximately +1.1 L absolute "Fluid Overload" and to the 90<sup>th</sup> percentile, which has also been associated with poorer survival (Siriopol et al., 2016, Siriopol et al., 2017b, Van Biesen et al., 2011, Siriopol et al., 2019, Dekker et al., 2017). Dekker et al. reported that, compared with patients considered to be euvolaemic pre-dialysis (defined as "Fluid Overload" -1.1 L to +1.1 L), those with predialysis values of >+1.1,  $\leq$ +2.5 L (equivalent to 7-15% relative "Fluid Overload") and >+2.5,  $\leq$ +5.0 L (equivalent to >15% relative "Fluid Overload"), hazards of death were increased by 1.6- and 2.7-times, respectively (HR 1.6 [95% CI 1.4-2.0] & 2.7 [95% CI 2.3-3.4]). Siriopol et al. report similar findings comparing haemodialysis patients with moderate (>+1.1 L, <+2.5 L) and severe (>+2.5 L) "Fluid Overload" pre-dialysis to those considered normovolaemic (-1.1 L to +1.1 L) (HR 1.5 [95% CI 1.2–1.9] & 2.0 [95% CI 1.6–2.6]; respectively) (Siriopol et al., 2019).

Studies more commonly report "Fluid Overload" assessed prior to a haemodialysis treatment session (pre-HD) than after treatment (post-HD). A few studies have sought to compare pre- and post-HD "Fluid Overload" and associations with mortality and largely reported similar-sized hazard ratios pre- and post-HD (Dekker et al., 2017, Hecking et al., 2018). However, Tangvoraphonkchai et al. found increased hazards of mortality to be associated with pre-HD "Fluid Overload" but not post-HD (Tangvoraphonkchai and Davenport, 2016) and another study found neither pre- nor post-HD "Fluid Overload" to be associated with mortality (Siriopol et al., 2013) however this small study represents an outlier compared to the body of evidence supporting the mortality risks of "Fluid Overload". In summary, pre-HD "Fluid Overload" measurements seem to be more consistently associated with clinical outcomes and should be favoured since this aligns with clinical practice.

In peritoneal dialysis (PD) populations, a study by Jotterand Drepper et al. applied the same 15% threshold to a cohort of 54 PD patients and demonstrated a significant association with hazards of death (HR for each for 1-SD [11%] increase in relative "Fluid Overload" 7.8 [95% CI 1.1–29.1]) (Jotterand Drepper et al., 2016). In the IPOD-PD study, van Biesen et al. studied the association between serial measurements of relative "Fluid Overload" and mortality in a cohort of 1054 incident PD patients in which moderate relative "Fluid Overload" was defined as >7% and severe >17.3% (Van Biesen et al., 2019). The severe threshold value of >17.3% is derived from the 75<sup>th</sup> percentile of their population at 1 month since commencing PD. It was associated with 59% increased hazards of all-cause mortality (HR 1.6 [95% CI 1.1-2.3], compared with relative "Fluid Overload"  $\leq 17.3\%$ ). In a subgroup analysis of the cohort who developed PD technique failure (composite of death or transfer to haemodialysis), they used the same principle of a cut-off value based on the 75<sup>th</sup> percentile of the study population (who developed technique failure) and therefore a value of >14.4% was used. This was associated with a significantly higher risk of PD technique failure (HR 2.7 ([95% CI 1.8-4.3) (Vrtovsnik et al., 2021). O'Lone et al. applied another alternative threshold value of  $\geq 10\%$  (representing the top 30% of the studied cohort), and reported that relative "Fluid Overload" of  $\geq 10\%$ 

was strongly associated with risk of death in 529 patients on PD (HR 2.1 [95% CI 1.4-3.2]) compared to those with <10% "Fluid Overload" (O'Lone et al., 2014). Other cohorts have not assessed the same 17.3% or 10% threshold used in these studies.

#### 1.6.2 APPLICATIONS IN NON-DIALYSIS CKD

Use of bioimpedance is relatively unexplored in CKD without kidney replacement therapy (KRT), but observational studies are emerging. These have focused on moderate "Fluid Overload" (>+1.1L or >+7%) as an exposure since severe "Fluid Overload" is relatively uncommon before kidney failure develops. A study by Tsai et al. demonstrated that in patients with CKD stages G4-5 not requiring dialysis, relative "Fluid Overload" ≥7% was associated with about a doubling of the hazards of the composite outcome of death or cardiovascular event (incident myocardial infarction, stroke, peripheral artery disease, or hospitalisation for heart failure or arrhythmia) compared to <7% "Fluid Overload" (HR 1.9 [95% CI 1.0-3.7]) (Tsai et al., 2015). Associations were similar in a study by Hung et al. conducted in patients with CKD stages G3-5 (not requiring dialysis): relative "Fluid Overload"  $\geq$ 7% was associated with significantly increased risk of a composite outcome of myocardial infarction, hospitalisation for congestive heart failure or unstable angina, or death from cardiovascular causes (HR 2.7 [95% CI 1.1-6.5]) (Hung et al., 2015). These and other studies have also reported associations between relative "Fluid Overload" >7% and kidney disease progression (Liu et al., 2021, Schork et al., 2020) but these may simply reflect "Fluid Overload" as a marker of risk rather than be directly responsible for CKD progression.

Beyond the fluid status assessment applications discussed, bioimpedance spectroscopy has many other potential applications in CKD, though not currently employed in clinical practice or well-researched, as outlined in Figure 1-4.



Despite the wealth of observational research on BCM-derived "Fluid Overload" parameters in both dialysis populations and more recently, in non-dialysis CKD; there is relatively little reported on BCM-derived lean and adipose/fat tissue parameters and studies report inconsistent results. Several studies have reported protective effects of greater lean tissue mass generally demonstrating associations between higher lean tissue index (LTI) and lower all-cause mortality in CKD populations on haemodialysis (Castellano et al., 2016), peritoneal dialysis (Parthasarathy et al., 2019, Kim et al., 2021) and in earlier CKD - stages 3-5 not on dialysis (Lin et al., 2018) though associations were lost in fully-adjusted multivariable models in some cases. The relationship between fat tissue index (FTI) and clinical outcomes is far less clear and studies report inconsistent results. Longitudinal increase in fat tissue index was associated with increased hazards of all-cause mortality in one peritoneal dialysis cohort though the association was no longer significant once C-reactive protein was added as a covariate (Kim et al., 2021). Conversely, another peritoneal dialysis study reported that each standard deviation increase in FTI was associated with lower hazards of mortality though upper confidence interval limits approach 1.00 throughout (Parthasarathy et al., 2019). Data in haemodialysis

populations is limited, one small study similarly reported protective effects of increased FTI and lower hazards of all-cause mortality though categorising FTI as high or low based on its median value in the cohort studied. In earlier stages of CKD, Lin et al. found no association between FTI and all-cause mortality or cardiovascular outcomes when FTI was again dichotomised based on the median value (Lin et al., 2018). These inconsistent associations may in part be explained by the established "obesity paradox" in CKD (Park et al., 2014) such that obesity is associated with poorer survival in earlier CKD but actually confers survival advantage in advanced CKD therefore making it difficult to clearly demonstrate associations with FTI in small studies in the absence of a linear relationship. It remains unclear whether lean mass or adiposity is the more important factor in determining clinical outcomes and typically small studies using bioimpedance spectroscopy are unable to satisfactorily answer this considering the limitations of the BCM device methodology since both lean and fat tissue mass are originally derived from the same parameters of extracellular and intracellular resistance.

## **1.6.3 APPLICATIONS IN HEART FAILURE**

Bioimpedance spectroscopy is in routine use in patients with advanced CKD as discussed in the previous section however it has not yet found a place in heart failure management. Fluid overload is a hallmark of decompensated heart failure (Gheorghiade et al., 2010, Njoroge and Teerlink, 2021) and therefore BCM-derived "Fluid Overload" could be a surrogate for decompensated heart failure though not well-tested in randomised trials in heart failure populations. Bioimpedance devices have been shown to detect subclinical fluid overload (Albert, 2006, Miller, 2016) which, in people with heart failure, is associated with increased risk of death or need for cardiac transplant (Androne et al., 2004). Bioimpedance may therefore support clinical decisions on when to intensify diuretic therapy to modify risk. Bioimpedance devices are generally portable and could be utilised in outpatient heart failure and CKD clinic assessments, and even in patients' homes. This strategy is being assessed in a small feasibility study of at-home BIA in heart failure (NCT05177081). Other registered trials using whole-body bioimpedance devices were not completed (NCT02662439, NCT00843245).

Specific to the heart failure setting, localised impedance methods can also be employed via intra- and transthoracic measures of lung impedance available via implanted cardiac

devices and wearable vests. There is some evidence that fluid overload indicated by thoracic impedance predicts hospitalisation and has clinical potential to monitor diuresis (Smeets et al., 2020, Yu et al., 2005, Shochat et al., 2015). However despite some evidence supporting their use in predicting hospitalisation and association with clinical outcomes, these methods have not shown any demonstrable impact on clinical management (Smeets et al., 2020, Yu et al., 2005, Shochat et al., 2015). Currently, tools to aid in clinical management of heart failure are limited. N-terminal pro B-type natriuretic peptide (NTproBNP) has been studied as a potential serological marker and although established as a prognostic tool, it is not specific to heart failure and its serial measurement in monitoring/response to treatment is not supported by current guidelines (McDonagh et al., 2021). Other approaches such as pulmonary artery pressure monitoring are being studied (McDonagh et al., 2021) however whole-body bioimpedance spectroscopy has the advantage of not requiring an indwelling device. Perhaps the utility of whole-body bioimpedance spectroscopy in heart failure has been limited by the theoretical concern that whole-body bioimpedance devices may inhibit unipolar pacing in patients dependent on pacemakers, but the majority of pacemakers are now bipolar and overall risk is considered low.

Observational studies in both dialysis and non-dialysis CKD have demonstrated that bioimpedance-derived fluid overload is strongly associated with mortality (as discussed in the previous section) but fewer data exist in heart failure. Data in heart failure are typically limited to small cohorts and use bioimpedance analysis (BIA, a less precise technique than bioimpedance spectroscopy employed by the BCM). Associations of these parameters with outcomes are reported in Chapter 3.

# 1.7 AIMS OF THE THESIS

The aims of this thesis focus on testing the key hypothesis that empagliflozin has beneficial effects on kidney and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with chronic kidney disease which may be in part explained by effects on fluid status which can be assessed using bioimpedance spectroscopy. The thesis will explore potential contributory mechanisms (focusing on fluid status, body composition and blood pressure) and heterogeneity of treatment effect (focusing on indicators of patients who may be vulnerable to diuresis and blood pressure lowering) by addressing the following five research questions.

**Research question 1**: Is bioimpedance spectroscopy a valuable tool in clinical and research settings in non-dialysis chronic kidney disease - what are the associations between bioimpedance-derived fluid overload and clinical outcomes?

**Objectives:** 

- Review the use of bioimpedance in chronic kidney disease in existing literature
- Conduct a systematic review (± meta-analysis if data allow) of associations between bioimpedance-derived fluid parameters and clinical outcomes
- Summarise commonly used definitions and analysis approaches to bioimpedancederived fluid parameters to inform own analyses

**Research question 2**: What are the effects of empagliflozin on fluid status estimated by bioimpedance spectroscopy?

Objectives:

- Establish whether empagliflozin reduces bioimpedance estimates of fluid excess
- If so, establish:
  - Whether effects are transient or sustained (or differ over time)
  - o Whether effects differ depending on other patient characteristics
  - $\circ$  To what extent reduction in fluid excess contributes to weight loss

**Research question 3**: What are the effects of empagliflozin on body composition and is weight lost due to fluid or reduced adiposity?

**Objectives:** 

- Establish whether empagliflozin reduces adipose and/or lean tissue mass as estimated by bioimpedance spectroscopy
- If so, establish:
  - Whether effects are transient or sustained (or differ over time)
  - To what extent reduction in tissue mass contributes to weight loss
- Further characterise the effects of empagliflozin on anthropometric measurements (weight, body mass index and waist-to-hip ratio) in EMPA-KIDNEY
  - Assess whether effects on weight:
    - Are transient or sustained (or differ over time)
    - Differ depending on other patient characteristics
- Assess the effect of empagliflozin on glycated haemoglobin and haematocrit in relation to effects on body composition and fluid status

**Research question 4**: What are the effects of empagliflozin on blood pressure and how do these relate to effects on fluid status?

Objectives:

- Further characterise the effects of empagliflozin on blood pressure in EMPA-KIDNEY
  - Assess whether effects on blood pressure:
    - Are transient or sustained (or differ over time)
    - Differ depending on other patient characteristics
- Relate the effects of empagliflozin on fluid status to effects on blood pressure

**Research question 5**: What is the impact of frailty, multimorbidity, polypharmacy and health-related quality of life on the effects of empagliflozin on clinical outcomes and physical measurements?

Objectives:

- Derive a frailty indicator using EMPA-KIDNEY trial data
- Relate the frailty indicator to the related concepts of multimorbidity, polypharmacy and health-related quality of life and characterise these in EMPA-KIDNEY

- Use the frailty indicator(s) to categorise participants into levels of frailty to assess whether there is heterogeneity in the effect of empagliflozin on clinical (efficacy and safety) outcomes according to frailty
- Characterise the benefit-risk profile of empagliflozin across levels of frailty by estimating absolute benefits and harms of treatment

## **CHAPTER 2 – METHODS**

The first section of this methods chapter describes methods of the systematic review (reported in Chapter 3). The second section pertains to the design and conduct of the EMPA-KIDNEY trial: the main trial methods are discussed in brief since these are not the focus of, but provide the context for, this thesis. Methods of clinical and laboratory assessments in the main trial are expanded upon since these were required for tertiary analyses related to the bioimpedance substudy (reported in Chapters 5 & 6). The majority of the methods chapter then focuses on the methods of the EMPA-KIDNEY bioimpedance substudy, the core of this thesis (reported in Chapters 4 & 5), separately considering (i) design and conduct; (ii) data quality assessment; and (iii) analysis including outcomes. The methodology underpinning the bioimpedance spectroscopy technique is discussed in Chapter 1 (section 1.5). The final sections of this methods chapter describe methods specific to analyses of the impact of frailty (and related metrics) on the effects of empagliflozin (reported in Chapter 7) and statistical analysis methods.

# 2.1 SYSTEMATIC REVIEW OF BIOIMPEDANCE-DERIVED FLUID OVERLOAD AND ASSOCIATIONS WITH CLINICAL OUTCOMES IN CKD AND HEART FAILURE

## 2.1.1 REVIEW CONCEPTION AND PROTOCOL REGISTRATION

Associations between bioimpedance-derived fluid status and clinical outcomes in patients receiving dialysis had previously been well-documented in systematic reviews and metaanalyses as summarised in Table 2-1 (Tabinor et al., 2018, Wang and Gu, 2021, Shu et al., 2018, Scotland et al., 2018). These associations had not previously been summarised in patients with earlier stages of chronic kidney disease (CKD) and much less was known in heart failure populations. This review therefore aimed to systematically review and metaanalyse the available data in populations with CKD (not requiring dialysis) and/or heart failure. This approach also appropriately aligned with the study population of the EMPA-KIDNEY trial and its bioimpedance substudy which forms the core of this thesis. It was anticipated that the majority of identified reports would be observational studies though interventional studies were also included in the review.

# Table 2-1: Existing systematic review and meta-analyses summarising associations between bioimpedance-derived fluid excess and clinical outcomes in CKD/heart failure populations

|  | Intervention(s) reviewed  | Population(s)  | Outcome(s)  | Size  | Findings   |
|--|---|--|---|---|--|
| Wang, 2021<br>J Int Med Res                      | BIS/BIA – OH, ECW, ICW,<br>TBW                                      | Dialysis (any)   | Mortality<br>Cardiovascular events  | 55 studies,<br>n=104,758                              | OH/ECW >15% predicts mortality (RR 2.72, 95% CI 2.01–<br>3.44)<br>ECW/TBW >0.4 predicts mortality (RR 5.92, 95% CI 2.02–<br>17.34) and cardiovascular events (RR 2.68, 95% CI 1.35–<br>5.34) |
| Tabinor, 2018<br>Nature Sci Reports              | BIS/BIA – OH, phase angle/BI<br>vector, ECW:ICW                     | Dialysis (95% HD, 5% PD)   | Mortality<br>Hospitalisation, Cardiovascular events   | 42 cohorts,<br>n=60,790                               | OH predicts mortality independent of comorbidity<br>OH >15% (RR 2.28, 95% CI 1.56–3.34)  |
| Shu, 2018<br>Blood Purif                         | BIS/BIA – OH (ECW:TBW)  | PD   | Mortality<br>Technique failure  | 8 studies,<br>n=1989                                  | ECW/TBW "might" predict all-cause mortality (RR 1.08, 95% CI 0.96, 3.36)   |
| Scotland, 2018<br>Health Technol Assess          | Fresenius BCM – absolute and relative OH                            | Dialysis   | Clinical effectiveness versus standard<br>clinical assessment<br>Cost-effectiveness   | 5 RCTs, n=904,<br>6 non-randomised<br>studies, n=4915 | OH lower with BCM vs standard clinical care;<br>Non-significant effect on blood pressure, arterial stiffness,<br>mortality (mortality RR 0.69, 95% CI 0.23-2.08)                             |
| Covic, 2017<br>Int Urol Nephrol                  | BIA   | Dialysis   | All-cause, Cardiovascular mortality<br>Dry weight assessment, SBP, volume<br>control, arterial stiffness                          | 7 RCTs,<br>n=1312                                     | BIA did not reduce mortality (RR 0.87, 95% CI 0.54–1.39);<br>improved blood pressure and reduced overhydration   |
| Da Silva, 2018<br>Clinical Nutrition<br>ESPEN    | BIA   | Variety of medical<br>conditions (excluded<br>healthy) – critical illness,<br>heart failure, CKD | Mortality   | 12 studies,<br>n=8617                                 | Hyperhydration by BIA associated with mortality (OR 4.38, 95% CI 2.76-6.94)  |
| Rodriguez, 2019<br>Kidney Int Reports            | Various non-pharmacological<br>approaches including<br>bioimpedance | Any renal replacement therapy  | Arterial stiffness by carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity (cf-PWV)  | 33 studies,<br>n=2166                                 | Control of OH by BIA reduced arterial stiffness  |
| Beaubien-Souligny,<br>2019<br>Kidney Int Reports | Technological adjuncts for fluid<br>management: BIS/BIA             | Dialysis (any)   | Mortality<br>Cardiovascular events, hospitalisation,<br>intradialytic hypotension, blood<br>pressure, left ventricular mass index | 10 studies,<br>n=2111                                 | Adjunct technologies did not reduce mortality (RR 0.71 95% CI 0.43-1.17)   |

The initial title/abstract screening was performed in two stages: firstly screening all studies and then secondly removing all retained studies which clearly studied only dialysis (kidney failure) populations. Records of these studies were retained for review of fluid overload definitions and threshold values in existing studies across all CKD (non-dialysis and dialysis) and heart failure populations.

The Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analysis (PRISMA) guidelines were followed and the review was prospectively registered on PROSPERO international prospective register of systematic reviews on 16 March 2022 (Appendix 1, PROSPERO identifier CRD42022316312).

# 2.1.2 PI(E)COS FRAMEWORK

PI(E)COS (Population, Intervention/Exposure, Comparison, Outcome, Setting) criteria for study inclusion are outlined in Table 2-2.

| CRITERIA                | DEFINITION  |  |  |
|-------------------------|---|--|--|
| Population              | Adult populations (aged over 18 years or as defined by the study) with heart failure and/or CKD   |  |  |
| Intervention/(Exposure) | Fluid status assessed by whole-body bioimpedance analysis or spectroscopy   |  |  |
| Comparison              | Largely not applicable for observational studies. Studies may include, as a comparator, standard clinical assessment of fluid status used in routine care         |  |  |
| Outcome(s)              | All-cause mortality<br>Cardiovascular event or composite outcomes using study-specific definitions<br>Kidney disease progression using study-specific definitions |  |  |
| Study design            | Observational and interventional studies  |  |  |

Table 2-2: PI(E)COS framework

# 2.1.3 EXCLUSION CRITERIA

CKD was defined according to the KDIGO staging system and included CKD stages 1-5, not yet requiring kidney replacement therapy (dialysis or transplant). Studies of people with functioning kidney transplants or on maintenance dialysis were excluded. Studies exclusively of acute kidney injury and other acute disease states were also excluded (e.g., sepsis, critical illness and perioperative studies), with the exception of acute decompensated heart failure. Studies of other chronic diseases in which fluid overload may manifest (e.g., liver disease) were also excluded.

# 2.1.4 EXPOSURES AND COMPARISONS

All whole-body bioimpedance indices of fluid overload were considered relevant, including absolute and relative "Fluid Overload" (or overhydration), ratios of body water compartments, phase angle, vector length, and bioimpedance vector analysis (BIVA) hydration index; whether reported as continuous or categorical exposures. Results of both absolute "Fluid Overload" in litres and the related relative "Fluid Overload" parameter (indexed to measured extracellular water volume, expressed as a percentage) were tabulated where both were reported and analyses of variables as both continuous and categorised exposures were summarised. Fluid status assessments at any time point and studies reporting both single and serial measurements were included. Where serial measurements were reported, baseline measurements were favoured since serial measurements may have been affected by intervention.

Studies using only segmental/localised (as opposed to whole-body) bioimpedance such as intra/transthoracic or calf measurements were excluded. Where eligibility was unclear, authors were contacted by email.

# 2.1.5 OUTCOMES

The primary outcome of interest was mortality (as the more specific outcome of cardiovascular mortality was not widely reported). Studies reporting cardiovascular and kidney disease progression outcomes were also reviewed. Definitions of these outcomes were expected to differ (Table 2-3), the protocol specified that all outcome definitions would be included as reported by the study authors and heterogeneity of definitions reviewed to consider whether statistical aggregation would be appropriate. For heart failure populations, composite outcomes comprising all-cause death and hospitalisation were included as a cardiovascular outcome on the presumption that a large proportion of deaths in these composite outcomes reflect cardiovascular disease in the included populations (and particularly in heart failure populations).

| Outcome                       | Possible components/definitions   |
|-------------------------------|---|
| All-cause mortality           | Death from any cause  |
| Cardiovascular outcomes       | Fatal and nonfatal incident cardiovascular disease requiring hospitalisation, including:                              |
|                               | • Myocardial infarction   |
|                               | • Stroke  |
|                               | Cardiovascular death  |
|                               | Coronary heart disease including unstable angina and revascularisation procedures                                     |
|                               | Hospitalisation for heart failure   |
| Progression of chronic kidney | Incident end-stage kidney disease requiring initiation of renal replacement therapy (RRT)                             |
| disease                       | (haemodialysis, peritoneal dialysis or renal transplantation including pre-emptive                                    |
|                               | transplantation)  |
|                               | • By percentage decline in glomerular filtration rate (GFR) or eGFR (definitions vary e.g.                            |
|                               | $\geq 25, \geq 30\%, \geq 40\% \text{ or } \geq 50\%$   |
|                               | • By decline in GFR or eGFR per year (definitions vary e.g. $\geq 3 \text{ mL/min}/1.73\text{m}^2 \text{ per year}$ ) |
|                               | Doubling of serum creatinine from baseline  |
|                               | • Onset of self-reported persistent anuria (definitions vary e.g. urine volume <100 mL/24                             |
|                               | hours)  |

Table 2-3: Systematic review outcome definitions

It was expected that different nomenclature would be found to describe kidney failure. A Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Consensus Conference in 2019 reviewed the nomenclature used to describe kidney disease, aiming to achieve greater uniformity. The recommendations were published in 2020 (Levey et al., 2020) and it is expected the suggested nomenclature will, in time, replace the current commonly used terminology. Results are discussed used the newly proposed terms (for example, kidney failure, KF) in summarising findings however existing literature was likely to instead feature the terms end-stage kidney disease (ESKD) or end-stage renal disease (ESRD). Table 2-4 outlines how these terms were handled in this review.

Table 2-4: Kidney disease outcome nomenclature

| KDIGO 2020 nomenclature  | Definition  | Related terms  |  |
|--|---|--|--|
| Kidney failure (KF)  | GFR <15 mL/min/1.73 m <sup>2</sup> or<br>treatment by dialysis<br>For $\geq$ 3 months   | End-stage kidney disease (ESKD)<br>End-stage renal disease (ESRD)<br>End-stage kidney failure (ESKF)<br>End-stage renal failure (ESRF) |  |
| Kidney replacement therapy (KRT)                                   | Includes dialysis and transplantation   | Renal replacement therapy (RRT)  |  |
| Kidney failure with replacement therapy<br>(KFRT)                  | CKD G5 treated by dialysis or<br>CKD G1-G5 after<br>transplantation; for epidemiologic<br>studies, both should be<br>included | ESKD/ESRD/ESKF/ESRF requiring dialysis/transplantation   |  |
| Kidney failure without replacement<br>therapy (CKD G5 without KRT) | CKD G5 where KRT is not chosen or not available   | ESKD/ESRD/ESKF/ESRF not on<br>dialysis/transplanted  |  |
| Chronic kidney disease without KRT<br>(CKD without KRT)            | CKD G1–G5, A1–A3 of any cause,<br>not receiving dialysis or<br>transplantation  | Non-dialysis CKD   |  |

# 2.1.6 SEARCH STRATEGY

The systematic search was conducted within MEDLINE (Ovid), Embase (Ovid) and Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) from inception to 14th March 2022 (see appendix 2 for search strategy). The database search was not restricted by language however all studies were available in English. Conference abstracts were excluded. Studies were only included once and the approach to selection of the report used for extraction was based upon the following factors: maximal outcome data, maximal follow-up time and largest population. Where different fluid overload parameters were used, this was considered alongside the aforementioned factors and parameters most synonymous with other studies were favoured. Search results were exported using Endnote software (EndNote X9, Clarivate, Philadelphia, USA, 2013) and imported into Covidence software (Covidence, Veritas Health Innovation, Melbourne, Australia [no version number/date]) where duplicates were removed. Two reviewers (Kaitlin Mayne & Richard Shemilt) independently screened all unique studies first by title/abstract followed by a review of full texts for those studies which appeared potentially relevant with disagreement resolved by consensus discussion.

#### 2.1.7 DATA EXTRACTION AND REPORTING

A bespoke Covidence electronic data extraction form was created for independent data extraction (Kaitlin Mayne & Richard Shemilt), and included data fields for study design, funding, population characteristics, measures of kidney function and cardiac status, blood pressure and other laboratory parameters relevant to fluid overload at recruitment, as well as bioimpedance-outcome associations. To simplify presentation, for studies reporting multiple fluid exposures, tabulations preferentially included the parameter most commonly reported across all studies, unless in reviewers' opinions, there were important differences in findings with less frequently used exposures. Results from multivariable confounderadjusted models were emphasised, wherever possible. Results from models which also included potential mediators of associations were extracted and are presented for comparison. Studies were grouped according to study population (CKD or heart failure) and by outcomes reported and results tabulated.

## 2.1.8 RISK OF BIAS IN INDIVIDUAL STUDIES

Risk of bias was independently assessed by both reviewers using the Quality In Prognosis Studies (QUIPS) tool for observational prognostic studies (see appendix 3) (Hayden et al., 2013) which scores the following six domains as either low, moderate or high risk of bias: study participation; study attrition; prognostic factor measurement; outcome(s) measurement; study confounding; and finally, statistical analysis and reporting. Differences were resolved by discussion to reach consensus.

#### 2.1.9 SUMMARY MEASURES

The preferred effect estimates extracted for all outcomes were hazard ratios and 95% confidence intervals with odds ratios (and 95% confidence intervals) also accepted.

# 2.1.10 SYNTHESIS OF RESULTS

Meta-analysis was planned by study population and clinical outcome however considerable heterogeneity in exposure measurement and outcome reporting precluded robust aggregation. Studies were grouped according to study population (CKD or heart failure) and by outcomes reported and results tabulated.

# 2.2 METHODS OF THE EMPA-KIDNEY TRIAL

The full methods of the EMPA-KIDNEY trial and the main results have been reported elsewhere (EMPA-KIDNEY Collaborative Group, 2023) and the Trial Protocol is publicly available for download: https://www.empakidney.org/downloads. In brief, patients with CKD at risk of progression were identified based on historical and screening local laboratory measurements of an estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR)  $\geq 20$  but <45 mL/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup>, or an eGFR  $\geq$ 45 but <90 mL/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup> with a urinary albumin-tocreatinine ratio (uACR)  $\geq$  200 mg/g. The primary outcome was the first occurrence of progression of kidney disease or death from cardiovascular causes. Progression of kidney disease was defined as end-stage kidney disease (ESKD; the initiation of maintenance dialysis or receipt of a kidney transplant), a sustained decrease in the eGFR to less than 10 mL/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup>, a sustained decrease from baseline in the eGFR of at least 40%, or death from kidney failure. The pre-specified key secondary outcomes were a composite of hospitalisation for heart failure or death from cardiovascular causes, hospitalisation for any cause (including the first and any subsequent hospitalisations), and death from any cause. The effects of empagliflozin versus placebo on all hospitalisations were analysed according to key pre-specified subgroups by diabetes status, baseline eGFR and uACR. Other secondary outcomes were progression of kidney disease, death from cardiovascular causes, and a composite of ESKD or death from cardiovascular causes. Safety outcomes were serious occurrences of urinary tract infection, genital infection, hyperkalaemia, acute kidney injury, hypoglycaemia; as well as liver injury, ketoacidosis, lower limb amputation, bone fracture; and serious and symptomatic dehydration, separately. Other pre-specified

safety assessments also included analyses of the effects of empagliflozin versus placebo on weight (kg) and blood pressure (systolic and diastolic; mmHg).

# 2.2.1 CLINICAL ASSESSMENTS IN THE FULL TRIAL COHORT

Analyses include effects on weight, body mass index, waist-to-hip ratio and blood pressure (systolic and diastolic blood pressure, pulse pressure and mean arterial pressure) in the full EMPA-KIDNEY trial cohort and exclude participants with missing baseline values of the outcome variable of interest in each analysis. These measurements were made at routine trial visits using Local Clinical Centre (LCC) equipment as would be typical in usual clinical practice. Weight (kg) and blood pressure (mmHg) were measured at the randomisation visit and all subsequent scheduled visits. Pulse pressure (post-hoc) was calculated by subtracting diastolic from systolic blood pressure for each measurement. Mean arterial pressure (*post-hoc*) was calculated as diastolic blood pressure + 1/3(systolic - diastolic blood pressure). Height (metres) was measured at randomisation and used to calculate body mass index (BMI) as weight divided by height squared for each study visit. Waist (i.e. the smallest part of the trunk or the level of the umbilicus if natural indent not apparent) and hip (the widest area around the hips) circumferences were measured in centimetres at randomisation, 18 months and the final visit only. Weight, height and waist/hip circumferences were required to be measured in the specified units – no conversion from imperial units was permitted. Trained LCC Research Co-ordinators (LRC) were advised to obtain measurements without footwear, outer clothing and with items removed from pockets. Guidance was provided to measure waist circumference in the standing position during exhalation, with arms folded. Blood pressure was measured using an automated digital sphygmomanometer or manual device if more appropriate (e.g. if the participant had an irregular heart beat) using an appropriately sized cuff. LRCs were advised the participant should sit comfortably for five minutes prior; to apply the cuff to the exposed upper arm at the level of the heart; neither the LRC nor the participant should speak during measurement and the participant should be advised to remain still. Only one reading was required, in accordance with streamlined trial principles.

## 2.2.2 LABORATORY ASSESSMENTS IN THE FULL TRIAL COHORT

Analyses include effects on glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) and haematocrit in the full EMPA-KIDNEY trial cohort. HbA1c was measured in the central laboratory at

randomisation, 2 and 18 months and the final follow-up visit (varies by participant); measurements at 2-, 18- 24- and 30-month time points were included in analyses of the full trial cohort. Kit boxes were provided by the Central Co-ordinating Office (CCO) to be used to collect and store the samples required for central analysis. Guidance was provided on centrifugation and storage prior to transfer to the central laboratory. HbA1c determination used the high-performance liquid chromatographic (HPLC) method using ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) blood on an Arkray HA8180 analyser and reagents with a calibrator supplied by Menarini Diagnostics UK traceable to International Federation of Clinical Chemistry (IFCC) reference standards. Haematocrit was assessed in an approximately 20% subset of the full trial cohort using local laboratory measurements at randomisation and 18 months only. Sample collection bottles/tubes for local laboratory testing were not supplied by the study, so used the bottles which are sourced locally for routine clinical use. LRCs were instructed to enter all test results from the local laboratory into the electronic care report form within 48 hours of collection and were requested to keep a paper copy of any tests results provided by the local laboratory specifically for the study within the participant's study records for monitoring purposes.

# 2.3 BIOIMPEDANCE SUBSTUDY: DESIGN AND CONDUCT

#### 2.3.1 SUBSTUDY DESIGN

The EMPA-KIDNEY bioimpedance substudy was an optional substudy conducted in a subset of sites in the United Kingdom (UK) and Germany. All participants in the subset of UK and Germany participating sites were eligible for invitation. Consenting participants underwent additional bioimpedance measurements at routine trial visits, in addition to the trial's main protocol-specified procedures. These additional measurements occurred at the randomisation visit and twice during follow-up: at the 2- and 18-month visits. Local Clinical Centres used/obtained their own approved device (Fresenius Body Composition Monitor) with instructions provided on regular calibration.

## 2.3.2 SUBSTUDY TRAINING

All substudy bioimpedance measurements were performed by trained LRCs during routine trial visits. A training video was produced by trial investigators at the Central Co-ordinating Office, Oxford and sent to LRCs to view independently. The slides used within

the training video are included in appendix 4. LRCs were also asked to review documentation relating to the substudy (Substudy Protocol Supplement [appendix 5]; Substudy Information Leaflet and Consent Form [appendix 6]; and Substudy Instruction ("kit") Leaflet [appendix 7]) and signed a Training Signature Form [appendix 8] confirming completion of substudy training.

# 2.3.3 DATA CAPTURE

To obtain measurements, four disposable adherent electrodes were attached to the participant's hand, wrist, foot and ankle on either side of the body (Figure 2-1) with the participant in the supine position. Local Research Coordinators were advised to request removal of wrist and/or ankle jewellery at the measurement site and instructed to clean the skin if required (for example if moisturising cream had recently been applied which may affect electrode adhesion). Electrodes were then connected to the Fresenius BCM device by red and black wires with the red wires always attached distally (nearest fingers/toes) to the black wires (Figure 2-1 & Figure 2-2). The BCM device then passes low level painless electrical current at frequencies of 5-1000 kHz (with results extrapolated from zero to infinity kHz) through body tissue. Once prepared, the measurement takes around 20 seconds and results are available within minutes.

# Figure 2-1: BCM electrode placement



Figure 2-2: BCM device set-up and data card


#### 2.3.4 INITIAL DATA QUALITY ASSESSMENT

When the measurement has been obtained, the BCM device displays an assessment of measurement quality in the form of a Q value and Cole-Cole plot. The Q values ranges from 0 to 100 and a value of  $\geq$ 80 is generally accepted to reflect acceptable quality. LRCs were trained to repeat bioimpedance measurements when the Q value was <80 after checking electrode and participant positioning. LRCs were not required to interpret the Cole-Cole plot; these were used later by expert reviewers as part of data quality assessments as outlined in section 2.4.

#### 2.3.5 DATA STORAGE

Once the measurement had been made, bioimpedance data were then stored on a dedicated BCM data card (Figure 2-2) unique to the patient but pseudonymised. The process of linking the BCM data to the participant was achieved by LRCs entering the unique BCM data card identifier (a ten digit number beginning 1001-) into the electronic case record form. This then allowed the BCM data card to later be linked to the participant and visit data via the trial database. LRCs were advised to use the same BCM data card if repeat measurement was required (i.e. each participant should have one data card for each visit). BCM data cards were stored securely at the research site until courier transfers to the trial's Central Co-ordinating Office in Oxford were arranged at certain points during the substudy.

#### 2.3.6 ACCOMPANYING DATA

Derivation of analysis parameters also required recording of participant age, sex, height and weight at the time of the BCM measurement. In practice, BCM users enter these data into the BCM device however this function was overridden by pre-programming the data storage cards with dummy data for these variables so that analysis parameters could be derived manually. Sex and date of birth were recorded at randomisation and entered into the electronic case report form by the LRC. Date of birth was used to calculate age at the time of each BCM measurement within the trial database. Height measured at randomisation was entered into the electronic case report form and assumed to remain constant throughout the trial (the streamlined trial design sought to minimise unnecessary assessments). Weight was measured at every study visit according to the main trial

72

protocol and also entered into the electronic case report form. These variables (age, sex, height and weight) were extracted from the main trial database and provided in Excel spreadsheet form along with bioimpedance data at the point of data transfer for outcome derivation.

#### 2.3.7 DATA EXTRACTION AND TRANSFER

Courier transfer of data cards was arranged by the Central Co-ordinating Office approximately six-monthly according to a pre-specified Internal Operating Procedure (appendix 9). Once data cards were received, trial administrators downloaded the data using a dedicated encrypted substudy laptop with Fluid Management Tool software installed (designed by Fresenius Medical Care specifically for use with the BCM device). All data were downloaded (including multiple measurements recorded on the same card). Q values were also reviewed as measurements were downloaded and administrators noted where measurements from certain research sites had recurrently low Q values (<85%) and these sites were contacted and asked to review the training video before obtaining further BCM measurements. Downloaded data were then stored in PAT file format with a back-up created and securely electronically transferred in ZIP file format to collaborators based at Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust, formalised in a Service Agreement and outlined in a pre-specified Internal Operating Procedure (appendix 10). The PAT file data transferred in ZIP format was also accompanied by an encrypted Excel spreadsheet containing additional data extracted from the main trial database which would be required for derivation of analysis parameters (BCM data card identifier and corresponding age, sex, height, weight). Once derivation of analysis parameters was complete (see next section 2.3.8), an Excel spreadsheet was then returned using the same secure electronic approach to the Central Coordinating Office containing the derived parameters suitable for analysis. Following completion of analyses at the end of the trial, BCM data cards were returned to local research sites for archiving.

#### 2.3.8 DERIVATION OF ANALYSIS PARAMETERS

Derivation of analysis parameters was done manually by expert collaborators rather than employing the device-automated functions to allow for application of updated optimised methodology. The substudy collaborators had access to more recent optimised tissue hydration parameters provided by the device manufacturer to be used in the modelling approach deriving analysis parameters. These optimised tissue hydration parameters are unpublished and commercially sensitive and could not be made available for inclusion in this thesis. Although this data processing step necessarily had to be performed by collaborators with access to these optimised tissue hydration parameters, I maintained overall oversight of the data throughput.

The steps taken to derive the analysis parameters were as follows:

- 1. Extracellular and intracellular resistance (Re and Ri, respectively) measurements extracted from the PAT files using an Excel macro
- 2. The BCM data card ID was used to match Re and Ri to the corresponding participant data (age, sex, height and weight)
- 3. Extracellular and intracellular water volumes (ECW and ICW, respectively) are then calculated using formulae by Moissl et al (Figure 2-3) (Moissl et al., 2006)
- OH (overhydration, termed "Fluid Overload") is then derived from ECW, ICW and weight based on methodology developed by Chamney et al (Chamney et al., 2007) but using updated optimised tissue hydration coefficients
- 5. Lean tissue mass (LTM) is derived from OH, ICW and weight using the same method and indexed to height and expressed as lean tissue index (LTI) in kg/m<sup>2</sup>
- 6. Adipose tissue mass (ATM) is then derived from OH, LTM and weight using the same methodology and tissue hydration coefficients. Adipose tissue mass consists of fat tissue mass plus proteins, minerals and fluid. Fat tissue mass (FTM) is computed separately to allow calculation of the fat tissue index (FTI): fat tissue mass indexed to height squared and expressed in kg/m<sup>2</sup>
- 7. A final age adjustment factor is applied to OH to derive the adjusted OH parameter which corresponds with the parameter reported by the BCM device

*Figure 2-3: Excerpt from Moissl et al paper illustrating the formulae (formulae 9 to 12) used to calculate extracellular and intracellular water volumes* 

$$ECW_{BCS} = k_{ECW} \left(\frac{H^2 \cdot \sqrt{W}}{R_0}\right)^{2/3}$$
(9)

$$ICW_{BCS} = k_{ICW} \left(\frac{H^2 \cdot \sqrt{W}}{R_I}\right)^{2/3}$$
(10)

where  $R_{I}$  is the intracellular resistance and  $k_{ECW}$  and  $k_{ICW}$  are functions of BMI:

$$k_{\rm ECW} = \frac{a}{\rm BMI} + b, \qquad k_{\rm ICW} = \frac{c}{\rm BMI} + d.$$
 (11)

These functions were found empirically by regressing BMI against the true values of  $k_{\text{ECW,ref}}$  and  $k_{\text{ICW,ref}}$  which can be found by solving equations (9) and (10) for the unknown parameters and applying volumes from the references (compare figure 5):

$$k_{\text{ECW,ref}} = \frac{\text{ECW}_{\text{ref}}}{\left(\frac{H^2 \cdot \sqrt{W}}{R_0}\right)^{2/3}}; \qquad k_{\text{ICW,ref}} = \frac{\text{ICW}_{\text{ref}}}{\left(\frac{H^2 \cdot \sqrt{W}}{R_1}\right)^{2/3}}.$$
 (12)

The expert collaborators previously validated their approach using 892 measurements from 141 patients (in a clinical practice setting) and demonstrated an appropriate level of agreement (Figure 2-4) with bias (average of OH from manual derivation – BCM-computed OH) calculated to be 0.02 Litres.

Figure 2-4: Bland-Altman plot showing agreement of manually-derived OH with BCMcomputer OH to validate the methods used for substudy analyses (figure provided by collaborators)



#### 2.3.9 DATA CLEANING

Data cleaning was then required to address occurrences of multiple measurements; missing or untraceable bioimpedance data and discrepant data owing to infrequent data errors at the time of measurement at research sites; in accordance with the principles pre-specified in the Data Analysis Plan (appendix 11) and described in the next section. Handling of the data is also documented in the pre-specified University of Glasgow Data Management Plan (appendix 12).

#### 2.4 BIOIMPEDANCE SUBSTUDY: DATA QUALITY ASSESSMENT

Data quality assessment was devised, piloted and revised blind to treatment allocation using a preliminary dataset in April 2022. The final data quality assessment process was then applied to the complete dataset in November 2022, while reviewers still remained blinded to individual participants' treatment allocation. The main results of the EMPA-KIDNEY trial were published on 4th November 2022 therefore reviewers were inevitably unblinded to the main trial results.

Data quality assessment was based upon review of Cole-Cole plots (see next section 2.4.1) and was completed independently by two reviewers (myself and a clinician scientist expert reviewer; following training by the expert reviewer), with differences resolved by discussion to determine inclusion in the primary analysis. Two levels of assessment were devised; the first as a "screening" step to detect measurements likely to be of poor quality (A) and then secondly, criteria (B) to be applied to further assess measurements identified in step (A):

(A) Criteria to be applied to all bioimpedance readings to identify readings which may be of poor quality and should be further assessed by visual inspection of Cole-Cole plots

(B) Criteria to be applied when visually inspecting Cole-Cole plots for readings identified in step (A) to determine inclusion in the primary analysis

A pilot data quality assessment process was then completed and both criteria (A) and (B) were revised accordingly to determine final data quality assessment procedures to be applied to the complete dataset to determine inclusion in the primary outcome assessment.

#### 2.4.1 COLE-COLE PLOTS

The Cole-Cole plot generated by the BCM device fits a curve to the measured impedance data and defines the extracellular and intracellular resistances upon which all body composition data are based (Ward et al., 2006). Visual inspection of Cole-Cole plots

identifies artefact within the impedance data. Figure 2-5 illustrates the basic interpretation of the Cole-Cole plot.





There are no published guidelines for assessment of the Cole-Cole plot therefore these were devised based upon expert knowledge of a collaborator and revised in an iterative process throughout three rounds of Cole-Cole plot review. Discrepancies were discussed, further education delivered and rules (or criteria) revised.

Following testing of various potential selection criteria using descriptions of elements of the Cole-Cole plot, reviewers 1 (Kaitlin Mayne) and 2 (expert reviewer David Keane) jointly agreed upon the following rule to definitively classify measurements as having poor data quality:

In the opinion of the observer blind to treatment allocation, a good quality Cole-Cole plot should have the basic structure of a parabola, ignoring any artefacts at the high and low frequency end, and the plotted blue curve should closely fit the raw data red.

Iterations during the pilot process attempted to specifically characterise "artefacts at the high and low frequency end" however this was found to lead to overly harsh review by reviewer 1 (Kaitlin Mayne) and therefore unnecessary exclusion of data of acceptable quality. Examples are shown in Figure 2-6.

*Figure 2-6: Examples of good ("pass") and poor ("fail") quality bioimpedance data (according to the principles in the box above)* 



Note: review of the Cole-Cole plot is not affected by the height or width of the plot, length of either end of a parabola, nor its position in the plot region.

The position of the Cole-Cole plot in relation to the reactance/resistance axes can also be assessed in the context of known patient characteristics however these factors were not applied in blinded assessment of data quality in the EMPA-KIDNEY bioimpedance substudy.

Expected associations based upon quadrants of the reactance/resistance plot are shown in Figure 2-7:

- Top left: extreme lean body composition
- Top right: lean/petite individual with dehydration
- Bottom left: extreme fluid overload/obesity
- Bottom right: diseased state (not pictured)

Figure 2-7: Expected associations based on the Cole-Cole plot



## 2.4.2 ORIGINAL PROPOSED DATA QUALITY ASSESSMENT CRITERIA

In the first released version of the substudy Data Analysis Plan (appendix 11), the following data quality assessment criteria were specified:

Validity of BCM measurements will be assessed, prior to unblinding. If any of the following is true of a BCM measurement, the Cole-Cole plot will be visually inspected to assess data quality and determine inclusion in analyses:

- A Q value of <80 (staff were trained to repeat BCM measurements if the Q value was <80)
- Absolute "Fluid Overload" value considered an extreme outlier (defined as >2 standard deviations from the mean)
- Multiple measurements exist on the same datacard and the difference between the highest and lowest values for absolute "Fluid Overload" is >0.5 litres

Revised data quality assessment criteria following the pilot process (next section 2.4.3) are outlined in section 2.4.4.

# 2.4.3 PILOT DATA QUALITY ASSESSMENT

In April 2022, a preliminary dataset was available which included 1495 BCM cards containing BCM data. This dataset contained BCM data (combination of randomisation, 2-month and 18-month data) downloaded up until 15<sup>th</sup> December 2021. At this time, the EMPA-KIDNEY trial had not yet completed the on-treatment phase of the trial and investigators remained blinded to treatment allocation. This was used as a preliminary dataset to pilot the data cleaning process and data quality assessments and to determine criteria (whilst still blinded to minimise bias) which would later be applied to the final analysis dataset (containing data up until 4<sup>th</sup> July 2022, the end of the on-treatment phase of the trial). Of these 1495 readings, 172 readings were identified as meeting at least one of the criteria (section 2.4.2) triggering visual inspection of the Cole-Cole plot (measurements may satisfy more than one criteria).

## 2.4.4 REVISED DATA QUALITY ASSESSMENT CRITERIA

The final data quality assessment criteria to be applied to determine inclusion in the primary outcome assessment, as informed by the pilot data quality process, are outlined here:

- Absolute "Fluid Overload" values more negative than -5 L excluded due to implausibility
  - Otherwise outliers included
- Multiple measurements on the same card (for the same participant on the same date) handled by favouring the reading with the highest Q score and excluding other measurements
- After applying these exclusions, all readings with Q<80 will be reviewed by two reviewers to determine inclusion with discrepancies resolved by discussion
- A random subset of readings with Q scores >80 will be assessed by two reviewers with discrepancies resolved by discussion to ensure Q >80 is largely an acceptable measure of quality

The justification for revising the data quality assessment criteria for application to the final dataset to determine inclusion in the primary analysis was that the original criteria meant discarding data unnecessarily which, when further assessed, was found to be of acceptable quality.

#### 2.4.4.1 EXTREME OUTLIER CRITERION

The original "extreme outlier" criteria were found to be too broad. This was originally defined as >2 SD from the mean. Review of all extreme outliers identified using this criterion were reviewed in the pilot data quality assessment process and it was found that measurements with extremely positive values (of "Fluid Overload"/overhydration) had consistently acceptable Cole-Cole plots (Figure 2-8) whereas the opposite was true of extreme negative measurements (Figure 2-9). The cut-off of -5 L was selected based on biological plausibility in combination with the distribution of data within the pilot dataset. The mean value of "Fluid Overload"/overhydration in the pilot dataset was 0.5 L with a standard deviation of 1.58 L meaning that -5 L is ~3.5 standard deviations below the mean (Figure 2-10). Thresholds 1 L higher and lower than -5 L were also assessed by examining the Cole-Cole plots of measurements falling between -5 and -6 L; and between -5 and -4 L. Applying a cut-off of -6 L would mean inclusion of two measurements which were of

clearly unacceptable quality based on the Cole-Cole plot (Figure 2-11). Conversely applying a cut-off of -4 L would exclude an additional five measurements from the pilot dataset (relative to the -5 L threshold), two of which are of clearly acceptable quality based on Cole-Cole plots (Figure 2-12). Therefore, -5 L was confirmed as an appropriate cut-off below which measurements should be deemed of poor data quality and excluded from the primary analysis, without need for further review of the Cole-Cole plot.

Figure 2-8: Extreme positive outliers



Figure 2-9: Extreme negative outliers

| Cole-Cole -   | 16/04/2021 10:01 1001014713 - DO NOT CHANGE, DO NOT CHANGE - 01/01/1950 - m  | Cole-Cole -  | 04/02/2020 12:27 1001004488 - DO NOT CHANGE, DO NOT CHANGE - 01/01/1950 - m   | Cole-Cole - 29/04/   | 2020 12:41 1001011392 - DO NOT CHANGE, DO NOT CHANGE - 01/01/1950 - m   |
|---|--|--|---|--|---|
| 60<br>60<br>60<br>60<br>60<br>60<br>60<br>60<br>60<br>60  | - Ran cara Crie 10 - Quelly + EH 434 R [Dire]  | 70-<br>6 6 10-<br>10-<br>10-<br>10-<br>10-<br>10-<br>10-<br>10-<br>10-<br>10-  |   | 70<br>6 6<br>70<br>70<br>70<br>70<br>70<br>70<br>70<br>70<br>70<br>70<br>70<br>70<br>70  |   |
| BCM ID  | 1001014713   | BCM ID   | 1001004486  | BCM ID   | 1001011392  |
| OH (L)  | -10.8  | OH (L)   | -9.5  | OH (L)   | -8.8  |
| Q score   | 69.4   | Q score  | 89.7  | Q score  | 76.0  |
| Plot  | Clear fail   | Plot   | Clear fail  | Plot   | Clear fail  |
| Cole-Cole-<br>15-<br>115-<br>115-<br>115-<br>115-<br>115-<br>115-<br>115  | 29932021 9952 199151228-00 IDT CHANGE, D NOT CHANGE, D 19911520-m<br>29932021 9952<br>   | Cole-Cole-<br>50-<br>10-<br>10-<br>10-<br>10-<br>10-<br>10-<br>10-<br>1  | 19112282 449 10011526-00 NOT GAANGL DO NOT GAANGL - 61011560 - m  | Cole Cole - 1915   | 489 445 100191526 - DO NOT CHANGE, DD NOT CHANGE - 815911950 - 10<br>400 440 550 550 650 650 750 750 850 850<br>Rev dea   |
| BCM ID  | 1001018285   | BCM ID   | 1001015260_1  | BCM ID   | 1001015260_2  |
| OH (L)  | -8.5   | OH (L)   | -6.4  | OH (L)   | -8.2  |
| Q score   | 64.4   | Q score  | 21.4  | Q score  | 13.5  |
| Plot  | ?Pass  | Plot   | Clear fail  | Plot   | Clear fail  |
|   |  | 0.0.0.0  |   | I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I  |   |
| Cole Cole -<br>70<br>6<br>6<br>6<br>6<br>7<br>6<br>7<br>7<br>7<br>7<br>7<br>7<br>7<br>7<br>7<br>7<br>7<br>7   | 229122029 13.17 1001000358 - DO HOT CHANGE, DO HOT CHANGE - 010511950 - M<br>229122029 13.17<br>229122029 13.17<br>22912020 13.17<br>2291200 13.1 | Code Cole<br>70<br>90<br>90<br>90<br>90<br>90<br>90<br>90<br>90<br>90<br>9   | 118622821 14465 1001012245 - DD NOT CHANGE, DD NOT CHANGE - 8109/1959 - m<br>118622821 14465 1001012245 - DD NOT CHANGE, DD NOT CHANGE - 8109/1959 - m<br>200 460 460 500 500 900 900 700 700 800 800<br>Ran Gata Con RT Change 52.855 R [Doing]  | Cale Cole - 6065<br>70<br>60<br>60<br>60<br>60<br>70<br>70<br>70<br>70<br>70<br>70<br>70<br>70<br>70<br>70<br>70<br>70<br>70   | EN 4929 1010425-20 107 CHANGE, DD 107 CHANGE - 5149 1199 - 10<br>40 450 550 550 650 650 770 770 650 860<br>Raw cara Cara Const. Quarty + 34 240 R.[Dow]   |
| Cole Cole - Cole  | 228412809 13.47 1001000356 - D0 HOT CHANGE, D0 HOT CHANGE - 010511950 - M<br>2560 460 450 550 550 650 650 750 750 850 850<br>10010000358   | Cole Cole - Cole   | 119622821 1446 1001012245 - D0 MOT CHANGE, D0 NOT CHANGE - 810911959 - m<br>119622821 1446 1001012245 - D0 MOT CHANGE, D0 NOT CHANGE - 810911959 - m<br>100 460 460 500 550 600 600 700 700 700 800 800<br>Raw data Cris M Cualty = 82.885 R [Dhae]<br>10010112245  | Cate Cate Code Code Code Code Code Code Code Cod   | EN 4929 10104255-20 H27 CHANGE DO H27 CHANGE - 81491198 - 10<br>401 4929 10104255-20 H27 CHANGE DO H27 CHANGE - 81491198 - 10<br>401 402 50 550 550 650 650 170 170 550 550<br>Rev deta Control Control - 91230 R[Dire]<br>10001004325_1  |
| Cole Cole -<br>70 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60  | 23412609 13.17 1001000368 - 00 HOT CHANGE, D0 HOT CHANGE - 016111950 - 10<br>2560 450 450 550 550 650 650 750 750 850 850<br>2560 450 450 550 550 650 650 750 750 850 850<br>10001000358<br>-7.8   | Cole Cole - Cole   | 11952221 1465 101112245 - D0 MOT CHANGE, D0 NOT CHANGE - 81091189 - m<br>11952221 1465 101112245 - D0 MOT CHANGE, D0 NOT CHANGE - 81091189 - m<br>100 450 450 550 550 650 650 700 700 70 50 850<br>Rev data   | Cate Cate Color 6005   | EN 4929 10104255-20 N27 CHANGE DO N27 CHANGE - 814911980 - 10<br>401 4929 101004255-20 N27 CHANGE DO N27 CHANGE - 814911980 - 10<br>400 400 500 500 600 600 100 100 100 800<br>Rev cesa Cost St Cost St Cost St Cost St   |
| Cole Cole -<br>70 -<br>60 -<br>60 -<br>70 - | 228428099 13.47 1001000368 - 00 HOT CHANGE, D0 HOT CHANGE - 016111950 - 10<br>2264 450 450 550 550 650 650 750 750 850 850<br>250 450 450 550 550 650 650 750 750 850 850<br>10011000358<br>-7.8<br>89.6<br>Class 51   | Cole Cole -  | 119622821 1446 1001012245 - D0 MOT CHANGE, D0 NOT CHANGE - 81091189 - m<br>119622821 1446 1001012245 - D0 MOT CHANGE, D0 NOT CHANGE - 81091189 - m<br>100 400 460 500 550 600 400 700 700 700 800 800<br>Revealed Color 10 Outling + 52.85 R [Dires]<br>10010122457.9<br>82.9<br>Class 6.1  | Cate Cate Cate Code<br>Cate Cate Cate Code<br>Cate    | EN 4929 10104255-20 107 CHANGE DO 107 CHANGE -81451198 - 10<br>401 4929 10104255-20 107 CHANGE DO 107 CHANGE -81451198 - 10<br>400 400 500 500 600 600 100 100 100 600<br>Ren deta Cont 10 Cuelly -10 200 800<br>10011004325_1<br>-6.3<br>34.2  |
| Cole Cole -   | 228412899 13:17 100100055 - D0 HOT CHANGE, D0 HOT CHANGE - 01/01/1950 - M<br>228412899 13:17 1001000555 - D0 HOT CHANGE, D0 HOT CHANGE - 01/01/1950 - M<br>250 450 450 550 550 650 650 750 750 850 850<br>- Rev etca   | Cole-Cole<br>Cole-Cole<br>Cole-Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Cole<br>Col | 119622821 1466 1001012245 - D0 MOT CHANGE, D0 NOT CHANGE - 310011389 - m<br>150 460 450 550 550 660 660 100 100 800 800<br>• Reviews Cols 10 Quality = 22.85 R[Dive]<br>1001012245<br>-7.9<br>82.9<br>Clear fail<br>15010123 - D0 NOT CHANGE, D0 NOT CHANGE - 81011580 - m  | Cate Cate Cate Cate Code Cate Cate Code Cate Cate Cate Cate Cate Cate Cate Cat   | en eize 101004325-20 H07 CHANGE DD H07 CHANGE -816411980 - n<br>en eize Control Change - 816411980 - n<br>eize control Change - 816411980 - n<br>eize control Change - 81641980 - n |
| Cole Cole -   | 22442699 13.47 1001000364 - D0 HOT CHANGE, D0 HOT CHANGE - 011011950 - R<br>200 400 400 500 500 600 600 700 710 800 800<br>200 400 400 500 500 600 600 700 710 800 800<br>200 400 400 500 500 600 600 700 70101950 - R<br>200 400 400 500 500 600 600 700 701 800 800<br>200 400 400 500 500 600 600 700 701 800 800<br>200 400 400 500 500 600 600 700 701 800 800<br>200 400 400 500 500 600 600 700 701 800 800   | Code Cole  | 119922821 1446 101112245 - D0 MOT CHANGE, D0 NOT CHANGE - 81091189 - 10<br>119922821 1446 101112245 - D0 MOT CHANGE, D0 NOT CHANGE - 81091189 - 10<br>1001012245  | Cate Cate Cate Cate Code   | EN 4929 101004255-20 NOT CHANGE DO NOT CHANGE - 814 11980 - 10<br>400 400 500 500 600 600 100 100 800 800<br>Re clea Clea to Clea to Clea to Clear fail   |
| Cole Cole -   | 224426909 13.47 1001000368 - D0 HOT CHANGE, D0 HOT CHANGE - 011011950 - R<br>250 460 460 550 550 650 650 750 750 850 850<br>250 460 460 550 550 650 650 750 750 850 850<br>10001000358<br>-7.8<br>89.6<br>Clear fail<br>1010104514<br>10011014614  | Code Cole<br>Code Code<br>Code Code<br>Code Code<br>Code Code<br>Code Code<br>Code Code Code<br>Code Code<br>Code<br>Code Code<br>Code Code Code<br>Code Code Code<br>Code Code Code<br>Code Code Code Code<br>Code Code Code Code<br>Code Code Code Code<br>Code Code Code<br>Code Code Code<br>Code Code Code<br>Code Code Code Code Code<br>Code Code Code Code Code<br>Code Code Code Code Code Code Code Code   | 119522821 14465         1001012245 - D0 M0T CHANGE, D0 N0T CHANGE - 81091189 - m           150         460         500         500         600         600         700         70         800         800           10001012245         -7.9         82.9         Clear fail         1001011330- D0 N0T CHANGE, D0 NOT CHANGE - 916911990 - m | Cate Cate Cate Code<br>Cate Cate Cate Code<br>Cate Cate Code<br>Cate Cate Code<br>Cate Cate Code<br>Cate Cate Code<br>Cate | EN 4929 101004255-20 NOT CHANGE DO NOT CHANGE - 81411980 - 10<br>401 402 10100425<br>Nor dea Control Change - 812 00<br>Nor dea Control Change - 812 00<br>10011004325_1<br>-6.3<br>34.2<br>Clear fail  |
| Cole Cole -   | 228426898 13.47 1001000368 - D0 HOT CHANGE, D0 HOT CHANGE - 011011950 - R<br>250 450 450 550 550 650 650 650 750 750 850 850<br>250 450 450 550 550 650 650 850 20017 750 850 850<br>-7.8<br>89.6<br>Clear fail<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>99.6<br>Clear fail<br>100104614<br>-5.7   | Code Cole<br>Code Code<br>Code Code<br>Code<br>Code Code<br>Code<br>Code Code<br>Code<br>Code Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code<br>Code  | 119922021 1446 1001012245 - D0 MOT CHANGE, D0 NOT CHANGE - 81091189 - 10<br>119922021 1446 1001012245<br>-7.9<br>82.9<br>Clear fail<br>1001012245<br>-7.9<br>82.9<br>Clear fail<br>1001011230 - D0 NOT CHANGE, D0 NOT CHANGE - 910911992 - 10<br>1001011330<br>-5.3   | Cate Cate Cate Cate Code   | en elas 101004325_20 HOT CHANGE DO HOT CHANGE - 81641180 - n<br>40 elas 101004325_0<br>Fina cina Con 10 Cually - 51.20 R[Dire]<br>1001004325_1<br>-6.3<br>34.2<br>Clear fail  |
| Cole Cole -   | 224426909 13.47 1001000368 - D0 HOT CHANGE, D0 HOT CHANGE - 01:011950 - R<br>250 450 450 550 550 650 650 650 750 750 850 859<br>250 450 450 550 550 650 650 850 750 750 850 859<br>-7.8<br>89.6<br>Clear fail<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>10010000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000358<br>-7.8<br>10010000358<br>-7.8<br>10010000358<br>-7.8<br>10010000358<br>-7.8<br>10010000358<br>-7.8<br>10010000358<br>-7.8<br>1001000000000<br>-0000000000000000000000  | Colle Colle<br>Colle Colle Colle<br>Colle Colle Colle<br>Colle Colle Colle<br>Colle Colle Colle<br>Colle Colle Colle<br>Colle Colle Colle Colle<br>Colle Colle Colle Colle Colle<br>Colle Colle Coll   | 119922021 14:66 1001012245 - D0 MOT CHANGE, D0 NOT CHANGE - 31001189 - In<br>119922021 14:66 1001012245 - D0 MOT CHANGE, D0 NOT CHANGE - 31001189 - In<br>1001012245  | Cate Cate Cate Cate Cate   | en elas 1001004325_20 HOT CHANGE DO HOT CHANGE - 81641186 - n<br>40 elas 1001004325_0<br>1001004325_1<br>-6.3<br>34.2<br>Clear fail   |

Figure 2-10: Identification of the -5 L extreme outlier cut-off



*Figure 2-11: Application of a -6 L cut-off and inappropriate inclusion of poor quality measurements* 



Figure 2-12: Application of a -4 L cut-off and inappropriate exclusion of two measurements of acceptable data quality



Measurements C and E are of good quality. Plots A, B and D are of poor quality but it should be noted these measurements have Q values <80 therefore although these measurements would not be excluded based on the extreme outlier criteria, they would be identified for further review based on the Q value and excluded after review of the Cole-Cole plot therefore supporting application of the -5 L cut-off.

#### 2.4.4.2 MULTIPLE MEASUREMENTS ON THE SAME CARD CRITERION

The pilot data quality assessment demonstrated that it would be unnecessary to review the Cole-Cole plots of all measurements where multiple were recorded on the same card. All instances of this were examined in the pilot data quality process demonstrating that in every case, the measurement with the highest Q value also had the most favourable Cole-Cole plot (Figure 2-13). This therefore confirmed that an approach of retaining the measurement with the highest Q value was appropriate in cases where multiple measurements exist on the same card, without need for additional review of Cole-Cole plots.





Each row represents a different participant and data card. In each case, the most favourable Cole-Cole plot corresponds with the highest Q value (bold highlight).

## 2.4.4.3 QUALITY VALUE CRITERIA

Based on assessments of extreme outliers and multiple measurements on the same card, it was therefore concluded that; after removal of extreme outliers more negative than -5 L; screening for poor quality measurements should be focused on the BCM's automated quality score (Q value). All measurements in the complete dataset with a Q value <80 would be identified for Cole-Cole plot review. To ensure robustness of this approach, a random subset of measurements with a Q value  $\geq$ 80 would also be identified from the complete dataset and undergo Cole-Cole plot review seeking to confirm that Q values  $\geq$ 80 are reliable indicators of acceptable data quality.

The revised data quality assessment procedure (Table 2-5) would necessitate reviewing fewer Cole-Cole plots (46 versus 172 in the pilot dataset) overall thereby allowing double review (i.e. by two reviewers independently) of all identified measurements with discrepancies resolved by discussion. This may not have been feasible if larger numbers of measurements were identified for Cole-Cole plot review in which case I would review all plots with only a subset double-reviewed by the expert reviewer to ensure inter-observer reliability, a less favourable approach. It is also possible than unnecessary review of large numbers of Cole-Cole plots could potentially risk introducing bias which must be avoided.

| Original criterion   | Revised criterion  | Justification   |
|--|--|---|
| Exclusion* if Q value <80  | Q value <80 triggered manual review of Cole-<br>Cole plot in each case   | All Cole-Cole plots with a Q value <80 were reviewed and >50% deemed of acceptable quality based on Cole-Cole plot review therefore this revised criterion is necessary to avoid automatic exclusion of valid readings based on Q<80 alone.<br>A random subset of 50 measurements with a Q score $\geq$ 80 were also selected for Cole-Cole plot review to test this criterion. Q scores above this threshold were confirmed to be a reliable indicator of good data quality. |
| Exclusion* if absolute "Fluid Overload"<br>extreme outlier: >2 standard deviations (SD)<br>from the mean                                 | Absolute "Fluid Overload" more negative than<br>-5 L automatically excluded.<br>All other outliers retained and do not warrant<br>Cole-Cole plot review.   | Cole-Cole plots for all measurements lying >2 SD from the mean were<br>reviewed. It was found that outlying positive values of "Fluid Overload"<br>were reliably associated with satisfactory Cole-Cole plots whereas<br>outlying negative values were consistently associated with poor Cole-<br>Cole plots. The -5 L cut-off was selected based on review of each<br>individual plot combined with clinical reasoning based upon<br>plausibility.                           |
| Exclusion* if multiple measurements at the same time with more than 0.5L between the highest and lowest absolute "Fluid Overload" values | If more than one valid bioimpedance<br>measurement is available at a single Follow-up<br>visit (i.e. date), the measurement with the<br>highest Q value will be used and additional<br>measurements ignored. | All duplicate measurements were reviewed in the pilot dataset and the measurement with the highest Q score also had the most favourable Cole-Cole plot in every case. MMRM analysis requires a single reading for each participant at each time point.  |

Table 2-5: Summary of original and revised data quality criteria identifying measurements for Cole-Cole plot review

\* exclusion from primary outcome assessment

#### 2.5 BIOIMPEDANCE SUBSTUDY: ANALYSIS

#### 2.5.1 BASELINE CHARACTERISTICS

In order to assess balance of baseline characteristics between randomised arms of the BCM substudy, the following variables were recorded at randomisation (or at screening) and presented for the empagliflozin and placebo groups. Categories were specified to be consistent with those from the main trial publications or subgroup analyses:

- a. History of prior disease:
  - i. Diabetes mellitus (presence vs absence);
  - ii. Self-reported heart failure (presence vs absence);
  - iii. Primary renal diagnosis (diabetic kidney disease, hypertensive/renovascular disease, glomerular disease, other or unknown<sup>1</sup>)
- b. Patient characteristics;
  - i. Age (continuous and categorised: <60;  $\ge60 <70$ ;  $\ge70$  years);
  - ii. Sex (male vs female);
  - iii. Race (White, Black/African American, South Asian, Southeast Asian, Mixed or Other);
  - iv. Smoking status (ever smoked regularly at randomisation, yes vs no);
  - v. Weight in kg\*;
  - vi. Body mass index (BMI) (continuous and categorised: <25; ≥25 <30; ≥30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>);
  - vii. Waist-to-hip ratio\*;
  - viii. Extracelllular water (ECW) in litres\*;
  - ix. Intracellular water (ICW) in litres\*;
  - x. Absolute "Fluid Overload" in litres\*;
  - xi. Relative "Fluid Overload" (%)\*;
  - xii. Clinically significant "Fluid Overload" (%, presence vs absence)\*;
    - Moderate (>7%,  $\le 15\%$  relative "Fluid Overload")
    - Severe (>15% relative "Fluid Overload")
  - xiii. Lean tissue index (LTI) (lean tissue mass [LTM] indexed to height)\*;
  - xiv. Fat tissue index (FTI) (fat tissue mass [ATM] indexed to height)\*;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Other includes tubulointerstitial disease, familial/hereditary nephropathies, other systemic disorders and miscellaneous renal disorders. Glomerular disease is subcategorised as follows: focal segmental glomerulosclerosis, Immunoglobulin A (IgA) nephropathy, membranous nephropathy, minimal change disease and other glomerular disease.

- xv. Systolic blood pressure (continuous and categorised: <130; ≥130 <145; ≥145 mmHg);</li>
- xvi. Diastolic blood pressure (continuous and categorised: <75;  $\geq75$  <85;  $\geq85$  mmHg);
- c. Laboratory values at randomisation:
  - a. CKD-EPI eGFR (continuous and categorised: <30, ≥30 <45, ≥45 mL/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup> estimated from central enzymatic creatinine [or local creatinine where central value unavailable])
  - b. UACR: (continuous and categorised: <30,  $\geq 30 \leq 300$ , >300 mg/g)
  - c. Glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) (continuous and categorised: <39 [normoglycaemia], ≥39<48 [pre-diabetes], ≥48<75 [well-controlled diabetes], ≥75 [poor glycaemic control] mmol/mol, or missing</li>
  - d. N-terminal pro B-type natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP) (continuous and categorised: <110, ≥110 <330, ≥330 ng/L)</li>
  - e. Haematocrit (continuous and categorised: <37%;  $\geq 37\% < 41\%$ ;  $\geq 41\%$ )
- d. Medication use at randomisation:
  - i. RAS inhibition (yes vs no);
  - ii. Diuretics (yes *vs* no, and analyses by type [loop *vs* thiazide *vs* mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist *vs* other potassium-sparing].
  - iii. Antidiabetic medications (yes *vs* no, and analyses by type [biguanide *vs* sulphonylurea *vs* insulin *vs* DPP-4 inhibitor *vs* GLP-1 agonist *vs* other]

\* continuous and categorised into approximate thirds of the distribution.

#### 2.5.2 BIOIMPEDANCE-DERIVED "FLUID OVERLOAD" TERMINOLOGY

There is no standard nomenclature for bioimpedance-derived fluid overload parameters in existing literature, with a range of terminology and threshold values to infer clinical significance employed. Following a systematic review of all existing literature in non-dialysis CKD and a supplementary scoping review of literature in dialysis populations, the approach outlined in Table 2-6 was adopted for reporting of the EMPA-KIDNEY bioimpedance substudy.

*Table 2-6: Description of "Fluid Overload" parameters applied in the EMPA-KIDNEY bioimpedance substudy* 

| EMPA-KIDNEY<br>terminology   | Definition  | Equivalent terminology used in other literature   |
|------------------------------|---|---|
| Absolute "Fluid<br>Overload" | Overhydration in litres, computed as the difference between<br>expected (based upon weight and body composition) versus<br>measured extracellular water (ECW) volume, with positive<br>values representing excess fluid<br>"Fluid Overload" = ECW <sub>measured</sub> - ECW <sub>expected</sub> | Overhydration (Wang and Gu, 2021)<br>Hydration status (Wabel et al., 2008)<br>Absolute tissue hydration (Van Biesen et<br>al., 2011)  |
| Relative "Fluid<br>Overload" | Overhydration index relative to measured ECW volume,<br>expressed as a percentage<br>Relative "Fluid Overload" = "Fluid Overload" ÷ ECW <sub>measured</sub>   | Overhydration index (Wang and Gu,<br>2021, Tabinor et al., 2018)<br>Relative hydration status (Wizemann et<br>al., 2009, Tsai et al., 2015)<br>Relative tissue hydration (Van Biesen et<br>al., 2011) |
| Clinically Significant "F    | Fluid Overload"   |   |
| Moderate "Fluid<br>Overload" | Relative "Fluid Overload" >7%, $\leq 15\%$ where 7% reflects the 90 <sup>th</sup> percentile in a healthy reference population and is approximately equivalent to absolute "Fluid Overload" of +1.1L  | -   |
| Severe "Fluid<br>Overload"   | Relative "Fluid Overload" >15% which represents the<br>highest quartile in a haemodialysis reference population;<br>approximately equivalent to absolute "Fluid Overload" of<br>+2.5L   | Hyperhydration (Wizemann et al., 2009)  |

Definitions in the above table originate from work by authors Wabel, Wizemann, Van Biesen, Zoccali, Dekker and colleagues (Wabel et al., 2008, Wizemann et al., 2009, Van Biesen et al., 2011, Dekker et al., 2017, Zoccali et al., 2017).

Table 2-6 also summarises alternative terminology employed in existing research using the BCM device, illustrating the lack of standard nomenclature. Some scientific literature has used the term "overhydration index" to refer to both absolute "Fluid Overload" in litres and relative "Fluid Overload" (Tabinor et al., 2018, O'Lone et al., 2014) however use of this term would seem more appropriate for relative "Fluid Overload" which is indexed to ECW volume. Hydration status expressed as  $\Delta$ HS has also been used to refer to both absolute "Fluid Overload" (Wizemann et al., 2009, Tsai et al., 2015). Absolute and relative "Fluid Overload" were adopted for use in EMPA-KIDNEY and throughout this thesis and related publications, "Fluid Overload" (including "" and capitalisation of each word) is used to refer to the bioimpedance-derived parameter with terms fluid status and fluid excess used as descriptions of physiological state wherever possible.

The substudy primary assessment uses the absolute "Fluid Overload" parameter in litres in preference to relative "Fluid Overload" (expressed as a percentage) since estimation in litres is likely to be more readily interpretable in a clinical context. Relative "Fluid Overload" is commonly reported in observational research since indexing to ECW is thought to allow for more appropriate comparison between individuals (Wizemann et al., 2009). The reference range for absolute "Fluid Overload" based on general population data

is -1.1 L to +1.1 L (Wabel et al., 2008). An absolute value of +1.1 L approximately corresponds to relative "Fluid Overload" of 7%, both representing the 90<sup>th</sup> centile in a healthy reference population (Van Biesen et al., 2011).

The EMPA-KIDNEY definitions of moderate and severe clinically significant "Fluid Overload" are based upon existing literature which largely represents populations with advanced CKD requiring dialysis (because fluid excess is less common in earlier CKD). Various thresholds have been used in previous studies as summarised in Table 2-7. Wizemann et al. established a 15% threshold value of relative "Fluid Overload" (referred to as relative hydration status) based upon the highest quartile of a reference haemodialysis population (Wizemann et al., 2009). This threshold is approximately equivalent to >+2.5 L absolute "Fluid Overload" in patients on haemodialysis (Wizemann et al., 2009, Wabel et al., 2008, Wieskotten et al., 2008), and is strongly associated with mortality (Zoccali et al., 2017, Dekker et al., 2017, Tabinor et al., 2018, Caetano et al., 2016, Chazot et al., 2012, Kim et al., 2015, Onofriescu et al., 2015, Siriopol et al., 2019, Wizemann et al., 2009). In EMPA-KIDNEY, the threshold of >15% relative "Fluid Overload" is referred to as "severe" as the study population can be expected to exhibit lower levels of fluid excess than dialysis populations. The moderate "Fluid Overload" threshold of >7% has also been associated with risk of death in dialysis cohorts (Dekker et al., 2017, Siriopol et al., 2019, Siriopol et al., 2017b, Siriopol et al., 2016) and more recently, in those with earlier stages of CKD (Tsai et al., 2015, Hung et al., 2015).

An important distinction between the Fresenius BCM device and other devices is that the BCM device derives an estimation of "Fluid Overload" which is corrected for body composition. The device also estimates fat and lean tissue mass though these values are age- and sex-specific and should be interpreted accordingly.

| Table 2-7: | "Fluid | Overload" | thresholds | used in | n previous | cohort s | studies | employing | the |
|------------|--------|-----------|------------|---------|------------|----------|---------|-----------|-----|
| ВСМ        |        |           |            |         |            |          |         |           |     |

| Study   | Population                      | Absolute "Fluid Overload"<br>threshold(s) analysed   | Relative "Fluid Overload"<br>threshold(s) analysed    |  |  |  |
|---|---------------------------------|--|---|--|--|--|
| Haemodialysis                                       |                                 |  |   |  |  |  |
| Lesquevas Barra, 2022, BMC Nephrol                  | n=5081<br>(EuCliD/Nephrocare)   | -  | >13% women >15% men                                   |  |  |  |
| Keber, 2021, Clinical Nephrol                       | n=92                            | >1.1 L, >2.5 L = severe  | -   |  |  |  |
| Schwermer, 2021, Polish J Int Med                   | n=511                           | Normal <1 L; mild 1-2L;<br>moderate 2-3 L; severe >3 L                                     | -   |  |  |  |
| Song, 2020, BMC Nephrol                             | n=88                            | -  | >15%  |  |  |  |
| Mizuri, 2020, HD International                      | n=215                           | -  | Continuous  |  |  |  |
| Siriopol, 2019, NDT                                 | n=4114<br>(EuCliD/Nephrocare)   | >1.1 L, >2.5 L = severe  | -   |  |  |  |
| Valente, 2019, Nephrology                           | n=3696<br>(EuCliD/Nephrocare)   | -  | >15%  |  |  |  |
| Zhang, 2019, Renal Failure                          | n=123                           | Continuous   | -   |  |  |  |
| Arrigo, 2018, NDT                                   | n=144                           | -  | >15%  |  |  |  |
| Huang, 2018, Kidney Blood Press Res                 | n=178                           | -  | ≥7%   |  |  |  |
| Zoccali, 2017, JASN                                 | n=39,566<br>(EuCliD/Nephrocare) | -  | $\geq 13\%$ women, $\geq 15\%$ men<br>(note $\geq$ )  |  |  |  |
| Dekker, 2017, Kidney International                  | n=8883<br>(MONDO initiative)    | FO >2.5 L moderate, >2.5 L<br>severe, >5 L extreme   | -   |  |  |  |
| Garagarza, 2017, Int Urol Nephrol                   | n=3552                          | -  | >15%  |  |  |  |
| Siriopol, 2017, Arch Med Sci                        | n=285                           | -  | >6.9% (median)  |  |  |  |
| Siriopol, 2016, Int J Cardiovasc Imaging            | n=173                           | -  | >6.88%  |  |  |  |
| Tangvoraphonkchai, 2016, Int J Artif<br>Organs      | n=362                           | -  | Continuous  |  |  |  |
| Caeatano, 2016, J Ren Nutr                          | n=697                           | -  | >15%  |  |  |  |
| Schwermer, 2015, Pol Arch Med Wewn                  | n=321                           | -  | ≥4% (not justified)                                   |  |  |  |
| Onofriescu, 2015, PLoS One                          | n=221                           | -  | >15% & >17.4%   |  |  |  |
| Kim, 2015, Kidney Res Clin Pract                    | n=344                           | -  | >15%  |  |  |  |
| Hoppe, 2015, Blood Purif                            | n=241                           | -  | Continuous  |  |  |  |
| Mathew, 2014, Renal Failure                         | n=99 (HD & PD)                  | $>3.2 \text{ vs} \leq 3.2 \text{ L} \text{ (median)}$                                      | -   |  |  |  |
| Chazot 2012 NDT                                     | n=96                            | -  | >15%  |  |  |  |
| Wizemann 2009 NDT                                   | n=208                           | -  | >15%  |  |  |  |
| Peritoneal dialysis                                 | 11-207                          |  | /15/0   |  |  |  |
| Vrtovsnik, 2021, Clin Kidney J                      | 710                             |  | >14.4% (75 <sup>th</sup> percentile at 6              |  |  |  |
| IPOD-PD study                                       | n=/19                           | -  | months)   |  |  |  |
| van Biesen, 2019, CJASN<br>IPOD-PD study            | n=1054                          | -  | Moderate >7%<br>Severe >17.3% (75 <sup>th</sup> )     |  |  |  |
| Kim 2019 PD International                           | n-297                           | >251   | Not analysed  |  |  |  |
| Kim 2018 Am I Nephrol                               | n=297                           | -  | >15%  |  |  |  |
| Ng. 2018, PLoS One                                  | n=311                           | Continuous   | Continuous  |  |  |  |
| Jotterand Drepper, 2016, PLoS One                   | n=54                            | -  | >15%  |  |  |  |
| Hassan, 2015, Int Heart J                           | n=38                            | 1.7 L (cut-off found to be<br>associated with presence of left<br>ventriculsr hypertrophy) | -   |  |  |  |
| O'Lone, 2014, NDT                                   | n=529                           | Per L increment  | Per % increment &<br>≥10% (based upon highest<br>30%) |  |  |  |
| van Biesen, 2011, PLoS One<br>EuroBCM study         | n=639                           | -  | >7% "fluid overload" &<br>>15% "severe FO"            |  |  |  |
| Luo, 2011, Blood Purif                              | n=137                           | >2.0 L   | -   |  |  |  |
| Non-dialysis CKD                                    |                                 |  |   |  |  |  |
| Liu, 2021, Diabetes Res Clin Pract                  | n=1065                          | Tertiles (L)   | >7% vs ≤7%  |  |  |  |
| Schork, 2020, Kidney Blood Press Res                | n=179                           | Per L increment; $>1 L vs \le 1 L$   |   |  |  |  |
| Tsai, 2014, 2017 & 2018, Am J Kid Dis<br>& PLoS One | n=472                           | >1.1 vs $\leq$ 1.1 L 2017  | Per % increment                                       |  |  |  |
| Vega, 2018, Clin Kidney J                           | n=356                           | Per L increment  | Per % increment                                       |  |  |  |
| Esmeray, 2018, Med Princ Pract                      | n=100                           | >0 L vs ≤0 L<br>>0.5 L vs ≤0.5 L   | -   |  |  |  |
| Khan, 2016, PLoS One                                | n=312                           | Per L increment  | -   |  |  |  |
| Hung, 2015, J Am Heart Assoc                        | n=338                           | Per L increment  | $\geq 7\%$ vs <7%                                     |  |  |  |
| Heart failure                                       |                                 | -  |   |  |  |  |
| Siriopol, 2021, Int J Cardiovasc Imaging            | n=151                           | Per 1 L increment  | Per % increment                                       |  |  |  |
| Koell, 2017, Int J Cardiol                          | n=162                           | -  | $\geq 7\% \text{ vs} < 7\%$                           |  |  |  |

#### 2.5.3 TIME WINDOWS

BCM measurements were specified to be performed at randomisation, 2 and 18 month follow-up visits. The COVID-19 pandemic caused a substantial proportion of face-to-face follow-up visits to be delayed, however BCM measurements were permitted at later attended follow-up visit appointments and grouped into two follow-up periods/windows around the 2 and 18 month visit time points, as outlined in Table 2-8. Flexibility was also incorporated into the Data Analysis Plan (appendix 11) to allow for inclusion of final follow-up measurements from participants who had not reached 18 months since randomisation at the time of their final follow-up visit due to early stopping of the trial in the 18-month time "window" for analyses.

| Trial<br>visit<br>number | Follow-up<br>month | Ideal Follow-up day | Follow-up period (or<br>"window") |
|--------------------------|--------------------|---------------------|-----------------------------------|
| 1                        | 2                  | 60 days             | $\geq$ 30, <400 days              |
| 4                        | 18                 | 540 days            | ≥400, <680 days*                  |

Table 2-8: Scheduled follow-up visits relative to the randomisation visit date

\* Measurements obtained ≥680 days were not included

Where analyses are reported for the full trial cohort alongside the substudy cohort (e.g. weight and blood pressure), analyses of the full trial cohort include data from all available time points (up to 36 months for some participants). For comparison with analyses from the substudy, sensitivity analyses were conducted in the full trial cohort applying the same time windows (2 and 18 months) as were used in the bioimpedance substudy.

#### 2.5.4 WEIGHTING OF MEASUREMENTS

Values obtained corresponding to the 2- and 18-month follow-up visits were weighted according to the relative duration of each follow-up time period ("window"). The ideal time point for a 2-month measurement was 60 days post-randomisation but measurements taken on or after day 30 but before day 400 were mapped to the 2-month visit (or "window"). The 18-month visit ideally occurred on day 540 post-randomisation and readings on or after day 400 and before day 680 could be analysed in reference to this time point (or "window"). The first follow-up window is therefore 370 days in duration ( $\geq$ 30 to <400 days) and the second spanning 280 days ( $\geq$ 400 to <680 days) therefore analyses were pre-specified to weight information from the first time period at approximately 55%

compared to 45% for the second time period (weighting factors of 0.569 and 0.431). This was considered appropriate based on a hypothesised larger effect on "Fluid Overload" at the early 2-month time period relative to 18 months based on known haemodynamic mechanisms of the intervention. It was specified in a minor revision to the revised Data Analysis Plan (dated 17<sup>th</sup> November 2022, appendix 11) that statistical comparisons by treatment would be presented for the distribution of time-to-measurements from randomisation for each follow-up window.

#### 2.5.5 SUBSTUDY OUTCOMES

# 2.5.5.1 PRIMARY AND SECONDARY OUTCOMES: "FLUID OVERLOAD" AS A CONTINUOUS OUTCOME

The substudy's pre-specified primary outcome was the effect of empagliflozin versus placebo on mean absolute "Fluid Overload" averaged over time (with weights proportional to the length of time between visits, see section 2.5.4), with effects on relative "Fluid Overload" provided for comparison. It was calculated that at least 382 participants would be required to have 90% power (2-sided p value=0.05) to detect at least a 0.3 L difference in absolute "Fluid Overload" between treatment groups (the substudy was not powered to detect expected differences in adiposity parameters). The effect on "Fluid Overload" at the different time points was analysed as a secondary outcome.

#### 2.5.5.2 KEY SECONDARY COMPOSITE OUTCOME

The key secondary outcome was effects of empagliflozin versus placebo on time to the first event of a composite defined as the death from heart failure, heart failure hospitalisation, or development of new moderate or severe relative "Fluid Overload" (in participants without this level of "Fluid Overload" at baseline). Important data on fluid overload captured by BCM measurements was missed when remote follow-up visits were necessary (e.g. as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic) or after death, so the composite outcome served to capture all recorded data on fluid excess and its clinical consequences (whether measured by BCM or reflected in reported adverse events). This outcome was based upon the relative "Fluid Overload" parameter which is commonly reported in existing literature and favoured in observational research because normalisation to extracellular water facilitates comparison between individuals.

The moderate and severe "Fluid Overload" components are defined as follows:

- Development of <u>moderate</u> "Fluid Overload" defined as >7% to  $\leq 15\%$  relative "Fluid Overload" among those without this outcome at baseline;
- Development of <u>severe</u> "Fluid Overload" defined as >15% relative "Fluid Overload" among those without this outcome at baseline

#### 2.5.5.3 TERTIARY OUTCOMES

Tertiary analyses included:

(i) Effects of empagliflozin versus placebo on the primary outcome by pre-specified subgroups by sex, diabetes status, NT-proBNP and eGFR at recruitment. *Post-hoc* exploratory subgroup analyses by race and baseline hydration status were also performed with dehydration; normohydration; moderate; and severe "Fluid Overload" defined based on as  $\leq -7\%$ ; > -7%,  $\leq +7\%$ ; > +7%,  $\leq +15\%$ ; and > +15% relative "Fluid Overload" respectively. The established normohydration category (representing 60% of the substudy population at baseline) was further split into low- ( $> -7\% \leq 0\%$ ) and high-normohydration ( $>0\% \leq +7\%$ ) to further assess for evidence of trend.

(ii) Tertiary analyses also included effects of empagliflozin versus placebo on:

- a. Extracellular water (ECW)
- b. Intracellular water (ICW)
- c. Lean tissue index (LTI) (lean tissue mass [LTM] indexed to height)
- d. Fat tissue index (FTI) (fat tissue mass [FTM] indexed to height)
- e. Body weight
- f. BMI
- g. Waist circumference
- h. Hip circumference
- i. Waist-to-hip ratio

(iii) Further tertiary analyses assessed effects of empagliflozin on each of the four components of the key secondary outcome.

(iv) The final tertiary assessment was an analysis of time to first outcome of regression of "Fluid Overload" (i.e. regression of moderate or severe "Fluid Overload" at randomisation to any lower hydration category).

#### 2.6 FRAILTY ANALYSIS

The relevance of exploring heterogeneity of treatment effect according to indicators of frailty, multimorbidity, polypharmacy and health-related quality of life is discussed in section 1.3 of the introductory chapter of this thesis. In brief, these analyses focus on characteristics of patients who may be vulnerable to the diuretic and blood pressure lowering effects which are the focus of this thesis. There are several approaches to assessing and defining frailty in clinical practice and research settings (discussed in section 1.3). To address some of the limitations of these approaches and in the absence of a gold standard method, a bespoke method of assessing "frailty" in EMPA-KIDNEY was devised. This approach used "predicted risk of hospitalisation during follow-up" at baseline as the primary frailty indicator based on its established association with clinical frailty and event numbers in the EMPA-KIDNEY trial relative to mortality outcomes thereby maximising statistical power. All potential predictor variables based on data availability and biological plausibility were assessed in logistic regression models with first observed hospitalisation occurring during follow-up as the response variable (see Statistical methods section 2.7.4). Potential predictor variables included self-reported comorbidities recorded at randomisation, baseline EQ-5D-5L (quality of life) domains, physical measurements and laboratory parameters which reflect deficits in health. All potential predictor variables captured in the trial dataset were assessed, the full list is presented in Table 2-9. This list includes combinations of variables, for example any history of myocardial infarction and/or angina was collapsed into a single variable reflecting ischaemic heart disease for inclusion in model building. All variables were assessed in univariable model but only those most strongly associated with hospitalisation were retained in multivariable model building (i.e. combination variables and their component variables reflecting the same conditions were not included together in multivariable models). From the final multivariable model, predicted risk of hospitalisation during follow-up was derived for each participant and used as the primary frailty indicator.

Table 2-9: Variables assessed as potential predictors of hospitalisation

| COMORBIDITIES  |  |  |                                |  |  |
|--|--|--|--------------------------------|--|--|
| Cardiovascular comorbidities   | Alternativ                               | ve cardiovascular disease variables combining                                  |                                |  |  |
| assessed in isolation:   | individual                               | variables:   |                                |  |  |
|  | Ischaomia                                | haart disaasa  | Pre-specified trial definition |  |  |
| Myocardial infarction  | (myocardial infarction and/or<br>angina) |  | of prior cardiovascular        |  |  |
| Angina   |  |  | disease (myocardial            |  |  |
| Stroke   | Cerebrovas                               | scular disease   | infarction, heart failure,     |  |  |
| Transient ischaemic attack (TIA)   | (stroke and                              | /or TIA)   | attack, or peripheral arterial |  |  |
| Peripheral arterial disease  |  |  | disease)                       |  |  |
| Atrial fibrillation  |  |  |                                |  |  |
|  |  |  |                                |  |  |
| Diabetes variables:  | Alternativ<br>variables:                 | e diabetes variable  | combining individual           |  |  |
| Pre-specified trial definition of diabetes<br>(patient-reported history of diabetes of<br>any type, use of glucose-lowering<br>medication, or HbA1c ≥48 mmol/mol<br>(6.5%) at randomisation) | Diabetes w<br>without ret                | with retinopathy (diabetes with retinopathy, diabetes etinopathy, no diabetes) |                                |  |  |
| Diabetic retinopathy (yes/no)  |  |  |                                |  |  |
|  | 1  |  |                                |  |  |
| Other comorbidities recorded at rando  | misation:                                |  |                                |  |  |
| Peripheral neuropathy  |  |  |                                |  |  |
| Self-reported swollen ankles   |  |  |                                |  |  |
| Gout   |  |  |                                |  |  |
|  |  |  |                                |  |  |
| CLINICAL MEASUREMENTS  |  | LABORATORY   | MEASUREMENTS                   |  |  |
| Body mass index, kg/m <sup>2</sup>   |  | eGFR, mL/min/1.7   | 3 m <sup>2</sup>               |  |  |
| Waist:hip ratio  |  | uACR, mg/g   |                                |  |  |
| Systolic blood pressure, mmHg  |  | NT-proBNP, ng/L  |                                |  |  |
| Diastolic blood pressure, mmHg   |  | Haemoglobin, mg/dL   |                                |  |  |
| Pulse pressure, mmHg   |  |  |                                |  |  |
|  |  |  |                                |  |  |
| HEALTH-RELATED QUALITY OF I  | LIFE                                     | DEMOGRAPHIC  | CS                             |  |  |
| Mobility (EQ-5D-5L)  |  | Age, years   |                                |  |  |
| Self-care (EQ-5D-5L)   |  | Sex  |                                |  |  |
| Usual activities (EQ-5D-5L)  |  | Region   |                                |  |  |
| Pain/discomfort (EQ-5D-5L)   |  |  |                                |  |  |
| Anxiety/depression (EQ-5D-5L)  |  |  |                                |  |  |
| Self-rated health (EQ-5D-5L visual analo   |  |  |                                |  |  |
| Exercise tolerance (NYHA)  |  |  |                                |  |  |

Abbreviations: eGFR = estimated glomerular filtration rate; uACR = urinary albumin-to-creatinine ratio; NT-proBNP = N-terminal pro B-type natriuretic peptide. Additional related indicators assessed included multimorbidity, polypharmacy and healthrelated quality of life at baseline. Multimorbidity was defined according to the presence or absence of eight self-reported comorbid medical conditions at baseline: diabetes, heart failure, ischaemic heart disease (any history of myocardial infarction or angina), cerebrovascular disease (any history of stroke or transient ischaemic attack), peripheral arterial disease, atrial fibrillation, peripheral neuropathy and gout (Table 2-10); in addition to CKD which determined eligibility.

|                             | No. of conditions (excluding CKD) |                 |                        |                     |  |
|-----------------------------|-----------------------------------|-----------------|------------------------|---------------------|--|
|                             | None or one<br>(N=3864)           | Two<br>(N=1369) | Three or more (N=1376) | Overall<br>(N=6609) |  |
| Diabetes*                   | 923 (23.9)                        | 982 (71.7)      | 1135 (82.5)            | 3040 (46.0)         |  |
| Heart failure               | 20 (0.5)                          | 98 (7.2)        | 540 (39.2)             | 658 (10.0)          |  |
| Ischaemic heart disease     | 108 (2.8)                         | 276 (20.2)      | 711 (51.7)             | 1095 (16.6)         |  |
| Cerebrovascular disease     | 94 (2.4)                          | 183 (13.4)      | 386 (28.1)             | 663 (10.0)          |  |
| Atrial fibrillation         | 88 (2.3)                          | 187 (13.7)      | 510 (37.1)             | 785 (11.9)          |  |
| Peripheral arterial disease | 31 (0.8)                          | 100 (7.3)       | 339 (24.6)             | 470 (7.1)           |  |
| Peripheral neuropathy       | 102 (2.6)                         | 459 (33.5)      | 755 (54.9)             | 1316 (19.9)         |  |
| Gout                        | 564 (14.6)                        | 453 (33.1)      | 690 (50.1)             | 1707 (25.8)         |  |
|                             |                                   |                 |                        |                     |  |

Table 2-10: Composition of multimorbidity subgroups

Data are n (%) of participants in each category of "No. of conditions (excluding CKD)" with that condition. \* Defined as patient-reported history of diabetes of any type, use of glucose-lowering medication, or a glycated haemoglobin level of at least 48 mmol/mol (6.5%) at the randomisation visit.

Polypharmacy was derived from the number of concomitant medications recorded on the randomisation visit form for each participant. Health-related quality of life at randomisation was assessed using the EuroQoL EQ-5D-5L tool which asks participants to rate on an ordinal scale five domains (mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain or discomfort and anxiety or depression) and additionally to rate their overall health on that day between zero and 100 reflecting the worst and best health imaginable, respectively, using the visual analogue scale. The five individual domain scores for each participant were mapped to an index value using a Microsoft Excel macro which can be downloaded from: https://www.sheffield.ac.uk/nice-dsu/methods-development/mapping-eq-5d-51-31.

The same pre-specified efficacy and safety outcomes which have previously been reported for the overall trial population were assessed in analyses testing the impact of frailty on the treatment effects of empagliflozin versus placebo (see section 2.2).

#### 2.7 STATISTICAL METHODS

Baseline characteristics were summarised using mean (standard deviation; SD) for normally distributed variables and median (interquartile range; IQR) and geometric mean (95% confidence interval; CI) if non-normally distributed. Normality was assessed by visual inspection of histograms and quantile-quantile plots. Numbers and percentages were used to summarise categorical variables.

All analyses followed the intention-to-treat principle (i.e. all participants included irrespective of whether they take none, some or all of their allocated treatment) (Peto and Peto, 1972, Peto et al., 1976, Peto et al., 1977). The substudy primary outcome was prespecified to be assessed using a mixed model repeated measures (MMRM) approach adjusted for age, sex, prior diabetes, eGFR, and uACR in the categories used in the minimised randomisation algorithm. The MMRM model also included fixed categorical effects of time (to avoid assuming a linear association between treatment allocation and the outcome variable over time), treatment allocation, treatment-by-time interaction, and continuous effects of baseline (randomisation) measurements, and baseline-by-time interaction. The within-person error correlations were assumed to be unstructured. Analyses of the full trial cohort were additionally adjusted for region. Effects at each follow-up time point were estimated and used to derive study-average effects (with weights proportional to the amount of time between visits). All between-group differences were reported as empagliflozin minus placebo. To assess effect modification, subgroup-specific treatment effects were estimated by fitting interaction terms in the MMRM models. The null hypothesis was that the treatment effect is the same across all subgroups. This was tested by calculating a heterogeneity or trend statistic from subgroup-specific means and standard errors, without correction for multiplicity of testing.

The key secondary outcome and its components were analysed using an adjusted Cox proportional hazards regression using the same covariates in the minimisation algorithm (age, sex, prior diabetes, eGFR and uACR) and included the complete substudy population of 660 participants (i.e. it included participants without a valid follow-up bioimpedance measurement who were excluded from MMRM analyses but were at risk of clinical outcomes). Tertiary analyses used the same MMRM approach as described for the primary outcome and assessed effects on ECW, ICW, LTI, FTI, body weight and BMI. Waist and

hip circumference measurements were obtained at a single follow-up time point (18 months) and were therefore analysed by analysis of covariance (ANCOVA), adjusted for the baseline value and minimisation variables. Missing baseline measurements were handled by mean imputation and missing follow-up measurements were handled by multiple imputation. The same approach was followed for the substudy and full trial population for effects on waist-to-hip ratio. All 6609 participants were included and the imputed dataset was then subset to derive an imputed dataset for analysis of effects in substudy participants specifically. The imputation model included non-missing values of baseline and follow-up measurements of waist, hip and waist-to-hip ratio as appropriate in separate imputation models for each of these parameters; as well as weight. Treatment allocation and the minimisation algorithm variables (age, sex, eGFR, uACR and region) were also included as covariates in the imputation model. Associations between other variables and missingness of waist-to-hip ratio were assessed in univariable logistic regression to determine inclusion of additional covariates which identified NT-proBNP as an additional relevant covariate. Multiple imputation produced 20 imputed datasets which were each analysed by ANCOVA and treatment-specific estimated marginal means and standard errors were then pooled using the method of Rubin. All multiple imputation analyses were implemented using the multiple imputation procedure in SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary NC), using the expectation-maximisation algorithm (which assumes a multivariate normal distribution) to impute values. Multiple imputation was conducted by trial statistician Natalie Staplin since it would not have been possible to exactly replicate an imputed dataset using this approach in R and SAS programmes.

P values for hypothesis testing for outcomes were limited to the primary outcome. P values for testing for any evidence of effect modification between subgroups, and between treatment effect and effects by time are presented. For all statistical tests (other than tests for heterogeneity or trend), the null hypothesis was that the effect of allocation to empagliflozin on the parameter of interest (e.g. "Fluid Overload") in the target population is the same as the effect of allocation to placebo (and hence the alternative hypothesis will be that the effect of allocation to empagliflozin is not the same as the effect of allocation to placebo).

All bioimpedance substudy analyses were pre-specified before the main results of the trial were known and while investigators remained blind to study treatment allocation.

Additional analyses to provide context for the bioimpedance substudy results (and for the purposes of this doctoral research project) were planned following publication of the main trial results (November 2022). Analyses were performed using R Studio version 4.2.2 (RStudio: Integrated Development for R. RStudio, PBC, Boston, MA).

#### 2.7.1 HANDLING OF MISSING AND DUPLICATE DATA

Missing baseline data was handled differently in analyses of the bioimpedance substudy and full trial cohort. This is because substudy analyses were pre-specified with the aim of maximising inclusion (imputation rather than exclusion of missing baseline data). Related analyses of the full trial cohort were conducted later and it was necessary to follow procedures used in the pre-specified main trial analyses (as published and according to the main trial Data Analysis Plan) and since the analysis population for the full trial is tentimes larger than the substudy, exclusion of participants with missing baseline data was justifiable. This approach is outlined in more detail for the substudy and full trial cohort analyses separately in the following sections.

#### 2.7.1.1 MISSING DATA IN THE BIOIMPEDANCE SUBSTUDY

In bioimpedance substudy analyses, participants with a missing baseline bioimpedance measurement could still be included if subsequent bioimpedance measurements were obtained within the 2- and/or 18-month follow-up windows. Missing baseline data were imputed with the mean observed value across both treatment groups combined. Participants with missing baseline values relevant to categorical groupings and/or subgroup analyses were included in the category containing the mean value (or the most frequent category for a binary variable). Analyses of continuous outcome variables using an MMRM approach required a consenting participant to have at least one valid measurement during follow-up and otherwise participants were excluded from the analysis of that outcome variable (but could be included in other analyses). The MMRM approach handles missing follow-up measurements implicitly where participants had at least one follow-up measurement available but missing data at other follow-up time points.

#### 2.7.1.2 DUPLICATE DATA IN THE BIOIMPEDANCE SUBSTUDY

In all bioimpedance substudy analyses, if more than one valid bioimpedance measurement was available at a single follow-up visit (i.e. date), the measurement with the highest Q value was used and additional measurements ignored.

In all bioimpedance substudy analyses, if valid bioimpedance measurements were made on more than one day within a follow-up period, then the valid bioimpedance measurement made on the day nearest the ideal follow-up day was used. In the situation where >1 valid BCM measurement was obtained within a follow-up window on dates which were equidistant from the ideal follow-up date, a mean value was calculated and used in analyses. This was considered a more scientifically robust approach in this unique situation due to the hypothesised interaction of time in the association between treatment allocation and "Fluid Overload" which means that selecting one or other equidistant measurement on the basis of Q values could introduce bias.

Where data for two separate visits were recorded on a single BCM data card, valid BCM results were derived for the separate visits (and in some cases, separate participants due to site error).

#### 2.7.1.3 MISSING DATA IN ANALYSES OF THE FULL TRIAL COHORT

In analyses of the full trial cohort, participants missing baseline measurements for weight, blood pressure, HbA1c or haematocrit were excluded from the analysis of that outcome variable (but could be included in other analyses). The MMRM approach handles missing follow-up measurements implicitly where participants had at least one follow-up measurement available but missing data at other follow-up time points.

Analyses of waist-to-hip ratio required to be handled differently. Since waist-to-hip ratio was only measured at a single follow-up time point (unlike bioimpedance parameters, body weight, blood pressure and laboratory parameters presented), analysis used linear regression and required multiple imputation of missing data (rather than the MMRM approach). Since all published analyses required to be validated by the trial statistician but multiply imputed datasets generated by myself in R would not produce exactly the same imputations as by another operator using SAS; for simplicity this analysis was conducted only by the trial statistician (reported in section 5.2.3.2).

#### 2.7.2 SENSITIVITY ANALYSES IN THE BIOIMPEDANCE SUBSTUDY

The effect of quality control steps was assessed in three sensitivity analyses for the primary outcome in the bioimpedance substudy. The first included all bioimpedance measurements irrespective of quality, imputing only missing baseline measurements; the second included all measurements with an automated quality value  $\geq$ 80, imputing missing measurements and those with quality value <80; and the third was limited to participants with complete valid baseline BCM data only (no imputation).

It was specified in a minor revision to the Data Analysis Plan (dated 17<sup>th</sup> November 2022, appendix 11) that statistical comparisons by treatment would be presented for the distribution of Q values for measurements included in the main comparison and sensitivity analyses.

# 2.7.3 METHODS OF ADDITIONAL SUPPLEMENTARY ANALYSES IN THE FULL TRIAL COHORT

In order for inferences from the bioimpedance substudy assessments of fluid and adiposity to be put in the context of findings from all the available data, additional analyses from the full EMPA-KIDNEY trial cohort were also conducted. These included assessments of the effects of empagliflozin versus placebo on total weight, body mass index, waist-to-hip ratio, systolic and diastolic blood pressure, glycated haemoglobin and haematocrit. These analyses emphasised results of study average effects (with effects at 2 and 18 months also presented). These analyses were also intended to allow for exploration of subgroup effects on weight with greater reliability than would be possible in the smaller substudy population. Effects on weight and systolic blood pressure were explored according to sex, diabetes status, eGFR and NT-proBNP at baseline (the same subgroups as were prespecified in the bioimpedance substudy). Additional subgroup analyses were conducted for all variables stratified by self-reported participant race to assess for any evidence of

differential effects by race in the full trial cohort since the substudy took place in the UK and Germany only.

Since outcome variables were only assessed at two time points in the bioimpedance substudy (2- and 18-month time windows) and data from the full trial cohort were available from all routine trial visits (at 2-, 6-, 12-, 18-, 24-, 30- and 36-month follow-up visits), handling of time required careful consideration for these additional analyses. In analyses of the full trial cohort, study averages include all available measurements to maximise statistical power and robustness of treatment effect estimates. In the bioimpedance substudy results publication, full trial results at the 2- and 18-month visits were emphasised and results from 6-, 12-, 24-, 30- and 36-month visits were not shown for simplicity of presentation. Substudy results were compared to results from the full cohort using standard statistical tests of heterogeneity.

A sensitivity analysis was conducted to assess an alternative approach of applying the two time windows which were pre-specified in the bioimpedance substudy to the full trial cohort analyses to allow for comparison between these assessments and effects on fluid overload in participants with measurements available for both outcomes within the bioimpedance substudy. Where multiple measurements were available within either time window (2- or 18-months as specified in the substudy Data Analysis Plan – appendix 11), the measurement which was nearest measurement to the "ideal" follow-up day in each window (60 and 540 days, respectively) was retained. This sensitivity analysis was conducted for effects on weight and systolic blood pressure.

#### 2.7.4 PREDICTED RISK OF HOSPITALISATION

Logistic regression models adjusted for age, sex and region assessed the individual association of all potential predictor variables with recorded hospitalisation (first event). Models were developed first in the complete EMPA-KIDNEY population irrespective of treatment allocation to maximise power. The approach was then repeated restricted to the placebo group since allocation to empagliflozin can be expected to modify risk of hospitalisation (and may therefore confound associations between other variables and the outcome). Missing data in predictor variables was handled by mean (or median for non-

normal data) imputation (or the most common category for categorical variables) since missingness was infrequent and not associated with first hospitalisation on logistic regression. For continuous variables, nonlinearity was assessed by comparing models with and without quadratic terms in addition to the linear terms using likelihood ratio tests. If the inclusion of the quadratic term improved model fit (likelihood ratio test P < 0.01), both terms were included in multivariable model building. All variables which were significantly associated (P<0.01) with hospitalisation in univariable (with age, sex and region forced to remain) models proceeded to inclusion in multivariable model building using forward stepwise selection, adding variables in order of best-fitting univariable (adjusted for age, sex and region) models (determined by lowest Akaike information criterion [AIC] values). The impact of stepwise additions was assessed using likelihood ratio tests with significance threshold P<0.01. Model performance was assessed using calibration plots and the area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUROC).

For each frailty indicator (predicted risk of hospitalisation, multimorbidity, polypharmacy and health-related quality of life), participants were categorised into approximate thirds of the variable's distribution to define subgroups. The top third was further dichotomised for the emphasised assessments by predicted risk of hospitalisation to provide greater discrimination among those at highest risk. The effects of allocation to empagliflozin versus placebo on the trial's pre-specified efficacy and safety outcomes were assessed using Cox regression models adjusted for age, sex, region, eGFR, uACR and diabetes status in the categories used in the minimised randomisation algorithm. Effects on weight and blood pressure were analysed using a mixed model repeated measures (MMRM) approach adjusted for age, sex, region, eGFR, uACR and diabetes status in the same categories. The MMRM model also included fixed categorical effects of time (to avoid assuming a linear association between treatment allocation and weight or blood pressure over time), treatment allocation, treatment-by-time interaction, and continuous effects of baseline (randomisation) measurements, and baseline-by-time interaction. The withinperson error correlations were assumed to be unstructured. Effects at each follow-up time point were estimated and used to derive study-average effects (with weights proportional to the amount of time between visits). All between-group differences are reported as empagliflozin minus placebo. Analyses of total hospitalisations were performed using joint frailty models. Tests for trend across subgroups were used to assess for any evidence of treatment effect modification without correction for multiplicity of testing.

#### 2.7.5 ESTIMATED ABSOLUTE EFFECTS

Estimated absolute effects in subgroups were calculated by applying hazard ratios to the observed event rate in the placebo arm of the subgroup. Which hazard ratio to use was determined by whether there was statistically significant evidence of heterogeneity in relative effects of treatment according to levels of the subgroup variable. If there was significant heterogeneity (P<0.01), the subgroup-specific hazard ratio was applied otherwise the overall hazard ratio was applied to all subgroup levels.

These estimated absolute effects were presented as absolute events avoided per 1000 patients treated with empagliflozin per year (and corresponding standard error) for each subgroup level; calculated as the difference between the absolute event rate in the placebo group and the estimated absolute event rate in the treatment group for each subgroup level.

Steps of these calculations were as follows:

where arc = observed absolute event rate in the control (placebo) group

*art* = estimated absolute event rate in the treatment (empagliflozin) group

hr = hazard ratio (overall/subgroup-specific dictated by heterogeneity tests above)

*arr* = absolute risk reduction; the estimated number of events avoided (or caused)

se = standard error

Estimated absolute effects were generally presented per 1000 patients treated for one year (based on event rates per 1000 patient-years) with the exception of analyses of all-cause hospitalisations which were presented per 100 patients treated for one year (based on event rates per 100 patient-years for consistency with analyses published in the trial's main results publication in November 2022).

# CHAPTER 3 – SYSTEMATIC REVIEW OF BIOIMPEDANCE-DERIVED FLUID OVERLOAD AND ASSOCIATIONS WITH CLINICAL OUTCOMES IN CKD AND HEART FAILURE

#### 3.1 INTRODUCTION

The previous chapters provide the introduction (sections 1.4-1.6) and methods (section 2.1) for this chapter reporting findings of a systematic review of the use of bioimpedance techniques in non-dialysis chronic kidney disease (CKD) and heart failure. This was intended to provide background on the use of bioimpedance in the disease population studied in the EMPA-KIDNEY bioimpedance substudy (with non-dialysis CKD, in whom heart failure is common) to inform the Data Analysis Plan for the bioimpedance substudy.

Bioimpedance has been widely used to assess fluid status in dialysis populations and is summarised in existing systematic reviews but not for non-dialysis CKD. This work sought to assess whether similar positive associations exist between fluid excess and adverse cardiorenal outcomes in earlier stages of CKD, where fluid excess may be less marked than in dialysis cohorts, but may still represent a key modifiable cause of morbidity and mortality. Much overlap exists between CKD and heart failure and fluid excess is a hallmark of heart failure however studies of bioimpedance parameters in heart failure populations are few therefore both populations were included in the review. Concerning terminology, as explained in section 2.5.2, throughout this thesis, "Fluid Overload" (including "" and capitalisation of each word) is used to refer to the bioimpedance-derived parameter with non-capitalised terms used as descriptions of physiological state wherever possible (fluid excess is used in preference to fluid overload in an attempt to distinguish from references to the bioimpedance parameter "Fluid Overload").

A secondary aim of the review was to summarise definitions and identify thresholds of "Fluid Overload" which are associated with adverse cardiorenal outcomes to inform prespecified analyses of the EMPA-KIDNEY bioimpedance substudy, as summarised in section 2.5.2. The review was restricted to assessment of fluid parameters and did not seek to summarise bioimpedance-derived adiposity parameters based on a preliminary literature search which found inconsistent results reported by existing studies. Furthermore, the numbers of studies reporting these outcomes were small and fluid and adiposity parameters were infrequently analysed in the same study.
## 3.2 RESULTS

## 3.2.1 SEARCH RESULTS

Figure 3-1 presents search results, reasons for exclusion and included studies. The final number of included studies was 31, of which 20 studied heart failure populations, 10 studied CKD populations and one study included patients with type 2 diabetes with and without CKD. Seven studies were identified as having multiple reports, these are summarised in Table 3-1 with the selected report from which data were extracted highlighted in bold. The selection approach considered which report presented maximal outcome data and favoured analyses with the longest follow-up time and largest population. Where different fluid parameters were used, this was considered alongside the aforementioned factors and parameters most synonymous with other studies were favoured.





\*CENTRAL results produced 311 trials and 6 Cochrane reviews - 6 reviews removed as ineligible. † 6 CKD studies & 3 heart failure studies reported more than one relevant outcome.

|   | Author            | Year | Journal                     | Title   | N    | Recruitment<br>dates      | Follow-<br>up (yrs) | Fluid overload parameter                 | Outcomes   |
|---|-------------------|------|-----------------------------|---|------|---------------------------|---------------------|--|--|
| A | Tsai              | 2013 | PLoS One                    | Is Fluid Overload More Important than Diabetes in Renal Progression in Late Chronic<br>Kidney Disease?  | 472  | Jan-Dec 2011              | 1.4                 | Relative "Fluid Overload", %             | KRT initiation; $\Delta$ eGFR                                |
| А | Tsai              | 2014 | Am J Kidney<br>Dis          | Association of Fluid Overload With Kidney Disease Progression in Advanced CKD: A<br>Prospective Cohort Study  | 472  | Jan-Dec 2011              | 1.4                 | Absolute "Fluid Overload", L             | KRT initiation; $\Delta$ eGFR                                |
| A | Tsai              | 2015 | CJASN                       | Association of Fluid Overload with Cardiovascular Morbidity and All-Cause Mortality in Stages 4 and 5 CKD   | 478  | Jan-Dec 2011              | 1.9                 | Relative "Fluid Overload", %             | All-cause mortality; MACE                                    |
| A | Tsai              | 2017 | PLoS One                    | The interaction between fluid status and angiopoietin-2 in adverse renal outcomes of chronic kidney disease   | 290  | Jan-Dec 2011              | 3.2                 | Absolute "Fluid Overload", L             | KRT initiation; $\Delta$ eGFR                                |
| A | Tsai              | 2018 | PLoS One                    | The interaction between N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide and fluid status<br>in adverse clinical outcomes of late stages of chronic kidney disease  | 239  | Jan-Dec 2011              | 3.3                 | Relative "Fluid Overload",<br>%          | All-cause mortality; MACE;<br>KRT initiation; Δ eGFR         |
| В | Hung              | 2015 | J Am Heart<br>Assoc         | Volume Overload and Adverse Outcomes in Chronic Kidney Disease: Clinical<br>Observational and Animal Studies  | 338  | Sep 2011-Dec              | 2.1                 | Relative "Fluid Overload",<br>%          | Composite A eGFR/KRT;  |
| В | Hung              | 2015 | J Am Heart<br>Assoc         | Association of Fluid Retention With Anemia and Clinical Outcomes Among Patients<br>With Chronic Kidney Disease  | 326  | 2012                      | 2.2                 | Relative "Fluid Overload", %             | mortality  |
| С | Khan              | 2016 | PLoS One                    | Chronic Kidney Disease, Fluid Overload and Diuretics: A Complicated Triangle  | 312  | NA                        | 1.0                 | Absolute "Fluid Overload", L             | $\Delta$ eGFR; KRT initiation <sup>1</sup>                   |
| С | Khan              | 2017 | Clin Exper<br>Nephrol       | Diuretics prescribing in chronic kidney disease patients: physician assessment versus bioimpedence spectroscopy   | 312  | NA                        | 1.0                 | ECW, L (absolute "Fluid<br>Overload", L) | $\Delta$ eGFR; KRT initiation                                |
| D | Orea-Tejeda       | 2010 | Cardiology                  | Prognostic value of cardiac troponin T elevation is independent of renal function and<br>clinical findings in heart failure patients  | 152  | 2002-2011                 | 3.5                 | BIVA hydration index plot                | All-cause mortality  |
| D | Colin-Ramirez     | 2012 | Nutrition                   | Bioelectrical impedance phase angle as a prognostic marker in chronic heart failure   | 389  | 2002-2011 <sup>2</sup>    | 3.0                 | Phase angle, $^{\circ}$                  | All-cause mortality  |
| D | Castillo-Martinez | 2016 | Nutrición<br>hospitalaria   | Body composition changes assessed by bioelectrical impedance and their associations<br>with functional class deterioration in stable heart failure patients   | 275  | 2002-2011                 | 0.5                 | Resistance/height, $\Omega/m$            | Change in NYHA class   |
| Е | Vega              | 2017 | Clin Kidney J               | Low lean tissue mass is an independent risk factor for mortality in patients with stages 4 and 5 nondialysis chronic kidney disease   | 356  | NA                        | 1.8                 | Absolute "Fluid Overload", L             | All-cause mortality (CV events, KRT initiation) <sup>3</sup> |
| Е | Vega              | 2018 | Clin Kidney J               | Any grade of relative overhydration is associated with long-term mortality in<br>patients with Stages 4 and 5 nondialysis chronic kidney disease  | 356  | From Jan 2011             | 4.2                 | Relative "Fluid Overload",<br>%          | All-cause mortality  |
| F | Low               | 2021 | J Diabetes<br>Complicat     | Higher extracellular water to total body water ratio was associated with<br>chronic kidney disease progression in type 2 diabetes   | 1079 | March 2011-<br>March 2014 | 8.6                 | ECW:TBW ratio                            | $\Delta$ eGFR & worsening KDIGO category composite           |
| F | Liu               | 2021 | Diab Res &<br>Clin Practice | Association of overhydration and serum pigment epithelium-derived factor with<br>CKD progression in diabetic kidney disease: A prospective cohort study   | 1065 | March 2011-<br>March 2014 | 8.6                 | Absolute (L) & (%) "Fluid<br>Overload"   | Δ eGFR & worsening KDIGO<br>category composite               |
| G | Tai               | 2014 | BMC Nephrol                 | Association between ratio of measured extracellular volume to expected body fluid<br>volume and renal outcomes in patients with chronic kidney disease: a retrospective<br>single-center cohort study | 149  | 2005-2009                 | 4.9                 | ECW:TBW                                  | Composite $\Delta$ eGFR/KRT                                  |
| G | Ohashi            | 2015 | J Nutr Health<br>Aging      | The associations of malnutrition and aging with fluid volume imbalance between intra- and extracellular water in patients with chronic kidney disease   | 149  | 2005-2009                 | 4.9                 | ECW:ICW                                  | All-cause mortality; CV events;<br>Composite Δ eGFR/KRT      |

The selected report from which data were extracted is highlighted in bold. <sup>1</sup> Multivariable survival analysis not reported by fluid overload (diuretic status only), author confirmed by email therefore 2017 report favoured. <sup>2</sup> Author confirmed all studies represent the same cohort and recruitment dates 2002-2011 provided by email; 2012 study favoured based upon population size and fluid overload measurement more synonymous with other studies. <sup>3</sup> 2017 paper states no association between fluid overload and KRT or CV events however not quantified. Several other included studies share authors but report upon distinct cohorts.

## 3.2.2 STUDY CHARACTERISTICS

Characteristics of the included studies are summarised overall in Table 3-2 and also presented separately for each included study, grouped by CKD (Table 3-3) and heart failure study populations (Table 3-4). Two studies included more than 1000 participants, but the majority of included studies were small. CKD studies were generally larger (range 100-3751 participants) than those in heart failure populations (51-706 participants) with longer durations of follow-up (range 1.0-8.6 years for CKD versus 0.02-3.0 years for heart failure cohorts). Heart failure studies more commonly studied participants with acute decompensated heart failure compared with stable chronic disease and heart failure subtypes (HFpEF vs HFrEF) were not frequently distinguished.

|   | CKD | cohorts     | Heart fail | ure cohorts |
|---|-----|-------------|------------|-------------|
|   | (n= | :11)        | (n=        | =20)        |
| Year of publication, n (%)                |     |             |            |             |
| 2017 - 2021                               | 8   | (73)        | 11         | (55)        |
| 2012 - 2016                               | 2   | (18)        | 8          | (40)        |
| Before 2012                               | 1   | (9)         | 1          | (5)         |
| Region, n (%)*                            |     |             |            |             |
| Europe                                    | 4   | (36)        | 12         | (60)*       |
| Asia                                      | 6   | (55)        | 3          | (15)        |
| Russia                                    | 0   | -           | 1          | (5)         |
| N. America                                | 1   | (9)         | 3          | (15)*       |
| S. America                                | 0   | -           | 3          | (15)*       |
| Median number of total participants (IQR) | 236 | (177-347)   | 175        | (104-362)   |
| Median follow-up (IQR), years             | 3.3 | 6 (1.4-5.4) | 0.9        | 0 (0.5-1.6) |
| Median % male (IQR)                       | 55  | 5 (50-61)   | 55         | 5 (49-63)   |
| Median % diabetes mellitus (IQR)          | 45  | 5 (36-49)   | 37         | 7 (35-44)   |
| Median % hypertension (IQR)               | 80  | 5 (82-87)   | 78         | 8 (71-79)   |
| Bioimpedance method, n (%)                |     |             |            |             |
| Bioimpedance analysis (BIA)               | 4   | (36)        | 7          | (35)        |
| Bioimpedance vector analysis (BIVA)       | 0   | -           | 11         | (55)        |
| Bioimpedance spectroscopy (BIS)           | 7   | (64)        | 2          | (10)        |
| Bioimpedance device, n (%)                |     |             |            |             |
| Fresenius Body Composition Monitor        | 7   | (64)        | 2          | (10)        |
| (BCM)                                     | 2   | (18)        | 2          | (10)        |
| InBody S20/520/720                        | 0   | -           | 7          | (35)        |
| EFG                                       | 1   | (9)         | 1          | (5)         |
| Quantum II/X                              | 1   | (9)         | 8          | (40)        |
| Other/not reported                        |     |             |            |             |
| Fluid status parameter, n (%)             |     |             |            |             |
| Absolute & relative "Fluid Overload"      | 3   | (27)        | 1          | (5)         |
| Absolute "Fluid Overload"                 | 2   | (18)        | 0          | -           |
| Relative "Fluid Overload"                 | 1   | (9)         | 1          | (5)         |
| Phase angle                               | 2   | (18)        | 3          | (15)        |
| BIVA hydration index/other BIVA           | 0   | -           | 11         | (55)        |
| Extracellular water/ratio                 | 3   | (27)        | 4          | (20)        |

Table 3-2: Summary of characteristics of identified cohorts

For studies reporting more than one fluid status parameter, only those analysed in association with clinical

outcomes are presented in the table (except for the related parameters absolute & relative "Fluid Overload").

\*Two studies included participants in two geographical regions

|          |      |               |                                |      |                 |  |   |        |                  | Outco                  | mes repo | orted  |
|----------|------|---------------|--------------------------------|------|-----------------|--|---|--------|------------------|------------------------|----------|--------|
| Author   | Year | Region        | Study design                   | N    | Follow-up (yrs) | CKD inclusion criteria                 | Heart failure exclusion/reporting                 | Method | Device           | All-cause<br>mortality | CV       | Kidney |
| Bansal   | 2018 | North America | Prospective cohort             | 3751 | 7               | eGFR 20-70                             | Excluded  | BIA    | Quantum II (RJL) | Y                      | Y        | Y      |
| Liu      | 2021 | Asia          | Prospective cohort             | 1065 | 8.6             | CKD 1-4 & non-CKD with type 2 diabetes | Not excluded/reported                             | BIA    | InBody S20       | Ν                      | Ν        | Y      |
| Vega     | 2018 | Europe        | Prospective cohort             | 356  | 4.2             | CKD 4-5                                | Included; reported baseline heart failure 27%     | BIS    | Fresenius BCM    | Y                      | Y        | N*     |
| Hung     | 2015 | Asia          | Prospective cohort             | 338  | 2.1             | CKD 3-5                                | Included in CVD outcome, baseline reported as CVD | BIS    | Fresenius BCM    | Ν                      | Y        | Y      |
| Khan     | 2017 | Asia          | Prospective cohort             | 312  | 1               | CKD 3-5                                | Excluded  | BIS    | Fresenius BCM    | Ν                      | Ν        | Y      |
| Tsai     | 2018 | Asia          | Prospective cohort             | 236  | 3.3             | CKD 4-5                                | Included in outcome, baseline reported as CVD     | BIS    | Fresenius BCM    | Y                      | Y        | Y      |
| Kohatsu  | 2021 | Asia          | Retrospective cohort           | 194  | 1.4             | CKD 3-5                                | Not excluded/reported                             | BIA    | BioScan 920-II   | Ν                      | Ν        | Y      |
| Schork   | 2020 | Europe        | Retrospective cohort           | 179† | 5.9             | CKD 1-5                                | Not excluded/reported                             | BIS    | Fresenius BCM    | Ν                      | Ν        | Y      |
| Caravaca | 2011 | Europe        | Prospective cohort             | 175  | 1.3             | eGFR <40                               | Excluded  | BIS    | Fresenius BCM    | Y                      | Ν        | Ν      |
| Ohashi   | 2015 | Asia          | Retrospective cohort           | 149  | 4.9             | Not specified                          | Included in CVD outcome, baseline not reported    | BIA    | InBody S20       | Y                      | Y        | Y      |
| Esmeray  | 2018 | Europe        | Non-randomised<br>experimental | 100  | 1               | CKD 3-4                                | Excluded  | BIS    | Fresenius BCM    | Y                      | Ν        | Y      |

\* Event numbers reported for progression to dialysis however no analysis reported. †179 included, 177 with outcome data for kidney outcomes.

|                                  |      |                           |                             |                  | dn-a             | Heart failure inclusion               | CKD exclusion  | pc    |                                  | Outco                  | mes repo | orted  |
|----------------------------------|------|---------------------------|-----------------------------|------------------|------------------|---------------------------------------|--|-------|----------------------------------|------------------------|----------|--------|
| Author                           | Year | Region                    | Study design                | N                | Follov<br>(years | criteria                              | criteria/reporting   | Metho | Device                           | All-cause<br>mortality | CV       | Kidney |
| Massari                          | 2019 | Europe                    | Retrospective cohort        | 706              | 0.02             | AHF; LVEF <40%, 40-49%, ≥50%          | Included CKD   | BIVA  | CardioEFG (Akern)                | Ν                      | Y        | Ν      |
| Massari                          | 2020 | Europe                    | Retrospective cohort        | 436              | 1.3              | AHF & CHF; LVEF <40%,<br>40-49%, ≥50% | Included CKD   | BIVA  | CardioEFG (Akern)                | Y                      | N        | Ν      |
| Colin-Ramirez                    | 2012 | North America             | Retrospective cohort        | 389              | 3                | CHF; HFrEF & HFpEF                    | Included CKD   | BIA   | Quantum X (RJL)                  | Y                      | Ν        | Ν      |
| Di Somma                         | 2014 | Europe                    | Prospective cohort          | 381 <sup>1</sup> | 0.1              | AHF                                   | Excluded eGFR <30  | BIVA  | Tetrapolar 50 kHz (Akern<br>Srl) | Ν                      | Y        | Ν      |
| Nunez                            | 2016 | Europe                    | Prospective cohort          | 369              | 1                | AHF                                   | Included CKD   | BIVA  | CardioEFG (Akern)                | Y                      | Y        | Ν      |
| Lyons                            | 2017 | North America             | Prospective cohort          | 359              | 2.1              | CHF; HFrEF & HFpEF                    | Not reported   | BIA   | InBody 520                       | Ν                      | Y        | Ν      |
| Santarelli,<br>EHJ Acute CV Care | 2017 | Europe                    | Prospective cohort          | 336 <sup>2</sup> | 0.3              | AHF                                   | Included CKD   | BIVA  | EFG (Akern)                      | Y                      | Y        | Ν      |
| Santarelli,<br>Intern Emerg Med  | 2017 | Europe & South<br>America | Prospective cohort          | 292              | 0.3              | AHF                                   | Included CKD   | BIVA  | EFG (Akern)                      | Ν                      | Y        | Ν      |
| De Berardinis                    | 2014 | Europe & North<br>America | Prospective cohort          | 194              | 1.5              | AHF                                   | Excluded KRT; reported baseline CKD 31%                            | BIVA  | Tetrapolar 50 kHz (Akern<br>Srl) | Y                      | Y        | Ν      |
| Sakaguchi                        | 2015 | Asia                      | Prospective cohort          | 190 <sup>3</sup> | 0.5              | AHF                                   | Excluded sCr >3 mg/dL  | BIA   | BioScan 920-2 (Maltron<br>Intl)  | Ν                      | Y        | Ν      |
| Liu                              | 2012 | Asia                      | Randomised controlled trial | 159 <sup>4</sup> | 0.5              | AHF; LVEF <40%                        | Excluded sCr >5 mg/dL /<br>nephritic; reported baseline<br>CKD 38% | BIA   | InBody 720                       | Ν                      | Y        | Ν      |
| Siriopol                         | 2021 | Europe                    | Prospective cohort          | 151              | 1.7              | CHF; LVEF <45%                        | Excluded ESKD  | BIS   | Fresenius BCM                    | Y                      | Ν        | Ν      |
| Koell                            | 2017 | Europe                    | Prospective cohort          | 150              | 2                | CHF; HFpEF (LVEF>50%)                 | Included CKD   | BIS   | Fresenius BCM                    | Ν                      | Y        | Ν      |
| Soloveva                         | 2019 | Russia                    | Prospective cohort          | 149              | 0.8              | AHF                                   | Excluded ESKD; reported baseline CKD 23%                           | BIVA  | ABC-01 (Medass)                  | Ν                      | Y        | Ν      |
| Trejo-Velasco                    | 2016 | Europe                    | Prospective cohort          | 105              | 0.9              | AHF                                   | Included CKD   | BIVA  | CardioEFG (Akern)                | Ν                      | Y        | Ν      |
| Sakaguchi                        | 2020 | Asia                      | Prospective cohort          | 1005             | 0.5              | AHF                                   | Included CKD   | BIA   | Bioscan 920-2 (Maltron<br>Intl)  | Ν                      | Y        | Ν      |
| Curbelo                          | 2019 | Europe                    | Prospective cohort          | 99               | 1                | CHF                                   | Excluded dialysis  | BIA   | Bodygram (Akern)                 | Ν                      | Y        | Ν      |
| Villacorta                       | 2021 | South America             | Prospective cohort          | 80               | 0.6              | AHF                                   | Excluded dialysis (or imminent)                                    | BIVA  | EFG (Akern)                      | Ν                      | Y        | N      |
| Alves                            | 2016 | South America             | Prospective cohort          | 71               | 2                | AHF; LVEF ≤45%                        | Excluded serum creatinine >2.5 mg/dL or dialysis                   | BIA   | Biodynamics 450                  | Y                      | Ν        | Ν      |
| Di Somma                         | 2010 | Europe                    | Prospective cohort          | 51 <sup>6</sup>  | 0.3              | AHF                                   | Excluded eGFR <60  | BIVA  | NA                               | N                      | Y        | N      |

<sup>1</sup>270/381 with AHF; 111 controls. <sup>2</sup>221/336 with AHF. <sup>3</sup>130 with AHF + 60 hospitalized controls; controls used to determine predicted values ECW only, analysis is of AHF patients (not compared to controls). <sup>4</sup> 53 in case management with BIA group; 53 in case management without BIA; 53 controls (routine care). <sup>5</sup>100 with central venous catheter and therefore included in survival analysis reporting fluid overload. <sup>6</sup> 25 AHF + 26 controls.

| Author   | Year | Age, years  | Male % | eGFR,<br>mL/min/1.73m² | Urine protein                          | BMI, kg/m²     | Systolic BP,<br>mm/Hg | Primary renal<br>diagnosis, %                                       | Diabetes % | Hypertension % | Smoking % | Diuretic % | RASi % | NT-proBNP/<br>BNP pg/ml | Haemoglobin g/dL | Serum<br>albumin<br>g/dL | Serum<br>sodium<br>mmol/L or<br>mEq/L |
|----------|------|-------------|--------|------------------------|--|----------------|-----------------------|---|------------|----------------|-----------|------------|--------|-------------------------|------------------|--------------------------|---------------------------------------|
| Liu      | 2021 | 59 (9)      | 51     | 92 (69-103)*           | uACR 21.6 (7.3-80.0)<br>mg/g*          | 28 (5)         | 139 (18)              | -   | 100        | -              | -         | -          | 63     | -                       | -                | -                        | -                                     |
| Vega     | 2018 | 67 (13)     | 64     | 16 (6)                 | Urine protein 0.5 (0.2-<br>1.5) g/24h* | 28 (5)         | -                     | GN 23%; DM 19%; Vasc<br>28%; Interstitial 13%;<br>PKD 10%; Other 7% | 36         | 87             | -         | -          | -      | 840<br>(370-1810)*      | -                | 4.1 (0.4)                | -                                     |
| Hung     | 2015 | 66 (14)     | 69     | 29 (15)                | uPCR 0.9 (0.3-2.5)<br>g/g*             | 26 (4)         | 138 (17)              | -   | 45         | 46             | 21        | 33         | 59     | 242<br>(78-771)*        | -                | 3.6 (0.4)                | 136 (4)                               |
| Khan     | 2017 | 65 (6)      | 57     | 21 (9)                 | Urine protein >1 52%                   | 24 (5)         | 140 (21)              | -   | 64         | 86             | 31        | -          | 57     | -                       | -                | 4.2 (0.4)                | 139 (3)                               |
| Tsai     | 2018 | 65 (12)     | 53     | 16 (8)                 | uPCR 1.9 (2.1) mg/mg                   | 24 (4)         | 138 (19)              | -   | 39         | 81             | 18        | 22         | 53     | 262<br>(125-742)*       | 10.5 (1.8)       | 4.1 (0.4)                | -                                     |
| Schork   | 2020 | 60 (48-71)* | 55     | 47 (30-71)*            | uACR 43 (5-198)<br>mg/g*               | 28<br>(26-32)* | 134<br>(125-149)*     | GN 38%; DM/ HTN<br>33%; Interstitial 2%;<br>PKD 5%; Other 23%       | 21         | 81             | -         | 61         | 78     | 182<br>(68-613)*        | -                | -                        | -                                     |
| Kohatsu  | 2021 | 71 (12)     | 76     | 24 (11)                | Urine protein 0.9 (0.2-<br>2.2) g/24h* | 25 (5)         | 133 (16)              | GN 12%; DM 32%; Vasc 28%; Other 28%                                 | 47         | 94             | -         | 32         | 68     | -                       | 11.4 (1.8)       | 3.9 (0.5)                | -                                     |
| Caravaca | 2011 | 66 (14)     | 56     | 16 (6)                 | uACR 1.8 (2.1) mg/g                    | 30 (5)         | 159 (24)              | -   | 35         | 11†            | -         | 52         | -      | -                       | 12.0 (1.4)       | 4.1 (0.3)                | -                                     |

Limited to studies reporting characteristics for the full cohort. Baseline characteristics for entire cohort not available for Bansal, Ohashi & Esmeray studies. None of the CKD studies reported left ventricular ejection fraction or NYHA class. Data are presented as mean (SD) unless denoted by \* which indicates median (IQR). † Reported uncontrolled hypertension only.

| Author                           | Year | Age,<br>years | Male % | eGFR,<br>mL/min/<br>1.73m <sup>2</sup> | Serum<br>creatinine<br>mg/dL | BMI,<br>kg/m² | Systolic<br>BP,<br>mm/Hg | LVEF, %   | NYHA class III-IV % | Diabetes % | Hypertension % | Smoking % | Diuretic %                         | RASi %               | NT-proBNP/<br>BNP pg/ml | Haemo-<br>globin<br>g/dL | Serum<br>albumin<br>g/dL | Serum<br>sodium<br>mmol/L<br>or<br>mEq/L |
|----------------------------------|------|---------------|--------|--|------------------------------|---------------|--------------------------|---|---------------------|------------|----------------|-----------|------------------------------------|----------------------|-------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|--|
| Massari                          | 2019 | 78 (10)       | 52     | CrCl 46 (23)                           | 1.6 (1.1)                    | 28 (5)        | -                        | 44 (14)   | -                   | 24         | -              | -         | Loop 97%                           | ACEi 36%;<br>ARB 12% | 830<br>(479-1810)*      | 12.0 (2.0)               | 3.2 (0.5)                | 139 (4)                                  |
| Massari                          | 2020 | 75 (11)       | 52     | -                                      | 1.2 (0.8)                    | 28 (5)        | 130 (25)                 | Preserved = 48%<br>Mid-range = 10%<br>Reduced = 42% | 56                  | 24         | -              | -         | Loop 69%; MRA 69%                  | ACEi 39%;<br>ARB 21% | 503<br>(197-1000)*      | 13.0 (2.0)               | 3.3 (0.6)                | 139 (4)                                  |
| Di Somma†                        | 2014 | 77 (11)       | 53     | 57 (29)                                | -                            | 27 (6)        | 140 (29)                 | -   | -                   | 37         | 79             | -         | -                                  | -                    | 717 (786)               | -                        | -                        | -  |
| Nunez                            | 2014 | 73 (11)       | 50     | -                                      | 1.2 (0.5)                    | -             | 148 (35)                 | 49 (16)   | 27                  | 46         | 78             | 11        | Loop 97%; MRA 36%                  | ACEi 35%;<br>ARB 30% | 4041 (5921)             | 12.1 (1.9)               | -                        | 138 (4)                                  |
| Lyons                            | 2017 | 56 (14)       | 72     | -                                      | 1.3 (1.1)                    | 28 (6)        | 115 (19)                 | 36 (16)   | 34                  | 24         | -              | -         | MRA 52%                            | 84                   | 334 (500)               | -                        | 4.7 (4.4)                | -  |
| Santarelli,<br>EHJ Acute CV Care | 2017 | 79 (8)        | 41     | 55 (26)                                | -                            | -             | 140 (27)                 | -   | -                   | -          | -              | -         | -                                  | -                    | 859 (985)               | -                        | -                        | 138 (5)                                  |
| De Berardinis                    | 2014 | 76 (11)       | 56     | 55 (29)                                | 1.6 (1.1)                    | 29 (14)       | 150 (34)                 | -   | -                   | 45         | 78             | -         | Loop 65%; MRA 13%                  | ACEi 28%;<br>ARB 14% | 873 (1024)              | 11.9 (0.0)               | -                        | 137 (64)                                 |
| Sakaguchi                        | 2015 | 74 (11)       | 55     | 49 (24)                                | 1.2 (0.6)                    | -             | 137 (33)                 | 45 (19)   | -                   | 37         | 71             | -         | Loop 67%; MRA 31%                  | 56                   | 653 (586)               | 12.0 (2.5)               | 3.7 (0.4)                | 141 (4)                                  |
| Siriopol                         | 2021 | 67(12)        | 70     | 67 (25)                                | 1.1<br>(0.9-1.4) *           | 29 (5)        | 125 (18)                 | 33 (10)   | 48                  | 35         | 62             | 40        | -                                  | -                    | 800<br>(400-1500)*      | 13.4 (2.1)               | -                        | 137 (5)                                  |
| Soloveva                         | 2019 | 69 (12)       | 70     | 54 (44-69)*                            | 1.2<br>(1.0-1.5)             | -             | 141 (28)                 | 40 (14)   | 95                  | 41         | 93             | -         | -                                  | -                    | 4046<br>(1956-5456)*    | -                        | -                        | -  |
| Trejo-Velasco                    | 2016 | 69 (13)       | 56     | -                                      | 1.1 (0.4)                    | -             | 127 (20)                 | 39 (16)   | -                   | 44         | 78             | 49        | Loop 98%; MRA 40%                  | 76                   | 4629 (3768)             | 12.4 (1.8)               | -                        | 136 (4)                                  |
| Sakaguchi                        | 2020 | 71 (12)       | 64     | -                                      | 1.3 (0.8)                    | -             | 137 (34)                 | 43 (18)   | -                   | 38         | 70             | -         | -                                  | 63                   | 759 (599)               | -                        | -                        | -  |
| Curbelo                          | 2019 | 84 (7)        | 41     | 55 (22)                                | 1.2 (0.5)                    | 27 (6)        | 126 (20)                 | 58 (15)   | 26                  | 34         | 93             | -         | Loop 84%; MRA 53%;<br>Thiazide 18% | ACEi 35%;<br>ARB 32% | 1637 (2289)             | 12.7 (1.6)               | -                        | 140 (3)                                  |
| Alves                            | 2016 | 61 (12)       | 63     | -                                      | 1.3 (0.4)                    | -             | -                        | 26 (8)  | 100                 | -          | -              | -         | -                                  | -                    | 921<br>(545-1932)*      | 12.4 (2.0)               | 3.7 (0.5)                | 139 (4)                                  |

## Table 3-6: Baseline participant characteristics from heart failure cohorts

Limited to studies reporting characteristics for the full cohort. Baseline characteristics for entire cohort not available for Colin-Ramirez, Di Somma 2010, Koell, Liu, Santarelli & Villacorta studies. None of the heart failure studies reported urine protein. Data are presented as mean (SD) unless denoted by \* which indicates median (IQR). † Baseline characteristics are for 270 with AHF who were studied in MV regression analysis.

Baseline characteristics were reported for the entire cohort in 71% (22/31) of studies and are summarised in Table 3-2 and presented for each study in Table 3-5 and Table 3-6. Average age ranged from 56 to 84 years; average proportion of male participants was 55% in both CKD and heart failure cohorts; and diabetes and hypertension were more common in CKD cohorts than heart failure cohorts (diabetes: 45 vs 37%; and hypertension: 86 vs 78%, respectively). Ethnicity was not widely reported although studies represent wide geographical coverage. Confounding variables associated with CKD (such as albuminuria, CKD stage and measures of kidney function) were not widely reported in heart failure studies; and vice versa: baseline heart failure, left ventricular ejection fraction, New York Heart Association class and N-terminal pro B-type natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP) were not widely reported in CKD studies.

## 3.2.3 MEASUREMENT OF FLUID STATUS

Fluid status was assessed using 10 different bioimpedance parameters (6 parameters in CKD and 8 in heart failure) which are described in Table 3-7. There were no observable clear temporal trends in the parameter used by year of study publication as was reported in a review of largely dialysis populations (Tabinor et al., 2018) however clear differences exist between practice in CKD and heart failure populations. The commonest parameters applied in CKD studies were absolute and relative "Fluid Overload" (also termed overhydration) measured by the Fresenius Body Composition Monitor (BCM) device. This device was only used in 2 (10%) heart failure cohorts. Bioimpedance analysis (BIA) and bioimpedance vector analysis (BIVA) devices were more commonly used in heart failure studies in which BIVA hydration index was the most commonly reported parameter.

The majority of studies (21 studies [68%]) reported single baseline measurements as opposed to serial measurements. Serial measurements were slightly more common in heart failure (7 studies [35%]) than in CKD studies (3 studies [27%]), with serial measurements commonly recorded over short timeframes during heart failure admissions. Reports tended to select preferentially a single exposure time point for observational analyses relating fluid status to future risk of outcomes, rather than considering time-updated exposures or applying adjustment for regression dilution bias.

|   | Units                   | Method   | Represents   | Reference ranges   |
|---|-------------------------|--|--|--|
| Absolute "Fluid Overload"   | Litres                  | BIS using Fresenius Body Composition<br>Monitor (requires 3-compartment model) | Absolute measure of excess fluid volume, independent of body composition.  | Manufacturer normal range: -1.1 L to +1.1 L. Authors have<br>suggested additional threshold representing severe "Fluid<br>Overload" >+2.5 L.   |
| Relative "Fluid Overload"   | %                       | BIS using Fresenius Body Composition<br>Monitor (requires 3-compartment model) | Excess fluid volume indexed to measured ECW volume allowing for comparison between individuals.  | Not provided by manufacturer. Suggested by multiple authors:<br>normal -7% to +7%, 7-15% mild and >15% severe "Fluid<br>Overload". Approximately equal to above absolute thresholds.   |
| Reactance Xc/H  | Ohms/metre $(\Omega/M)$ | Theoretically can be derived from all BIA & BIS devices                        | Raw impedance parameter measuring obstruction to the flow of electrical current where resistance relates to extra- and   | Not applicable   |
| Resistance R/H  | Ohms/metre<br>(Ω/M)     | Theoretically can be derived from all BIA & BIS devices                        | intracellular resistance & reactance relates to the cell<br>membrane. Indexed to height in metres.   | Not applicable.  |
| Phase angle   | Degrees (°)             | Theoretically can be derived from all BIA & BIS devices                        | Derived from a vector plot of reactance against resistance<br>which describes the relationship between water resistance &<br>cell resistance. Phase angle indicates the direction of the vector. | No existing reference ranges. Lower phase angle reflects<br>higher degrees of fluid overload. Phase angle increases with<br>increasing numbers of intact cells in the body and therefore<br>also reflects other factors such as nutrition. |
| BIVA hydration index  | %                       | Theoretically can be derived from all BIA & BIS devices                        | Derived from a vector plot of reactance against resistance<br>presented as nomogram. Standard deviation ellipses are used to<br>define normal ranges.  | Dehydration <72.7%; normohydration 72.7-74.3%; fluid overload >74.3%.  |
| Extracellular water (ECW)   | Litres                  | Multifrequency BIA & BIS devices   | Volume of the extracellular water compartment.   | Dependent upon age and sex. Approximately one third of total body water volume.  |
| ECW:total body water ratio<br>(or ECW:intracellular water N<br>ratio) | NA (ratio)              | Multifrequency BIA & BIS devices   | Ratio of ECW volume to other body fluid compartments: either<br>as a fraction of the total body water volume or a ratio compared<br>to the intracellular compartment.                            | 0.36-0.39 considered normal by InBody device manufacturers.  |

## Table 3-7: Summary of bioimpedance indices of fluid status employed in included studies

## 3.2.4 ALL-CAUSE MORTALITY

Associations between fluid status and specific causes of death were not widely reported, limiting the review to all-cause mortality. Associations between fluid status and death were presented in 13 studies, 10 of which reported multivariable-adjusted estimates. Significant between-study differences in exposures and model approaches precluded meta-analysis. Considering CKD cohorts first (Table 3-8), the largest study by Bansal et al. (3751 participants) demonstrated that phase angle <5.59° (where lower phase angle represents higher degrees of fluid overload) vs  $\geq 6.4^{\circ}$  was associated with double the hazards of allcause mortality (hazard ratio [HR] 2.02, 95% confidence interval [CI] 1.67-2.43 [776 deaths]) after adjustment for age, sex, ethnicity and clinical site (Bansal et al., 2018). Studies by Tsai et al. (236 participants in the included analysis) and Vega et al. (356 participants) using BCM-derived parameters were much smaller and, perhaps as a consequence, were unable to confirm statistically significant associations consistently (Tsai et al.: adjusted HR per % relative "Fluid Overload" 1.07, 95% CI 0.99-1.14 [23 deaths]; Vega et al.: adjusted HR per L absolute "Fluid Overload" 1.10, 95% CI 0.99-1.20 & HR per % relative "Fluid Overload" 3.18, 95% CI 2.09-4.97 [113 deaths]) (Tsai et al., 2018, Vega et al., 2018).

In heart failure cohorts, the largest studies demonstrated significant positive associations between bioimpedance indices of fluid excess and all-cause mortality (Table 3-9). Massari et al. reported on 436 individuals finding BIVA hydration index >73.8% was associated with twice the risk of all-cause mortality compared to those with less fluid excess (adjusted HR 2.00, 95% CI 1.20-3.20 [92 deaths]) (Massari et al., 2020). Of note, Massari et al. included heart failure status (acute vs chronic), brain natriuretic peptide (BNP) and estimated plasma volume status (derived from haemoglobin and haematocrit, surrogate measures of intravascular volume status) in the multivariable model alongside BIVA hydration index, meaning models were estimating the relevance of total body fluid excess for a given level of intravascular status. The associations therefore estimate the relevance of excess extravascular fluid - rather than total body fluid excess - with risk. Similarly-sized cohorts studying stable chronic heart failure (Colín-Ramírez et al., 2012) and acute heart failure (Núñez et al., 2016) populations studied markers of total body fluid excess and found strong positive associations with risk of all-cause mortality, whether estimated by phase angle (Colín-Ramírez et al., 2012) or BIVA hydration index (Núñez et al., 2016).

117

|          | _          |      |                    |   | Deceline fluid                         |          |          | • -                                   |                              |          |         |          |      | C                 | ovariates  |           |                 |              |
|----------|------------|------|--------------------|---|--|----------|----------|---------------------------------------|------------------------------|----------|---------|----------|------|-------------------|--|-----------|-----------------|--------------|
| Author   | Population | Ν    | Follow-up<br>(yrs) | Fluid overload definition                                 | overload<br>Mean (SD)/<br>median (IQR) | n deaths | % deaths | Deaths/100<br>person yrs <sup>1</sup> | Analysis                     | Age      | Sex     | Diabetes | CVD  | eGFR <sup>2</sup> | Other  | HR        | 95%<br>CI<br>LL | 95%<br>CI UL |
| Bansal   | CKD        | 3751 | 7.0                | Phase angle (°)   |  |          |          |                                       | Cox MVSA                     | Х        | Х       |          |      |                   | Ethnicity, clinical site   | 2.02      | 1.67            | 2.43         |
|          |            |      |                    | Quartile 1 vs 3 & 4 combined $(<5.59 \text{ vs} \ge 6.4)$ | 6.6 (1.8) °                            | 776      | 21       | 3.0                                   | Cox MVSA                     | Х        | Х       | X        | X    | х                 | uACR, blood pressure, serum<br>albumin, clinical site, ethnicity,<br>smoking | 1.31      | 1.09            | 1.58         |
| Vega     | CKD        | 356  | 4.2                | Absolute "Fluid Overload"<br>(L)<br>Per 1 L increment     | 0.6 (-0.4 to 1.5)<br>L                 | 113      | 32       | 7.6                                   | Cox MVSA                     | Х        | -       | х        | X    | -                 | Serum albumin, Charlson<br>comorbidity, prealbumin, CRP                      | 1.10      | 0.99            | 1.20         |
|          |            |      |                    | Relative "Fluid Overload"<br>(%)<br>Per % increment       | 2.3 (0.8) %                            | 113      | 32       | 7.6                                   | Cox MVSA                     | Х        | -       | х        | X    | -                 |  | 3.18      | 2.09            | 4.97         |
| Tsai     | CKD        | 236  | 3.3                | Relative "Fluid Overload"<br>(%)<br>Per % increment       | 7.8 (8.6) %                            | 23       | 10       | 3.0                                   | Cox MVSA                     | Х        | Х       | х        | Х    | х                 | uACR, medication (ACEi, ARB, diuretic, statin), LDL                          | 1.07      | 0.99            | 1.14         |
| Caravaca | CKD        | 175  | 1.3                | Phase angle (°)<br>Per • increment                        | 5.4 (1.0) °                            | 16       | 9        | 7.0                                   | Cox MVSA                     | Not      | reporte | d        |      |                   |  | 0.49      | 0.26            | 0.92         |
| Ohashi   | CKD        | 149  | 4.9                | ECW:ICW; assumed per increment (not specified)            | NA                                     | 25       | 17       | 3.4                                   | Cox MVSA                     | Х        | -       | Х        | -    | Х                 | -  | 1.29      | 1.11            | 1.50         |
| Esmeray  | CKD        | 100  | 1.0                | Absolute "Fluid Overload"<br>(L)<br>>0 L vs <0 L          | NA                                     | 10       | 10       | 10.0                                  | Univariable o<br>quantified) | only: Ka | aplan-N | Meier.   | Cumu | lative            | survival significantly greater in ≤0L vs                                     | >0L, p=0. | 003 (not        |              |

## Table 3-8: Associations between fluid excess and risk of all-cause mortality in CKD cohorts

Lower phase angle indicates higher degrees of fluid overload. BIVA hydration index (%) ranges are based on standardised plots: hyperhydration >74.3%, normohydration 72.7-74.3%, dehydration <72.7%. Where more than one multivariable model is presented with different levels of adjustment, the preferred model is highlighted in bold. <sup>1</sup> Event rate calculated for all studies from N, n and follow-up in years. <sup>2</sup> eGFR or other measure of kidney function.

| Table 3-9: Associations between fluid excess and | l risk of all-cause mortality in heart failure cohorts |
|--|--|
|--|--|

|                                     | _          |     |                    |   | Dansling florid                        |                 |          |                          |                          |         |         |          |        |                   | Covariates   |           |                 |              |
|-------------------------------------|------------|-----|--------------------|---|--|-----------------|----------|--------------------------|--------------------------|---------|---------|----------|--------|-------------------|--|-----------|-----------------|--------------|
| Author                              | Population | N   | Follow-up<br>(yrs) | Fluid overload definition   | overload<br>Mean (SD)/<br>median (IQR) | n deaths        | % deaths | Deaths/100<br>person yrs | Analysis                 | Age     | Sex     | Diabetes | CVD    | eGFR <sup>2</sup> | Other  | HR        | 95%<br>CI<br>LL | 95%<br>CI UL |
| Massari,<br>2020                    | HF         | 436 | 1.3                | BIVA hydration index (%) categories; >73.8%   | 73.7<br>(73.1-76.8) %                  | 92              | 21       | 16.2                     | Cox MVSA                 | -       | -       | -        | -      | X                 | Acute vs chronic heart failure, BNP,<br>estimated plasma volume status<br>(based upon haematocrit/<br>haemoglobin) | 2.00      | 1.20            | 3.20         |
| Colin-Ramirez                       | HF         | 389 | 3.0                | Phase angle (∘)<br>Quartile 1 vs 4 (<4.2 vs ≥5.7)   | 5.0 (NA) ° <sup>3</sup>                | 66              | 17       | 5.7                      | Cox MVSA                 | Х       | -       | Х        | -      | -                 | Haemoglobin  | 3.08      | 1.06            | 8.99         |
| Nunez                               | HF         | 369 | 1.0                | BIVA hydration index (%) >74.3% vs 72.7-74.3%   | 73.6<br>(73.0-76.2) %                  | 80              | 22       | 21.7                     | Cox MVSA                 | Not 1   | reporte | ed in m  | ain pu | blica             | tion   | 2.08      | 1.21            | 3.58         |
| Santarelli,<br>EHJ Acute CV<br>Care | HF         | 336 | 0.3                | R/H, Xc/H Ω/m & BIVA<br>hydration index (%); dR/H =<br>change admission-discharge<br>(median dR/H 11 Ω/m) | Xc/H:<br>36 (14) Ω/m                   | 33 <sup>4</sup> | 15       | 49.8                     | Cox<br>MVSA <sup>5</sup> | "dR/    | H was   | associ   | ated v | vith b            | etter prognosis (hydration index 0.417, p  | <0.01)"5  |                 |              |
| De Berardinis                       | HF         | 194 | 1.5                | BIVA phase angle (°)<br>Per • increment   | 4.4 (1.7) °                            | 47              | 24       | 16.2                     | Univariable o            | only: R | OC. A   | UC for   | death  | at 30             | 0 days: 0.64 (p=0.01) & 18 months: 0.86 (  | (p<0.001) | , cut-off 1     | not given    |
| Siriopol                            | HF         | 151 | 1.7                | Absolute "Fluid Overload"<br>(L)<br>Per 1L increment  | 1.1 (2.8) L                            | 53              | 35       | 20.7                     | Univariable<br>only: Cox | -       | -       | -        | -      | -                 | -  | 1.11      | 1.02            | 1.19         |
|                                     |            |     |                    | Relative "Fluid Overload"<br>(%)<br>Per % increment   | 4.8 (13.5) %                           | 53              | 35       | 20.7                     | Univariable<br>only: Cox | -       | -       | -        | -      | -                 | -  | 1.02      | 1.01            | 1.04         |
| Alves                               | HF         | 71  | 2.0                | Phase angle (°)<br><4.8 vs >4.8   | 5.6 (2.1) °                            | 29              | 41       | 20.4                     | Cox MVSA                 | Х       | -       | -        | -      | Х                 | Left ventricular ejection fraction   | 2.67      | 1.21            | 5.89         |

<sup>1</sup> Event rate calculated for all studies from N, n and follow-up in years. <sup>2</sup> eGFR or other measure of kidney function. <sup>3</sup> 50th percentile = 5.0 °; IQR not reported. <sup>4</sup> 33 deaths in 221 with AHF out of total 336 cohort (115 controls). <sup>5</sup> Cox MVSA results are not presented in tabular form; dR/H is the difference between R/H at admission & discharge however these results cannot be meaningfully interpreted.

## 3.2.5 CARDIOVASCULAR OUTCOMES

Of the 5 CKD studies reporting relevant cardiovascular/composite outcomes, the largest study reported 48% (HR 1.48, 95% CI 1.15-1.91) increased hazards of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (420 events, defined as incident myocardial infarction, ischaemic stroke or peripheral arterial disease) and 80% (HR 1.80, 95% CI 1.46-2.23) increased hazards of heart failure events (581 events, not dependent on hospitalisation; see Table 3-10 footnote for definition) for participants with phase angle <5.59° (indicating higher level of fluid overload) vs  $\geq 6.4^{\circ}$  and after adjustment for age, sex, ethnicity and clinical site (Bansal et al., 2018). Notably, when additional variables such as albuminuria, blood pressure and serum albumin were added to the models – all factors which may mediate any causal effect between fluid overload and adverse outcomes – the associations were substantially attenuated suggesting these factors have key mediating contributions. Studies by Hung et al. and Tsai et al. also reported significantly increased risk of composite cardiovascular morbidity and mortality outcomes associated with "Fluid Overload" measured by the Fresenius BCM device, but were based on relatively small numbers of events (47 and 48 events, respectively) (Tsai et al., 2018, Hung et al., 2015). Vega et al. reported only univariable analyses (Vega et al., 2018) and the final study by Ohashi et al. found a significant association between fluid excess (using ECW:ICW) and risk of allcause hospitalisations (83 events) but not for the smaller number of cardiovascular outcomes (18 outcomes) (Ohashi et al., 2015).

Associations with composite cardiovascular outcomes were reported in 16 heart failure studies, 7 of which reported multivariable Cox regression analyses, a further 4 reported other multivariable regression analyses and 5 reported only univariable associations (Table 3-11). Composite cardiovascular outcomes in both CKD and heart failure cohorts commonly included death (all-cause, cardiovascular or cardiac) and heart failure hospitalisation. CKD studies also often reported nonfatal myocardial infarction and stroke in cardiovascular composites. Substantial between-study differences in exposure definitions, modelling, +/- outcome definitions again precluded statistical aggregation of study results. Considering individual heart failure studies, 6 of the 7 studies which reported multivariable Cox models included hospitalisation for heart failure in their composite cardiovascular outcome. Despite less than 100 of such outcomes in each study, all 6 reported statistically significant positive associations between increased baseline fluid overload assessed by a variety of parameters (BIVA hydration index in 3 studies; ECW

120

volume/ratio in 2 studies; and relative "Fluid Overload" in 1 study) and risk of these cardiovascular outcomes. The seventh study (Lyons et al., 2017) reported on a composite of death, urgent transplant or ventricular assist device implantation and found no significant association between the ratio of ECW-to-total body water (TBW) >0.39 vs  $\leq$ 0.39 (adjusted HR 1.21, 95% CI 0.51-2.90, 56 outcomes). Adjustment for BNP and heart failure symptoms in this and other studies may result in models underestimating any causal relevance of associations, and for the majority of studies, it was not possible to find less adjusted models which are more relevant to the aetiological scientific focus of this systematic review.

## 3.2.6 PROGRESSION OF CKD

Progression to kidney replacement therapy initiation was reported in 4 studies with a further 4 incorporating this into a composite outcome using percentage eGFR decline (Table 3-12). Two studies also included eGFR slope analyses (Tsai et al., 2018, Hung et al., 2015). The largest studies consistently report increased risk of composite kidney outcomes associated with fluid overload defined by absolute/relative "Fluid Overload" or phase angle (Table 3-12).

|        |      |                 |   | De estis   |  |            |            | uos                                  |       | Even        | ts inc          | luded in<br>defii | CV e                  | vent/N     | MAC               | E     |                                 |                   |                   |                   | C                | Covai             | riates   |               |                 |              |
|--------|------|-----------------|---|--|--|------------|------------|--------------------------------------|-------|-------------|-----------------|-------------------|-----------------------|------------|-------------------|-------|---------------------------------|-------------------|-------------------|-------------------|------------------|-------------------|--|---------------|-----------------|--------------|
| Author | N    | Follow-up (yrs) | Fluid overload<br>definition                                    | fluid<br>overload<br>Mean (SD)/<br>median<br>(IQR) | Outcome definition                             | n outcomes | % outcomes | Outcomes/100 per<br>yrs <sup>1</sup> | Death | Nonfatal MI | Nonfatal stroke | Angina            | Heart failure         | Arrhythmia | Arrnyunmia<br>PVD | Other | Analysis                        | Age               | Sex               | Diabetes          | CVD              | eGFR <sup>2</sup> | Other  | HR            | 95%<br>CI<br>LL | 95%<br>CI UL |
| Bansal | 3751 | 7.0             | Phase angle (°);  | 6.6 (1.8) °  | (1) Atherosclerotic                            | 420        | 11         | 1.6                                  |       | v           | V               |                   |                       |            | v                 |       | Cox MVSA                        | X                 | x                 |                   |                  |                   | Ethnicity, site  | 1.48          | 1.15            | 1.91         |
|        |      |                 | quartile 1 vs<br>quartiles 3 & 4                                |  | CV disease                                     | 420        | 11         | 1.0                                  | -     | А           | л               |                   | -                     | -          | А                 |       | Cox MVSA                        | Х                 | Х                 | Х                 | Х                | Х                 | uACR, BP, albumin, site, ethnicity, smoking              | 1.12          | 0.86            | 1.45         |
|        |      |                 | combined ( $<5.59$ vs $\geq 6.4$ )                              |  | (2) Heart failure                              | 501        | 15         | 2.2                                  |       |             |                 |                   | <b>V</b> <sup>3</sup> |            |                   |       | Cox MVSA                        | X                 | x                 |                   |                  |                   | Ethnicity, site  | 1.80          | 1.46            | 2.23         |
|        |      |                 |   |  | events <sup>3</sup>                            | 381        | 15         | 2.2                                  | -     | -           | -               |                   | X.                    | -          | -                 | -     | Cox MVSA                        | Х                 | х                 | Х                 | Х                | х                 | uACR, BP, albumin, site, ethnicity, smoking              | 1.03          | 0.82            | 1.29         |
| Vega   | 356  | 4.2             | Absolute (L) &<br>relative "Fluid<br>Overload" (%) <sup>4</sup> | 0.6 (-0.4-1.5)<br>L<br>2.3 (0.8) %                 | CV events                                      | 1505       | 42         | 10.0                                 | -     | Х           | х               |                   | X <sup>6</sup>        | -          | Х                 | -     | Univariable lo<br>Overload" and | gistic 1<br>assum | egress<br>ie ther | ion; 1<br>efore 1 | ot rep<br>ot inc | orted             | in table, text suggests no sign<br>in MVSA               | nificant asso | ociation with   | ı "Fluid     |
| Hung   | 338  | 2.1             | Abashuta "Thuid   |  | Composite CV                                   |            |            |                                      |       |             |                 |                   |                       |            |                   |       | Cox MVSA                        | x                 | X                 |                   |                  |                   |  | 1.42          | 1.25            | 1.62         |
|        |      |                 | Overload" (L); per  | NA   | morbidity &                                    | 47         | 14         | 6.6                                  | х     | Х           | -               | Х -               | $\mathbf{X}^7$        | -          | -                 | -     | Cox MVSA                        | Х                 | х                 | Х                 | Х                |                   | BP, medication (ACEi, ARB)                               | 1.28          | 1.09            | 1.50         |
|        |      |                 |   |  | monanty  |            |            |                                      |       |             |                 |                   |                       |            |                   |       | Cox MVSA                        | Х                 | Х                 | Х                 | Х                | Х                 | uACR, BP, medication<br>(ACEi/ARB/diuretic)              | 1.25          | 1.04            | 1.51         |
|        |      |                 | Pelative "Fluid   |  | Composite CV                                   |            |            |                                      |       |             |                 |                   |                       |            |                   |       | Cox MVSA                        | x                 | X                 |                   |                  |                   |  | 6.22          | 2.78            | 13.92        |
|        |      |                 | Overload" (%); $\geq 7\%$                                       | 8.3 (8.6) %  | morbidity &                                    | 47         | 14         | 6.6                                  | х     | Х           | -               | Х -               | $\mathbf{X}^7$        | -          | -                 | -     | Cox MVSA                        | Х                 | Х                 | Х                 | Х                |                   | BP, medication (ACEi, ARB)                               | 3.84          | 1.68            | 8.76         |
|        |      |                 | VS < 7 70   |  | mortanty                                       |            |            |                                      |       |             |                 |                   |                       |            |                   |       | Cox MVSA                        | Х                 | Х                 | Х                 | Х                | Х                 | uACR, BP, medication<br>(ACEi, ARB)                      | 2.71          | 1.14            | 6.48         |
| Tsai   | 236  | 3.3             | Relative "Fluid   |  | (1) CV events<br>(MACE)                        | 31         | 13         | 4.0                                  | -     | Х           | х               | х -               | X <sup>7</sup>        | Х          | <b>X</b> -        | -     | Cox MVSA                        | x                 | х                 | X                 | Х                | х                 | uACR, medication<br>(ACEi, ARB, statin<br>diuretic), LDL | 1.07          | 1.02            | 1.13         |
|        |      |                 | Overload" (%); per<br>% increment                               | 7.8 (8.6) %  | (2) Composite<br>MACE & all-cause<br>mortality | 48         | 20         | 6.2                                  | X     | X           | x               | Х -               | X <sup>7</sup>        | X          | ζ -               | -     | Cox MVSA                        | х                 | х                 | x                 | х                | x                 | uACR, medication<br>(ACEi, ARB, statin<br>diuretic), LDL | 1.08          | 1.03            | 1.13         |
| Ohashi | 149  | 4.9             | ECW:ICW; assumed  | NA   | (1) CV events                                  | 18         | 12         | 2.5                                  | -     | Х           | Х               | - X               | <b>X</b> <sup>7</sup> | -          | -                 | -     | Cox MVSA                        | Х                 | -                 | -                 | -                | Х                 | uACR, BP   | 1.12          | 0.93            | 1.31         |
|        |      |                 | specified)  | INA  | (2) Hospitalisation<br>(all-cause)             | 83         | 56         | 11.4                                 | -     | -           | -               |                   | -                     | -          | -                 | Х     | Cox MVSA                        | х                 | -                 | -                 | -                | х                 | uACR, BP   | 1.18          | 1.08            | 1.28         |

#### Table 3-10: Associations between fluid excess and risk of cardiovascular outcomes in CKD cohorts

Lower phase angle indicates higher degrees of fluid overload. Where more than one multivariable model is presented with different levels of adjustment, the preferred model is highlighted in bold. <sup>1</sup> Event rate calculated for all studies from N, n and follow-up in years. <sup>2</sup> eGFR or other measure of kidney function. <sup>3</sup> "Heart failure events were determined based on clinical symptoms, radiographic evidence of pulmonary edema, physical examination of the heart and lungs, central venous hemodynamic monitoring data, and echocardiographic imaging in hospitalized patients based on the Framingham35 and ALLHAT36 criteria". <sup>4</sup> Unclear which was used in CV event analysis, both are analysed as continuous variables in all-cause mortality analysis. <sup>5</sup> 150 participants experienced an event – total number of events not reported. <sup>6</sup> Heart failure defined as "presence of acute pulmonary oedema and an echocardiogram with ventricular systolic dysfunction and left ventricular ejection fraction <45" – does not specify hospitalisation required. <sup>7</sup> Hospitalisation for heart failure.

| Table 3-11: Associations betw | veen fluid excess a | nd risk of cardiovascul | ar outcomes in heart failure cohorts |
|-------------------------------|---------------------|-------------------------|--------------------------------------|
|-------------------------------|---------------------|-------------------------|--------------------------------------|

|                                  |                   | s)            |   | Baseline   |   |                 |            |   | Outcome<br>summary |                  |       |   |                              |                              | С                        | ovaria                 | ates          | _   |                              |                              |                        |
|----------------------------------|-------------------|---------------|---|--|---|-----------------|------------|---|--------------------|------------------|-------|---|------------------------------|------------------------------|--------------------------|------------------------|---------------|---|------------------------------|------------------------------|------------------------|
| Author                           | N                 | Follow-up (yr | Fluid overload<br>definition  | fluid<br>overload<br>Mean (SD)/<br>median<br>(IQR) | Outcome definition  | n outcomes      | % outcomes | Outcomes/100<br>person yrs <sup>1</sup> | Death              | Heart<br>failure | Other | Analysis  | Age                          | Sex                          | Diabetes                 | CVD                    | $eGFR^2$      | Other   | HR/<br>OR                    | 95%<br>CI<br>LL              | 95%<br>CI UL           |
| Massari, 2019                    | 706               | 0.02          | BIVA HI (%), assumed<br>per increment – not stated                  | 77.7 (5.8) %                                       | Length of stay<br>Median 7.5 (7.4-8.1) days               | NA              | NA         | NA                                      | -                  | -                | х     | MV linear regression  | -                            | -                            | -                        | -                      | х             | BNP, NYHA,<br>haemoglobin,<br>oedema                                | β 0.183                      | (p<0.001)                    |                        |
| Di Somma, 2014                   | 381 <sup>3</sup>  | 0.1           | BIVA HI (%)<br>>74.3% vs ≤74.3%                                     | 81.2 (6.7) %                                       | CV death <sup>4</sup> or hospitalisation                  | 97              | 36         | 359.3                                   | Х                  | -                | Х     | MV logistic<br>regression   | Х                            | -                            | -                        | -                      | Х             | BP  | 1.96                         | 1.05                         | 3.66                   |
| Nunez                            | 369               | 1.0           | BIVA HI (%)<br>Per increment  | 73.6 (73.0-<br>76.2) %                             | HHF   | 93              | 25         | 25.2                                    | -                  | х                | -     | Cox MVSA;<br>Fine & Gray <sup>5</sup>                                     | Not                          | repo                         | rted                     |                        |               |   | 1.06                         | 1.03                         | 1.10                   |
| Lyons                            | 359               | 2.1           | ECW:TBW<br>>0.39 vs ≤0.39 <sup>6</sup>                              | NA   | Death, urgent transplant, or<br>VAD                       | 56              | 16         | 7.4                                     | Х                  | -                | Х     | Cox MVSA  | Х                            | Х                            | Х                        | -                      | Х             | BMI, HF aetiology,<br>NYHA, BNP                                     | 1.21                         | 0.51                         | 2.90                   |
| Santarelli,<br>EHJ Acute CV Care | 3367              | 0.3           | R/H, Xc/H Ω/m & BIVA<br>HI (%); per increment                       | Xc/H: 36<br>(14) Ω/m                               | Death or hospitalisation<br>(presumed all-cause)          | 74              | 33         | 111.6                                   | х                  | -                | х     | Univariable only Meth<br>analyses cannot be clea<br>p=0.04 however cut-of | hods s<br>arly in<br>ff valu | state C<br>nterpre<br>ne not | Cox M<br>eted (<br>giver | IVSA ·<br>ORs &<br>1). | not re<br>ROC | ported for death/rehospit<br>analysis reported stating              | alisation out<br>Xc predicts | come; univa<br>events with a | riable<br>in AUC 0.56, |
| Santarelli,<br>Intern Emerg Med  | 292               | 0.3           | BIVA HI (%), assumed<br>per increment (not stated)                  | NA   | CV death <sup>4</sup>                                     | 36              | 12         | 41.1                                    | х                  | -                | -     | MV regression <sup>8</sup>  | Х                            | -                            | -                        | -                      |               | BNP, R, Xc, rales   | 1.10                         | 0.97                         | 1.25                   |
| De Berardinis                    | 194               | 1.5           | Phase angle (°)<br>Per ° increment                                  | 4.4 (1.7) °  | (1) Death or rehospitalisation<br>at 30 days <sup>9</sup> | 40 <sup>9</sup> | 21         | 13.7                                    | х                  | -                | Х     | MV regression9  | Х                            | -                            | -                        | -                      | Х             | Beta blocker use,<br>WCC, galectin-3                                | β -1.46                      | 2 (p<0.03)                   |                        |
|                                  |                   |               | BIVA HI (%)<br>Per increment  | 79.4 (6.6) %                                       | (2) Death or rehospitalisation<br>at 30 days <sup>9</sup> | 40 <sup>9</sup> | 21         | 13.7                                    | Х                  | -                | Х     | MV regression9  | Х                            | -                            | -                        | -                      | Х             | Beta blocker use,<br>WCC, galectin-3                                | β 0.103                      | (p≥0.05)                     |                        |
| Sakaguchi, 2015                  | 190 <sup>10</sup> | 0.5           | ECW (L) measured/<br>predicted at discharge;<br>per 0.1 unit        | 15.0 (5.5) L                                       | Cardiac death <sup>11</sup> or HHF                        | 37              | 28         | 56.9                                    | Х                  | х                | -     | Cox MVSA  | Not                          | repo                         | rted                     |                        |               |   | 1.48                         | 1.20                         | 1.83                   |
| Liu                              | 159 <sup>12</sup> | 0.5           | ECW:TBW pre-<br>discharge <sup>12</sup> ; per 0.001<br>increment    | 0.39 (0.01)  | HF events (death or hospitalisation)                      | 1012            | 9          | 18.9                                    | x                  | Х                | -     | Cox MVSA  | Х                            | -                            | -                        | -                      | х             | Allocation,<br>haemoglobin, uric<br>acid, sodium,<br>NYHA, ACEi/ARB | 1.06                         | 1.02                         | 1.10                   |
| Koell                            | 150               | 2.0           | Relative "Fluid<br>Overload" (%); ≥7% vs<br><7%                     | NA   | Cardiac death or HHF                                      | 51              | 34         | 17.0                                    | X                  | x                | -     | Cox MVSA  | X                            | х                            | x                        | -                      | -             | BMI, 6-minute<br>walking distance,<br>NT-proBNP, AF                 | 3.09                         | 1.68                         | 5.68                   |
| Soloveva                         | 149               | 0.8           | BIVA "congestion status   | 70 5 (6 5) %                                       | (1) All-cause death or heart<br>transplant                | 29              | 19         | 24.3                                    | Х                  | -                | Х     | Univariable only: C   | Cox                          |                              |                          |                        |               |   | 1.73                         | 1.23                         | 2.45                   |
|                                  |                   |               | (hydration index)   | 79.5 (0.5) /0                                      | (2) All-cause death, heart<br>transplant, HHF             | 60              | 40         | 50.3                                    | х                  | Х                | Х     | Univariable only: C   | Cox                          |                              |                          |                        |               |   | 1.40                         | 1.10                         | 1.79                   |
| Trejo-Velasco                    | 105               | 0.9           | BIVA HI (%); HI (<72.7<br>& >74.3%) vs 72.7-<br>74.3% <sup>13</sup> | NA   | All-cause death or HHF                                    | 37              | 35         | 39.2                                    | х                  | х                | -     | Cox MVSA  | Х                            | -                            | -                        | -                      | х             | AF  | 2.60                         | 1.05                         | 6.44                   |
| Sakaguchi, 2020                  | 10014             | 0.5           | ECW (L), assumed per<br>increment (not stated)                      | 15.3 (6.9) L                                       | Cardiac death <sup>11</sup> or HF<br>readmission          | 27              | 27         | 54.0                                    | Х                  | х                | -     | Univariable only: C   | Cox                          |                              |                          |                        |               |   | 0.96                         | 0.89                         | 1.04                   |
| Curbelo                          | 99                | 1.0           | Phase angle (°)   | 3.8 (1.5) °  | HF events (death or hospitalisation)                      | 36              | 36         | 36.4                                    | Х                  | х                | -     | Univariable only: R   | OC.                          | AUC                          | C 57.                    | 0 95%                  | CI 4          | 3.2-70.8 <sup>15</sup>  |                              |                              |                        |
| Villacorta                       | 80                | 0.6           | BIVA HI (%) categories<br>>74.3% at discharge                       | NA   | Cardiac death <sup>11</sup> or HF<br>hospitalisation      | 27              | 34         | 56.3                                    | Х                  | х                | -     | Cox MVSA  | Х                            | х                            | -                        | -                      | Х             | BNP, NGAL   | 1.39                         | 1.25                         | 1.54                   |
| Di Somma, 2010                   | 5116              | 0.3           | BIVA HI (%); cut-off<br>>80.5%                                      | 79.0 (6.0) %                                       | Death or rehospitalisation for cardiogenic event          | NA              | NA         | NA                                      | Х                  | -                | Х     | Univariable only: R   | ROC.                         | Sens                         | itivit                   | ty 229                 | 6, spe        | cificity 94%, p=0.04  | (no AUC)                     |                              |                        |

Lower phase angle indicates higher degrees of fluid overload. BIVA hydration index (%) ranges are based on standardised plots: hyperhydration >74.3%, normohydration 72.7-74.3%, dehydration <72.7%.<sup>1</sup> Event rate calculated for all studies from N, n and follow-up in years.<sup>2</sup> or other measure of kidney function.<sup>3</sup> 270/381 with AHF; 111 controls.<sup>4</sup> Not defined.<sup>5</sup> Unclear if HR from Cox or Fine & Gray analysis.<sup>6</sup> Manufacturer reference.<sup>7</sup> 221/336 with AHF.<sup>8</sup> Unclear analysis method.<sup>9</sup> 10 deaths + 30 rehospitalisations at 30 days; death and rehospitalisation are assumed to be all-cause; unclear analysis methods. <sup>10</sup> 130 with AHF + 60 hospitalised controls used to determine predicted values ECW only (not comparison). <sup>11</sup> Death from HF, MI, sudden cardiac death. <sup>12</sup> 53 with BIA; 53 case management without BIA; 53 controls (routine care). <sup>13</sup> Dehydrated and hyperhydrated groups combined in MVSA; HR not reported for hyperhydrated alone. <sup>14</sup> 100 with central venous catheter and therefore included in survival analysis reporting fluid overload. <sup>15</sup> Cut-off value not given. <sup>16</sup> 25 AHF + 26 controls.

|         |      |                 |   |  |   |            |            | Outcome           5                  |           |          |        |                        |          | Co     | ovaria   | ates   |                   | _      |        |  |            |              |                 |
|---------|------|-----------------|---|--|---|------------|------------|--------------------------------------|-----------|----------|--------|------------------------|----------|--------|----------|--------|-------------------|--------|--------|--|------------|--------------|-----------------|
| Author  | Ν    | Follow-up (yrs) | Fluid overload definition   | Baseline fluid<br>overload<br>Mean (SD)/<br>median (IQR) | Outcome definition  | n outcomes | % outcomes | Outcomes/100 pei<br>yrs <sup>1</sup> | Composite | KRT/ESKD | A eGFR | Analysis               | Age      | Sex    | Diabetes | CVD    | eGFR <sup>2</sup> | uACR   | BP     | Other  | HR/<br>OR  | 95%<br>CI LL | 95%<br>CI<br>UL |
| Bansal  | 3751 | 7.0             | Phase angle (°)   |  | >30% eGER decline or  |            |            |                                      |           |          |        | Cox MVSA               | X        | X      |          |        |                   |        |        | Ethnicity, clinical<br>site                            | 1.78       | 1.56         | 2.04            |
|         |      |                 | Quartile 1 vs quartiles 3 & 4 combined ( $<5.59 \text{ vs} \ge 6.4$ ) | 6.6 (1.8) °  | ESKD (KRT)  | 1597       | 43         | 6.1                                  | Х         | -        | -      | Cox MVSA               | Х        | X      | X        | X      | Х                 | Х      | Х      | Serum albumin;<br>ethnicity, clinical<br>site, smoking | 0.99       | 0.86         | 1.14            |
| Liu     | 1065 | 8.6             | Absolute "Fluid Overload"<br>(L): Tertiles: tertile 3 vs              | 13(06-19)L   | Worsening KDIGO CKD<br>category (eGFR) and                  | 465        | 44         | 51                                   | x         |          | _      | Cox MVSA               | X        | X      | •        | -      | -                 | -      | -      | Ethnicity  | 1.94       | 1.54         | 2.46            |
|         |      |                 | tertile 1   | 110 (010 11)/2   | $\geq 25\%$ eGFR decline                                    | 105        |            | 0.1                                  |           |          |        | Cox MVSA               | X        | X      | Х        |        | Х                 | Х      | Х      | medication (RASi)                                      | 1.45       | 1.14         | 1.85            |
|         |      |                 | Relative "Fluid Overload"   | 10.2   | category (eGFR) and   | 465        | 44         | 5.1                                  | Х         | -        | -      | Cox MVSA               | <u>X</u> | X      | -        | -      | -                 | -      | -      | Ethnicity<br>HbA1c, BMI.                               | 1.59       | 1.30         | 1.95            |
| Hung    | 220  | 2.1             | $(70); 770 \text{ VS} \le 770$  | (4.8-14.4) %   | ≥25% eGFR decline   |            |            |                                      |           |          |        | Cox MVSA               | X        | X      | Х        |        | Х                 | Х      | Х      | medication (RASi)                                      | 1.29       | 1.05         | 1.59            |
| nung    | 338  | 2.1             | Absolute "Fluid Overload"   | NA   | $(1) \ge 50\%$ eGFR decline or ESKD requiring chronic       | 100        | 30         | 14.1                                 | v         |          |        | Cox MVSA<br>Cox MVSA   | X        | A<br>X | Х        | Х      |                   |        | X      | Medication (ACEi,                                      | 1.34       | 1.14         | 1.45            |
|         |      |                 | Per 1L increment  | NA   | dialysis  | 100        | 50         | 14.1                                 | л         | -        | -      | Cox MVSA               | x        | x      | x        | x      | x                 | x      | x      | ARB)<br>Medication (ACEi,                              | 1.25       | 1.11         | 1 41            |
|         |      |                 |   |  |   |            |            |                                      |           |          |        | Cox MVSA               | x        | x      |          |        |                   |        |        | ARB)   | 4.56       | 2.83         | 7.36            |
|         |      |                 | Dalativa "Elvid Overlagd"   |  | (1) ≥50% eGFR decline or<br>ESKD requiring chronic          | 100        | 30         | 14.1                                 | v         |          |        | Cox MVSA               | X        | х      | х        | Х      |                   |        | Х      | Medication (ACEi,                                      | 3.63       | 2.20         | 5.99            |
|         |      |                 | (%); ≥7% vs <7%   | 8.3 (8.6) %  | dialysis  | 100        | 50         | 14.1                                 | Λ         | -        | -      | Cox MVSA               | Х        | Х      | Х        | Х      | Х                 | Х      | Х      | Medication (ACEi,                                      | 2.44       | 1.44         | 4.13            |
|         |      |                 |   |  | (2) eGFR slope analysis                                     | NA         | NA         | NA                                   | -         | -        | Х      | NA                     | Sig      | nifica | ntly     | great  | er eG             | FR de  | ecline | $in \ge 7\% vs < 7\%^3$                                |            |              |                 |
| Khan    | 312  | 1.0             | ECW (L); assume per increment (not reported)                          | 16.7 (3.7) L   | KRT initiation  | 36         | 12         | 11.5                                 | -         | Х        | -      | MV logistic regression | х        | Х      | х        | -      | Х                 | х      | х      | Medication<br>(ACEi/ARB/<br>diuretic)                  | 3.25       | 1.42         | 1.184           |
| Tsai    | 236  | 3.3             | Relative "Fluid Overload"<br>(%); >7% vs ≤7%                          | 7.8 (8.6) %  | (1) Dialysis initiation                                     | 129        | 55         | 16.6                                 | -         | Х        | -      | Cox MVSA               | х        | Х      | х        | х      | Х                 | х      | -      | Medication (ACEi,<br>ARB, diuretic,<br>statin), LDL    | 1.53       | 1.02         | 2.28            |
|         |      |                 |   |  | (2) Rapid eGFR decline<br>>3ml/min/1.73m <sup>2</sup> /year | 88         | 37         | 11.3                                 | -         | -        | Х      | MV logistic regression | Х        | X      | Х        | X      | Х                 | х      | -      | Medication (ACEi,<br>ARB, diuretic,<br>statin), LDL    | 2.89       | 1.51         | 4.45            |
|         |      |                 |   |  | (3) eGFR slope analysis                                     | NA         | NA         | NA                                   | -         | -        | Х      | NA. Significa          | intly gi | eater  | eGF      | R de   | eline             | in >7  | % vs   | ≤7% <sup>5</sup>                                       |            |              |                 |
| Kohatsu | 194  | 1.4             | ECW:TBW<br>> median (0.48)  | 0.48 (0.04)  | ≥30% eGFR decline or<br>ESKD (KRT or death)                 | 107        | 55         | 39.4                                 | Х         | -        | -      | Cox MVSA (fi           | gure o   | nly, I | HR n     | ot rep | ortec             | l). "N | o sigi | nificant difference" h                                 | igh vs low | ECW:TBV      | V groups        |
| Schork  | 177  | 5.9             | Absolute "Fluid Overload"<br>(L); Per 1L increment                    | 0.2<br>(-0.5 to 1.2) L                                   | Progression to ESKD with KRT initiation                     | 33         | 19         | 3.2                                  | -         | Х        | -      | Cox MVSA               | -        | -      | х        | -      | х                 | х      | Х      | NT-proBNP  | 1.24       | 0.83         | 1.90            |
|         |      |                 | Absolute "Fluid Overload"<br>(L); >1L vs ≤1L                          |  | Progression to ESKD with KRT initiation                     | 33         | 19         | 3.2                                  | -         | Х        | -      | Cox MVSA               | -        | -      | X        | -      | Х                 | X      | X      | NT-proBNP  | 3.32       | 1.26         | 8.76            |
| Ohashi  | 149  | 4.9             | ECW:ICW; assumed per increment (not specified)                        | NA   | ≥50% eGFR decline or<br>KRT initiation                      | 52         | 35         | 7.1                                  | X         | -        | -      | Cox MVSA               | х        | -      | х        | -      | х                 | х      | Х      |  | 1.15       | 1.03         | 1.26            |
| Esmeray | 100  | 1.0             | Absolute "Fluid Overload"<br>(L)<br>>0.5L vs ≤0.5L                    | NA   | ESKD requiring chronic dialysis                             | 14         | 14         | 14.0                                 | -         | Х        | -      | MV logistic regression | Not      | repo   | rted     |        |                   |        |        |  | 1.76       | 1.20         | 2.57            |

## Table 3-12: Associations between fluid excess and risk of kidney disease progression

Lower phase angle indicates higher degrees of fluid overload. Where more than one multivariable model is presented with different levels of adjustment, the preferred model is highlighted in bold. <sup>1</sup> Event rate calculated for all studies from N, n and years follow-up. <sup>2</sup> or other kidney function measure. <sup>3</sup> eGFR slope  $\geq$ 7% vs <7%: -4.3 [-12.6, 1.2] vs -1.7 [-7.8, 2.7] mL/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup>/year; p<0.05. <sup>4</sup> Assume error in the UL reported. <sup>5</sup> eGFR slope presented overlal & in 4 groups based upon "Fluid Overload"  $\leq$ 7% NT-proBNP s median -1.6(-2.9,-0.9); "Fluid Overload"  $\leq$ 7% NT-proBNP s median -1.6(-2.9,-0.9); "Fluid Overload"  $\geq$ 7% NT-proBNP s median -2.6(-5.4,-1.0); "Fluid Overload"  $\leq$ 7% NT-proBNP s median -1.6(-2.9,-0.9); "Fluid Overload"  $\geq$ 7% NT-proBNP s median -2.6(-5.4,-1.0); "Fluid Overl

## 3.2.7 RISK OF BIAS

Methodological quality varied across studies however no studies were excluded due to high risk of bias (Table 3-13). See section 2.1.8 and appendix 3 for risk of bias methods.

| Table | e 3. | -13 | 3: | Risk | of | bias | assessment f | for all | l incl | uded | studies |
|-------|------|-----|----|------|----|------|--------------|---------|--------|------|---------|
|       |      |     |    |      | ~  |      |              |         |        |      |         |

| Study                            |      | 1. Study<br>Participation | 2. Study<br>Attrition | 3. Prognostic<br>Factor<br>Measurement | 4. Outcome(s)<br>Measurement | 5. Study<br>Confounding | 6. Statistical<br>Analysis &<br>Reporting |
|----------------------------------|------|---------------------------|-----------------------|--|------------------------------|-------------------------|---|
| Alves                            | 2016 | L                         | М                     | L                                      | L                            | М                       | L   |
| Bansal                           | 2018 | L                         | L                     | L                                      | L                            | L                       | L   |
| Caravaca                         | 2011 | L                         | L                     | L                                      | L                            | М                       | М   |
| Colin-Ramirez                    | 2012 | L                         | L                     | L                                      | L                            | М                       | М   |
| Curbelo                          | 2018 | L                         | L                     | L                                      | L                            | М                       | М   |
| De Berardinis                    | 2014 | L                         | L                     | L                                      | М                            | М                       | М   |
| Di Somma                         | 2010 | L                         | L                     | L                                      | L                            | М                       | М   |
| Di Somma                         | 2014 | L                         | L                     | L                                      | L                            | М                       | L   |
| Esmeray                          | 2018 | L                         | L                     | L                                      | М                            | М                       | М   |
| Hung                             | 2015 | L                         | L                     | L                                      | L                            | L                       | L   |
| Khan                             | 2017 | L                         | L                     | L                                      | L                            | L                       | М   |
| Koell                            | 2017 | L                         | L                     | L                                      | L                            | М                       | L   |
| Kohatsu                          | 2021 | L                         | L                     | L                                      | L                            | L                       | L   |
| Liu                              | 2012 | L                         | L                     | L                                      | L                            | L                       | L   |
| Liu                              | 2021 | L                         | L                     | L                                      | L                            | L                       | L   |
| Lyons                            | 2017 | М                         | L                     | L                                      | L                            | L                       | L   |
| Massari                          | 2019 | L                         | L                     | L                                      | L                            | М                       | М   |
| Massari                          | 2020 | L                         | L                     | L                                      | L                            | М                       | М   |
| Nunez                            | 2014 | L                         | L                     | L                                      | L                            | М                       | М   |
| Ohashi                           | 2015 | М                         | L                     | L                                      | L                            | L                       | М   |
| Sakaguchi                        | 2015 | L                         | L                     | L                                      | L                            | М                       | М   |
| Sakaguchi                        | 2020 | L                         | L                     | L                                      | L                            | М                       | М   |
| Santarelli,<br>EHJ Acute CV Care | 2017 | L                         | L                     | L                                      | L                            | М                       | М   |
| Santarelli,<br>Intern Emorg Mod  | 2017 | L                         | L                     | L                                      | М                            | М                       | М   |
| Schork                           | 2020 | М                         | L                     | L                                      | L                            | М                       | М   |
| Siriopol                         | 2021 | L                         | L                     | L                                      | L                            | М                       | М   |
| Soloveva                         | 2019 | L                         | L                     | L                                      | L                            | М                       | М   |
| Trejo-Velasco                    | 2016 | L                         | L                     | L                                      | L                            | М                       | М   |
| Tsai                             | 2018 | L                         | L                     | L                                      | L                            | L                       | L   |
| Vega                             | 2018 | L                         | L                     | L                                      | L                            | М                       | М   |
| Villacorta                       | 2021 | L                         | L                     | L                                      | L                            | М                       | М   |

L = low risk of bias; M = moderate risk of bias; H = high risk of bias. **Study participation**: All considered low ROB unless inclusion/exclusion criteria not adequately described. **Study attrition**: Retrospective studies are not subject to loss to follow-up therefore rated low ROB. Loss to follow-up rarely reported in included studies therefore assumed minimal if not reported and rated low ROB. Alves et al. table 2 reports 29 deaths & 30 survivors in overall cohort of N=71, outcome not reported for remaining 12. **Prognostic factor (fluid overload) measurement**: ROB depends on measurement being different for different levels of the outcome – all studies used the same measurement for all participants therefore rated low ROB. Some studies used fluid parameters which are subject to bias (ECW:ICW, ECW:TBW or inappropriate thresholds such as 0 L absolute "Fluid Overload") however because the same measurement was used for all participants, this does not introduce significant bias within the study. **Outcome measurement**: ROB assessment based upon whether outcome measurement is different related to baseline level of fluid overload therefore despite suboptimal methods in some studies, if these were not deemed likely to differ according to baseline fluid status, studies were rated low ROB. **Study confounding & Statistical analysis & reporting**: confounding and studies generally adjusted for some, but not all, relevant factors therefore commonly rated moderate ROB. Where issues were identified with confounding variables/covariates, this is reflected in ROB assessment for domains 5 & 6.

## 3.3 DISCUSSION

Whole-body bioimpedance is frequently used and well-studied in dialysis populations. In order to address the potential role of bioimpedance in non-dialysis CKD and heart failure populations, a systematic review was conducted to summarise existing evidence and determine threshold values of clinically significant "Fluid Overload" for consistent research application. In total, 31 eligible studies (11 CKD and 20 heart failure cohorts) were identified which used 10 different fluid parameters derived from bioimpedance analysis or spectroscopy to assess associations with cardiorenal outcomes. Studies also varied greatly in size, duration, approaches to model construction, and outcome definitions which precluded statistical aggregation of results by meta-analysis. Nevertheless, there was convincing evidence from individual studies that bioimpedance indices of fluid excess were associated with increased hazards of death in both populations with CKD and/or heart failure. Similarly, significant positive associations were observed with study-defined cardiovascular outcomes across a majority of studies. These associations appeared clearest for heart failure hospitalisation outcomes, whereas evidence of a link with ischaemic events were limited to CKD cohorts.

Associations between fluid excess and mortality and cardiovascular disease are supported by robust mechanistic principles due to diastolic dysfunction and myocardial fibrosis (Miller, 2016) however the purported associations with progression of kidney disease lack established rationale. Progressive CKD in fluid overloaded individuals is likely to occur as a result of the haemodynamic effects of volume overload on cardiovascular structure and function (Liu et al., 2021) however an alternative mechanism of kidney interstitial congestion and fibrosis is postulated (Liu et al., 2021, Kuriyama, 2019, Low et al., 2021). Interstitial congestion causes increased interstitial pressure which alters the transglomerular pressure gradient as well as compressing the tubules thereby increasing luminal pressure as well as causing local hypoxia (Kuriyama, 2019). These mechanisms, when coupled with dysregulated tubuloglomerular feedback and renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system activation amongst other mechanisms, may contribute to declining kidney function (Kuriyama, 2019). The interstitial space constitutes the majority of the extracellular fluid compartment (Low et al., 2021), the source of bioimpedance-derived measures of fluid excess, which may therefore support the interstitial congestion hypothesis and a potential mechanism by which fluid excess may increase risk of CKD progression. Despite these hypotheses, it seems most likely that the observed association between fluid excess and

126

CKD progression reflects generally poor prognosis and cardiovascular comorbidity rather than a direct relationship with progression of intrinsic kidney disease per se.

The findings from this systematic review are qualitatively consistent with the much larger body of evidence from dialysis populations. Such data are based largely on the Fresenius BCM device used in 7/11 [64%] CKD cohorts and 2/20 [10%] heart failure cohorts in this review. Dialysis studies have assessed a variety of threshold values of BCM-derived "Fluid Overload". Wizemann et al. first established a >15% threshold value of relative "Fluid Overload" based upon the highest quartile of a reference haemodialysis population (measured pre-dialysis) (Wizemann et al., 2009), which was followed by studies of a >7% threshold, derived from the 90th percentile of a healthy reference population (Van Biesen et al., 2011). Both thresholds (or equivalents in litres) have been consistently linked to poorer survival. In our review, no studies in non-dialysis CKD or heart failure reported associations with the 15% threshold value, perhaps because this degree of fluid excess is uncommon in earlier stages of CKD and heart failure compared with the extreme phenotype of fluid excess which manifests in kidney failure requiring kidney replacement therapy. The 7% relative "Fluid Overload" threshold was applied in two CKD cohorts and one heart failure cohort and was positively associated with cardiorenal outcomes. Based on this, the thresholds of relative "Fluid Overload" >7% and >15% (described as "moderate" and "severe", respectively) were adopted as outcome definitions for use in the EMPA-KIDNEY bioimpedance substudy. These terms were consistent with descriptors used by other authors (Dekker et al., 2017, Van Biesen et al., 2019, Siriopol et al., 2019, Keber et al., 2021).

A key advantage of the BCM over all other commercially-available bioimpedance devices is the ability to quantify fluid status independent of body composition (i.e. lean and adipose tissue mass) by application of a three compartment model (Chamney et al., 2007). It is not possible to equate BCM-derived "Fluid Overload" to other bioimpedance parameters, such as phase angle or BIVA hydration index, which were more commonly employed in heart failure cohorts identified in the review. Established BIVA hydration index reference ranges (fluid overload defined as hydration index >74.3%)(Valle et al., 2011) were applied in the identified heart failure studies but, like phase angle and ECW ratios, this parameter may reflect differences in fluid volume, body composition or a combination of both. Multivariable analysis adjusted for body composition and nutritional factors may not completely address this limitation and is not practical for clinical application. It therefore seems that the Fresenius BCM device is the optimum currently-available method to assess fluid excess for patients with CKD and/or heart failure.

The systematic review has a number of limitations largely dictated by the nature of existing studies. Firstly, the studies identified in this review were almost exclusively observational in nature: there is very limited randomised data from non-dialysis CKD and heart failure populations which therefore precludes causal inferences and there remains the possibility of residual confounding. Fluid excess is associated with inflammation, endothelial dysfunction and cardiac dysfunction, therefore purported associations between fluid excess and adverse outcomes may therefore at least in part be explained by other factors. Reporting and analysis of key factors pertaining to fluid excess such as albumin and proteinuria were not widely reported. Dietary sodium intake, another key factor influencing fluid status, was generally not assessed in included studies. Secondly, as described in the results, significant between-study differences in the fluid parameters and definitions of clinical outcomes precluded quantitative aggregation of results by metaanalysis. Furthermore, the wide range of different reported models each considered a different set of covariates often adjusting for combinations of potential confounders and mediators of associations simultaneously. This means models often addressed somewhat different research questions. Consequently, this review is limited to qualitative conclusions. Availability of individual participant data from included studies could address some of these limitations, but does not address the different approaches to fluid status assessment or relatively small size of completed studies. Thirdly, studies commonly reported only a single baseline bioimpedance measurement, which does not account for fluctuation in fluid status, resulting in regression-dilution bias and reported associations underestimating the full importance of fluid excess in relation to outcomes. Fourthly, studies rarely characterised both baseline and follow-up cardiac and CKD phenotypes precluding the joint consideration of these overlapping populations. Lastly, the review assessed associations with fluid parameters only and not the adiposity measures reported by bioimpedance devices since data are lacking and inconsistent; the significance of bioimpedance-derived adiposity measures in relation to clinical outcomes warrants further study.

128

In summary, whole-body bioimpedance indices of fluid excess appear to be consistently and positively associated with risk of death and adverse cardiovascular outcomes in nondialysis CKD and heart failure populations, but there are limitations to the currently available evidence. Bioimpedance has several potential roles in clinical management and in clinical research in non-dialysis CKD and heart failure. The considerable heterogeneity in bioimpedance parameters used to measure fluid status in both CKD and heart failure populations can be considered a key finding of this review which has important implications for interpretation and clinical application. Further development for these populations would benefit from consensus on the optimum device and standardisation of analytical methods for such patients. The review also highlights under-appreciation of the interplay between CKD and heart failure in patients with fluid excess. Large studies recording serial measurements and more detailed baseline and follow-up characterisation of both cardiac and renal phenotypes in a range of patients with CKD and heart failure are also needed.

## CHAPTER 4 – EFFECTS OF EMPAGLIFLOZIN ON BIOIMPEDANCE-DERIVED FLUID OVERLOAD

## 4.1 INTRODUCTION

In the previous chapter, results from a systematic review demonstrated that bioimpedancederived "Fluid Overload" is significantly associated with adverse cardiorenal outcomes in patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD). The review highlighted heterogeneity in devices, parameters and methods of analysis but nevertheless confirmed that bioimpedance is a valuable tool in assessing fluid status in CKD and heart failure. In this chapter, the primary and secondary assessments of the EMPA-KIDNEY bioimpedance substudy are reported, which describe the effects of empagliflozin on bioimpedance-derived fluid status. The bioimpedance substudy methods and Data Analysis Plan are outlined in Chapter 2 and were informed by the systematic review reported in Chapter 3.

As discussed in Chapter 1, fluid excess is a common manifestation in CKD with clinical and prognostic implications. The diuretic and natriuretic effects of sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibitors are hypothesised to reduce fluid excess however data to support this hypothesis were previously lacking. Furthermore, fluid excess can be assessed in numerous ways and surrogates of fluid excess used in previous analyses have limitations (discussed in 4.3). SGLT2 inhibitors have been hypothesised to reduce interstitial more than plasma volume (Hallow et al., 2018). While whole body bioimpedance spectroscopy has its own limitations, it is a useful method of quantifying interstitial (extracellular) fluid. Furthermore, the Fresenius Body Composition Monitor (BCM) bioimpedance spectroscopy device has the attractive property of uniquely estimating extracellular water excess (overhydration or "Fluid Overload") independently of body composition. This device was therefore an obvious choice for use in the EMPA-KIDNEY bioimpedance substudy seeking to understand effects of empagliflozin on fluid status and body composition separately and the contribution of these factors to weight loss.

The substudy primary assessment uses the absolute "Fluid Overload" parameter in litres in preference to relative "Fluid Overload" (expressed as a percentage) since estimation in litres is likely to be more readily interpretable in a clinical context. These parameters and their references ranges are discussed in more detail in section 2.5.2. The EMPA-KIDNEY

definitions of moderate and severe clinically significant "Fluid Overload" are based upon existing literature using the relative "Fluid Overload" parameter (Table 2-7).

## 4.2 RESULTS

# 4.2.1 SUBSTUDY PARTICIPANTS, COMPLETENESS, DATA QUALITY AND ADHERENCE

A total of 668 participants consented to participate in the bioimpedance substudy at their randomisation visit between 22<sup>nd</sup> May 2019 and 14<sup>th</sup> April 2021. Eight consenting participants were excluded: one due to a metal knee implant which precludes use of the BCM device; and a further seven due to issues with the baseline (randomisation) measurement<sup>2</sup>. The analysis population therefore comprised 660 participants. Out of a possible 1980 BCM measurements for 660 individuals (three measurements per participant at randomisation, 2- and 18-month follow-up visits), a total of 1728 measurements were available for analysis, of which 1682 were deemed valid and 46 deemed invalid according to principles outlined in section 2.4.4. The proportion of valid measurements was therefore 84.9% overall (out of all expected measurements) and similar between treatment groups (Table 4-1 & Figure 4-1).

Table 4-1: Summary of valid, invalid and missing BCM measurements

|                        | V             | alid    |         | I             | nvalid  |         | Missing       |         |              |  |
|------------------------|---------------|---------|---------|---------------|---------|---------|---------------|---------|--------------|--|
|                        | Empagliflozin | Placebo | Overall | Empagliflozin | Placebo | Overall | Empagliflozin | Placebo | Overall      |  |
| Baseline               | 316           | 319     | 635     | 7             | 4       | 11      | 9             | 5       | 14           |  |
| 2-month<br>follow-up*  | 290           | 288     | 578     | 5             | 5       | 10      | 37            | 35      | <b>72</b> †  |  |
| 18-month<br>follow-up* | 231           | 238     | 469     | 13            | 12      | 25      | 88            | 78      | <b>166</b> ‡ |  |
| Total                  | 837           | 845     | 1682    | 25            | 21      | 46      | 134           | 118     | 252          |  |

\*2-month follow-up =  $\geq$ 30 <400 days; 18-month follow-up  $\geq$ 400 <680 days.

 $^{\dagger}$ 3/72 due to participant death, 69/72 missed due to other reasons;  $^{\ddagger}$ 30/166 due to participant death, 136/166 missing due to other reasons; Missing measurements were largely due to missed in-person follow-up visits due to COVID-19 restrictions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Data cards lost at one research site for five participants; readings were only recorded on paper for one participant (protocol violation); and one participant had the baseline BCM measurement obtained on a different day to randomisation weight measurement (paired weight required; protocol violation).

#### Figure 4-1: Bioimpedance substudy cohort CONSORT flowchart



\* Metal knee implants. † Invalid reasons: inadequate data quality, implausible outlying values or missing accompanying weight measurement (see Data Analysis Plan – Supplemental Material). ‡ Reasons for missed measurements were not recorded for all participants but include telephone follow-up (due to COVID-19), missed follow-up or rarely patient refusal/technical failure. § Died within time window of missing bioimpedance measurement; does not include deaths after valid measurement obtained; total deaths until end of follow-up = 35 (empagliflozin=18; placebo=17). | Number (proportion) of participants who reported taking "most" of their study treatment at 12 months: empagliflozin 282 (89%); placebo 292 (91%). All 660 participants were included in secondary analyses. The analysis population for MMRM analyses excluded 40 participants who did not have a single valid follow-up measurement.

## 4.2.1.1 DATA QUALITY ASSESSMENT

Data quality was assessed for all measurements in November 2022, blind to treatment allocation, as detailed in section 2.4. The reasons for deeming a measurement invalid are also described in detail in section 2.4.4 but, in brief, were either due to (i) absolute "Fluid Overload" measurements more negative than -5 L which were deemed implausible; and/or (ii) visual inspection of the Cole-Cole plot identified poor data quality; and/or (iii) missing accompanying weight measurement (needed for derivation of analysis parameters). In total only 46 measurements (46/1728 = 2.7%) were deemed invalid overall across all three measurement time points (Table 4-2).

|                             | Empagliflozin | Placebo | Overall |
|-----------------------------|---------------|---------|---------|
| Implausible negative value  | 11            | 6       | 17      |
| Cole-Cole plot              | 13            | 14      | 27      |
| Missing accompanying weight | 1             | 1       | 2       |
| Total                       | 25            | 21      | 46      |

Table 4-2: Reasons for measurements being deemed invalid

Greater numbers of measurements were deemed invalid in the empagliflozin group compared to placebo and in particular, due to absolute "Fluid Overload" measurements more negative than -5 L which were deemed implausible. This could theoretically be explained by a pronounced treatment effect causing profound dehydration in some participants receiving empagliflozin however this was considered unlikely and more likely explained as a chance finding.

Of the 660-participant analysis population, 600 (90.9%) survived until the final follow-up visit; 35 (5.3%) died and 25 (3.8%) were lost to follow-up. Valid measurements were available for 413/660 (62.6%) participants at all time points; numbers of participants with valid measurements at each time point are summarised in Table 4-3.

|                                       | Empagliflozin | Placebo | Overall |
|---------------------------------------|---------------|---------|---------|
| Valid measurements at all time points | 203           | 210     | 413     |
| Valid measurements at 2/3 time points |               |         |         |
| Randomisation & 2-month follow-up     | 73            | 71      | 144     |
| Randomisation & 18-month follow-up    | 19            | 19      | 38      |
| 2- & 18-month follow-up               | 7             | 7       | 14      |
| Single valid measurement only         |               |         |         |
| Randomisation only                    | 21            | 19      | 40      |
| 2-month follow-up only                | 7             | 0       | 7       |
| 18-month follow-up only               | 2             | 2       | 4       |
| Total                                 | 332           | 328     | 660     |

## Table 4-3: Number of participants with valid measurements by visit

The quality score (Q value) produced by the BCM device was used to identify BCM measurements requiring further assessment of data quality by visual inspection of the Cole-Cole plot (process described in detail in section 2.4.1). It was pre-specified in the Data Analysis Plan (appendix 11) that statistical comparisons by treatment allocation would be presented for the distribution of Q values for measurements included in the main comparison and sensitivity analyses. In all analyses, Q values were marginally lower in the empagliflozin group compared with placebo (Table 4-4); however, overall, Q values were very high (median across all measurements 94.2, IQR 90.4-96.7).

Table 4-4: Distribution of BCM quality scores (Q values)

|                        | Empagliflozin    | Placebo          | <b>P</b> * |
|------------------------|------------------|------------------|------------|
| All measurements       | 94.0 (90.3-96.6) | 94.3 (90.5-96.7) | 0.14       |
| Primary analysis       | 94.0 (90.2-96.4) | 94.5 (91.2-96.7) | 0.05       |
| Sensitivity analysis 1 | 93.8 (89.7-96.3) | 94.4 (90.7-96.7) | 0.05       |
| Sensitivity analysis 2 | 94.1 (90.6-96.5) | 94.6 (91.6-96.7) | 0.03       |
| Sensitivity analysis 3 | 94.0 (90.2-96.4) | 94.4 (91.1-96.7) | 0.09       |

\*Wilcoxon rank sum test P value

## 4.2.1.2 ADHERENCE TO STUDY TREATMENT

At 12 months of follow-up (the approximate midpoint of the trial), of substudy participants who remained alive, 282/318 (89%) in the empagliflozin group and 292/320 (91%) in the placebo group reported taking at least 80% of their allocated study treatment. These figures were similar to the full trial cohort as a whole: empagliflozin 2909/3245 (90%) versus placebo 2924/3239 (90%).

## 4.2.2 BASELINE CHARACTERISTICS

Baseline characteristics of substudy participants were reasonably well balanced between treatment groups (Table 4-5 & Table 4-6), with perhaps the exception of weight which was slightly higher among patients allocated to empagliflozin though not a statistically significant difference (P = 0.21). In the substudy overall, mean age was 65 (15) years, 205 (31%) participants were female and 256 (39%) participants had diabetes at baseline. Mean body weight was 88.8 (19.8) kg, mean body mass index (BMI) was 30.3 (6.2) kg/m<sup>2</sup> and mean systolic blood pressure was 137.3 (18.9) mmHg. Mean (SD) estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) was 36.0 (12.4) mL/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup> and median (IQR) urinary albuminto-creatinine ratio (uACR) was 203 (26-936) mg/g. Known heart failure was reported by 136 (21%) of participants at baseline, median N-terminal pro B-type natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP) was 211 (93-581) ng/L and a similar proportion of participants reported taking any diuretic therapy at baseline in both groups (empagliflozin 180/332, 54% vs placebo 173/328, 53%). Mean absolute "Fluid Overload" at baseline was 0.4 (1.7) L, 126 (19%) with moderate "Fluid Overload" and 30 (5%) with severe "Fluid Overload".

Although the substudy was only conducted in a subset from the UK and Germany, substudy participants were generally representative of all participants in their regions (UK and Germany combined) and demographically similar to the full trial population as a whole (all regions including Asia and North America) with the exception of race (Table 4-7). The proportion of participants with diabetes in the substudy was slightly lower and the proportion with heart failure slightly higher, relative to the full trial population.

|  | Empagliflozin<br>(N=332) | Placebo<br>(N=328) |
|--|--------------------------|--------------------|
| DEMOGRAPHICS                               |                          |                    |
| Age (years)                                | 65.2 (14.2)              | 64.1 (14.9)        |
| Female sex                                 | 102 (30.7)               | 103 (31.4)         |
| White race                                 | 321 (96.7)               | 315 (96.0)         |
|  |                          |                    |
| PRIOR DISEASE                              |                          |                    |
| Diabetes                                   | 135 (40.7)               | 121 (36.9)         |
| Heart failure                              | 62 (18.7)                | 74 (22.6)          |
|  |                          |                    |
| CLINICAL MEASUREMENTS                      |                          |                    |
| Weight (kg)                                | 89.8 (20.2)              | 87.9 (19.3)        |
| Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )       | 30.5 (6.2)               | 30.1 (6.3)         |
| Waist-to-hip ratio                         | 1.0 (0.1)                | 1.0 (0.1)          |
| Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)             | 137.0 (18.8)             | 137.5 (18.9)       |
| Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)            | 77.8 (12.2)              | 78.6 (11.9)        |
|  |                          |                    |
| BIOIMPEDANCE MEASUREMENTS*                 |                          |                    |
| Absolute "Fluid Overload" (L)              | 0.45 (1.68)              | 0.32 (1.68)        |
| Relative "Fluid Overload" (%)              |                          |                    |
| Mean (SD)                                  | 1.9 (8.7)                | 1.3 (8.3)          |
| Moderate "Fluid Overload"                  | 70 (21.1)                | 56 (17.1)          |
| Severe "Fluid Overload"                    | 14 (4.2)                 | 16 (4.9)           |
| Extracellular water (L)                    | 19.0 (3.8)               | 18.4 (3.7)         |
| Intracellular water (L)                    | 20.7 (4.5)               | 20.1 (4.6)         |
| Lean tissue index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )     | 13.3 (3.1)               | 12.9 (3.0)         |
| Fat tissue index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )      | 12.6 (5.4)               | 12.5 (5.1)         |
|  |                          |                    |
| LABORATORY MEASUREMENTS                    |                          |                    |
| Estimated GFR (mL/min/1.73m <sup>2</sup> ) |                          |                    |
| Mean (SD)                                  | 36.1 (13.4)              | 35.8 (11.4)        |
| Distribution                               |                          |                    |
| <30  | 123 (37.0)               | 118 (36.0)         |
| ≥30 <45                                    | 148 (44.6)               | 154 (47.0)         |
| ≥45  | 61 (18.4)                | 56 (17.1)          |
| Urinary albumin-to-creatinine ratio (mg/g) | 203 (26-958)             | 205 (29-865)       |
| HbA1c (mmol/mol)                           | 43.9 (11.3)              | 43.5 (10.9)        |
| NT-proBNP (ng/L)                           | 197 (90-596)             | 225 (95-550)       |
|  |                          |                    |
| MEDICATIONS                                |                          |                    |
| RAS inhibitor                              | 304 (91.6)               | 288 (87.8)         |
| Any diuretic therapy                       | 180 (54.2)               | 173 (52.7)         |

Table 4-5: Key baseline characteristics of the bioimpedance substudy population

Data are presented as mean (SD) or median (Q1-Q3) for continuous variables and n (%) for categorical variables. Abbreviations: GFR = glomerular filtration rate; HbA1c = glycated haemoglobin; NT-proBNP = N-terminal pro B-type natriuretic peptide; RAS = renin-angiotensin system. \*Bioimpedance measurements for all participants with non-missing bioimpedance measurements at baseline (n=644; n=16 missing).

|   | Empagliflozin | Placebo<br>(N-328) | Overall<br>(N=660) |
|---|---------------|--------------------|--------------------|
| DEMOGRAPHICS                              | (11-352)      | (11-520)           | (11-000)           |
| Age (vears)                               |               |                    |                    |
| <60                                       | 103 (31.0)    | 107 (32.6)         | 210 (31.8)         |
| >60 <70                                   | 81 (24 4)     | 83 (25.3)          | 164 (24.8)         |
| >70                                       | 148 (44.6)    | 138 (42.1)         | 286 (43.3)         |
| CAUSE OF KIDNEY DISEASE                   | 110 (1110)    | 100 (1211)         | 200 (43.5)         |
| Diabetic kidney disease                   | 70 (21.1)     | 52 (15.9)          | 122 (18 5)         |
| Hypertension/renovascular                 | 64 (19.3)     | 75 (22.9)          | 139 (21.1)         |
| Glomerular                                | 87 (26.2)     | 87 (26.5)          | 174 (26.4)         |
| Other                                     | 47 (14.2)     | 61 (18.6)          | 108 (16.4)         |
| Unknown                                   | 64 (19.3)     | 53 (16.2)          | 117 (17.7)         |
| HISTORY OF SMOKING                        | 178 (53.6)    | 161 (49.1)         | 122 (18.5)         |
| CLINICAL MEASUREMENTS                     |               |                    |                    |
| Weight (kg)                               |               |                    |                    |
| <80                                       | 107 (32.2)    | 121 (36.9)         | 228 (34.5)         |
| ≥80 <95                                   | 113 (34.0)    | 100 (30.5)         | 213 (32.3)         |
| ≥95                                       | 112 (33.7)    | 106 (32.3)         | 218 (33.0)         |
| Missing                                   | 0 (0.0)       | 1 (0.3)            | 1 (0.2)            |
| Waist-to-hip ratio                        |               |                    |                    |
| <0.9                                      | 39 (11.7)     | 40 (12.2)          | 79 (12.0)          |
| ≥0.9 <1.0                                 | 101 (30.4)    | 96 (29.3)          | 197 (29.8)         |
| ≥1.0                                      | 192 (57.8)    | 192 (58.5)         | 384 (58.2)         |
| Missing                                   | 0 (0)         | 0 (0)              | 0 (0)              |
| Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )      |               |                    |                    |
| <25                                       | 54 (16.3)     | 62 (18.9)          | 116 (17.6)         |
| ≥25 <30                                   | 133 (40.1)    | 133 (40.5)         | 266 (40.3)         |
| ≥30                                       | 145 (43.7)    | 132 (40.2)         | 277 (42.0)         |
| Missing                                   | 0 (0)         | 1 (0.3)            | 1 (0.2)            |
| Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)            |               |                    |                    |
| <130                                      | 111 (33.4)    | 114 (34.8)         | 225 (34.1)         |
| ≥130 <145                                 | 112 (33.7)    | 106 (32.3)         | 218 (33.0)         |
| ≥145                                      | 109 (32.8)    | 108 (32.9)         | 217 (32.9)         |
| Missing                                   | 0 (0)         | 0 (0)              | 0 (0)              |
| Diastolic blood pressure                  |               |                    |                    |
|   |               |                    |                    |
| <75                                       | 140 (42.2)    | 126 (38.4)         | 266 (40.3)         |
| <u>≥/5&lt;85</u>                          | 86 (25.9)     | 102 (31.1)         | 188 (28.5)         |
| <u>≥85</u>                                | 106 (31.9)    | 100 (30.5)         | 206 (31.2)         |
| Missing                                   | 0 (0)         | 0(0)               | 0 (0)              |
| BIOIMPEDANCE-DERIVED PARA                 | METERS*       |                    |                    |
| Absolute Fluid Overload (L)               | 0.45 (1.60)   | 0.22 (1.60)        | 0.20 (1.60)        |
| Distribution                              | 0.45 (1.68)   | 0.32 (1.68)        | 0.39 (1.68)        |
|   | 22 (0, 6)     | 24 (10.4)          | ((10.0))           |
| <-1                                       | 32 (9.6)      | 34 (10.4)          | 66 (10.0)          |
| 2-1<+1                                    | 136 (41.0)    | 155 (47.3)         | 291 (44.1)         |
| ≥+1<br>Bolative "Fluid Overload" (%)      | 154 (40.4)    | 155 (40.5)         | 287 (45.5)         |
| Moon (SD)                                 | 10(97)        | 1 2 (0 2)          | 1 ( (9 5)          |
| Distribution                              | 1.9 (8.7)     | 1.5 (8.5)          | 1.0 (8.5)          |
|   | 75 (22 ()     | 00 (27.4)          | 1(5 (25 0)         |
| <-3                                       | 15 (22.0)     | 90 (27.4)          | 105(25.0)          |
| <u>&gt;+5</u>                             | 117 (33.2)    | 129 (39.3)         | 240 (57.3)         |
| ∠+3 Evtracellular water (L)               | 150 (39.2)    | 105 (51.4)         | 233 (33.3)         |
| Mean (SD)                                 | 10.0 (2.9)    | 19 1 (2 7)         | 107(20)            |
| Distribution                              | 19.0 (3.8)    | 18.4 (3.7)         | 18.7 (3.8)         |
| <16                                       | 61 (19 4)     | 72 (22 0)          | 122 (20.2)         |
| >16<20                                    | 01 (18.4)     | 12 (22.0)          | 133 (20.2)         |
| >20                                       | 122 (30.7)    | 133 (40.3)         | 233 (30.0)         |
| <u>&lt;20</u><br>Intracellular water (I.) | 139 (41.9)    | 11/(33./)          | 230 (38.8)         |
| Mean (SD)                                 | 20.7 (4.5)    | 20.1(4.6)          | 20.4.(4.6)         |
| Distribution                              | 20.7 (4.3)    | 20.1 (4.0)         | 20.4 (4.0)         |
| <17                                       | 61 (18 4)     | 68 (20 7)          | 129 (19 5)         |

Table 4-6: Additional baseline characteristics of the bioimpedance substudy population

| ≥17 <22                                | 135 (40.7) | 138 (42.1)   | 273 (41.4)                            |
|--|------------|--------------|---------------------------------------|
| ≥22                                    | 126 (38.0) | 116 (35.4)   | 242 (36.7)                            |
| Lean tissue index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> ) |            |              |                                       |
| Mean (SD)                              | 13.3 (3.1) | 12.9 (3.0)   | 13.1 (3.1)                            |
| Distribution                           |            |              |                                       |
| <11                                    | 57 (17.2)  | 69 (21.0)    | 126 (19.1)                            |
| ≥11<14                                 | 126 (38.0) | 128 (39.0)   | 254 (38.5)                            |
| ≥14                                    | 139 (41.9) | 125 (38.1)   | 264 (40.0)                            |
| Fat tissue index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )  |            |              |                                       |
| Mean (SD)                              | 12.6 (5.4) | 12.5 (5.1)   | 12.5 (5.3)                            |
| Distribution                           |            | , <i>, ,</i> |                                       |
| <10                                    | 105 (31.6) | 91 (27.7)    | 196 (29.7)                            |
| ≥10 <14                                | 92 (27.7)  | 123 (37.5)   | 215 (32.6)                            |
| ≥14                                    | 125 (37.7) | 108 (32.9)   | 233 (35.3)                            |
| LABORATORY MEASUREMENT                 | rs         |              | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · |
| Urinary albumin-to-creatinine rat      | tio (mg/g) |              |                                       |
| <30                                    | 91 (27.4)  | 84 (25.6)    | 175 (26.5)                            |
| ≥30 ≤300                               | 90 (27.1)  | 101 (30.8)   | 191 (28.9)                            |
| >300                                   | 151 (45.5) | 143 (43.6)   | 294 (44.5)                            |
| HbA1c (mmol/mol)                       |            |              |                                       |
| <39                                    | 129 (38.9) | 141 (43.0)   | 270 (40.9)                            |
| ≥39 <48                                | 107 (32.2) | 96 (29.3)    | 203 (30.8)                            |
| ≥48 <75                                | 86 (25.9)  | 78 (23.8)    | 164 (24.8)                            |
| ≥75                                    | 4 (1.2)    | 6 (1.8)      | 10 (1.5)                              |
| Missing                                | 6 (1.8)    | 7 (2.1)      | 13 (2.0)                              |
| NT-proBNP (ng/L)                       |            |              |                                       |
| <110                                   | 100 (30.1) | 90 (27.4)    | 190 (28.8)                            |
| ≥110 <330                              | 110 (33.1) | 114 (34.8)   | 224 (33.9)                            |
| ≥330                                   | 117 (35.2) | 117 (35.7)   | 234 (35.5)                            |
| Missing                                | 5 (1.5)    | 7 (2.1)      | 12 (1.8)                              |
| Haematocrit (%)                        |            |              |                                       |
| Mean (SD)                              | 39.2 (4.8) | 39.3 (4.9)   | 39.3 (4.8)                            |
| Distribution                           |            |              |                                       |
| <37                                    | 84 (25.3)  | 98 (29.9)    | 182 (27.6)                            |
| ≥37 <41                                | 107 (32.2) | 89 (27.1)    | 196 (29.7)                            |
| ≥41                                    | 124 (37.3) | 131 (39.9)   | 255 (38.6)                            |
| Missing                                | 17 (5.1)   | 10 (3.0)     | 27 (4.1)                              |
| MEDICATIONS                            |            |              |                                       |
| Mineralocorticoid receptor             | 42 (12 7)  | 42 (12.8)    | 94 (12 7)                             |
| antagonist                             | 42 (12.7)  | 42 (12.8)    | 04 (12.7)                             |
| Loop diuretic                          | 120 (36.1) | 123 (37.5)   | 243 (36.8)                            |
| Thiazide diuretic                      | 64 (19.3)  | 57 (17.4)    | 121 (18.3)                            |
| Potassium-sparing diuretic             | 5 (1.5)    | 0 (0)        | 5 (0.8)                               |
| Any diabetes therapy                   | 119 (35.8) | 102 (31.1)   | 221 (33.5)                            |
| Insulin                                | 77 (23.2)  | 62 (18.9)    | 139 (21.1)                            |
| Sulfonylurea                           | 19 (5.7)   | 14 (4.3)     | 33 (5.0)                              |
| Metformin                              | 41 (12.3)  | 35 (10.7)    | 76 (11.5)                             |
| GLP-1 agonist                          | 19 (5.7)   | 12 (3.7)     | 31 (4.7)                              |
| DPP-4 inhibitor                        | 38 (11.4)  | 40 (12.2)    | 78 (11.8)                             |
| Other diabetes drug                    | 4 (1.2)    | 1 (0.3)      | 5 (0.8)                               |

Data are presented as mean (SD) or median (Q1-Q3) for continuous variables and n (%) for categorical variables. History of smoking = "ever smoked tobacco regularly" as determined by the participant. Weight, waist-to-hip ratio and all bioimpedance-derived parameters are presented as approximate tertiles, all other categorisations use pre-specified groupings as per the Data Analysis Plan. Bioimpedance-derived parameters were missing at baseline for 10 participants in the empagliflozin group (3.0%) and 6 participants in the placebo group (1.8%). Abbreviations: NT-proBNP = N-terminal pro B-type natriuretic peptide; GLP-1 = glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor; DPP-4 = dipeptidyl-peptidase 4. \*Bioimpedance measurements for all participants with non-missing bioimpedance measurements at baseline (n=644; n=16 missing).

|  | Bioimpedance<br>Substudy Cohort<br>(N=660) | Bioimpedance Substudy<br>Countries (i.e. all UK &<br>Germany participants)<br>(N=2402) | Full Trial Cohort<br>(N=6609) |
|--|--|--|-------------------------------|
| DEMOGRAPHICS   |  |  |                               |
| Age (years)  | 64.6 (14.5)                                | 65.5 (13.9)  | 63.8 (13.9)                   |
| Female sex   | 205 (31.1)                                 | 710 (29.6)   | 2192 (33.2)                   |
| Race   |  |  |                               |
| White  | 636 (96.4)                                 | 2256 (93.9)  | 3859 (58.4)                   |
| Black/African American   | 3 (0.5)                                    | 74 (3.1)   | 262 (4.0)                     |
| Asian  | 12 (1.8)                                   | 38 (1.6)   | 2393 (36.2)                   |
| Mixed/Other  | 9 (1.4)                                    | 34 (1.4)   | 95 (1.4)                      |
|  |  |  |                               |
| PRIOR DISEASE  |  |  |                               |
| Diabetes   | 256 (38.8)                                 | 966 (40.2)   | 3040 (46.0)                   |
| Heart failure  | 136 (20.6)                                 | 380 (15.8)   | 658 (10.0)                    |
|  |  |  |                               |
| CLINICAL MEASUREMENTS  |  |  |                               |
| Weight (kg)  | 88.8 (19.8)                                | 89.9 (19.9)  | 84.1 (21.4)                   |
| Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )   | 30.3 (6.2)                                 | 30.7 (6.3)   | 29.7 (6.8)                    |
| Waist-to-hip ratio   | 1.0 (0.1)                                  | 1.0 (0.1)  | 1.0 (0.1)                     |
| Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)   | 137.3 (18.9)                               | 137.0 (18.6)   | 136.5 (18.3)                  |
| Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)  | 78.2 (12.0)                                | 78.2 (11.6)  | 78.1 (11.8)                   |
|  |  |  |                               |
| LABORATORY MEASUREMENTS  |  |  |                               |
| Estimated GFR (mL/min/1.73m <sup>2</sup> )   |  |  |                               |
| Mean (SD)  | 36.0 (12.4)                                | 35.0 (12.0)  | 37.3 (14.4)                   |
| Distribution, n (%)  |  |  |                               |
| <30  | 241 (36.5)                                 | 933 (38.8)   | 2282 (34.5)                   |
| ≥30 <45  | 302 (45.8)                                 | 1098 (45.7)  | 2928 (44.3)                   |
| ≥45  | 117 (17.7)                                 | 371 (15.4)   | 1399 (21.2)                   |
| Urinary albumin-to-creatinine ratio (mg/g)   | 203 (26-936)                               | 220 (29-909)   | 329 (49-1069)                 |
| HbA1c (mmol/mol)   | 43.7 (11.1)                                | 44.5 (12.7)  | 45.0 (13.6)                   |
| NT-proBNP (ng/L)   | 211 (93-581)                               | 209 (92-571)   | 160 (69-419)                  |
|  |  |  |                               |
| MEDICATIONS  |  |  |                               |
| RAS inhibitor  | 592 (89.7)                                 | 2092 (87.1)  | 5628 (85.2)                   |
| Any diuretic therapy   | 353 (53.5)                                 | 1270 (52.9)  | 2815 (42.6)                   |
| Abbreviations: GFR = glomerular filtratio<br>natriuretic peptide; RAS = renin-angiotensi | n rate; HbA1c = glycate<br>n system.       | d haemoglobin; NT-proBNP =   | N-terminal pro B-type         |

Table 4-7: Baseline characteristics of the substudy population relative to trial regions

# 4.2.3 CORRELATION BETWEEN BIOIMPEDANCE-DERIVED FLUID OVERLOAD AND OTHER CHARACTERISTICS AT BASELINE

There were some differences in baseline characteristics when the substudy cohort was stratified according to bioimpedance-derived fluid status at baseline (Table 4-8). Participants with moderate or severe "Fluid Overload" were more typically male, older in age and more likely to have diabetes and heart failure. Diuretic use was also more common among the categories with moderate or severe "Fluid Overload". Correlations were assessed between bioimpedance-derived "Fluid Overload" as a continuous variable (in litres) and relevant laboratory parameters; as well as with systolic blood pressure; in hypothesis tests using Pearson's product moment correlation coefficient. NT-proBNP (log-transformed) was the variable most strongly correlated with absolute "Fluid Overload" and positive correlations were observed both in participants with and without heart failure ( $R^2 = 0.13$  and = 0.21, respectively; P <0.001; Figure 4-2).





Absolute "Fluid Overload" was weakly negatively associated with eGFR and weakly positively associated with log uACR. Higher "Fluid Overload" also correlated with lower haematocrit.

Figure 4-3: Correlations between "Fluid Overload" and other laboratory parameters



Increased "Fluid Overload" was also weakly correlated with elevated systolic and inversely with diastolic blood pressure ( $R^2 = 0.02$  and = 0.03, respectively; P <0.001; Figure 4-4).



Figure 4-4: Correlation between "Fluid Overload" and blood pressure

|   | Fluid-deplete<br>(N=89) | Normohydrated<br>(N=399) | Moderate "Fluid<br>Overload"<br>(N=126) | Severe "Fluid<br>Overload"<br>(N=30) |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|---|-------------------------|--------------------------|---|--------------------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| DEMOGRAPHICS  |                         |                          |   |                                      |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Age (years)   | 58.9 (14.6)             | 63.9 (14.9)              | 68.7 (12.8)                             | 71.0 (9.1)                           |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Female sex  | 47 (52.8)               | 115 (28.8)               | 37 (29.4)                               | 3 (10.0)                             |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Race  |                         |                          |   |                                      |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| White   | 85 (95.5)               | 383 (96.0)               | 122 (96.8)                              | 30 (100.0)                           |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Black/African American  | 0 (0.0)                 | 3 (0.8)                  | 0 (0.0)                                 | 0 (0.0)                              |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Asian   | 4 (4.5)                 | 7 (1.8)                  | 1 (0.8)                                 | 0 (0.0)                              |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Mixed/Other   | 0 (0.0)                 | 6 (1.6)                  | 3 (2.4)                                 | 0 (0.0)                              |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|   |                         |                          |   |                                      |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| PRIOR DISEASE   |                         |                          |   |                                      |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Diabetes  | 26 (29.2)               | 143 (35.8)               | 58 (46.0)                               | 21 (70.0)                            |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Heart failure   | 10 (11.2)               | 78 (19.5)                | 34 (27.0)                               | 13 (43.3)                            |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|   |                         |                          |   |                                      |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| CLINICAL MEASUREMENTS   |                         |                          |   |                                      |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Weight (kg)   | 97.0 (22.9)             | 88.2 (18.9)              | 84.8 (20.1)                             | 89.2 (15.6)                          |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )  | 34.1 (7.2)              | 29.9 (5.9)               | 28.9 (6.0)                              | 29.2 (4.6)                           |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Waist-to-hip ratio  | 0.9 (0.1)               | 1.0 (0.1)                | 0.9 (0.1)                               | 1.0 (0.2)                            |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Systolic BP (mmHg)  | 132.4 (15.4)            | 137.5 (18.9)             | 137.0 (20.1)                            | 148.8 (19.4)                         |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Diastolic BP (mmHg)   | 80.3 (10.7)             | 79.2 (11.7)              | 74.4 (12.7)                             | 76.4 (13.7)                          |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|   |                         |                          |   |                                      |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| <b>BIOIMPEDANCE-DERIVED PAI</b>   | RAMETERS                |                          |   |                                      |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Absolute "Fluid Overload" (L)   | -2.1 (1.4)              | 0.1 (0.7)                | 2.1 (0.7)                               | 4.1 (1.0)                            |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Relative "Fluid Overload" (%)   | -12.0 (7.2)             | 0.5 (3.8)                | 10.6 (2.4)                              | 18.2 (2.9)                           |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Extracellular water (L)   | 17.4 (3.6)              | 18.4 (3.5)               | 19.5 (4.1)                              | 22.4 (3.2)                           |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Intracellular water (L)   | 21.3 (5.9)              | 20.6 (4.4)               | 19.3 (4.3)                              | 20.2 (2.9)                           |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Lean tissue index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )  | 13.4 (4.3)              | 13.2 (2.9)               | 12.5 (2.6)                              | 12.8 (2.2)                           |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Fat tissue index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )   | 15.8 (6.7)              | 12.3 (5.0)               | 11.5 (4.4)                              | 11.0 (3.7)                           |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|   |                         |                          |   |                                      |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| LABORATORY MEASUREMENTS   |                         |                          |   |                                      |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Estimated GFR (mL/min/1.73m <sup>2</sup> )  |                         |                          |   |                                      |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Mean (SD)   | 39.5 (12.9)             | 36.0 (12.2)              | 34.5 (12.7)                             | 33.0 (11.0)                          |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Distribution  |                         |                          |   |                                      |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| <30   | 17 (19.1)               | 141 (35.3)               | 61 (48.4)                               | 15 (50.0)                            |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| ≥30 <45   | 48 (53.9)               | 192 (48.1)               | 43 (34.1)                               | 11 (36.7)                            |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| ≥45   | 24 (27.0)               | 66 (16.5)                | 22 (17.5)                               | 4 (13.3)                             |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Urinary albumin-to-creatinine<br>ratio (mg/g)   | 231 (21-852)            | 207 (22-938)             | 166 (29-982)                            | 311 (47-1466)                        |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| HbA1c (mmol/mol)  | 43.3 (12.3)             | 43.3 (10.9)              | 44.5 (10.8)                             | 46.7 (11.6)                          |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| NT-proBNP (ng/L)  | 100 (48-223)            | 187 (88-399)             | 549 (172-1250)                          | 953 (463-2168)                       |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| MEDICATIONS   |                         |                          |   |                                      |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| RAS inhibitor   | 84 (94 4)               | 357 (89 5)               | 111 (88 1)                              | 26 (86 7)                            |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Any diuretic therapy  | 49 (55 1)               | 191 (47 9)               | 86 (68 3)                               | 21 (70 0)                            |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| my unreactionapy  | -7 (33.1)               | 171 (77.7)               | 00 (00.3)                               | 21 (10.0)                            |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Data are not presented for 16/660 (2%) participants with missing bioimpedance data at baseline. |                         |                          |   |                                      |  |  |  |  |  |  |

## Table 4-8: Key baseline characteristics according to baseline fluid status

## 4.2.4 EFFECTS ON "FLUID OVERLOAD" AS A CONTINUOUS VARIABLE

Of the 660-participant analysis population, 40 participants who had no valid BCM measurements during the follow-up period (randomisation measurements only) were excluded from the primary assessment and all analyses of continuous bioimpedancederived parameters, since the mixed model repeated measures (MMRM) approach requires participants to have at least one available follow-up measurement. These 40 excluded participants were approximately evenly distributed between treatment groups (empagliflozin versus placebo: 21 versus 19 respectively) and the reasons for not having at least one valid follow-up measurement were: death before first follow-up measurement (n=3); inadequate data quality (n=9); and no follow-up measurement performed (e.g. due to Covid-19 precluding visits, n=28). The 620 participants included in MMRM analyses had, in total, 1047 valid follow-up measurements available for inclusion in analyses.

## 4.2.4.1 PRIMARY AND SECONDARY ASSESSMENTS

Compared to placebo, the study average absolute difference in absolute "Fluid Overload" was -0.24 L (95% confidence interval [CI] -0.38, -0.11; Table 4-9). Effects were similar at 2- and 18-months (-0.23 [-0.37, -0.08] and -0.26 [-0.46, -0.06] L, respectively; P value for interaction with time = 0.11; Table 4-9 & Figure 4-5). Analysis of effects on the related parameter relative "Fluid Overload" were also consistent: the study average absolute difference was -1.19 (-1.90, -0.48) % with similar effects at 2- and 18-months (-1.12 [-1.88, -0.37] and -1.28 [-2.32, -0.23] %, respectively; P value for interaction with time = 0.39).

|                           | Empagliflozin<br>(N=311) |      | Placebo<br>(N=309) |      |                        |                |        |
|---------------------------|--------------------------|------|--------------------|------|------------------------|----------------|--------|
|                           | Adjusted*<br>Mean        | SE   | Adjusted*<br>Mean  | SE   | Absolute<br>Difference | 95% CI         | Р      |
| Absolute "Fluid Overload" | ', L                     |      |                    |      |                        |                |        |
| Randomisation             | 0.50                     | 0.09 | 0.35               | 0.09 |                        |                |        |
| 2-month follow-up         | 0.18                     | 0.05 | 0.40               | 0.05 | -0.23                  | (-0.37, -0.08) |        |
| 18-month follow-up        | 0.01                     | 0.07 | 0.27               | 0.07 | -0.26                  | (-0.46, -0.06) |        |
| Study average             | 0.10                     | 0.05 | 0.34               | 0.05 | -0.24                  | (-0.38, -0.11) | <0.001 |
| Relative "Fluid Overload" | , %                      |      |                    |      |                        |                |        |
| Randomisation             | 2.24                     | 0.47 | 1.39               | 0.45 |                        |                |        |
| 2-month follow-up         | 0.52                     | 0.27 | 1.65               | 0.27 | -1.12                  | (-1.88, -0.37) |        |
| 18-month follow-up        | -0.36                    | 0.38 | 0.92               | 0.37 | -1.28                  | (-2.32, -0.23) |        |
| Study average             | 0.14                     | 0.25 | 1.33               | 0.25 | -1.19                  | (-1.90, -0.48) | 0.001  |
|                           |                          |      |                    |      |                        |                |        |

Table 4-9: Effects of empagliflozin on bioimpedance-derived parameters

\*Mean effects are adjusted for baseline values of the dependent variable (in continuous form) and for any differences in key baseline characteristics (categories of age, sex, diabetes, eGFR and uACR) between treatment groups with study averages weighted in proportion to the amount of time between follow-up visits.


The distribution of the timing of measurements (in days since randomisation) was assessed. Timing of the 2-month measurement adhered closely to the substudy protocol with the median follow-up day being very close to the ideal day 60 in both groups (median [IQR] 64 [57-74] days in the empagliflozin group versus 64 [57-75] days in the placebo group; P = 0.87; Figure 4-6). There was greater spread around the 18-month visit but the median day of measurement was again very close to the ideal day 540 although visits occurred slightly earlier in the placebo group (540 [519-555] days in the empagliflozin group versus 532 [505-554] days in the placebo group; P = 0.03; Figure 4-6).

Figure 4-6: Distribution of time to bioimpedance measurement



## 4.2.4.2 SENSITIVITY ANALYSES FOR THE PRIMARY ASSESSMENT

Sensitivity analyses assessing the impact of different procedures to determine validity of measurements demonstrated findings consistent with the primary assessment (Table 4-10).

|   | Analysis inclu            | ides:     | Empag        | liflozin    | Place       | ebo        |                        |                 |
|---|---------------------------|-----------|--------------|-------------|-------------|------------|------------------------|-----------------|
|   | Follow-up<br>measurements | N         | Mean         | SE          | Mean        | SE         | Absolute<br>Difference | 95% CI          |
|   |                           |           |              |             |             |            |                        |                 |
| PRIMARY ASSESSMENT  | 1047                      | 620       | 0.10         | 0.05        | 0.34        | 0.05       | -0.24                  | (-0.38, -0.11)  |
|   |                           |           |              |             |             |            |                        |                 |
| Sensitivity analysis 1  |                           |           |              |             |             |            |                        |                 |
| Maximal inclusion:<br>irrespective of data quality<br>/implausible values | 1082                      | 629       | -0.07        | 0.07        | 0.25        | 0.07       | -0.32                  | (-0.52, -0.12)  |
|   |                           |           |              |             |             |            |                        |                 |
| Sensitivity analysis 2  |                           |           |              |             |             |            |                        |                 |
| Limited to measurements with Q value $\ge 80$                             | 1029                      | 614       | 0.07         | 0.06        | 0.37        | 0.06       | -0.30                  | (-0.46, -0.14)  |
|   |                           |           |              |             |             |            |                        |                 |
| Sensitivity analysis 3  |                           |           |              |             |             |            |                        |                 |
| Cohort with complete baseline bioimpedance data                           | 1008                      | 595       | 0.09         | 0.05        | 0.33        | 0.05       | -0.24                  | (-0.38, -0.11)  |
|   |                           |           |              |             |             |            |                        |                 |
| All results are study averages (a   | nd absolute differe       | ence betw | veen treatmo | ent groups) | for absolut | e "Fluid ( | Overload" in L v       | with adjustment |

Table 4-10: Sensitivity analyses

as before.

# 4.2.4.3 SUBGROUP ANALYSIS (TERTIARY AND POST-HOC ASSESSMENTS)

Effects on "Fluid Overload" were similar in men and women; in people with and without diabetes; and across the spectrum of eGFR and NT-proBNP studied (Figure 4-7).

| Subgroup      | Baseline Mean (SE)           |                 | Difference (95% CI) | P <sub>het/trend</sub> |
|---------------|------------------------------|-----------------|---------------------|------------------------|
| Sex           |                              |                 |                     | 0.93                   |
| Male          | 0.64 (0.08)                  | - <b>i</b>      | -0.24 (-0.40, -0.   | 08)                    |
| Female        | -0.05 (0.10)                 | -               | -0.25 (-0.50, -0.   | 00)                    |
| Diabetes      |                              |                 |                     | 0.38                   |
| Absent        | 0.18 (0.07)                  |                 | -0.19 (-0.36, -0.   | 02)                    |
| Present       | 0.83 (0.11)                  |                 | -0.32 (-0.54, -0.   | 10)                    |
| NTpro-BNP, ng | g/L                          |                 |                     | 0.82                   |
| <110          | -0.33 (0.10)                 | <b>_</b> _      | -0.36 (-0.61, -0.   | 10)                    |
| ≥110 <330     | 0.22 (0.09)                  |                 | -0.07 (-0.30, 0.    | 15)                    |
| ≥330          | 1.30 (0.11)                  | <b>_</b> _      | -0.30 (-0.53, -0.   | 07)                    |
| Estimated GFF | R, mL/min/1.73m <sup>2</sup> |                 |                     | 0.33                   |
| <30           | 0.72 (0.11)                  |                 | -0.11 (-0.34, 0.    | 12)                    |
| ≥30 <45       | 0.22 (0.09)                  | _ <b>_</b>      | -0.30 (-0.50, -0.   | 11)                    |
| ≥45           | 0.36 (0.15)                  |                 | -0.27 (-0.59, 0.    | 05)                    |
| Overall       | 0.43 (0.06)                  | $\diamond$      | -0.24 (-0.38, -0.   | 11)                    |
|               |                              |                 |                     |                        |
|               | -1.0                         | -0.5 0          | 0.5                 |                        |
|               | Empag                        | liflozin Better | Placebo Better      |                        |

Figure 4-7: Effects on absolute "Fluid Overload" by pre-specified subgroups

Study-average differences are adjusted for baseline values of the dependent variable (in continuous form) and for any differences in key baseline characteristics (categories of age, sex, diabetes, eGFR and uACR) between treatment groups and weighted in proportion to the amount of time between follow-up visits.

*Post-hoc* exploratory subgroup analyses stratified by baseline fluid status and reported use of any diuretic agent at baseline also did not find any statistical evidence for effect modification (Figure 4-8). Baseline "Fluid Overload" was categorised using relative "Fluid Overload": fluid depletion =  $\leq$  -7%, low-normohydration = > -7%  $\leq$  0%, highnormohydration = >0%  $\leq$  +7%, moderate "Fluid Overload" = > +7%  $\leq$  +15%, severe "Fluid Overload" = > +15%; participants without a valid baseline bioimpedance measurement were included in the high-normohydration category based upon the imputed mean value.



#### Figure 4-8: Effects on absolute "Fluid Overload" by post-hoc subgroups

Study-average differences are adjusted for baseline values of the dependent variable (in continuous form) and for any differences in key baseline characteristics (categories of age, sex, diabetes, eGFR and uACR) between treatment groups and weighted in proportion to the amount of time between follow-up visits.

## 4.2.5. EFFECTS ON THE COMPOSITE OF CATEGORICAL FLUID OVERLOAD OUTCOMES AND HEART FAILURE

The number of key secondary outcomes was low, and there was no significant difference in the hazards of the composite outcome between treatment groups (35/332 [10%] versus 38/328 [12%]; hazard ratio (HR) 0.91, 95% CI 0.57, 1.45; P = 0.69, Figure 4-9 & Table 4-11) with consistent effects for its components (Table 4-11). There were no events in either treatment group for the death from heart failure component of this composite outcome and only 27 first hospitalisations for heart failure (11/332 [3%] in the empagliflozin group versus 16/328 [5%] in the placebo group; HR 0.67, 95% CI 0.31-1.46. This result was consistent with findings from the full trial cohort in which there were there were 88 (2.7%) first hospitalisations for heart failure in the empagliflozin group versus 107 (3.2%) in the placebo group (HR 0.80, 95% CI 0.60-1.06). Figure 4-9: Effects on the composite cardiovascular secondary outcome



In participants who had either moderate or severe absolute "Fluid Overload" at baseline, regression to a lower fluid status category was no more common in the empagliflozin or placebo groups (46/84 [55%] for empagliflozin versus 35/72 [49%] for placebo; Table 4-11).

*Table 4-11: Effects of empagliflozin on cardiovascular composite outcome (bioimpedance substudy cohort)* 

|   | Empaglif | ozin | Placebo |    |              |             |      |
|---|----------|------|---------|----|--------------|-------------|------|
|   | n/N      | %    | n/N     | %  | Hazard Ratio | 95% CI      | Р    |
| KEY SECONDARY<br>ASSESSMENT<br>Death from heart failure,<br>hospitalisation for heart failure,<br>development of new moderate or<br>severe "Fluid Overload" | 35/332   | 11   | 38/328  | 12 | 0.91         | (0.57-1.45) | 0.69 |
| Death from heart failure  | 0/332    | 0    | 0/328   | 0  | -            | -           |      |
| Hospitalisation for heart failure   | 11/332   | 3    | 16/328  | 5  | 0.67         | (0.31-1.46) |      |
| Development of new moderate<br>"Fluid Overload"*  | 18/232   | 8    | 25/247  | 10 | 0.68         | (0.37-1.26) |      |
| Development of new severe<br>"Fluid Overload" <sup>†</sup>  | 8/302    | 3    | 4/303   | 1  | 1.96         | (0.57-6.71) |      |
|   |          |      |         |    |              |             |      |
| TERTIARY ASSESSMENT   |          |      |         |    |              |             |      |
| Regression of "Fluid Overload"‡   | 46/84    | 55   | 35/72   | 49 | 1.33         | (0.82-2.18) |      |
|   |          |      |         |    |              |             |      |

Cox proportional hazards models include adjustment for the covariates used in the minimisation algorithm: age, sex, diabetes status, eGFR and uACR. \* Requires randomisation value of relative "Fluid Overload"  $\leq$ 7% and follow-up value >7%,  $\leq$ 15%. † Requires randomisation value of relative "Fluid Overload"  $\leq$ 15% and follow-up value >15%. ‡ Requires randomisation value consistent with moderate or severe relative "Fluid Overload" and regression to any lower hydration category at any follow-up (limited to first event).

## 4.2.6 EFFECTS ON EXTRACELLULAR AND INTRACELLULAR WATER

The study-average absolute differences in bioimpedance-estimated extracellular (ECW) and intracellular water (ICW) were -0.49 L (95% CI -0.69, -0.30) and -0.30 L (95% CI - 0.57, -0.03), respectively (Table 4-12). Effects on total body water (TBW) were explored on a *post-hoc* exploratory basis and provide confirmatory results (Table 4-12).

|                        | Empagl<br>(N=3 | iflozin<br>511) | Placebo<br>(N=309) |      |                        |                |
|------------------------|----------------|-----------------|--------------------|------|------------------------|----------------|
|                        | Mean           | SE              | Mean               | SE   | Absolute<br>Difference | 95% CI         |
| EXTRACELLULAR WATER, L |                |                 |                    |      |                        |                |
| Randomisation          | 18.96          | 0.22            | 18.40              | 0.21 |                        |                |
| 2-month follow-up      | 18.19          | 0.07            | 18.70              | 0.07 | -0.52                  | (-0.72, -0.32) |
| 18-month follow-up     | 18.13          | 0.10            | 18.59              | 0.10 | -0.46                  | (-0.74, -0.19) |
| Study average          | 18.16          | 0.07            | 18.66              | 0.07 | -0.49                  | (-0.69, -0.30) |
|                        |                |                 |                    |      |                        |                |
| INTRACELLULAR WATER, L |                |                 |                    |      |                        |                |
| Randomisation          | 20.63          | 0.27            | 20.12              | 0.25 |                        |                |
| 2-month follow-up      | 20.02          | 0.10            | 20.37              | 0.10 | -0.35                  | (-0.64, -0.07) |
| 18-month follow-up     | 20.20          | 0.14            | 20.44              | 0.13 | -0.24                  | (-0.61, 0.14)  |
| Study average          | 20.10          | 0.10            | 20.40              | 0.10 | -0.30                  | (-0.57, -0.03) |
|                        |                |                 |                    |      |                        |                |
| TOTAL BODY WATER, L    |                |                 |                    |      |                        |                |
| Randomisation          | 39.59          | 0.46            | 38.51              | 0.44 |                        |                |
| 2-month follow-up      | 38.19          | 0.16            | 39.09              | 0.16 | -0.89                  | (-1.33, -0.45) |
| 18-month follow-up     | 38.32          | 0.21            | 39.04              | 0.21 | -0.73                  | (-1.30, -0.15) |
| Study average          | 38.25          | 0.15            | 39.07              | 0.15 | -0.82                  | (-1.24, -0.40) |
|                        |                |                 |                    |      |                        |                |

Table 4-12: Effects of empagliflozin on tertiary bioimpedance-derived parameters by time

Mean effects are adjusted for baseline values of the dependent variable (in continuous form) and for any differences in key baseline characteristics (categories of age, sex, diabetes, eGFR and uACR) between treatment groups and weighted in proportion to the amount of follow-up time represented.

## 4.2.7 EFFECTS ON DEHYDRATION ADVERSE EVENTS AND DIURETIC USE

The effects of empagliflozin on bioimpedance-derived estimates of "Fluid Overload" can be supplemented with additional information which was routinely collected as part of the main trial protocol in all 6609 participants and is of particular relevance to fluid status.

## (i) Adverse event reports of dehydration

Serious dehydration was defined as any event of dehydration requiring inpatient hospitalisation, resulting in death or considered life-threatening or otherwise medically important in the opinion of a local investigator. Symptomatic dehydration was defined as symptoms attributed by participants to dehydration, such as feeling faint or fainting. In the full trial cohort, there were 54 reports of serious dehydration (empagliflozin 30/3304 vs placebo 24/3305; HR 1.25, 95% CI 0.73–2.14) and 159 reports of symptomatic dehydration (empagliflozin 83/3304 vs placebo 76/3305; HR 1.10, 95% CI 0.81–1.51). Numbers of events in the smaller substudy population are reported in Table 4-13; stratified according to baseline bioimpedance-derived fluid status.

|                               | Empagli | flozin | Place   | bo  |
|-------------------------------|---------|--------|---------|-----|
|                               | n/N     | %      | n/N     | %   |
|                               |         |        |         |     |
| SERIOUS DEHYDRATION           |         |        |         |     |
| Fluid-deplete                 | 0/41    | 0.0    | 0/45    | 0.0 |
| Normohydrated                 | 1/207   | 0.5    | 2/211   | 0.9 |
| Moderate "Fluid Overload"     | 3/70    | 4.3    | 2/56    | 3.6 |
| Severe "Fluid Overload"       | 0/14    | 0.0    | 0/16    | 0.0 |
| Bioimpedance substudy overall | 4/332   | 1.2    | 4/328   | 1.2 |
| Full trial cohort             | 30/3304 | 0.9    | 24/3305 | 0.7 |
|                               |         |        |         |     |
| SYMPTOMATIC DEHYDRATION       |         |        |         |     |
| Fluid-deplete                 | 1/42    | 2.4    | 0/45    | 0.0 |
| Normohydrated                 | 3/207   | 1.4    | 3/211   | 1.4 |
| Moderate "Fluid Overload"     | 6/70    | 8.6    | 2/56    | 3.6 |
| Severe "Fluid Overload"       | 0/14    | 0.0    | 0/16    | 0.0 |
| Bioimpedance substudy overall | 10/332  | 3.0    | 5/328   | 1.5 |
| Full trial cohort             | 83/3304 | 2.5    | 76/3305 | 2.3 |

Table 4-13: Effects of empagliflozin on dehydration

Baseline "Fluid Overload" is categorised using relative "Fluid Overload": fluid depletion =  $\leq$  -7%, normohydration = > -7%  $\leq$  +7%, moderate "Fluid Overload" = > +7%  $\leq$  +15%, severe "Fluid Overload" = > +15%; participants without a valid baseline bioimpedance measurement are included in the normohydrated category based upon the imputed mean value.

## (ii) Initiation of new loop diuretic therapy

In the full trial cohort, loop diuretic therapy was initiated during follow-up when not recorded at randomisation in 159/2453 (6.5%) participants allocated empagliflozin versus 212/2409 (8.8%) allocated placebo; representing a 26% lower risk of requiring to start loop diuretics during follow-up among participants allocated empagliflozin versus placebo (risk ratio 0.74, 95% CI 0.60-0.90).

## 4.3 DISCUSSION

In patients with CKD, empagliflozin reduced bioimpedance-measured "Fluid Overload" across the broad range of participants studied and effects were sustained for at least 18 months. Averaged across the follow-up period, "Fluid Overload" was 0.24 L (95% CI 0.11-0.38) lower in the empagliflozin group compared with participants allocated to placebo. When considering total body water (total ECW and ICW), participants allocated to empagliflozin had approximately 0.8 L less total body water of which approximately 0.5

L was ECW (which includes the 0.24 L excess ECW referred to as "Fluid Overload") and approximately 0.3 L ICW. These diuretic effects are considered potentially important contributing mechanisms to the cardiovascular benefits of SGLT2 inhibitors and had not previously been quantified using bioimpedance in randomised trials in CKD. Previously, the 16-week DECREASE trial provided the only peer reviewed published randomised evidence on the effects of SGLT2 inhibitors on bioimpedance parameters. The DECREASE trial found that, in 66 participants with type 2 diabetes—CKD status not reported—dapagliflozin reduced extracellular fluid by approximately 1 L and systolic blood pressure by approximately 4 mmHg at 10 days versus placebo. These results from the EMPA-KIDNEY bioimpedance substudy now substantially extend these previous findings by studying longer term effects (over 18 months) in a much larger number of participants in a placebo-controlled trial and in a CKD population specifically.

Mean baseline levels of "Fluid Overload" in EMPA-KIDNEY bioimpedance substudy participants were approximately consistent with observational studies (which have largely studied patients with comparatively lower levels of kidney function) (Tsai et al., 2018, Vega et al., 2018, Schork et al., 2020) and fall within the normal range based on a healthy reference population (absolute "Fluid Overload" -1.1 L to +1.1 L) (Wabel et al., 2008). Despite average baseline fluid status being within the normal range and the average difference in excess fluid volume being numerically small (-0.24 L); this effect is likely to be prognostically important. Observational analyses in a CKD stage 3-5 population have demonstrated significant increased hazards of cardiovascular morbidity and mortality per 1 L increment of increasing absolute "Fluid Overload" (adjusted HR 1.42, 95% CI 1.25-1.62) (Hung et al., 2015). In the same study, stratification of the cohort into fluid overloaded (relative "Fluid Overload"  $\geq$ 7%) versus not, found hazards of the same composite outcome increased more than six-fold in association with moderate-severe levels of "Fluid Overload" (adjusted HR 6.22, 95% CI 2.78-13.92) (Hung et al., 2015). Severely fluid overloaded patients may conceivably exhibit larger diuresis with SGLT2 inhibition and therefore obtain particular benefit however *post-hoc* exploratory subgroup analysis did not demonstrate significant differences in treatment effect by baseline hydration status although few substudy participants had moderate or severe "Fluid Overload" at baseline, limiting statistical power.

Highly significant effects on the primary outcome assessment of absolute "Fluid Overload" in the EMPA-KIDNEY bioimpedance substudy did not translate into significant effects on the composite secondary outcome; likely due to lack of statistical power due to low event rates and loss of information by categorisation of the continuous "Fluid Overload" variable. Regardless, the clear effect demonstrated in the primary outcome assessment and associated established prognostic benefit can be expected to translate into important reductions in clinical heart failure outcomes.

Before the results of this substudy, attenuation of diuretic effects at low levels of kidney function was considered plausible as SGLT2 inhibitors have little effect on glycaemia at lower eGFR due to attenuated levels of glycosuria. Despite this, there were consistent effects on "Fluid Overload" across the eGFR-based subgroups. Similarly, effects did not vary by baseline fluid status, diuretic use, or albuminuria. These findings are analogous to results from large randomised trials in heart failure populations that included a large proportion of patients with CKD and low eGFR and demonstrated consistent effects of SGLT2 inhibitors on cardiovascular death or hospitalisation for heart failure irrespective of sex, diabetes, eGFR, or NT-proBNP at baseline.

These analyses convincingly demonstrate the diuretic effects of SGLT2 inhibitors in CKD and address uncertainty generated by previous conflicting reports. Authors of a *post-hoc* analysis of the EMPEROR-Reduced trial of empagliflozin in heart failure with reduced ejection fraction concluded that diuresis was not a dominant mechanism in the clinical benefits of empagliflozin in heart failure based on discordant effects on weight, haematocrit and natriuretic peptides and the observation that the magnitude of effect on major heart failure outcomes did not differ depending on whether participants had evidence of pre-existing fluid excess in the 4 weeks prior to enrolment or not (Packer et al., 2021). In light of bioimpedance data from EMPA-KIDNEY, these earlier conclusions can be considered relatively weak and unreliable especially since the definition of pre-existing fluid excess was unspecified and based on subjective investigator impression only. Contrasting reports from the EMPA-REG OUTCOME trial concluded that changes in markers of plasma volume (based on haematocrit) were the greatest mediators of the cardiovascular benefit of empagliflozin (Inzucchi et al., 2018). However, the use of haematocrit to reflect fluid status is inherently flawed since SGLT2 inhibitors are known to

151

promote erythropoiesis (Packer, 2023). There was also historic uncertainty on whether the diuretic effects of SGLT2 inhibition caused both intravascular and interstitial volume reduction (Scholtes et al., 2021). Robust assessments of the effects of SGLT2 inhibition on measured plasma volume are limited to isolated small studies (Lambers Heerspink et al., 2013) and more commonly rely on estimated plasma volume (van Ruiten et al., 2022, Jensen et al., 2021) a formula which is reliant on haematocrit. It is also relevant that the effect of empagliflozin on fluid loss in EMPA-KIDNEY was achieved safely. Although estimates of ECW reduction reflected loss of ECW that is not considered to be in excess by the three-compartment model, there was no increased risk of participant reports of symptomatic dehydration in the full trial or substudy cohorts nor any increased risk of acute kidney injury (EMPA-KIDNEY Collaborative Group, 2023).

The substudy has certain limitations. Firstly, analysed bioimpedance parameters are derived (from extracellular and intracellular resistance values) and are not direct measurements therefore it is not possible to precisely quantify differences in fluid and body composition. Furthermore, derivation is based on formulae normalised to healthy reference populations, not kidney disease populations, however the device has been extensively validated for fluid assessment in kidney failure cohorts. Secondly, some scheduled bioimpedance measurements were missed largely due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic necessitating remote follow-up. Thirdly, the substudy was only conducted in the UK and Germany and is therefore largely restricted to white participants. Fourthly, data on urinary and plasma sodium was not collected as part of EMPA-KIDNEY trial procedures precluding any assessment of natriuretic effects of empagliflozin alongside the diuretic effects on interstitial fluid volume.

In summary, in patients with CKD, empagliflozin reduced bioimpedance-measured "Fluid Overload" across the broad range of participants studied and effects were sustained for at least 18 months. These diuretic effects may contribute to the benefits of SGLT2 inhibitors particularly in reducing hospitalisations for heart failure. The following chapter will report the effects of empagliflozin on body weight and bioimpedance estimates of fat and lean tissue mass. These results will then allow for contextualisation of the effects on "Fluid Overload" in the final discussion chapter (Chapter 8).

### **CHAPTER 5 – EFFECTS OF EMPAGLIFLOZIN ON BODY COMPOSITION**

## 5.1 INTRODUCTION

In the previous chapter, results from the EMPA-KIDNEY bioimpedance substudy were reported, demonstrating that empagliflozin brings about sustained reduction in levels of excess fluid in patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD). In this chapter, tertiary assessments of the bioimpedance substudy are reported which describe the effects of empagliflozin on body composition as assessed by bioimpedance-derived estimates of lean and fat tissue; as well as body weight, body mass index (BMI) and waist-to-hip ratio. This allows the effects on "Fluid Overload" reported in Chapter 4 to be put into context and assimilated in the final discussion in Chapter 8. This chapter concludes by briefly additionally reporting effects on laboratory parameters of relevance to effects on body composition and fluid status: glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) and haematocrit.

There are established links between both general and central adiposity and eGFR decline, kidney failure and death in those with and without CKD (Zhu et al., 2021, Herrington et al., 2017, Chang et al., 2019, Elsayed et al., 2008, Vivante et al., 2012, Hsu et al., 2006). These associations are largely mediated by diabetes and hypertension though obesity is independently associated with CKD and Mendelian randomisation analyses support a causal role (Zhu et al., 2021). BMI is routinely used to reflect adiposity however it does not discriminate fat and muscle or lean tissue mass and changes in body composition in disease states such as CKD (Chintam and Chang, 2021). Furthermore, BMI is a measure of general adiposity however it is visceral or central adiposity which more strongly predict adverse outcomes (Postorino et al., 2009, Kramer et al., 2011, Zhu et al., 2021, Elsayed et al., 2008, Chintam and Chang, 2021). Alternative methods for assessing adiposity have been studied specifically in CKD such as waist circumference (Kramer et al., 2011) or waist-to-hip ratio (Elsayed et al., 2008, Zhu et al., 2021) and more recently, parameters derived from bioimpedance analysis or spectroscopy as applied in the EMPA-KIDNEY bioimpedance substudy. The methods and data analysis plan for the bioimpedance substudy are outlined in Chapter 2.

It was previously demonstrated in several trials that sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibitors reduce body weight although these effects appeared somewhat

attenuated in patients with CKD relative to heart failure and diabetes populations. Furthermore, it was not fully understood whether weight loss was synonymous with fat loss or may reflect loss of fluid volume or even skeletal muscle degradation. The analyses reported in this chapter therefore sought to address these uncertainties.

## 5.2 RESULTS

## 5.2.1 EFFECTS OF EMPAGLIFLOZIN ON BIOIMPEDANCE-DERIVED ADIPOSITY PARAMETERS

There were no significant between-group differences in bioimpedance-derived fat or lean tissue index and *post-hoc* analyses assessing effects on adipose, fat and lean tissue mass (from which the indices were derived) demonstrated consistent results (Table 5-1).

# 5.2.2 POST-HOC ANALYSES OF THE EFFECTS OF EMPAGLIFLOZIN ON EXTRACELLULAR AND INTRACELLULAR RESISTANCE

In *post-hoc* analyses of the effects of empagliflozin on the "raw" bioimpedance measurements of extracellular and intracellular resistance (from which all fluid and adiposity parameters are ultimately derived) there was a highly statistically significant difference in extracellular resistance of 15.65 (95% confidence interval [CI] 8.34, 22.96) ohms but not intracellular resistance (19.90 [95% CI -7.47, 47.26] ohms), averaged across the substudy (Table 5-2).

|                                      | Empagli<br>(N=31 | flozin<br>1) | Place<br>(N=30 | bo<br>)9) |                        |               |
|--------------------------------------|------------------|--------------|----------------|-----------|------------------------|---------------|
|                                      | Mean             | SE           | Mean           | SE        | Absolute<br>Difference | 95% CI        |
| LEAN TISSUE INDEX, kg/m <sup>2</sup> |                  |              |                |           |                        |               |
| Randomisation                        | 13.22            | 0.18         | 12.92          | 0.16      |                        |               |
| 2-month follow-up                    | 12.81            | 0.09         | 13.00          | 0.09      | -0.20                  | (-0.46, 0.06) |
| 18-month follow-up                   | 13.02            | 0.13         | 13.10          | 0.13      | -0.08                  | (-0.43, 0.28) |
| Study average                        | 12.90            | 0.09         | 13.05          | 0.09      | -0.14                  | (-0.39, 0.10) |
| FAT TISSUE INDEX, kg/m <sup>2</sup>  |                  |              |                |           |                        |               |
| Randomisation                        | 12.43            | 0.30         | 12.48          | 0.30      |                        |               |
| 2-month follow-up                    | 12.44            | 0.10         | 12.50          | 0.10      | -0.06                  | (-0.45, 0.30) |
| 18-month follow-up                   | 12.21            | 0.14         | 12.30          | 0.14      | -0.10                  | (-0.66, 0.40) |
| Study average                        | 12.34            | 0.10         | 12.42          | 0.10      | -0.07                  | (-0.48, 0.28) |
| LEAN TISSUE MASS, kg                 |                  |              |                |           |                        |               |
| Randomisation                        | 39.40            | 0.66         | 38.24          | 0.61      |                        |               |
| 2-month follow-up                    | 38.01            | 0.29         | 38.73          | 0.29      | -0.72                  | (-1.52, 0.09) |
| 18-month follow-up                   | 38.65            | 0.39         | 39.05          | 0.38      | -0.40                  | (-1.47, 0.66) |
| Study average                        | 38.28            | 0.27         | 38.87          | 0.27      | -0.58                  | (-1.34, 0.18) |
| FAT TISSUE MASS, kg                  |                  |              |                |           |                        |               |
| Randomisation                        | 36.30            | 0.88         | 36.11          | 0.81      |                        |               |
| 2-month follow-up                    | 36.19            | 0.30         | 36.38          | 0.30      | -0.18                  | (-1.01, 0.64) |
| 18-month follow-up                   | 35.52            | 0.42         | 35.76          | 0.41      | -0.24                  | (-1.39, 0.91) |
| Study average                        | 35.90            | 0.30         | 36.11          | 0.30      | -0.21                  | (-1.04, 0.62) |
| ADIPOSE TISSUE MASS, kg              |                  |              |                |           |                        |               |
| Randomisation                        | 49.39            | 1.19         | 49.13          | 1.10      |                        |               |
| 2-month follow-up                    | 49.24            | 0.40         | 49.49          | 0.40      | -0.25                  | (-1.37, 0.87) |
| 18-month follow-up                   | 48.33            | 0.57         | 48.66          | 0.56      | -0.32                  | (-1.89, 1.24) |
| Study average                        | 48.85            | 0.41         | 49.13          | 0.41      | -0.28                  | (-1.41, 0.85) |

Table 5-1: Effects of empagliflozin on bioimpedance-derived adiposity parameters

The pre-specified analysis parameters lean tissue index and fat tissue index in  $kg/m^2$  are calculated from lean tissue mass and adipose tissue mass in kg indexed to height squared. Adipose tissue mass consists of the fat tissue mass plus proteins, minerals and fluid. Mean effects are adjusted for baseline values of the dependent variable (in continuous form) and for any differences in key baseline characteristics (categories of age, sex, diabetes, eGFR and uACR) between treatment groups and weighted in proportion to the amount of follow-up time represented.

|                          | Empagliflozin<br>(N=311) |       | Placebo<br>(N=309) |       |                        |                 |
|--------------------------|--------------------------|-------|--------------------|-------|------------------------|-----------------|
|                          | Mean                     | SE    | Mean               | SE    | Absolute<br>Difference | 95% CI          |
| EXTRACELLULAR RESISTANC  | Ε, Ω                     |       |                    |       |                        |                 |
| Randomisation            | 571.78                   | 5.60  | 590.08             | 5.70  |                        |                 |
| 2-month follow-up        | 599.29                   | 2.78  | 583.12             | 2.79  | 16.17                  | (8.40, 23.94)   |
| 18-month follow-up       | 601.49                   | 3.87  | 586.52             | 3.82  | 14.97                  | (4.27, 25.67)   |
| Study average            | 600.24                   | 2.62  | 584.59             | 2.62  | 15.65                  | (8.34, 22.96)   |
| INTRACELLULAR RESISTANCE | Ε, Ω                     |       |                    |       |                        |                 |
| Randomisation            | 1489.80                  | 21.19 | 1530.51            | 21.40 |                        |                 |
| 2-month follow-up        | 1547.51                  | 10.35 | 1521.23            | 10.40 | 26.28                  | (-2.64, 55.20)  |
| 18-month follow-up       | 1531.34                  | 14.39 | 1519.87            | 14.18 | 11.46                  | (-28.26, 51.19) |
| Study average            | 1540.54                  | 9.83  | 1520.64            | 9.80  | 19.90                  | (-7.47, 47.26)  |
|                          |                          |       |                    |       |                        |                 |

Table 5-2: Effects of empagliflozin on extracellular and intracellular resistance

Mean effects are adjusted for baseline values of the dependent variable (in continuous form) and for any differences in key baseline characteristics (categories of age, sex, diabetes, eGFR and uACR) and weighted in proportion to the amount of follow-up time represented.

# 5.2.3 EFFECTS OF EMPAGLIFLOZIN ON WEIGHT, BODY MASS INDEX AND WAIST-TO-HIP RATIO IN THE FULL TRIAL COHORT AND BIOIMPEDANCE SUBSTUDY

## 5.2.3.1 EFFECTS ON WEIGHT

In the bioimpedance substudy cohort, who had a higher baseline weight relative to the full trial cohort, the study average between-group difference in total body weight was -0.7 kg (95% CI -1.3, -0.1; Table 5-3). This finding was consistent with results from the larger full trial cohort: overall mean study average weight was 0.9 kg lower in the empagliflozin group (absolute difference -0.9 kg, 95% CI -1.2, -0.6; heterogeneity P value comparing substudy and full trial populations = 0.60). Furthermore, the effects on weight persisted over time: there was no significant interaction between time and treatment effect on weight (P for interaction with time in the substudy cohort = 0.44; full trial cohort = 0.47).

|   | Empagliflozin |     | Placel | 00  |                        |              |
|---|---------------|-----|--------|-----|------------------------|--------------|
|   | Mean          | SE  | Mean   | SE  | Absolute<br>Difference | 95% CI       |
| Bioimpedance substudy cohort <sup>*</sup>         |               |     |        |     |                        |              |
| Randomisation                                     | 89.0          | 1.1 | 88.2   | 1.1 |                        |              |
| 2-month follow-up                                 | 87.8          | 0.2 | 88.7   | 0.2 | -0.9                   | (-1.4, -0.3) |
| 18-month follow-up                                | 87.4          | 0.3 | 88.0   | 0.3 | -0.6                   | (-1.5, 0.4)  |
| Study average                                     | 87.6          | 0.2 | 88.4   | 0.2 | -0.7                   | (-1.3, -0.1) |
|   |               |     |        |     |                        |              |
| Full trial cohort <sup><math>\dagger</math></sup> |               |     |        |     |                        |              |
| Randomisation                                     | 84.0          | 0.4 | 83.9   | 0.4 |                        |              |
| 2-month follow-up                                 | 83.3          | 0.1 | 84.1   | 0.1 | -0.7                   | (-1.0, -0.5) |
| 6-month follow-up                                 | 82.7          | 0.1 | 83.7   | 0.1 | -1.0                   | (-1.2, -0.7) |
| 12-month follow-up                                | 82.7          | 0.1 | 83.6   | 0.1 | -0.9                   | (-1.2, -0.7) |
| 18-month follow-up                                | 82.4          | 0.1 | 83.3   | 0.1 | -0.9                   | (-1.2, -0.5) |
| 24-month follow-up                                | 82.2          | 0.1 | 83.0   | 0.1 | -0.8                   | (-1.2, -0.4) |
| 30-month follow-up                                | 81.9          | 0.2 | 82.9   | 0.2 | -1.0                   | (-1.5, -0.4) |
| 36-month follow-up                                | 81.4          | 0.3 | 82.4   | 0.3 | -1.0                   | (-1.7, -0.3) |
| Study average                                     | 82.3          | 0.1 | 83.2   | 0.1 | -0.9                   | (-1.2, -0.6) |
|   |               |     |        |     |                        |              |

## *Table 5-3: Effects of empagliflozin on weight (kg)*

Mean effects are adjusted for baseline values of the dependent variable (in continuous form) and for any differences in key baseline characteristics (categories of age, sex, diabetes, eGFR, uACR and, in the full trial cohort, region) between treatment groups and weighted in proportion to the amount of follow-up time represented. \*Analyses in the bioimpedance substudy cohort use the 2 and 18 month time windows pre-specified in the substudy Data Analysis Plan and analyse the 620 individuals included in the MMRM analyses of bioimpedance parameters. \*Analyses in the full trial cohort use all available measurements.

Exploration of subgroup effects in the substudy cohort suggested a larger effect on weight in participants with diabetes and at higher eGFR however no strong evidence of heterogeneity was found between participants with or without diabetes in the more highly powered full trial cohort; nor for any other subgroup (Figure 5-1).

*Figure 5-1: Effects of empagliflozin on weight (kg) in the full trial cohort by key bioimpedance substudy pre-specified subgroups* 

| Subgroup        | Baseline Mean (SE)        | Difference (95% CI)              | $\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{het/trend}}$ |
|-----------------|---------------------------|----------------------------------|-----------------------------------|
| Sex             |                           |                                  | 0.56                              |
| Male            | 87.4 (0.3)                | -0.8 (-1.2, -0.5)                |                                   |
| Female          | 76.9 (0.5)                | -1.0 (-1.5, -0.5)                |                                   |
| Diabetes        |                           |                                  | 0.25                              |
| Absent          | 79.5 (0.3)                | -0.8 (-1.1, -0.4)                |                                   |
| Present         | 89.2 (0.4)                | -1.1 (-1.5, -0.7)                |                                   |
| NT-proBNP, ng/I |                           |                                  | 0.03                              |
| <110            | 82.4 (0.4)                | -1.1 (-1.6, -0.6)                |                                   |
| ≥110 <330       | 83.7 (0.5)                | -1.2 (-1.7, -0.7)                |                                   |
| ≥330            | 86.2 (0.5)                | -0.3 (-0.8, 0.2)                 |                                   |
| Estimated GFR,  | mL/min/1.73m <sup>2</sup> |                                  | 0.26                              |
| <30             | 84.8 (0.4) -              | -0.8 (-1.3, -0.4)                |                                   |
| ≥30 <45         | 85.0 (0.4)                | -0.7 (-1.1, -0.3)                |                                   |
| ≥45             | 80.5 (0.6)                | -1.4 (-2.0, -0.8)                |                                   |
| Overall         | 84.0 (0.3)                | -0.9 (-1.2, -0.6)                |                                   |
|                 | -2                        | -1 0 1                           |                                   |
|                 | Favou                     | rs Empagliflozin Favours Placebo |                                   |

Mean effects are adjusted for baseline values of the dependent variable (in continuous form) and for any differences in key baseline characteristics (categories of age, sex, diabetes, eGFR, uACR and, in the full trial cohort, region) between treatment groups and weighted in proportion to the amount of follow-up time represented.

Since study average results from substudy participants used two time windows centred on the 2 and 18 month study visits yet analyses of the full trial cohort used data from all available time points (up to 36 months for some participants), a sensitivity analysis was conducted in the full trial cohort applying the same time windows (2 and 18 months) as were used in the bioimpedance substudy (Figure 5-2). The study average between-group difference in weight in this analysis (-0.8, 95% CI -1.0, -0.5 kg) was very consistent with both the more reliable estimate using all available data in the full trial cohort (-0.9, 95% CI -1.2, -0.6 kg); and with the substudy average (-0.7, 95% CI -1.3, -0.1 kg) confirming that the analysis approach to handling of measurement time did not impact interpretation.

This sensitivity analysis exploring the impact of applying the two time window approach in the full trial cohort was also conducted for the previously selected subgroups (Figure 5-3). This demonstrated broadly consistent effects with greater certainty in the estimates from the full trial cohort (compared with the smaller substudy population); and there was no significant heterogeneity in the effect of empagliflozin on weight in any of these subgroups, consistent with the most reliable analysis using all available data in the full trial cohort as shown in the earlier Figure 5-1. Figure 5-2: Effects of empagliflozin on weight over time in (i) the substudy population; (ii) the full trial cohort applying two time windows (as per substudy approach); and (iii) the full trial cohort using all available data



Figure 5-3: Sensitivity analysis applying two time window approach in subgroup analyses of effects on weight in the (i) substudy and (ii) full trial cohorts

| Subgroup         |                                  | Baseline Mean<br>(SE)                  | Empagliflozin<br>n  | Placebo<br>n        | Difference (95% CI)  | Р    |
|------------------|----------------------------------|--|---------------------|---------------------|--|------|
| Sex              |                                  |  |                     |                     |  |      |
| Substudy         | Male<br>Female                   | 91.8 (0.9)<br>81.2 (1.5)               | 216<br>95           | 217<br>92           | -0.5 (-1.3, 0.2)<br>-1.2 (-2.3, -0.1)  | 0.34 |
| Full Trial       | Male<br>Female                   | 87.4 (0.3)<br>76.9 (0.5)               | 2178<br>1080        | 2178<br>1073        |  | 0.93 |
| Substudy         | No Diabetes<br>Diabetes          | 84.5 (0.9)<br>95.1 (1.3)               | 182<br>129          | 198<br>111          | -0.1 (-0.9, 0.6)<br>-1.6 (-2.6, -0.7)  | 0.02 |
| Full Trial       | No Diabetes<br>Diabetes          | 79.5 (0.3)<br>89.1 (0.4)               | 1760<br>1498        | 1763<br>1488        | -0.6 (-1.0, -0.3)<br>-0.9 (-1.3, -0.6)   | 0.20 |
| Substudy         | <110<br>≥110 <330<br>≥330        | 90.5 (1.3)<br>88.3 (1.3)<br>87.3 (1.4) | 95<br>106<br>110    | 85<br>116<br>108    | -0.5 (-1.6, 0.6)<br>-1.2 (-2.2, -0.2)<br>-0.4 (-1.4, 0.6)                                    | 0.77 |
| Full Trial       | <110<br>≥110 <330<br>≥330        | 82.4 (0.4)<br>83.7 (0.5)<br>86.2 (0.5) | 1231<br>1047<br>980 | 1249<br>1047<br>955 | $\begin{array}{c c} -0.8 (-1.2, -0.4) \\ -0.9 (-1.3, -0.5) \\ -0.6 (-1.0, -0.2) \end{array}$ | 0.53 |
| Estimated GFR, m | $L/min/1.73m^2$                  | · · /                                  |                     |                     |  |      |
| Substudy         | $<30 \\ \geq 30 < 45 \\ \geq 45$ | 88.2 (1.2)<br>89.1 (1.2)<br>88.2 (2.0) | 115<br>137<br>59    | 110<br>148<br>51    | 0.0 (-0.9, 1.0)<br>-1.0 (-1.8, -0.1)<br>-1.8 (-3.2, -0.4)                                    | 0.03 |
| Full Trial       | <30<br>≥30 <45<br>≥45            | 84.8 (0.4)<br>85.0 (0.4)<br>80.4 (0.6) | 1119<br>1437<br>702 | 1130<br>1436<br>685 | -1.0 (-1.4, -0.6)<br>-0.4 (-0.8, -0.0)<br>-1.2 (-1.7, -0.7)                                  | 0.99 |
| Overall          |                                  |  |                     |                     |  |      |
| Substudy         |                                  | 88.6 (0.8)                             | 311                 | 309                 | -0.7(-1.3,-0.1)  |      |
| Full Trial       |                                  | 83.9 (0.3)                             | 3258                | 3251                | -0.8 (-1.0, -0.5)<br>-3 -2 -1 0 1  |      |

Weight (kg)

-2 -1 0 1 Favours Empagliflozin Favours Placebo

## 5.2.3.2 EFFECTS ON BODY MASS INDEX AND WAIST-TO-HIP RATIO

Weight loss was also reflected in minor differences in BMI between treatment groups (Table 5-4). Waist-to-hip ratio at 18 months was not significantly different in those who received empagliflozin versus placebo in either the substudy or full trial cohort (Table 5-5).

|                              | Empaglif | lozin | Placel | 00  |                        |              |
|------------------------------|----------|-------|--------|-----|------------------------|--------------|
|                              | Mean     | SE    | Mean   | SE  | Absolute<br>Difference | 95% CI       |
| Bioimpedance substudy cohort |          |       |        |     |                        |              |
| Randomisation                | 30.2     | 0.3   | 30.1   | 0.4 |                        |              |
| 2-month follow-up            | 29.9     | 0.1   | 30.1   | 0.1 | -0.3                   | (-0.5, -0.1) |
| 18-month follow-up           | 29.7     | 0.1   | 29.9   | 0.1 | -0.2                   | (-0.5, 0.1)  |
| Study average                | 29.8     | 0.1   | 30.0   | 0.1 | -0.3                   | (-0.5, -0.1) |
| Full trial cohort            |          |       |        |     |                        |              |
| Randomisation                | 29.7     | 0.1   | 29.8   | 0.1 |                        |              |
| 2-month follow-up            | 29.5     | 0.0   | 29.8   | 0.0 | -0.3                   | (-0.4, -0.2) |
| 6-month follow-up            | 29.3     | 0.0   | 29.7   | 0.0 | -0.4                   | (-0.5, -0.3) |
| 12-month follow-up           | 29.3     | 0.0   | 29.6   | 0.0 | -0.3                   | (-0.4, -0.2) |
| 18-month follow-up           | 29.2     | 0.0   | 29.5   | 0.0 | -0.3                   | (-0.4, -0.2) |
| 24-month follow-up           | 29.1     | 0.1   | 29.4   | 0.1 | -0.3                   | (-0.5, -0.2) |
| 30-month follow-up           | 29.0     | 0.1   | 29.4   | 0.1 | -0.4                   | (-0.6, -0.2) |
| 36-month follow-up           | 28.8     | 0.1   | 29.2   | 0.1 | -0.4                   | (-0.6, -0.1) |
| Study average                | 29.1     | 0.0   | 29.5   | 0.0 | -0.3                   | (-0.4, -0.2) |

Table 5-4: Effects of empagliflozin on body mass index  $(kg/m^2)$ 

Mean effects are adjusted for baseline values of the dependent variable (in continuous form) and for any differences in key baseline characteristics (categories of age, sex, diabetes, eGFR, uACR and, in the full trial cohort, region) between treatment groups and weighted in proportion to the amount of follow-up time represented.

|                              | Empagl | iflozin | Placebo |        |                        |               |
|------------------------------|--------|---------|---------|--------|------------------------|---------------|
|                              | Mean   | SE      | Mean    | SE     | Absolute<br>Difference | 95% CI        |
| WAIST CIRCUMFERENCE, cm      |        |         |         |        |                        |               |
| Bioimpedance substudy cohort |        |         |         |        |                        |               |
| Randomisation                | 105.2  | (0.8)   | 105.5   | (0.8)  |                        |               |
| 18-month follow-up           | 106.1  | (0.5)   | 105.5   | (0.4)  | 0.6                    | (-0.7, 1.8)   |
| Full trial cohort            |        |         |         |        |                        |               |
| Randomisation                | 102.8  | (0.2)   | 102.7   | (0.2)  |                        |               |
| 18-month follow-up           | 102.2  | (0.2)   | 102.9   | (0.2)  | -0.8                   | (-1.2, -0.3)  |
| HIP CIRCUMFERENCE, cm        |        |         |         |        |                        |               |
| Bioimpedance substudy cohort |        |         |         |        |                        |               |
| Randomisation                | 109.3  | (0.7)   | 109.4   | (0.7)  |                        |               |
| 18-month follow-up           | 109.6  | (0.4)   | 109.1   | (0.4)  | 0.4                    | (-0.6, 1.5)   |
| Full trial cohort            |        |         |         |        |                        |               |
| Randomisation                | 107.3  | (0.2)   | 107.2   | (0.2)  |                        |               |
| 18-month follow-up           | 106.4  | (0.2)   | 107.0   | (0.2)  | -0.6                   | (-1.1, -0.1)  |
| WAIST-TO-HIP RATIO           |        |         |         |        |                        |               |
| Bioimpedance substudy cohort |        |         |         |        |                        |               |
| Randomisation                | 0.96   | (0.01)  | 0.96    | (0.01) |                        |               |
| 18-month follow-up           | 0.97   | (0.00)  | 0.97    | (0.01) | 0.00                   | (-0.02, 0.02) |
| Full trial cohort            |        |         |         |        |                        |               |
| Randomisation                | 0.96   | (0.00)  | 0.96    | (0.00) |                        |               |
| 18 month follow up           | 0.06   | (0.00)  | 0.07    | (0,00) | 0.00                   | (0.01, 0.00)  |

Table 5-5: Effects of empagliflozin on waist-to-hip ratio

Mean effects are adjusted for baseline values of the dependent variable (in continuous form) and for any differences in key baseline characteristics (categories of age, sex, diabetes, eGFR, uACR and, in the full trial cohort, region). Waist, hip and the associated ratio measures were analysed at a single follow-up time point and are therefore analysed by analysis of covariance (ANCOVA). Full trial cohort analyses include all 6609 participants; missing measurements were handled by mean imputation for baseline and multiple imputation for follow-up measurements. Substudy cohort analyses include the 620 individuals included in the MMRM analyses of bioimpedance parameters, all of whom had a baseline waist-to-hip measurement; missing follow-up measurements were imputed following the same procedure for the full trial cohort.

# 5.2.4 EFFECTS OF EMPAGLIFLOZIN ON RELATED BIOCHEMICAL PARAMETERS IN THE FULL TRIAL COHORT AND BIOIMPEDANCE SUBSTUDY

## 5.2.4.1 EFFECTS OF EMPAGLIFLOZIN ON GLYCATED HAEMOGLOBIN

Since analyses of effects of empagliflozin on anthropometry demonstrated the ability to produce more reliable estimates using larger participant numbers in the full trial cohort, the same approach was followed for related laboratory parameters and results from the full trial cohort are emphasised first and substudy results are then related to these. The study-average difference in HbA1c in the full trial cohort was -0.4 mmol/mol (95% CI -0.8, -0.0; Table 5-6). There was some evidence that effects of empagliflozin appeared to differ according to whether or not participants had diabetes at baseline (heterogeneity P = 0.03); the between-group difference in HbA1c was -0.9 mmol/mol (95% CI -1.6, -0.1) in participants with diabetes at randomisation with no HbA1c difference between allocated treatment groups among participants without diabetes at baseline (0.0 mmol/mol, 95% CI - 0.2, 0.2; Table 5-6). Such small effects on HbA1c were not detectable in the smaller substudy population (Table 5-6).

|  |                          | Empag | liflozin | Plac | ebo |               |                                 |      |  |
|--|--------------------------|-------|----------|------|-----|---------------|---------------------------------|------|--|
|  | Participants<br>analysed | Mean  | SE       | Mean | SE  | Absolut<br>(9 | Absolute Difference<br>(95% CI) |      |  |
| Full trial cohort  |                          |       |          |      |     |               |                                 |      |  |
| Prior diabetes   | 2914                     | 53.4  | 0.3      | 54.3 | 0.3 | -0.9          | (-1.6, -0.1)                    | 0.02 |  |
| No prior diabetes  | 3444                     | 36.9  | 0.1      | 36.9 | 0.1 | 0.0           | (-0.2, 0.2)                     | 0.03 |  |
| All participants   | 6358                     | 44.5  | 0.1      | 44.9 | 0.1 | -0.4          | (-0.8, -0.0)                    |      |  |
|  |                          |       |          |      |     |               |                                 |      |  |
| Bioimpedance substudy coho   | rt                       |       |          |      |     |               |                                 |      |  |
| Prior diabetes   | 240                      | 53.8  | 0.6      | 53.8 | 0.6 | 0.0           | (-1.6, 1.6)                     | 0.72 |  |
| No prior diabetes  | 379                      | 37.1  | 0.2      | 36.8 | 0.1 | 0.3           | (-0.2, 0.7)                     | 0.72 |  |
| All participants   | 619                      | 43.5  | 0.2      | 43.3 | 0.2 | 0.2           | (-0.5, 0.9)                     |      |  |
|  |                          |       |          |      |     |               |                                 |      |  |
| Study averages are adjusted for baseline values of the dependent variable (in continuous form) and for any differences in key baseline |                          |       |          |      |     |               |                                 |      |  |

Table 5-6: Effects of empagliflozin on HbA1c (mmol/mol)

Study averages are adjusted for baseline values of the dependent variable (in continuous form) and for any differences in key baseline characteristics (categories of age, sex, diabetes, eGFR, uACR and, in the full trial cohort, region) between treatment groups. Analyses use central laboratory samples from randomisation, 2-, 18-, 24- and 30-month follow-up visits, weighted in proportion to the amount of follow-up time represented.

## 5.2.4.2 EFFECTS OF EMPAGLIFLOZIN ON HAEMATOCRIT

An increase in haematocrit was observed in the empagliflozin group relative to placebo: the full trial cohort average between-group difference in haematocrit at 18 months post-randomisation was 2.3% (95% CI 1.9, 2.7) and results in the substudy population were consistent (Table 5-7).

In the empagliflozin arm, change in haematocrit (randomisation to 18 months) in the substudy cohort correlated with change in absolute "Fluid Overload" in the 67 participants with such measurements (Spearman's correlation -0.3).

Table 5-7: Effects of empagliflozin on haematocrit (%)

|                              |                          | Empagliflozin |     | Place | 00  |              |                         |
|------------------------------|--------------------------|---------------|-----|-------|-----|--------------|-------------------------|
|                              | Participants<br>analysed | Mean          | SE  | Mean  | SE  | Absolu<br>(9 | te Difference<br>5% CI) |
| Full trial cohort            | 1368                     | 40.7          | 0.1 | 38.4  | 0.1 | 2.3          | (1.9, 2.7)              |
|                              |                          |               |     |       |     |              |                         |
| Bioimpedance substudy cohort | 196                      | 41.7          | 0.3 | 39.1  | 0.3 | 2.5          | (1.7, 3.4)              |
|                              |                          |               |     |       |     |              |                         |

Study averages are adjusted for baseline values of the dependent variable (in continuous form) and for any differences in key baseline characteristics (categories of age, sex, diabetes, eGFR, uACR and, in the full trial cohort, region) between treatment groups. Haematocrit was only assessed in a ~20% subset of the full trial cohort using local laboratory measurements at randomisation and 18 months using analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) and excludes those with missing baseline measurements. Haematocrit is analysed in the 196 of the 620 bioimpedance substudy cohort with an 18-month measurement with mean imputation of missing baseline measurements for consistency with the substudy analysis approach.

## 5.3 DISCUSSION

Empagliflozin had no significant effect on adiposity in the substudy population. This is in contrast to other small trial substudies of SGLT2 inhibitors which used dual energy x-ray absorptiometry (DEXA) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). These results should be interpreted in the context of population characteristics – existing body composition substudies are limited to participants with type 2 diabetes with largely normal kidney function (Bolinder et al., 2014, Ridderstråle et al., 2014, Sasaki et al., 2019). Although not previously used in SGLT2 inhibitor trials, bioimpedance has been used to assess body composition changes associated with SGLT2 inhibitor treatment in small observational studies, again only in participants with diabetes (Kurinami et al., 2018, Schork et al., 2019, Ohara et al., 2020) and fat loss was greater in participants with higher baseline HbA1c (Kurinami et al., 2018). In EMPA-KIDNEY, 37% of bioimpedance substudy participants had diabetes with a mean baseline glycated haemoglobin of 43.7 mmol/mol. Coupled with reduced levels of glomerular filtration (substudy mean baseline eGFR 36 mL/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup>), filtered glucose load can be expected to be low, therefore limiting caloric loss associated with SGLT2 inhibitor treatment in this population.

Empagliflozin lowered body weight by ~1 kg which was reflected in a minor difference between the groups in BMI but no meaningful effect on waist-to-hip ratio. Effects on weight were consistent across subgroups analysed and did not importantly differ when different approaches to handling measurement time were applied in analyses. Effects on weight in EMPA-KIDNEY are remarkably consistent with the CREDENCE trial in a CKD population with diabetes (Ye et al., 2021) but somewhat smaller than pooled estimates of effects on weight from heart failure trials (Li et al., 2022). The differences observed in HbA1c between the empagliflozin and placebo groups in EMPA-KIDNEY were small (and not significant in participants without diabetes) and are insufficient to explain the observed ~1 kg weight loss caused by SGLT2 inhibitors. Furthermore, since there was no significant observable effect on lean or fat tissue parameters in this EMPA-KIDNEY bioimpedance substudy and an approximate 0.8 L between-group difference in total body water, this suggests that weight loss was almost entirely the result of fluid loss (and not fat loss) in the EMPA-KIDNEY substudy.

To further explore these findings in EMPA-KIDNEY, *post-hoc* analyses were conducted firstly assessing effects on lean, adipose and fat tissue mass (from which the indices are derived) and secondly on the "raw" bioimpedance measurements of extracellular and intracellular resistance (from which all fluid and adiposity parameters are ultimately derived). This analysis sought to test for a "true" between-group difference in the measured (rather than derived) parameters. A statistically significant effect was observed on extracellular but not intracellular resistance, in keeping with effects on the derived parameters and also with the derivation methods outlined in section 2.3.8 since bioimpedance-derived "Fluid Overload" reflects excess extracellular water and fat/lean tissue is intracellular. It is relevant that the effect of empagliflozin on intracellular water (reported in section 4.2.6) was only nominally significant and reductions in body water were largely extracellular. These *post-hoc* analyses therefore provide reassurance that the analysis parameters are reliable.

Supplementary analyses of the available laboratory parameters HbA1c and haematocrit in EMPA-KIDNEY further corroborate bioimpedance analyses. Empagliflozin had a negligible effect on HbA1c, consistent with the lack of effect on fat mass. Haematocrit was

significantly higher in participants receiving empagliflozin, compared with placebo. This observation is directionally consistent with the diuretic phenomenon however is likely to more closely reflect plasma volume rather than interstitial fluid dynamics which SGLT2 inhibitors are known to alter to a greater extent (Hallow et al., 2018). The more likely conclusion is that a rise in haematocrit reflects the erythropoiesis-stimulating effects of SGLT2 inhibitors and is not exclusively related to diuretic effects (Inzucchi et al., 2018, Zannad et al., 2022).

The substudy has certain limitations. Firstly, analysed bioimpedance parameters are derived (from extracellular and intracellular resistance values) and are not direct measurements therefore it is not possible to precisely quantify differences in body composition however *post-hoc* analyses of extracellular and intracellular resistance corroborate findings. Furthermore, derivation is based on formulae normalised to healthy reference populations, not kidney disease populations, however the device has been extensively validated (for fluid assessment) in kidney failure cohorts. Bioimpedance devices (and particularly the trial's selected device) are primarily used for fluid assessment and much less commonly to quantify body composition in people with kidney disease and the substudy was not powered for adiposity assessments. Secondly, some scheduled bioimpedance measurements were missed largely due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic necessitating remote follow-up. Thirdly, the substudy was only conducted in the UK and Germany and is therefore largely restricted to white individuals. Lastly, the substudy was not primarily powered to assess modest effects on adiposity, and so an effect on adiposity cannot be ruled out.

In summary, empagliflozin lowered body weight (by around 1 kg) but had no significant effect on fat mass or lean tissue mass in the EMPA-KIDNEY trial population with CKD, suggesting that weight loss is largely accounted for by fluid loss in CKD as reported in Chapter 4. The relationship between findings reported in Chapter 4 (effects on bioimpedance-derived "Fluid Overload") and Chapter 5 (effects of empagliflozin on weight and bioimpedance fat and lean tissue parameters) are further consolidated in the final discussion in Chapter 8.

## CHAPTER 6 – EFFECTS OF EMPAGLIFLOZIN ON BLOOD PRESSURE

## 6.1 INTRODUCTION

High blood pressure is both a cause and consequence of chronic kidney disease (CKD) and is associated with increased cardiovascular morbidity and mortality. Sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibitors have consistently been shown, in large randomised controlled trials, to have modest blood pressure lowering effects in all studied populations. Reductions in blood pressure are in the order of around 4 mmHg for systolic and 1.5 mmHg for diastolic blood pressure in populations with type 2 diabetes (Mazidi et al., 2017) with reductions similar in magnitude in both heart failure and CKD trials (Beal et al., 2023, Heerspink et al., 2024). Moreover, the effect of SGLT2 inhibitors on blood pressure also appears to be sustained (Heerspink et al., 2024).

In the previous chapters, the effects of empagliflozin on bioimpedance-derived estimates of body water and body fat were reported in the context of the effects of empagliflozin on total body weight. Subgroup analyses assessed for heterogeneity of treatment effects on "Fluid Overload" and weight according to the same participant characteristics (sex, diabetes, estimated glomerular filtration rate [eGFR] and N-terminal pro B-type natriuretic peptide [NT-proBNP]) to allow comparison. In this chapter, the effects of empagliflozin on blood pressure are reported, since the antihypertensive effects of SGLT2 inhibitors are thought to be at least in part mediated by diuretic mechanisms. Furthermore, one of the consequences of fluid overload is worsening hypertension which is a key priority in the management of CKD. Blood pressure analyses were conducted in the full EMPA-KIDNEY trial population to contextualise analyses of the effects of empagliflozin on fluid status (Chapter 4) in larger participant numbers.

## 6.2 RESULTS

## 6.2.1 EFFECTS OF EMPAGLIFLOZIN ON SYSTOLIC AND DIASTOLIC BLOOD PRESSURE

Results from the full trial cohort are emphasised (rather than the substudy population) since these are considered more reliable treatment estimates owing to larger numbers of participants and therefore greater statistical power. Results are presented separately for the

bioimpedance substudy cohort to allow interpretation in context of the effects on bioimpedance-derived fluid parameters. The study-average between-group differences in systolic and diastolic blood pressure in the full trial cohort were -2.6 mmHg (95% CI -3.3, -1.9) and -0.5 mmHg (95% CI -0.9, -0.1), respectively (Table 6-1). The effects of study treatment on blood pressure were similar in substudy versus non-substudy participants (systolic blood pressure heterogeneity P value = 0.52; Table 6-1).

|                                     | Empagliflozin |     | Place | ebo |                        |              |                            |
|-------------------------------------|---------------|-----|-------|-----|------------------------|--------------|----------------------------|
|                                     | Mean          | SE  | Mean  | SE  | Absolute<br>Difference | 95% CI       | Interaction<br>with time P |
| SYSTOLIC BLOOD PRESSURE             | , mmHg        |     |       |     |                        |              |                            |
| Full trial cohort                   |               |     |       |     |                        |              | < 0.001                    |
| Randomisation                       | 136.4         | 0.3 | 136.7 | 0.3 |                        |              |                            |
| 2-month follow-up                   | 131.8         | 0.3 | 135.8 | 0.3 | -4.0                   | (-4.7, -3.2) |                            |
| 6-month follow-up                   | 131.7         | 0.3 | 134.7 | 0.3 | -3.0                   | (-3.8, -2.2) |                            |
| 12-month follow-up                  | 133.3         | 0.3 | 136.3 | 0.3 | -3.0                   | (-3.8, -2.2) |                            |
| 18-month follow-up                  | 133.0         | 0.3 | 135.3 | 0.3 | -2.3                   | (-3.2, -1.4) |                            |
| 24-month follow-up                  | 133.8         | 0.4 | 135.3 | 0.4 | -1.6                   | (-2.6, -0.5) |                            |
| 30-month follow-up                  | 132.5         | 0.5 | 135.4 | 0.5 | -2.9                   | (-4.1, -1.6) |                            |
| 36-month follow-up                  | 132.7         | 0.9 | 134.5 | 0.9 | -1.8                   | (-4.3, 0.6)  |                            |
| Study average                       | 132.7         | 0.2 | 135.3 | 0.2 | -2.6                   | (-3.3, -1.9) |                            |
| Bioimpedance substudy cohort        |               |     |       |     |                        |              | 0.029                      |
| Randomisation                       | 137.0         | 1.1 | 137.3 | 1.1 |                        |              |                            |
| 2-month follow-up                   | 132.0         | 0.9 | 136.3 | 0.9 | -4.3                   | (-6.7, -1.9) |                            |
| 18-month follow-up                  | 132.2         | 1.1 | 134.2 | 1.1 | -2.0                   | (-4.9, 0.9)  |                            |
| Study average                       | 132.1         | 0.8 | 135.4 | 0.8 | -3.3                   | (-5.5, -1.2) |                            |
|                                     |               |     |       |     |                        |              |                            |
| DIASTOLIC BLOOD PRESSUR             | E, mmHg       |     |       |     |                        |              |                            |
| Full trial cohort                   |               |     |       |     |                        |              | 0.004                      |
| Randomisation                       | 78.1          | 0.2 | 78.1  | 0.2 |                        |              |                            |
| 2-month follow-up                   | 76.3          | 0.2 | 77.4  | 0.2 | -1.1                   | (-1.6, -0.7) |                            |
| 6-month follow-up                   | 76.4          | 0.2 | 77.2  | 0.2 | -0.8                   | (-1.3, -0.3) |                            |
| 12-month follow-up                  | 76.8          | 0.2 | 77.3  | 0.2 | -0.5                   | (-1.0, -0.1) |                            |
| 18-month follow-up                  | 76.6          | 0.2 | 77.0  | 0.2 | -0.4                   | (-0.9, 0.1)  |                            |
| 24-month follow-up                  | 76.8          | 0.2 | 76.3  | 0.2 | 0.4                    | (-0.2, 1.1)  |                            |
| 30-month follow-up                  | 76.1          | 0.3 | 76.5  | 0.3 | -0.3                   | (-1.1, 0.4)  |                            |
| 36-month follow-up                  | 75.5          | 0.5 | 76.4  | 0.5 | -0.9                   | (-2.3, 0.5)  |                            |
| Study average                       | 76.3          | 0.1 | 76.8  | 0.1 | -0.5                   | (-0.9, -0.1) |                            |
| <b>Bioimpedance substudy cohort</b> |               |     |       |     |                        |              | 0.14                       |
| Randomisation                       | 77.9          | 0.7 | 78.8  | 0.7 |                        |              |                            |
| 2-month follow-up                   | 77.3          | 0.5 | 77.8  | 0.5 | -0.5                   | (-1.9, 0.9)  |                            |
| 18-month follow-up                  | 77.7          | 0.6 | 77.5  | 0.6 | 0.2                    | (-1.5, 1.9)  |                            |
| Study average                       | 77.5          | 0.4 | 77.7  | 0.4 | -0.2                   | (-1.4, 1.0)  |                            |

Table 6-1: Effects of empagliflozin on systolic and diastolic blood pressure

Mean effects are adjusted for baseline values of the dependent variable (in continuous form) and for any differences in key baseline characteristics (categories of age, sex, diabetes, eGFR, uACR and, in the full trial cohort, region) between treatment groups and weighted in proportion to the amount of follow-up time represented. The P values for the interaction with time are extracted from likelihood ratio tests comparing models with and without an interaction term testing for significant interaction between treatment allocation and time (using all available time points).

In the full trial cohort, there was no evidence of heterogeneity of the effect of empagliflozin on systolic blood pressure when subdivided by sex, baseline eGFR, NT-proBNP (Figure 6-1) but there was some evidence to suggest greater antihypertensive effects in patients with diabetes (-3.8 [-4.7, -2.8] versus -1.5 [-2.5, -0.6] mmHg; heterogeneity P value = 0.001; Figure 6-1).

Effects on systolic blood pressure did not differ according to baseline albuminuria category, blood pressure at baseline nor baseline body weight however there was some evidence to suggest that antihypertensive effects of empagliflozin appear larger in combination with RAS inhibitor therapy (heterogeneity P value = 0.02; Figure 6-2).

Figure 6-1: Effects of empagliflozin on systolic blood pressure in the full trial cohort by key bioimpedance substudy pre-specified subgroups



Figure 6-2: Effects of empagliflozin on systolic blood pressure in the full trial cohort by additional post-hoc subgroups

| Subgroup            | Baseline Mean (SE)             |                      | Difference (95% CI) | $\mathbf{P}_{\text{het/trend}}$ |
|---------------------|--------------------------------|----------------------|---------------------|---------------------------------|
| Baseline Urinary A  | lbumin-to-Creatinine Ratio (mg | /g)                  |                     |                                 |
| <30                 | 130.8 (0.5)                    |                      | -2.7 (-4.2, -1.3)   | 0.69                            |
| ≥30 <300            | 134.4 (0.4)                    |                      | -2.1 (-3.4, -0.8)   |                                 |
| ≥300                | 139.9 (0.3)                    | <b>_</b>             | -2.9 (-3.9, -1.9)   |                                 |
| Baseline Systolic B | lood Pressure (mmHg)           |                      |                     | 0.63                            |
| <130                | 118.2 (0.2)                    |                      | -2.6 (-3.7, -1.5)   |                                 |
| ≥130 <145           | 136.6 (0.1)                    |                      | -2.0 (-3.2, -0.8)   |                                 |
| ≥145                | 158.1 (0.2)                    |                      | -3.1 (-4.3, -1.8)   |                                 |
| Baseline Weight (kg | g)                             |                      |                     | 0.20                            |
| <73                 | 136.2 (0.3)                    |                      | -1.9 (-3.0, -0.9)   |                                 |
| ≥73 <90             | 136.5 (0.4)                    |                      | -2.8 (-4.1, -1.6)   |                                 |
| ≥90                 | 137.2 (0.4)                    |                      | -3.1 (-4.4, -1.8)   |                                 |
| RAS Inhibitor       |                                |                      |                     | 0.02                            |
| No                  | 137.0 (0.6)                    |                      | -0.5 (-2.4, 1.4)    |                                 |
| Yes                 | 136.4 (0.2)                    |                      | -2.9 (-3.6, -2.2)   |                                 |
| Beta Blocker        |                                |                      |                     | 0.61                            |
| No                  | 135.6 (0.3)                    |                      | -2.4 (-3.3, -1.5)   |                                 |
| Yes                 | 137.8 (0.4)                    |                      | -2.8 (-3.8, -1.8)   |                                 |
| Diuretic            |                                |                      |                     | 0.59                            |
| No                  | 136.7 (0.3)                    |                      | -2.4 (-3.4, -1.5)   |                                 |
| Yes                 | 136.3 (0.4)                    |                      | -2.8 (-3.8, -1.8)   |                                 |
| Overall             | 136.5 (0.2)                    |                      | -2.6 (-3.3, -1.9)   |                                 |
|                     | -5                             | -4 -3 -2 -           | -1 0 1              |                                 |
|                     | ←                              | Empagliflozin Better | Placebo Better      |                                 |

Mean effects are adjusted for baseline values of the dependent variable (in continuous form) and for any differences in key baseline characteristics (categories of age, sex, diabetes, eGFR, uACR and, in the full trial cohort, region) between treatment groups and weighted in proportion to the amount of follow-up time represented. Participants with missing baseline weight are included in the median category.

Since study average results from substudy participants used two time windows centred on the 2 and 18 month study visits yet analyses of the full trial cohort used data from all available time points (up to 36 months for some participants), a sensitivity analysis was conducted assessing the effect of empagliflozin on systolic blood pressure in the full trial cohort applying the same time windows (2 and 18 months) as were used in the bioimpedance substudy. The study average between-group difference in systolic blood pressure in this analysis (-3.2, 95% CI -3.9, -2.6 mmHg) was very consistent with both the more reliable estimate using all available data in the full trial cohort (-2.6, 95% CI -3.3, -1.9 mmHg); and with the substudy average (-3.3, 95% CI -5.5, -1.2 mmHg) confirming that the analysis approach to handling of measurement time did not impact interpretation.

This sensitivity analysis exploring the impact of applying the two time window approach in the full trial cohort was also conducted for the previously selected subgroups. This demonstrated broadly consistent effects with greater certainty in the estimates from the full trial cohort (compared with the smaller substudy population); and there was no significant heterogeneity in the effect of empagliflozin on systolic blood pressure in any of these subgroups with the exception of the diabetes subgroup, consistent with the most reliable analysis using all available data in the full trial cohort as shown in the earlier Figure 6-1. This analysis is presented for systolic blood pressure only for simplicity of presentation though patterns were consistent in analysis of diastolic blood pressure.

The effects of empagliflozin on blood pressure differed across time with more pronounced antihypertensive effects evident at the early 2-month follow-up time point (P value for interaction between treatment effect and time in the full trial cohort <0.001 for systolic and = 0.004 for diastolic blood pressure; Table 6-1 & Figure 6-3).

Figure 6-3: Effects of empagliflozin on systolic and diastolic blood pressure over time in (i) the substudy population; (ii) the full trial cohort applying two time windows (as per substudy approach); and (iii) the full trial cohort using all available data



Figure 6-4: Sensitivity analysis applying two time window approach in subgroup analyses of effects on systolic blood pressure in the (i) substudy and (ii) full trial cohorts

| Subgroup         |  | Baseline Mean<br>(SE)                     | Empagliflozin<br>n  | Placebo<br>n        | Difference (95% CI)   | Р       |
|------------------|--|---|---------------------|---------------------|---|---------|
| Sex              |  |   |                     |                     |   |         |
| Substudy         | Male<br>Female                                     | 137.8 (0.9)<br>135.7 (1.4)                | 216<br>95           | 217<br>91           | -3.2 (-5.8, -0.7)<br>-3.6 (-7.5, 0.4)   | 0.89    |
| Full Trial       | Male<br>Female                                     | 137.4 (0.3)<br>134.8 (0.4)                | 2178<br>1084        | 2181<br>1075        | - <b>3</b> .0 (-3.8, -2.2)<br>- <b>3</b> .7 (-4.8, -2.7)                      | 0.27    |
| Diabetes         |  |   |                     |                     |   |         |
| Substudy         | No Diabete<br>Diabetes                             | s 135.5 (0.9)<br>139.8 (1.3)              | 182<br>129          | 197<br>111 -        | -1.4 (-4.1, 1.3)<br>-6.2 (-9.7, -2.8)   | 0.03    |
| Full Trial       | No Diabete<br>Diabetes                             | s 134.3 (0.3)<br>139.2 (0.3)              | 1762<br>1500        | 1764<br>1492        | - <b>-</b>  | < 0.001 |
| Substudy         | <110<br>≥110 <330<br>≥330                          | 135.1 (1.3)<br>137.7 (1.3)<br>138.3 (1.4) | 95<br>106<br>110    | 85<br>115<br>108    | -2.6 (-6.6, 1.5)<br>-3.3 (-6.9, 0.3)<br>-3.9 (-7.6, -0.2)                     | 0.65    |
| Full Trial       | $<110 \\ \ge 110 < 330 \\ \ge 330 \\ = 100 < 330 $ | 133.2 (0.3)<br>137.6 (0.4)<br>139.6 (0.5) | 1231<br>1049<br>982 | 1248<br>1050<br>958 | -2.8 (-3.8, -1.8)<br>-3.6 (-4.7, -2.5)<br>-3.4 (-4.5, -2.2)                   | 0.45    |
| Estimated GFR, m | $L/mm/1./3m^{2}$                                   | 127.4 (1.2)                               | 115                 | 110                 |   |         |
| Substudy         | $<30 \\ \geq 30 < 45 \\ \geq 45$                   | 137.4 (1.3) 136.9 (1.1) 137.4 (2.0)       | 115<br>137<br>59    | 110<br>148<br>50    | -5.7 (-9.3, -2.1)<br>-2.4 (-5.5, 0.8)<br>-1.8 (-6.9, 3.2)                     | 0.16    |
| Full Trial       | <30<br>≥30 <45<br>≥45                              | 137.6 (0.4)<br>136.0 (0.3)<br>135.9 (0.5) | 1119<br>1440<br>703 | 1133<br>1437<br>686 | -4.0 (-5.0, -2.9)<br>-3.1 (-4.0, -2.2)<br>-2.4 (-3.7, -1.0)                   | 0.06    |
| Overall          |  |   |                     |                     |   |         |
| Substudy         |  | 137.2 (0.8)                               | 311                 | 308                 | -3.3 (-5.5, -1.2)   |         |
| Full Trial       |  | 136.5 (0.2)                               | 3262                | 3256<br>-10         | -3.2 (-3.9, -2.6)<br>-8 -6 -4 -2 0 2<br>Favours Empagliflozin Favours Placebo |         |

Systolic Blood Pressure (mmHg)

Shown for systolic blood pressure only (and not diastolic) for simplicity of presentation; findings were consistent.

## 6.2.2 EFFECTS OF EMPAGLIFLOZIN ON PULSE PRESSURE AND MEAN ARTERIAL PRESSURE

The effects of empagliflozin on blood pressure were also expressed in terms of effects on pulse pressure and mean arterial pressure (*post-hoc*), as well as systolic and diastolic blood pressure, for the full trial cohort. These were not reported for the smaller substudy cohort since the overall effect on diastolic blood pressure in the substudy was not statistically significant. Consistent with the effective reductions in systolic and diastolic blood pressure, both pulse pressure and mean arterial pressure were significantly lower in participants in the empagliflozin group versus placebo averaged across the study period. The study average between-group difference (95% CI) was -2.1 (-2.7, -1.5) mmHg for pulse pressure and -0.9 (-1.3, -0.5) mmHg for mean arterial pressure in the full trial cohort with available blood pressure measurements (Table 6-2).

|                         | Empagliflozin |     | Placebo |     |                        |              |                            |
|-------------------------|---------------|-----|---------|-----|------------------------|--------------|----------------------------|
|                         | Mean          | SE  | Mean    | SE  | Absolute<br>Difference | 95% CI       | Interaction<br>with time P |
| PULSE PRESSURE, mmHg    |               |     |         |     |                        |              | 0.10                       |
| Randomisation           | 58.3          | 0.3 | 58.6    | 0.3 |                        |              |                            |
| 2-month follow-up       | 55.6          | 0.2 | 58.4    | 0.2 | -2.9                   | (-3.5, -2.2) |                            |
| 6-month follow-up       | 55.4          | 0.2 | 57.6    | 0.2 | -2.2                   | (-2.8, -1.5) |                            |
| 12-month follow-up      | 56.5          | 0.2 | 59.0    | 0.2 | -2.5                   | (-3.1, -1.8) |                            |
| 18-month follow-up      | 56.4          | 0.3 | 58.3    | 0.3 | -1.9                   | (-2.6, -1.2) |                            |
| 24-month follow-up      | 57.0          | 0.3 | 59.0    | 0.3 | -2.0                   | (-2.8, -1.1) |                            |
| 30-month follow-up      | 56.4          | 0.4 | 59.0    | 0.4 | -2.6                   | (-3.6, -1.5) |                            |
| 36-month follow-up      | 57.1          | 0.8 | 58.1    | 0.8 | -1.0                   | (-3.1, 1.1)  |                            |
| Study average           | 56.4          | 0.2 | 58.5    | 0.2 | -2.1                   | (-2.7, -1.5) |                            |
|                         |               |     |         |     |                        |              |                            |
| MEAN ARTERIAL PRESSURE, | mmHg          |     |         |     |                        |              | < 0.001                    |
| Randomisation           | 97.5          | 0.2 | 97.6    | 0.2 |                        |              |                            |
| 2-month follow-up       | 94.8          | 0.2 | 96.9    | 0.2 | -2.1                   | (-2.6, -1.6) |                            |
| 6-month follow-up       | 90.2          | 0.2 | 91.6    | 0.2 | -1.3                   | (-1.8, -0.8) |                            |
| 12-month follow-up      | 88.1          | 0.2 | 89.1    | 0.2 | -1.0                   | (-1.5, -0.5) |                            |
| 18-month follow-up      | 86.0          | 0.2 | 86.7    | 0.2 | -0.7                   | (-1.3, -0.2) |                            |
| 24-month follow-up      | 84.9          | 0.2 | 84.7    | 0.2 | 0.2                    | (-0.5, 0.8)  |                            |
| 30-month follow-up      | 83.1          | 0.3 | 83.7    | 0.3 | -0.6                   | (-1.4, 0.1)  |                            |
| 36-month follow-up      | 81.7          | 0.5 | 82.8    | 0.5 | -1.0                   | (-2.5, 0.4)  |                            |
| Study average           | 86.5          | 0.1 | 87.4    | 0.1 | -0.9                   | (-1.3, -0.5) |                            |

Table 6-2: Effects of empagliflozin on pulse pressure and mean arterial pressure in the full trial cohort

Mean effects are adjusted for baseline values of the dependent variable (in continuous form) and for any differences in key baseline characteristics (categories of age, sex, diabetes, eGFR, uACR and region) between treatment groups and weighted in proportion to the amount of follow-up time represented. The P values for the interaction with time are extracted from likelihood ratio tests comparing models with and without an interaction term testing for significant interaction between treatment allocation and time (using all available time points).



Figure 6-5: Effects of empagliflozin over time on systolic blood pressure, pulse pressure, diastolic blood pressure and mean arterial pressure in the full trial cohort

## 6.2.3 EFFECTS OF EMPAGLIFLOZIN ON ANTHROPOMETRY, BLOOD PRESSURE AND LABORATORY PARAMETERS BY RACE

This analysis was conducted in an attempt to address the limitation that the substudy population was restricted to largely white participants since it was conducted in the UK and Germany only. Effects on non-bioimpedance parameters were stratified by race in the full trial cohort to assess for any evidence of heterogeneity. Treatment effects on weight, body mass index (BMI), systolic blood pressure, glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) and haematocrit were all consistent irrespective of race (heterogeneity P > 0.3 for all analyses; Figure 6-6).

| Race   | Baseline Mean (SE)   | Difference (9 | 5% CI)   | <b>P</b> <sub>het</sub> |
|--|--|---------------|--|-------------------------|
| WEIGHT (kg)  |  |               |  | 0.53                    |
| White<br>Asian<br>Black<br>Mixed/Other<br><b>Overall</b> | 91.0 (0.3)<br>71.0 (0.3)<br>98.5 (1.4)<br>87.5 (2.2)<br><b>84.0 (0.3)</b>      |               | -0.8 (-1.2, -0.4)<br>-1.1 (-1.6, -0.6)<br>-0.5 (-1.9, 1.0)<br>-1.8 (-4.4, 0.7)<br>-0.9 (-1.2, -0.6)  | 0.55                    |
| BODY MASS IN   | DEX (kg/m²)  |               |  | 0.38                    |
| White<br>Asian<br>Black<br>Mixed/Other<br><b>Overall</b> | 31.4 (0.1)<br>26.4 (0.1)<br>34.5 (0.5)<br>31.0 (0.7)<br><b>29.7 (0.1)</b>      |               | -0.3 (-0.4, -0.2)<br>-0.4 (-0.6, -0.2)<br>-0.2 (-0.7, 0.3)<br>-0.7 (-1.6, 0.2)<br>-0.3 (-0.4, -0.2)  |                         |
| SYSTOLIC BLO   | OD PRESSURE (mmHg)   |               |  | 0.60                    |
| White<br>Asian<br>Black<br>Mixed/Other<br><b>Overall</b> | 135.5 (0.3)<br>138.2 (0.4)<br>135.9 (1.1)<br>138.0 (1.9)<br><b>136.5 (0.2)</b> |               | -2.6 (-3.5, -1.7)<br>-2.6 (-3.9, -1.4)<br>-4.8 (-8.1, -1.6)<br>-0.6 (-7.5, 6.3)<br>-2.6 (-3.3, -1.9) |                         |
| GLYCATED HAD   | EMOGLOBIN (mmol/mol)   |               |  | 0.87                    |
| White<br>Asian<br>Black<br>Mixed/Other<br><b>Overall</b> | 45.3 (0.2)<br>43.9 (0.3)<br>48.5 (1.0)<br>47.1 (1.4)<br><b>44.9 (0.2)</b>      |               | -0.3 (-0.8, 0.2)<br>-0.5 (-1.1, 0.1)<br>1.4 (-0.6, 3.4)<br>-2.8 (-6.2, 0.5)<br>-0.4 (-0.8, -0.0)     |                         |
| HAEMATOCRIT  | · (%)  |               |  | 0.90                    |
| White<br>Asian<br>Black<br>Mixed/Other<br><b>Overall</b> | 39.0 (0.2)<br>39.0 (0.2)<br>36.0 (0.9)<br>38.7 (0.9)<br><b>38.9 (0.1)</b>      |               | 2.2 (1.7, 2.7)<br>2.6 (1.9, 3.2)<br>1.9 (-0.5, 4.3)<br>1.0 (-2.1, 4.0)<br><b>2.3 (1.9, 2.7)</b>      |                         |

Figure 6-6: Effects of empagliflozin in the full trial cohort by race

### 6.3 DISCUSSION

In EMPA-KIDNEY, empagliflozin modestly lowered blood pressure (by 2.6 mmHg systolic and 0.5 mmHg diastolic) irrespective of baseline kidney function but with larger effects on blood pressure in patients with diabetes. Consistent effects were observed on pulse pressure and mean arterial pressure as could be expected. The overall blood pressure-lowering effects of empagliflozin observed are consistent with other large SGLT2 inhibitor trials demonstrating statistically significant modest effects on systolic blood pressure but negligible effects on diastolic blood pressure (Li et al., 2022, Heerspink et al., 2024). The antihypertensive mechanisms of SGLT2 inhibitors are not fully understood and are thought to include diuretic and natriuretic effects; weight loss and sympathetic nervous system inhibition amongst other mechanisms (van Ruiten et al., 2022, Wilcox, 2020).

In EMPA-KIDNEY, the antihypertensive effects of empagliflozin were maintained at lower levels of kidney function, consistent with existing literature (Cherney et al., 2018, Ye et al., 2021) however differential effects were evident according to diabetes status. This finding has not been reported previously and investigators of the DAPA-CKD and CREDENCE trials concluded that blood pressure-lowering effects were consistent irrespective of glycaemic status in their trial populations (Heerspink et al., 2024, Ye et al., 2021). EMPA-KIDNEY analyses do not adjust for multiple testing and chance findings cannot be excluded; a true difference might be explained by the inclusion of greater numbers of participants without diabetes in EMPA-KIDNEY and as such greater sensitivity to assess such effects. Furthermore, blood pressure-lowering effects were consistent across follow-up in the DAPA-CKD and CREDENCE (Ye et al., 2021) trials whereas in EMPA-KIDNEY analyses, the between-group difference in systolic blood pressure was almost twice as large at the 2-month versus 18-month time point. Taken together, the differential effects by diabetes status and variation over time in antihypertensive effects - patterns which were not observed in analyses of effects on "Fluid Overload" – suggest that antihypertensive actions of SGLT2 inhibitors are somewhat independent of their diuretic mechanisms. These distinct antihypertensive effects could be explained by effects on vascular stiffness or endothelial function (Lytvyn et al., 2017, Lytvyn et al., 2022, Cherney et al., 2014).

In EMPA-KIDNEY, baseline blood pressure did not appear to modify the antihypertensive effects of empagliflozin (when systolic blood pressure was categorised as  $<130, \ge 130 < 145$ and  $\geq$ 145 mmHg; Figure 6-2), consistent with analyses of the CREDENCE trial (Ye et al., 2021). There was some evidence suggesting larger reductions in systolic blood pressure were observed in participants prescribed RAS inhibitors at baseline (Figure 6-2). Numbers of participants not receiving these agents were small, limiting power however these assessments were not possible at all in previous SGLT2 inhibitor trials in CKD which mandated RAS inhibitor use. The magnitude of blood pressure-lowering effects of SGLT2 inhibitors is smaller than that of RAS inhibitors (Heran et al., 2008) but since hypertension in CKD is driven by both RAS stimulation and extracellular volume excess, SGLT2 inhibitors may aid management of hypertension in CKD in addition to their kidney protective effects. Antihypertensive effects of SGLT2 inhibitors are also more modest than those of diuretic agents (Chen et al., 2009) however potential synergistic effects (Wilcox, 2020) may benefit patients with treatment-resistant volume-driven hypertension in CKD. These findings have important clinical implications and might inform how clinicians initiate these drugs in combination.

The mechanisms underlying the antihypertensive effects of SGLT2 inhibitors are not fully understood, likely to be multifactorial and likely to differ in people with and without CKD and diabetes (Wilcox, 2020). Of particular relevance to this thesis, the diuretic and natriuretic mechanisms of SGLT2 inhibitors (and the associated reduction in fluid excess demonstrated in Chapter 4) are generally considered one of the most important contributing factors in blood pressure lowering hence exploring effects on blood pressure as supplementary analyses in this thesis. Furthermore, reduction in body weight itself (Chapter 5) is known to bring about blood pressure reduction, perhaps particularly in patients with diabetes in whom fat loss achieved by glycosuria is thought to account for up to 40% of antihypertensive effects (Cefalu et al., 2015). Amongst other purported antihypertensive mechanisms are direct effects on endothelial function and vascular stiffness (Lytvyn et al., 2017, Lytvyn et al., 2022, Cherney et al., 2014). SGLT2 inhibitors also reduce sympathetic nervous activity and so blood pressure reduction is not accompanied by increased heart rate (Wilcox, 2020).

Although clinically important, these antihypertensive effects appear to have only a minor mediating role in end-organ protection. Further analyses from the EMPA-KIDNEY trial estimated that, using the landmark method (adjusting the Cox regression model for 2month biomarker values), reductions in systolic blood pressure after 2 months' treatment with empagliflozin explained 10% of the treatment effect of empagliflozin on the primary outcome (composite of cardiovascular death or progression of kidney disease). Reductions in diastolic blood pressure explained 4% of the treatment effect. In these analyses, urinary albumin-to-creatinine ratio (uACR) had the greatest mediating effect, explaining 40% of the treatment effect and when systolic and diastolic blood pressure and HbA1c were considered in combination with uACR, they added little with the combined proportion of treatment effect explained being 41%. Similar patterns were seen in assessments of the proportional treatment effect on chronic eGFR slope though only 26% of the treatment effect could be explained by these factors (Staplin et al., 2023). Furthermore, the end-organ protection afforded by SGLT2 inhibitors might itself contribute to long-term blood pressure control in CKD since preserved glomerular filtration results in lower blood pressure (Yu et al., 2020).

Nevertheless, when SGLT2 inhibitors are prescribed for their kidney-protective effects, the additional antihypertensive effect in addition to existing therapy is of clinical benefit. Treatment-resistant hypertension is problematic in CKD, occurring twice as commonly than in the general population with an estimated prevalence of around 40% in CKD with increasing frequency as eGFR declines (Rossignol et al., 2015, Thomas et al., 2016). The associated reduced need to commence additional agents to treat blood pressure (Ye et al., 2021) can be expected to be well-received by patients since polypharmacy adversely impacts quality of life.

These analyses have some limitations. Standardised measurement of blood pressure as recommended in clinical guidelines was not mandated in accordance with the streamlined design and procedures of EMPA-KIDNEY. Some guidance was provided on measurement procedure and research coordinators could use locally available devices whether automatic or manual sphygmomanometers therefore measurement error can be expected however randomisation eliminates the risk of this biasing treatment effect estimates. Secondly, additional *post-hoc* subgroups can be considered hypothesis-generating only especially

since small numbers of participants not taking RAS inhibitors at baseline limits assessment of these exploratory subgroups defined by baseline concomitant medications.

In summary, empagliflozin modestly lowers blood pressure in CKD even at low eGFR but with larger effects in patients with diabetes. The potential reason for this is unknown. The mechanisms by which SGLT2 inhibitors lower blood pressure are multifactorial and the diuretic effects of empagliflozin (reported in Chapter 4) are likely to contribute though cannot entirely be responsible. Blood pressure lowering may be an additional advantage in the treatment of patients with CKD (in whom hypertension is common) though it does not appear to explain the kidney-protective effects of SGLT2 inhibition.

# CHAPTER 7 – IMPACT OF FRAILTY, MULTIMORBIDITY, POLYPHARMACY AND HEALTH-RELATED QUALITY OF LIFE ON THE EFFECTS OF EMPAGLIFLOZIN

## 7.1 INTRODUCTION

The rationale for exploring frailty (and related metrics) in relation to the effects of sodiumglucose cotransporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibitors in chronic kidney disease (CKD) is described in section 1.3. Briefly, uncertainty exists in clinical practice surrounding the benefit-risk profile of disease-modifying drugs in older patients with frailty in whom multimorbidity and polypharmacy are common. Such patients are at increased risk of adverse effects of treatment and as such there may be clinician and/or patient reluctance to prescribe drugs like SGLT2 inhibitors due to perceived altered benefit-risk ratio. Conversely, frail patients may be at high absolute risk of adverse outcomes and consequently may particularly benefit from the effects of SGLT2 inhibition therefore there is a need for reliable evidence to guide treatment decisions. This rationale is supported by evidence in populations with heart failure in whom the absolute benefits of both sacubitril/valsartan (Butt et al., 2022a) and SGLT2 inhibition (Butt et al., 2022b, Butt et al., 2022c) were greatest in those with the highest frailty indices yet patients with frailty are less likely to receive optimal guidelinedirected medical therapy for heart failure (Khan et al., 2022).

The definition of frailty and available methods to assess frailty are introduced in section 1.3. The methods of the approach used in this work are reported in full in sections 2.6 and 2.7.

The aim of the analyses reported in this chapter was to use frailty indicators derived in the EMPA-KIDNEY population to assess the benefits and any harms of treatment with empagliflozin in CKD in patients with evidence (or risk) of frailty and by differing levels of multimorbidity, polypharmacy and health-related quality of life (HRQoL) in EMPA-KIDNEY. These analyses are needed to enable practical implementation of current SGLT2 inhibitor guidelines. Additional analyses will also further interrogate the effects of empagliflozin on fluid status, body composition and blood pressure reported in Chapters 4-6 in a specific group of participants who may be particularly vulnerable to diuretic and blood pressure lowering effects.

## 7.2 RESULTS

## 7.2.1 DERIVATION OF FRAILTY

Median (Q1-Q3) follow-up was 2.0 (1.5-2.4) years, during which time 1995 participants were hospitalised at least once (960 in the empagliflozin group and 1035 in the placebo group). Median predicted risk of hospitalisation was 27% (Q1-Q3: 18-40%). The strongest predictors of hospitalisation were N-terminal pro B-type natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP) (baseline median [Q1-Q3] 160 ng/L [69-419], Table 7-1); poor mobility (based on EQ-5D-5L) and the presence of diabetes (Table 7-2). Restricting model development to the placebo group only yielded a very similar final model to the model developed in the full trial population therefore the latter was favoured for use in analyses due to greater statistical power (larger participant and event numbers).

|   | Linear terms only         |                  |         |                |                                 |                    | Addition of quadratic terms |         |                |  |
|---|---------------------------|------------------|---------|----------------|---------------------------------|--------------------|-----------------------------|---------|----------------|--|
|   | Improvement in fit        |                  |         |                |                                 | Improvement in fit |                             |         |                |  |
|   | ∆ <b>AIC</b> <sup>‡</sup> | LRT<br>statistic | LRT P   | Direct-<br>ion | <b>OR (95% CI)</b> <sup>†</sup> | ∆AIC§              | LRT<br>statistic            | LRT P   | Direct-<br>ion |  |
| Ln NT-proBNP                            | -230.6                    | 232.6            | < 0.001 | +              | 1.40 (1.34-1.46)                | -1.9               | 3.9                         | 0.047   | +              |  |
| EQ-5D visual<br>analogue scale<br>score | -87.6                     | 89.6             | <0.001  | -              | 0.98 (0.98-0.99)                | 1.2                | 0.8                         | 0.360   | -              |  |
| Haemoglobin                             | -77.5                     | 79.5             | < 0.001 | -              | 0.98 (0.98-0.99)                | -9.9               | 11.9                        | 0.001   | +              |  |
| eGFR                                    | -51.8                     | 53.8             | < 0.001 | -              | 0.98 (0.98-0.99)                | -15.6              | 17.6                        | < 0.001 | +              |  |
| Body mass index                         | -28.2                     | 30.2             | < 0.001 | +              | 1.02 (1.02-1.03)                | 2.0                | 0.0                         | 0.923   | -              |  |
| Pulse pressure                          | -23.3                     | 25.3             | < 0.001 | +              | 1.01 (1.01-1.01)                | 1.8                | 0.2                         | 0.669   | +              |  |
| Waist:hip ratio                         | -20.3                     | 22.3             | < 0.001 | +              | 3.25 (1.99-5.29)                | -4.1               | 6.1                         | 0.013   | -              |  |
| Ln uACR                                 | -16.6                     | 18.6             | < 0.001 | +              | 1.07 (1.04-1.10)                | -15.1              | 17.1                        | < 0.001 | +              |  |

## Table 7-1: Univariable associations with hospitalisation: continuous

<sup>†</sup> Adjusted for age, sex and region; for continuous variables the effect estimate is per one unit increment.<sup>‡</sup> Change in AIC for model including linear term for that predictor versus model fitting age, sex and region only. <sup>§</sup> Change in AIC for model with addition of quadratic term for that predictor versus model containing only linear term (adjusted for age, sex and region. Ln = natural logarithm; AIC = Akaike information criterion; LRT = likelihood ratio test.
|   | ∆AIC*               | LRT statistic          | LRT P                 | <b>OR (95% CI)</b> <sup>†</sup> |
|---|---------------------|------------------------|-----------------------|---------------------------------|
| Mobility                                | -164.1              | 172.1                  | < 0.001               |                                 |
| No problems                             |                     |                        |                       | Ref                             |
| Slight problems                         |                     |                        |                       | 1.76 (1.52-2.04)                |
| Moderate problems                       |                     |                        |                       | 2.41 (2.03-2.86)                |
| Severe problems                         |                     |                        |                       | 3.09 (2.40-3.99)                |
| Unable to walk about                    |                     |                        |                       | 4.45 (1.97-10.02)               |
| Diabetes                                | -106.0              | 110.0                  | < 0.001               |                                 |
| No diabetes                             |                     |                        |                       | Ref                             |
| Without retinopathy                     |                     |                        |                       | 1.54 (1.36-1.73)                |
| With retinopathy                        |                     |                        |                       | 2.40 (2.01-2.86)                |
| Peripheral neuropathy                   | -83.0               | 85.0                   | < 0.001               | 1.86 (1.63-2.12)                |
| Heart failure                           | -74.9               | 76.9                   | < 0.001               | 2.14 (1.81-2.53)                |
| Ischaemic heart disease                 | -62.5               | 64.5                   | < 0.001               | 1.77 (1.54-2.04)                |
| Self-reported ankle swelling            | -58.3               | 60.3                   | < 0.001               | 1.64 (1.45-1.86)                |
| Peripheral arterial disease             | -41.5               | 43.5                   | < 0.001               | 1.94 (1.59-2.35)                |
| Atrial fibrillation                     | -29.6               | 31.6                   | < 0.001               | 1.58 (1.35-1.86)                |
| Cerebrovascular disease                 | -28.2               | 30.2                   | < 0.001               | 1.61 (1.36-1.90)                |
| Gout                                    | 0.6                 | 1.4                    | 0.240                 | 1.08 (0.95-1.22)                |
| * Improvement relative to model fitting | g age, sex and regi | on only. † Adjusted fo | or age, sex and regio | on. AIC = Akaike information    |

Table 7-2: Univariable associations with hospitalisation: categorical & binary variables

criterion; LRT = likelihood ratio test.

Variables which were significantly associated with hospitalisation in univariable models were included in multivariable model building and the final multivariable model contained 8 variables (in addition to age, sex and region) as presented in Table 7-3.

Table 7-3: Incremental impact of each variable in the final multivariable model

| Model                                   | AIC             | ΔΑΙC           | LRT statistic             | LRT P value        |
|---|-----------------|----------------|---------------------------|--------------------|
| Age, sex & region only                  | 7870.0          | NA             | NA                        | NA                 |
| plus Ln NT-proBNP                       | 7639.4          | -230.6         | 232.6                     | < 0.001            |
| plus Mobility                           | 7530.0          | -109.3         | 117.3                     | < 0.001            |
| plus Diabetes                           | 7479.8          | -50.2          | 54.2                      | < 0.001            |
| plus Peripheral neuropathy              | 7462.9          | -17.0          | 19.0                      | < 0.001            |
| plus Heart failure                      | 7453.3          | -9.5           | 11.5                      | < 0.001            |
| plus eGFR*                              | 7434.3          | -19.0          | 23.0                      | < 0.001            |
| plus Ischaemic heart disease            | 7425.6          | -8.8           | 10.8                      | 0.001              |
| plus Self-reported ankle swelling       | 7419.9          | -5.7           | 7.7                       | 0.006              |
| * Includes linear and quadratic eGFR te | rms. AIC = Akai | ke information | criterion; LRT = likeliho | ood ratio test; Ln |
| 4 11 41                                 |                 |                |                           |                    |

= natural logarithm.

The change in Akaike information criterion ( $\Delta$ AIC) with the addition of each variable relative to the model in the previous step with one fewer variable reflects the impact of the additional variable on model fit. Effect estimates (odds ratio and corresponding 95% confidence interval) for the final multivariable model are shown in Table 7-4.

|  | Participants<br>n (%)*   | Hospitalised<br>during follow-up<br>n (%)*  | OR (95% CI)  | $\mathbf{P}^{\dagger}$         |
|--|--|---|--|--------------------------------|
| Age, per 10 year increase  | -  | -   | 1.09 (1.04-1.15)   | 0.001                          |
| Female sex   | 2192 (33.2)  | 615 (28.1)  | 0.84 (0.74-0.95)   | 0.004                          |
| Region   |  |   |  | < 0.001                        |
| Europe   | 2648 (40.0)  | 909 (34.3)  | Ref  |                                |
| North America  | 1717 (26.0)  | 492 (28.7)  | 0.67 (0.58-0.77)   |                                |
| China & Malaysia   | 1632 (24.7)  | 424 (26.0)  | 1.14 (0.97-1.33)   |                                |
| Japan  | 612 (9.3)  | 170 (27.8)  | 1.20 (0.97-1.48)   |                                |
| <b>Ln NT-proBNP</b> , per unit increase  | -  | -   | 1.26 (1.20-1.33)   | < 0.001                        |
| Mobility   |  |   |  | < 0.001                        |
| No problems  | 4411 (66.7)  | 1052 (23.8)   | Ref  |                                |
| Slight problems  | 1141 (17.3)  | 435 (38.1)  | 1.41 (1.21-1.64)   |                                |
| Moderate problems  | 750 (11.3)   | 344 (45.9)  | 1.69 (1.41-2.02)   |                                |
| Severe problems  | 282 (4.3)  | 149 (52.8)  | 1.93 (1.48-2.53)   |                                |
| Unable to walk about   | 25 (0.4)   | 15 (60.0)   | 2.59 (1.11-6.07)   |                                |
| Diabetes   |  |   |  | < 0.001                        |
| No diabetes  | 3569 (54.0)  | 851 (23.8)  | Ref  |                                |
| Diabetes without retinopathy   | 2375 (35.9)  | 853 (35.9)  | 1.27 (1.12-1.44)   |                                |
| Diabetes with retinopathy  | 665 (10.1)   | 291 (43.8)  | 1.62 (1.34-1.96)   |                                |
| Peripheral neuropathy <sup>‡</sup>   | 1316 (19.9)  | 557 (42.3)  | 1.34 (1.16-1.55)   | < 0.001                        |
| Heart failure <sup>‡</sup>   | 658 (10.0)   | 333 (50.6)  | 1.30 (1.08-1.57)   | 0.006                          |
| <b>Estimated GFR</b> , per 10 mL/min/1.73m <sup>2</sup> increase <sup>§</sup>  | -  | -   | 0.71 (0.60-0.84)   | < 0.001                        |
| Ischaemic heart disease <sup>‡</sup>   | 1095 (16.6)  | 494 (45.1)  | 1.30 (1.12-1.51)   | 0.001                          |
| Self-reported ankle swelling <sup>‡</sup>  | 1516 (22.9)  | 611 (40.3)  | 1.21 (1.06-1.38)   | 0.005                          |
| * Relevant for categorical variable<br>from likelihood ratio test comparin<br>variables. <sup>‡</sup> Effect estimate for pres<br>term also included in model due to | s only. <sup>†</sup> Wald test<br>g full model with a<br>sence versus absence<br>non-linearity. Ln = | P value for continuous<br>and without the addition<br>ce of. <sup>§</sup> Effect estimate<br>= natural logarithm. | and binary outcomes;<br>nal variable for catego<br>for linear eGFR term, | P value<br>orical<br>quadratic |

Table 7-4: Final multivariable model used to predict risk of hospitalisation

Model performance was assessed using calibration plots and the area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUC) and found to adequately predict risk of hospitalisation (AUC [95% CI] 0.70 [0.69-0.71]; Figure 7-1). The model developed with all-cause hospitalisation as the response variable was also separately assessed using the AUC with death from any cause as the response variable demonstrating that the identified predictors (of risk of hospitalisation as an indicator of frailty) also had reasonable discrimination for death (which also has established associations with clinical frailty; AUC 0.82 [0.80-0.84]; Figure 7-1).

Figure 7-1: Performance of the final multivariable logistic regression model



#### 7.2.2 FRAILTY INDICATORS AND BASELINE CHARACTERISTICS

Characteristics of participants at the highest risk of hospitalisation were generally as would be expected based upon the variables used in the prediction model: older age, history of diabetes and cardiovascular disease and lower eGFR (all P<0.001, Table 7-5). Elevated body mass index (BMI) was also associated with higher predicted risk of hospitalisation; there were few participants with low BMI in EMPA-KIDNEY (overall mean±SD 29.7±6.8  $kg/m^2$ ). Diabetic kidney disease was the commonest aetiology of kidney disease in those with the highest levels of frailty (based on risk of hospitalisation) whereas glomerular disease predominated in those in the lowest frailty category (Table 7-5). Related to primary kidney disease aetiology, participants with higher levels of frailty had lower levels of albuminuria (P<0.001) but greater 5-year risk of kidney failure (P<0.001) owing to older age and lower eGFR. Five-year risk of kidney failure (based on the 4-variable Kidney Failure Risk Equation) was 14% (95% CI 5-37) versus 6% (95% CI 2-19) in the groups at highest (>45%) versus lowest ( $\leq 20\%$ ) predicted risk of hospitalisation during follow-up. Predicted risk of hospitalisation varied geographically with the highest risk group largely being constituted of participants recruited from Europe (Germany, in particular) and comparatively very small numbers from China and Japan (Table 7-5).

# *Table 7-5: Characteristics of participants at recruitment by predicted risk of hospitalisation*

|                                      | Predicted risk of hospitalisation during follow-up (median 2 years) |             |             |             |         |  |  |
|--------------------------------------|---|-------------|-------------|-------------|---------|--|--|
|                                      | <u>≤20%</u>   | >20% ≤35%   | >35% ≤45%   | >45%        |         |  |  |
|                                      | (N=1988)  | (N=2504)    | (N=968)     | (N=1149)    | P       |  |  |
| DEMOGRAPHICS                         |   |             |             |             |         |  |  |
| Age at randomisation (years)         |   |             |             |             |         |  |  |
| Mean (SD)                            | 52.8 (13.8)   | 65.6 (11.5) | 71.4 (9.0)  | 72.6 (8.8)  | < 0.001 |  |  |
| Category                             |   |             |             |             | < 0.001 |  |  |
| <60                                  | 1355 (68.2)   | 698 (27.9)  | 100 (10.3)  | 99 (8.6)    |         |  |  |
| ≥60 <70                              | 381 (19.2)  | 765 (30.6)  | 272 (28.1)  | 302 (26.3)  |         |  |  |
| ≥70                                  | 252 (12.7)  | 1041 (41.6) | 596 (61.6)  | 748 (65.1)  |         |  |  |
| Female sex                           | 745 (37.5)  | 860 (34.3)  | 294 (30.4)  | 293 (25.5)  | < 0.001 |  |  |
| Race (all regions)                   |   |             |             |             | < 0.001 |  |  |
| White                                | 930 (46.8)  | 1435 (57.3) | 624 (64.5)  | 870 (75.7)  |         |  |  |
| Black                                | 99 (5.0)  | 96 (3.8)    | 36 (3.7)    | 31 (2.7)    | _       |  |  |
| Asian                                | 920 (46.3)  | 942 (37.6)  | 295 (30.5)  | 236 (20.5)  |         |  |  |
| Mixed                                | 9 (0.5)   | 7 (0.3)     | 2 (0.2)     | 3 (0.3)     | _       |  |  |
| Other                                | 30 (1.5)  | 24 (1.0)    | 11 (1.1)    | 9 (0.8)     | _       |  |  |
| Country                              |   |             |             |             | < 0.001 |  |  |
| UK                                   | 311 (15.6)  | 429 (17.1)  | 159 (16.4)  | 234 (20.4)  | _       |  |  |
| Germany                              | 210 (10.6)  | 415 (16.6)  | 220 (22.7)  | 424 (36.9)  |         |  |  |
| Italy                                | 72 (3.6)  | 95 (3.8)    | 40 (4,1)    | 39 (3.4)    |         |  |  |
| USA                                  | 384 (19.3)  | 486 (19.4)  | 201 (20.8)  | 158 (13.8)  |         |  |  |
| Canada                               | 149 (7.5)   | 195 (7.8)   | 71 (7.3)    | 73 (6.4)    |         |  |  |
| Malaysia                             | 167 (8.4)   | 261 (10.4)  | 120 (12.4)  | 98 (8.5)    |         |  |  |
| China                                | 503 (25.3)  | 346 (13.8)  | 81 (8.4)    | 56 (4.9)    |         |  |  |
| Japan                                | 192 (9.7)   | 277 (11.1)  | 76 (7.9)    | 67 (5.8)    |         |  |  |
|                                      |   |             |             |             |         |  |  |
| PRIOR DISEASE                        |   |             |             |             |         |  |  |
| Prior diabetes*                      |   |             |             |             | < 0.001 |  |  |
| Diabetes without retinopathy         | 308 (15.5)  | 980 (39.1)  | 478 (49.4)  | 609 (53.0)  |         |  |  |
| Diabetes with retinopathy            | 21 (1.1)  | 188 (7.5)   | 167 (17.3)  | 289 (25.2)  |         |  |  |
| Cause of kidney disease              |   |             | 107 (1710)  | 203 (2012)  | < 0.001 |  |  |
| Diabetic kidney disease              | 203 (10.2)  | 773 (30.9)  | 460 (47.5)  | 621 (54.0)  |         |  |  |
| Hypertension/renovascular            | 348 (17.5)  | 627 (25.0)  | 233 (24.1)  | 237 (20.6)  |         |  |  |
| Glomerular                           | 987 (49.6)  | 545 (21.8)  | 81 (8.4)    | 56 (4.9)    |         |  |  |
| Other/unknown                        | 450 (22.6)  | 559 (22.3)  | 194 (20.0)  | 235 (20.5)  |         |  |  |
| Cardiovascular disease <sup>†</sup>  | 101 (5.1)   | 503 (20.1)  | 395 (40.8)  | 766 (66.7)  | < 0.001 |  |  |
| Heart failure                        | 9 (0.5)   | 103 (4.1)   | 130 (13.4)  | 416 (36.2)  | < 0.001 |  |  |
| Ischaemic heart disease*             | 39 (2.0)  | 276 (11.0)  | 254 (26.2)  | 526 (45.8)  | < 0.001 |  |  |
| Peripheral arterial disease          | 23 (1.2)  | 121 (4.8)   | 91 (9.4)    | 235 (20.5)  | < 0.001 |  |  |
| Peripheral neuropathy                | 73 (3.7)  | 403 (16.1)  | 299 (30.9)  | 541 (47.1)  | < 0.001 |  |  |
| Self-reported ankle swelling         | 146 (7.3)   | 476 (19.0)  | 335 (34.6)  | 559 (48.7)  | < 0.001 |  |  |
| Count of conditions (other           | 110 (7.6)   |             |             |             |         |  |  |
| than CKD) at randomisation.          | 0 (0-1)   | 1 (0-2)     | 2 (1-3)     | 3 (2-4)     | < 0.001 |  |  |
| median (Q1-Q3)                       |   |             |             |             |         |  |  |
|                                      |   |             |             |             |         |  |  |
| CLINICAL MEASUREMENTS                | 5   |             |             |             | 1       |  |  |
| Systolic blood pressure (mmHg        | )   |             |             |             |         |  |  |
| Mean (SD)                            | 132 (15)  | 138 (18)    | 140 (19)    | 138 (20)    | < 0.001 |  |  |
| Category                             |   |             | . ,         |             | < 0.001 |  |  |
| <130                                 | 925 (46.5)  | 802 (32.0)  | 278 (28.7)  | 393 (34.2)  |         |  |  |
| ≥130 <145                            | 678 (34.1)  | 836 (33.4)  | 301 (31.1)  | 374 (32.6)  |         |  |  |
| ≥145                                 | 385 (19.4)  | 866 (34.6)  | 389 (40.2)  | 382 (33.2)  |         |  |  |
| Diastolic blood pressure (mmH        | g)  | /           |             |             |         |  |  |
| Mean (SD)                            | 82 (11)   | 79 (12)     | 75 (11)     | 73 (12)     | < 0.001 |  |  |
| Category                             |   | . ,         |             |             | < 0.001 |  |  |
| <75                                  | 503 (25.3)  | 913 (36.5)  | 499 (51.5)  | 665 (57.9)  |         |  |  |
| ≥75 <85                              | 678 (34.1)  | 820 (32.7)  | 265 (27.4)  | 289 (25.2)  |         |  |  |
| ≥85                                  | 807 (40.6)  | 771 (30.8)  | 204 (21.1)  | 195 (17.0)  |         |  |  |
| Pulse pressure (mmHg)                | 49.8 (12.8)   | 59.6 (16.1) | 65.5 (16.8) | 65.1 (18.4) | < 0.001 |  |  |
| Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> ) |   |             |             |             |         |  |  |
| Mean (SD)                            | 28.3 (6.3)  | 29.4 (6.5)  | 30.8 (7.0)  | 32.1 (7.1)  | < 0.001 |  |  |
| Category                             |   |             |             |             | < 0.001 |  |  |
| <25                                  | 620 (31.2)  | 662 (26.4)  | 172 (17.8)  | 165 (14.4)  |         |  |  |
| ≥25 <30                              | 746 (37.5)  | 877 (35.0)  | 340 (35.1)  | 334 (29.1)  |         |  |  |
| ≥30                                  | 621 (31.2)  | 961 (38.4)  | 453 (46.8)  | 642 (55.9)  |         |  |  |
| Missing                              | 1 (0.1)   | 4 (0.2)     | 3 (0.3)     | 8 (0.7)     |         |  |  |
| Waist-to-hip ratio                   | 0.9 (0.1)   | 1.0 (0.1)   | 1.0 (0.1)   | 1.0 (0.1)   | < 0.001 |  |  |

| LABORATORY MEASUREM  | ENTS                    |                      |                      |                       |           |
|--|-------------------------|----------------------|----------------------|-----------------------|-----------|
| Estimated GFR (mL/min/1.73m  | <b>1</b> <sup>2</sup> ) |                      |                      |                       |           |
| Mean (SD)  | 45.1 (15.6)             | 36.2 (13.7)          | 33.1 (11.2)          | 30.0 (9.3)            | < 0.001   |
| Category   |                         |                      |                      |                       | < 0.001   |
| <30  | 275 (13.8)              | 898 (35.9)           | 444 (45.9)           | 665 (57.9)            |           |
| ≥30 <45  | 915 (46.0)              | 1178 (47.0)          | 413 (42.7)           | 422 (36.7)            |           |
| ≥45  | 798 (40.1)              | 428 (17.1)           | 111 (11.5)           | 62 (5.4)              |           |
| Urinary albumin-to-creatinine  | ratio (mg/g)            |                      |                      |                       | < 0.001   |
| Geometric mean (95% CI)  | 299 (277-323)           | 210 (194-227)        | 177 (154-202)        | 183 (162-206)         |           |
| Median (Q1-Q3)   | 440 (133-1056)          | 314 (43-1062)        | 220 (29-1060)        | 193 (34-1118)         |           |
| Category   |                         |                      |                      |                       | < 0.001   |
| <30  | 279 (14.0)              | 543 (21.7)           | 245 (25.3)           | 261 (22.7)            |           |
| ≥30≤300  | 507 (25.5)              | 692 (27.6)           | 281 (29.0)           | 384 (33.4)            |           |
| >300   | 1202 (60.5)             | 1269 (50.7)          | 442 (45.7)           | 504 (43.9)            |           |
| Glycated haemoglobin (mmol/n   | nol)                    | 17.1.(10.0)          | 10.0 (10.7)          |                       | 0.001     |
| Mean (SD)  | 39.1 (10.3)             | 45.4 (13.6)          | 48.8 (13.7)          | 51.1 (14.6)           | <0.001    |
| Category   | 1004 (64.6)             | 0.52 (20.1)          | 240 (24.0)           | 205 (15.0)            | <0.001    |
| <39  | 1284 (64.6)             | 953 (38.1)           | 240 (24.8)           | 205 (17.8)            |           |
| <u>&gt;39 &lt;48</u>   | 463 (23.3)              | 729 (29.1)           | 291 (30.1)           | 354 (30.8)            |           |
| <u>≥48 <!--5</u--></u>   | 168 (8.5)               | 688 (27.5)           | 366 (37.8)           | 502 (43.7)            |           |
| <u>≥75</u>   | 36 (1.8)                | 89 (3.6)             | 47 (4.9)             | 80 (7.0)              |           |
| Missing  | 37 (1.9)                | 45 (1.8)             | 24 (2.5)             | 8 (0.7)               | .0.001    |
| NI-proBNP (ng/L)   | 10 (16 50)              | 1 (1 (1 50, 1 51)    | 2.50 (2.1.5, 20.2)   | 0.4.6 (700,000)       | <0.001    |
| Geometric mean (95% CI)  | 48 (46-50)              | 164 (158-171)        | 369 (346-393)        | 846 (792-903)         |           |
| Median (QI-Q3)   | 52 (15-98)              | 160 (90-302)         | 356 (181-714)        | 851 (369-1865)        | 0.001     |
| Category   | 1552 (70.1)             | 001 (20.0)           | 104 (10 7)           | 22 (2.0)              | <0.001    |
| <110   | 1552 (78.1)             | 821 (32.8)           | 104 (10.7)           | 33 (2.9)              |           |
| <u>≥110 &lt;330</u>  | 382 (19.2)              | 1109 (44.3)          | 348 (36.0)           | 222 (19.3)            |           |
| <u>≥330</u>  | 37 (1.9)                | 542 (21.6)           | 507 (52.4)           | 890 (77.5)            |           |
| Missing  | 17 (0.9)                | 32 (1.3)             | 9 (0.9)              | 4 (0.3)               |           |
| Haematocrit (%)  | 40.0 (4.0)              | 20.0 (4.0)           | 27.0 (4.0)           | 27.4 (5.2)            | .0.001    |
| Mean (SD)  | 40.8 (4.9)              | 39.0 (4.9)           | 37.8 (4.9)           | 37.4 (5.3)            | <0.001    |
| Category   | 221 (1( ()              | (00 (07 5)           | 222 (24.2)           | 4(7(40))              | <0.001    |
| <3/%   | 531 (10.0)              | 688 (27.5)           | 332 (34.3)           | 467 (40.6)            |           |
| $\frac{\geq 3/\langle 41\% \rangle}{\langle 41\% \rangle}$                       | 538 (27.1)              | /35 (29.4)           | 301 (31.1)           | 317 (27.6)            |           |
| <u>241%</u>  | 948 (47.7)              | 817 (32.6)           | 232 (24.0)           | 254 (22.1)            |           |
| VDICO rick actorory  | 1/1 (8.0)               | 204 (10.3)           | 103 (10.0)           | 111 (9.7)             | <0.001    |
| Low moderate or high   | 678 (24.1)              | 640 (25.6)           | 107 (20.4)           | 157 (12.7)            | <0.001    |
| Vorus high   | 1210 (65 0)             | 1964(73.0)           | 197 (20.4)           | 137(15.7)             |           |
| 5 VEAD DISK OF KIDNEV  | 1510 (05.9)             | 1804 (74.4)          | //1 (/9.0)           | 992 (80.3)            |           |
| <b>FAILURE (KFRE, %)</b> ,<br>median (Q1-Q3)                                     | 6 (2-19)                | 10 (3-32)            | 11 (4-34)            | 14 (5-37)             | <0.001    |
|  |                         |                      |                      |                       |           |
| CONCOMITANT MEDICATI   | ON USE                  |                      |                      |                       |           |
| Any diuretic   | 507 (25.5)              | 925 (36.9)           | 548 (56.6)           | 835 (72.7)            | < 0.001   |
| Loop diuretic  | 164 (8.2)               | 474 (18.9)           | 385 (39.8)           | 724 (63.0)            | < 0.001   |
| Thiazide diuretic  | 287 (14.4)              | 434 (17.3)           | 202 (20.9)           | 199 (17.3)            | <0.001    |
| Mineralocorticoid receptor<br>antagonist   | 105 (5.3)               | 132 (5.3)            | 86 (8.9)             | 152 (13.2)            | < 0.001   |
| Potassium sparing & other  | 12 (0.6)                | 13 (0.5)             | 9 (0.9)              | 4 (0.3)               | 0.343     |
| Beta blocker   | 404 (20.3)              | 976 (39.0)           | 573 (59.2)           | 808 (70.3)            | < 0.001   |
| Anticoagulant  | 20 (1.0)                | 81 (3.2)             | 69 (7.1)             | 146 (12.7)            | < 0.001   |
| Antiplatelet therapy   | 308 (15.5)              | 809 (32.3)           | 476 (49.2)           | 646 (56.2)            | <0.001    |
| Diabetes treatment   | 292 (14.7)              | 1037 (41.4)          | 561 (58.0)           | 805 (70.1)            | <0.001    |
| Biguanide (e.g. metformin)   | 103 (5.2)               | 308 (12.3)           | 125 (12.9)           | 133 (11.6)            | <0.001    |
| Sulfonylurea   | 85 (4.3)                | 252 (10.1)           | 123 (12.7)           | 125 (10.9)            | <0.001    |
| Insulin  | 145 (7.3)               | 590 (23.6)           | 357 (36.9)           | 5/1 (49.7)            | <0.001    |
| CLP 1 second   | /4 (3./)                | 345 (13.8)           | 186 (19.2)           | 277 (24.1)            | <0.001    |
| GLP-1 agonist  | 44 (2.2)                | 142 (5.7)            | /1 (7.3)             | 80 (7.0)              | <0.001    |
| Count of conversion in the second second   | 34 (1.7)                | 127 (5.1)            | 80 (8.3)             | /3 (6.4)              | <0.001    |
| Count or concomitant medications at randomisation, median $(\Omega_1, \Omega_3)$ | 5 (3-7)                 | 7 (5-9)              | 9 (6-11)             | 10 (8-13)             | <0.001    |
| Figures are n (%) or mean (SD) or  | r median (Q1-Q3). *     | Self-reported histor | y of myocardial infa | rction or angina. P v | alues are |
|  | /                       |                      |                      |                       |           |

Figures are n (%) or mean (SD) or median (Q1-Q3). \*Self-reported history of myocardial infarction or angina. P values are from Chi squared tests for categorical variables; one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) for normally distributed and Kruskal-Wallis tests for non-normally distributed continuous variables, respectively. DPP-4 = dipeptidyl peptidase-4; GLP-1 = glucagon-like peptide-1.

The median (Q1-Q3) number of comorbid conditions (excluding CKD) prior to randomisation was 1 (0-2); range 0-7 and 71% of participants (4675/6609) had at least one condition in addition to CKD (i.e. multimorbidity). The median (Q1-Q3) number of concomitant medications recorded at randomisation was 7 (5-10), range 0-36 and 76% of participants (5044/6609) were prescribed five or more concomitant medications (i.e. polypharmacy). Median (Q1-Q3) indexed EQ-5D value was 0.891 (0.773-0.987) and median (Q1-Q3) self-rated health score on the visual analogue scale was 80 (70-90) with scores ranging from 0 to 100.

There was considerable overlap between the frailty indicator subgroups. Risk of hospitalisation was positively associated with multimorbidity, polypharmacy and inversely correlated with HRQoL (Figure 7-2). Of 5635 participants who fulfilled definitions of either polypharmacy or multimorbidity, 72% (4084/5635) were included in both groups (Figure 7-3).

*Figure 7-2: Associations between predicted risk of hospitalisation and multimorbidity; polypharmacy; and health-related quality of life* 



\* P value = analysis of variance (ANOVA). † Spearman's rank-order correlation.

Figure 7-3: Number of participants in the top thirds of predicted risk of hospitalisation (>35%), multimorbidity ( $\geq$ 3 conditions excluding chronic kidney disease) and polypharmacy ( $\geq$ 9 concomitant medications) showing degrees of overlap



3295/6609 (49.9%) participants not in these categories

An alternative presentation showing overlap between the highest level of frailty defined in EMPA-KIDNEY (predicted risk of hospitalisation >45%) and conventional definitions of multimorbidity ( $\geq 2$  conditions) and polypharmacy ( $\geq 5$  medications) is shown in Figure 7-4.

Figure 7-4: Number of participants in the highest level of frailty (defined as predicted risk of hospitalisation >45%) in EMPA-KIDNEY showing overlap with conventional definitions of multimorbidity and polypharmacy



### 7.2.3 ADHERENCE TO STUDY TREATMENT

Adherence to study treatment was negatively associated with risk of hospitalisation. At 12 months of follow-up (the approximate midpoint of the trial), the proportion of participants reportedly taking most (>80%) of their study treatment was highest in patients in the lowest frailty category ( $\leq 20\%$  predicted risk of hospitalisation during follow-up) at 1830/1982 (92.3%) and lowest in those with the highest level of frailty (>45% predicted risk of hospitalisation during follow-up) at 938/1090 (86.1%). Participants with greater degrees of frailty were more likely to discontinue study treatment in both empagliflozin and placebo groups thought cited reasons were uncommonly attributed to serious adverse events (Table 7-6).

|               |             | Predicte    | ed risk of hospit | alisation   |             |         |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|---------------|-------------|-------------|-------------------|-------------|-------------|---------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
|               | <b>≤20%</b> | >20% ≤35%   | >35% ≤45%         | >45%        | Total       | P*      |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| EMPAGLIFLOZIN |             |             |                   |             |             |         |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Any reason    | 139 (14.1%) | 198 (15.9%) | 93 (19.1%)        | 127 (21.6%) | 557 (16.9%) | < 0.001 |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| SAE           | 11          | 22          | 8                 | 18          | 59          |         |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| NSAE          | 14          | 20          | 8                 | 16          | 58          |         |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Other         | 54          | 74          | 41                | 57          | 226         |         |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Unknown       | 60          | 82          | 36                | 36          | 214         |         |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|               |             | Р           | LACEBO            |             |             |         |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Any reason    | 147 (14.6%) | 237 (18.8%) | 99 (20.6%)        | 157 (28.0%) | 640 (19.4%) | < 0.001 |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| SAE           | 10          | 30          | 11                | 24          | 75          |         |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| NSAE          | 7           | 18          | 7                 | 10          | 42          |         |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Other         | 58          | 97          | 48                | 65          | 268         |         |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Unknown       | 72          | 92          | 33                | 58          | 255         |         |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|               |             |             |                   |             |             |         |  |  |  |  |  |  |

Table 7-6: Reasons for discontinuing randomised treatment

\*P value from Chi squared test comparing proportion discontinuing treatment for any reason for across risk of hospitalization categories, separately for the empagliflozin and placebo groups. Abbreviations: SAE = serious adverse event; NSAE = non-serious adverse event. Other reasons for discontinuation are listed in a previous publication (EMPA-KIDNEY Collaborative Group, 2023).

# 7.2.4 EFFECTS OF EMPAGLIFLOZIN ON THE PRIMARY OUTCOME BY FRAILTY INDICATORS

#### 7.2.4.1 RELATIVE EFFECTS ON THE PRIMARY OUTCOME

Overall, compared to placebo, empagliflozin reduced the risk of the primary composite outcome of kidney disease progression or cardiovascular death by 28% (hazard ratio [HR] 0.72, 95% confidence interval [CI] 0.64-0.82), with no significant difference in relative effects by baseline level of frailty, multimorbidity, polypharmacy or HRQoL (P for heterogeneity all >0.05, Figure 7-5). The majority of the 990 primary outcome events were due to kidney disease progression (888 events) and overall, empagliflozin reduced the risk of this secondary outcome by 29% (HR 0.71, 95% CI 0.62-0.81) with no strong evidence of differing relative effects across all four indicators of frailty (Table 7-7 to Table 7-10).

# Figure 7-5: Effects of empagliflozin on the primary outcome of kidney disease progression or cardiovascular death by frailty indicators

#### Empagliflozin Placebo Estimated absolute events avoided per 1000 patient-years (95% CI) Predicted risk of hospitalisation Rate per 1000 patient-years Rate per 1000 patient-years Hazard Ratio (95% CI) n/N n/N 93/1005 0.77 (0.56-1.06) 14 (9-18) ≤20% 68/983 36.7 50.0 25 (17-33) >20% ≤35% 159/1245 67.1 218/1259 90.9 0.65 (0.53-0.80) >35% <45% 73/487 77.3 102/481 111.3 0.66 (0.49-0.90) 31 (21-41) 137.4 >45% 132/589 116.4 145/560 0.79 (0.62-1.00) 38 (25-50) OVERALL 432/3304 68.5 558/3305 89.6 0.72 (0.64-0.82) 0.4 0.6 0.8 1.2 30 40 50 10 1.0 Trend p value <0.001 Heterogeneity p value = 0.60

#### PREDICTED RISK OF HOSPITALISATION (Over median 2 years' follow-up)

#### MULTIMORBIDITY



#### POLYPHARMACY Empagliflozin Placebo No. of concomitant Estimated absolute events avoided n/N Rate per 1000 patient-years Rate per 100 medications n/N Hazard Ratio (95%CI) per 1000 patient-years (95% CI) ≤5 133/1128 62.1 144/1121 68.0 19 (13-25) 0.88 (0.69-1.11) 134/1010 69.4 192/1004 102.1 0.67 (0.54-0.83) 28 (19-37) ≥6 <9 165/1166 74.0 222/1180 99.5 0.67 (0.55-0.82) 27 (18-37) ≥9 OVERALL 432/3304 68.5 558/3305 89.6 0.72 (0.64-0.82) 0.4 20 50 0.6 0.8 1.0 10 30 40

HEALTH-RELATED QUALITY OF LIFE

Heterogeneity p value = 0.16

Trend p value = 0.08



Predicted risk of hospitalisation during follow-up (median 2 years) was derived from multivariable logistic regression models (first event). Multimorbidity was determined based on the presence/absence of 8 patient-reported comorbidities at randomisation excluding chronic kidney disease. The EQ-5D index value is a weighted index of the 5 EQ-5D domain scores (mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort and anxiety/depression) derived using established methodology; lower values indicate poorer quality of life. Due to absence of any evidence of effect modification by the presented characteristics, absolute events avoided per 1000 patients treated with empagliflozin per 1 year (95% CI) were estimated by applying the overall hazard ratio to the event rate per 1000 patient-years in the placebo group.

#### 7.2.4.2 ABSOLUTE EFFECTS ON THE PRIMARY OUTCOME

Although the proportional effects of empagliflozin were similar across levels of frailty indicators, there was evidence of larger estimated absolute benefits on the primary outcome of kidney disease progression or cardiovascular death in participants in the highest category of frailty (based on risk of hospitalisation) compared to those with lesser degrees of frailty. Per 1000 participants treated, empagliflozin was estimated to result in 38 fewer participants with a first occurrence of kidney disease progression or cardiovascular death (i.e. primary outcomes) among those in the highest frailty category compared to 14 primary outcomes avoided annually, per 1000 treated participants in the lowest third of frailty (Figure 7-5). A similar pattern was observed across levels of multimorbidity, polypharmacy and HRQoL though with less clear statistical evidence of trend (Figure 7-5).

## 7.2.5 EFFECTS OF EMPAGLIFLOZIN ON KEY SECONDARY OUTCOMES BY FRAILTY INDICATORS

#### 7.2.5.1 RELATIVE EFFECTS ON KEY SECONDARY OUTCOMES

In total, 1611 hospitalisations occurred among 960 patients in the empagliflozin group, and 1895 among 1035 patients in the placebo group during follow-up. Overall, empagliflozin reduced total all-cause hospitalisations by 14% versus placebo (HR 0.86, 95% CI 0.78-0.95) though this was not clearly driven by a single cause of hospitalisation (by Medical Dictionary for Regulatory Activities [MedDRA] System Organ Class; Figure 7-6).





On a relative scale, analyses by baseline measures of frailty show no evidence of effect modification by baseline levels of risk of hospitalisation, multimorbidity, polypharmacy or baseline health-related quality of life (Figure 7-7).

No significant effect was observed overall on the composite key secondary outcome of hospitalisation for heart failure or death from cardiovascular causes (HR 0.84, 95% CI 0.67-1.07); or death from any cause (HR 0.87, 95% CI 0.70-1.08), with consistent findings across frailty indicator subgroups for both of these outcomes (Table 7-7 to Table 7-10).

#### 7.2.5.2 ABSOLUTE EFFECTS ON KEY SECONDARY OUTCOMES

Although the proportional effects of empagliflozin were similar across levels of frailty indicators, there was evidence of larger estimated absolute benefits on recurrent all-cause hospitalisations in participants in the top category of frailty (based on risk of hospitalisation) compared to those with lesser degrees of frailty. Per 100 participants treated, empagliflozin was estimated to result in 9 fewer total hospitalisations each year among those in the category with the greatest degree of frailty compared to 2 hospitalisations avoided annually, per 100 treated participants in the lowest third of frailty (Figure 7-7). A similar pattern was observed across levels of multimorbidity, polypharmacy and HRQoL though with less clear evidence of trend than for predicted risk of hospitalisation (Figure 7-7).

Uncertainty exists around the estimates of the effect of empagliflozin on the other key secondary outcomes of the composite of first hospitalisation for heart failure or cardiovascular death; and death from any cause. However, on an absolute scale, there were numerically more events avoided by empagliflozin for each of these outcomes in participants in the highest (versus lowest) categories of frailty, multimorbidity and polypharmacy and in those with poorest (versus greatest) HRQoL although there was no strong statistical evidence of trend (Table 7-7 to Table 7-10).

#### Figure 7-7: Effects of empagliflozin on recurrent all-cause hospitalisations by frailty indicators

#### PREDICTED RISK OF HOSPITALISATION (Over median 2 years' follow-up)



#### MULTIMORBIDITY

| Number of conditions | Em     | pagliflozi           | n P                      | lacebo                    |                         |                  | Fetimated absolut | e events avoided |
|----------------------|--------|----------------------|--------------------------|---------------------------|-------------------------|------------------|-------------------|------------------|
| excluding CKD        | n Rate | per 100 pat<br>years | tient- <sub>n</sub> Rate | per 100 patient-<br>years | Hazard Ratio (95%       | ō CI)            | per 100 patient-y | years (95% CI)   |
| ≤1                   | 638    | 29.0                 | 728                      | 33.3                      |                         | 0.89 (0.77-1.03) |                   | 5 (2-8)          |
| 2                    | 426    | 29.9                 | 486                      | 36.3                      |                         | 0.83 (0.68-1.01) |                   | 5 (2-8)          |
| ≥3                   | 547    | 40.7                 | 681                      | 48.3                      |                         | 0.83 (0.69-1.00) |                   | 7 (3-11)         |
| OVERALL              | 1611   | 24.8                 | 1895                     | 29.2                      | 0.5 1.0 1.5             | 0.86 (0.78-0.95) | 0 Ś 10 1:         | 5                |
|                      |        |                      |                          |                           | Heterogeneity p value = | 0.78             | Trend p va        | lue = 0.44       |

Heterogeneity p value = 0.78

POLYPHARMACY

| Number of concomitant<br>medications | Em<br>n <sup>Rate</sup>      | pagliflozi<br>per 100 pati<br>years | 1 P<br>ent- <sub>n</sub> Rate | Placebo<br>per 100 patient-<br>years | Hazard Ratio (95%C | D)               | Estimated absolute events avoided<br>per 100 patient-years (95% CI) |
|--------------------------------------|------------------------------|-------------------------------------|-------------------------------|--------------------------------------|--------------------|------------------|---|
| ≤ĭ                                   | 353                          | 16.0                                | 335                           | 15.3                                 |                    | 1.06 (0.87-1.28) | 2 (1-3)   |
| ≥6 <9                                | 444                          | 20.2                                | 568                           | 25.8                                 |                    | 0.77 (0.65-0.92) | 4 (1-6)   |
| ≥9                                   | 814                          | 35.4                                | 992                           | 42.5                                 |                    | 0.83 (0.71-0.96) | 6 (2-10)  |
| OVERALL                              | 1611                         | 24.8                                | 1895                          | 29.2                                 | 0.5 1.0 1.5        | 0.86 (0.78-0.95) | 0 5 10 15   |
|                                      | Heterogeneity p value = 0.05 |                                     |                               |                                      |                    |                  | Trend p value = 0.04  |

#### HEALTH-RELATED QUALITY OF LIFE

| EQ-5D index<br>value | Emp<br>n <sup>Rate</sup> : | pagliflozin<br>per 100 pati<br>years | n Pl<br>ent- <sub>n</sub> Rate j | acebo<br>per 100 patient-<br>years | Hazard Ratio (95%CI)         |                  | Estimated absolute<br>per 100 patient-ye | events avoided<br>ears (95% CI) |
|----------------------|----------------------------|--------------------------------------|----------------------------------|------------------------------------|------------------------------|------------------|--|---------------------------------|
| >0.987               | 401                        | 19.6                                 | 453                              | 21.5                               |                              | 0.99 (0.83-1.20) | <u></u>                                  | 3 (1-5)                         |
| >0.811 ≤0.987        | 407                        | 18.5                                 | 579                              | 26.3                               |                              | 0.67 (0.56-0.80) | <b>—</b>                                 | 4 (1-6)                         |
| ≤0.811               | 803                        | 35.6                                 | 863                              | 39.7                               |                              | 0.90 (0.77-1.05) |  | 6 (2-9)                         |
| OVERALL              | 1611                       | 24.8                                 | 1895                             | 29.2                               | 0.5 1.0 1.5                  | 0.86 (0.78-0.95) | 0 5 10 15                                | 0.0110000000                    |
|                      |                            |                                      |                                  |                                    | Heterogeneity p value = 0.01 |                  | Trend p val                              | ue = 0.22                       |

The analysis of hospitalisations for any cause included the first and all subsequent events, n shown = total events; 1611 total hospitalisations occurred among 960 patients in the empagliflozin group, and 1895 total hospitalisations occurred among 1035 patients in the placebo group. Rates are presented per 100 patient-years to match previous reports. Predicted risk of hospitalisation during followup (median 2 years) was derived from multivariable logistic regression models adjusted for age, sex and region assessing the association of all potential predictor variables with recorded hospitalisation (first event). Multimorbidity was determined based on the presence/absence of 8 patient-reported comorbidities at randomisation in addition to chronic kidney disease. The EQ-5D index value is a weighted index of the 5 EQ-5D domain scores (mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort and anxiety/depression) derived using established methodology; lower values indicate poorer quality of life. Due to absence of any strong evidence of heterogeneity the presented characteristics, absolute events avoided per 100 patients treated with empagliflozin per 1 year (95% CI) were estimated by applying the overall hazard ratio (or 95% CI) to the event rate per 100 patient-years in the placebo group. If subgroup-specific hazard ratios (or CIs) were used to estimate absolute effects by health-related quality of life, based on P for heterogeneity = 0.01; estimated absolute events avoided (95% CI) would be 0.1 (-4, 4), 9 (6, 12) and 4 (-2, 9) rather than 3 (1, 5), 4 (1, 6) and 6 (2, 9).

#### Table 7-7: Primary and secondary outcomes by predicted risk of hospitalisation

| Predicted risk               | Predicted risk Empagliflozin |                                       | Placebo        |                                       | Relative effects         |                   | Estimated absolute<br>effects*                   |                    |
|------------------------------|------------------------------|---------------------------------------|----------------|---------------------------------------|--------------------------|-------------------|--|--------------------|
| or<br>hospitalisation<br>(%) | n/N                          | Rate<br>per 1000<br>patient-<br>years | n/N            | Rate<br>per 1000<br>patient-<br>years | Hazard Ratio<br>(95% CI) | P <sub>het</sub>  | Events avoided per<br>1000 patient-years<br>(SE) | P <sub>trend</sub> |
| PRIMARY OUT                  | COME AND                     |                                       |                |                                       |                          |                   |  |                    |
| Primary outcome<br>causes    | e: progression               | n of kidney                           | disease or dea | ath from car                          | rdiovascular             | 0.60              |  | < 0.001            |
| ≤20%                         | 68/983                       | 36.7                                  | 93/1005        | 50.0                                  | 0.77 (0.56-1.06)         |                   | 13.8 (2.3)                                       |                    |
| >20% ≤35%                    | 159/1245                     | 67.1                                  | 218/1259       | 90.9                                  | 0.65 (0.53-0.80)         |                   | 25.1 (4.2)                                       |                    |
| >35% ≤45%                    | 73/487                       | 77.3                                  | 102/481        | 111.3                                 | 0.66 (0.49-0.90)         |                   | 30.7 (5.2)                                       |                    |
| >45%                         | 132/589                      | 116.4                                 | 145/560        | 137.4                                 | 0.79 (0.62-1.00)         |                   | 37.9 (6.4)                                       |                    |
| Overall                      | 432/3304                     | 68.5                                  | 558/3305       | 89.6                                  | 0.72 (0.64-0.82)         |                   |  |                    |
| KEY SECONDA                  | RY OUTCO                     |                                       |                |                                       |                          |                   |  |                    |
| Hospitalisation f            | or heart failu               | re or death                           | from cardiov   | ascular cau                           | ses                      | 0.27 <sup>§</sup> |  | 0.01               |
| ≤20%                         | 3/983                        | 1.6                                   | 1/1005         | 0.5                                   | ‡                        |                   | 0.1 (0.1)  |                    |
| >20% ≤35%                    | 16/1245                      | 6.6                                   | 31/1259        | 12.4                                  | 0.53 (0.29-0.96)         |                   | 1.9 (1.3)  |                    |
| >35% ≤45%                    | 22/487                       | 22.6                                  | 22/481         | 23.1                                  | 1.02 (0.56-1.84)         |                   | 3.6 (2.3)  |                    |
| >45%                         | 90/589                       | 78.9                                  | 98/560         | 92.5                                  | 0.85 (0.64-1.13)         |                   | 14.5 (9.3)                                       |                    |
| Overall                      | 131/3304                     | 20.4                                  | 152/3305       | 23.7                                  | 0.84 (0.67-1.07)         |                   |  |                    |
| Hospitalisation for          | or any cause (               | (first and al                         | l subsequent   | events)                               | 1                        | 0.63              |  | < 0.001            |
| <br>≤20%                     | 186                          | 99                                    | 221            | 116                                   | 0.86 (0.68-1.07)         |                   | 16.4 (5.1)                                       |                    |
| >20% ≤35%                    | 501                          | 206                                   | 577            | 230                                   | 0.91 (0.77-1.06)         |                   | 32.3 (10.0)                                      |                    |
| >35% ≤45%                    | 327                          | 332                                   | 395            | 410                                   | 0.79 (0.63-0.98)         |                   | 57.6 (17.8)                                      |                    |
| >45%                         | 597                          | 502                                   | 702            | 627                                   | 0.78 (0.65-0.95)         |                   | 88.1 (27.3)                                      |                    |
| Overall                      | 1611                         | 248                                   | 1895           | 292                                   | 0.86 (0.78-0.95)         |                   |  |                    |
| Death from any o             | cause                        |                                       |                |                                       |                          | 0.48 <sup>§</sup> |  | 0.03               |
| ≤20%                         | 4/983                        | 2.1                                   | 3/1005         | 1.6                                   | 1                        |                   | 0.2 (0.2)  |                    |
| >20% ≤35%                    | 35/1245                      | 14.4                                  | 41/1259        | 16.4                                  | 0.87 (0.56-1.37)         |                   | 2.1 (1.6)  |                    |
| >35% ≤45%                    | 23/487                       | 23.3                                  | 37/481         | 38.4                                  | 0.61 (0.36-1.02)         |                   | 5.0 (3.8)  |                    |
| >45%                         | 86/589                       | 72.3                                  | 86/560         | 76.8                                  | 0.95 (0.71-1.29)         |                   | 10.1 (7.5)                                       |                    |
| Overall                      | 148/3304                     | 22.8                                  | 167/3305       | 25.8                                  | 0.87 (0.70-1.08)         |                   |  |                    |
| OTHER SECON                  | DARY OUT                     | COMES                                 |                |                                       |                          |                   |  |                    |
| Any kidney disea             | se progressio                | n                                     |                |                                       |                          | 0.76              |  | < 0.001            |
| <20%                         | 67/983                       | 36.1                                  | 93/1005        | 50.0                                  | 0.77 (0.56-1.06)         |                   | 14.6 (2.4)                                       |                    |
| >20% <35%                    | 150/1245                     | 63.3                                  | 204/1259       | 85.1                                  | 0.65 (0.52-0.80)         |                   | 24.8 (4.1)                                       |                    |
| >35% <45%                    | 66/487                       | 69.9                                  | 90/481         | 98.2                                  | 0.66 (0.48-0.91)         |                   | 28.6 (4.7)                                       |                    |
| >45%                         | 101/589                      | 89.1                                  | 117/560        | 110.8                                 | 0.74 (0.57-0.97)         |                   | 32.3 (5.3)                                       |                    |
| Overall                      | 384/3304                     | 60.9                                  | 504/3305       | 80.9                                  | 0.71 (0.62-0.81)         |                   |  |                    |
| Death from card              | iovascular ca                | uses                                  | 1              |                                       |                          | 0.63§             |  | -                  |
| <u>≤20%</u>                  | 1/983                        | 0.5                                   | 0/1005         | 0.0                                   | t                        |                   | 0.0 (0.0)  |                    |
| >20% <35%                    | 9/1245                       | 3.7                                   | 15/1259        | 6.0                                   | 0.62 (0.27-1.41)         |                   | 0.9 (0.9)  |                    |
| >35% <45%                    | 9/487                        | 9.1                                   | 13/481         | 13.5                                  | 0.68 (0.29-1.59)         |                   | 2.1 (2.0)  |                    |
| >45%                         | 40/589                       | 33.6                                  | 41/560         | 36.6                                  | 0.92 (0.60-1.43)         |                   | 5.7 (5.5)  |                    |
| Overall                      | 59/3304                      | 9.1                                   | 69/3305        | 10.6                                  | 0.84 (0.60-1.19)         |                   |  |                    |
| ESKD or death f              | rom cardiova                 | scular caus                           | es †           |                                       |                          | 0.09              |  | < 0.001            |
| <20%                         | 17/983                       | 9.1                                   | 15/1005        | 7.9                                   | 1.23 (0.61-2.46)         |                   | 2.2 (0.6)  |                    |
| >20% ≤35%                    | 46/1245                      | 19.1                                  | 79/1259        | 32.1                                  | 0.55 (0.38-0.79)         |                   | 8.7 (2.4)  |                    |
| >35% <45%                    | 25/487                       | 25.7                                  | 42/481         | 44.5                                  | 0.58 (0.35-0.95)         |                   | 12.1 (3.4)                                       |                    |
| >45%                         | 75/589                       | 64.7                                  | 81/560         | 74.5                                  | 0.86 (0.62-1.17)         |                   | 20.2 (5.6)                                       |                    |
| Overall                      | 163/3304                     | 25.4                                  | 217/3305       | 34.0                                  | 0.73 (0.59-0.89)         |                   | <u>·</u> ·                                       |                    |
| The p values show            | vn are the p va              | alues for trea                        | nd across cate | gories of pre                         | dicted risk of hospita   | lisation f        | or the relative and                              | estimated          |

The p values shown are the p values for trend across categories of predicted risk of hospitalisation for the relative and estimated absolute effects; respectively. \* Absolute events avoided per 1000 patients treated with empagliflozin for 1 year (SE) were estimated by applying the overall hazard ratio to the subgroup-specific event rate per 1000 patient-years in the placebo group. <sup>†</sup> ESKD: End-Stage Kidney Disease, defined as start of maintenance dialysis or receipt of a kidney transplant. <sup>‡</sup> Hazard ratios are not presented for outcomes with fewer than 10 events. <sup>§</sup> Heterogeneity test compares >20%  $\leq$ 35%, >35%  $\leq$ 45% and >45% since event numbers precluded reliable hazard ratio estimation for  $\leq$ 20%; all other P<sub>het</sub> refer to comparisons across all 4 levels of predicted risk of hospitalisation.

#### Table 7-8: Primary and secondary outcomes by multimorbidity

| No. of                   | Empag         | gliflozin Placebo                     |               | Relative effects                      |                          | Estimated absolute<br>effects* |  |                    |
|--------------------------|---------------|---------------------------------------|---------------|---------------------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------------|--|--------------------|
| (excluding<br>CKD)       | n/N           | Rate<br>per 1000<br>patient-<br>years | n/N           | Rate<br>per 1000<br>patient-<br>years | Hazard Ratio<br>(95% CI) | P <sub>het</sub>               | Events avoided per<br>1000 patient-years<br>(SE) | P <sub>trend</sub> |
| PRIMARY OUT              | COME ANI      | D ITS COM                             | PONENTS       |                                       |                          |                                |  |                    |
| Primary outcom<br>causes | e: progressio | on of kidney                          | disease or d  | eath from c                           | ardiovascular            | 0.38                           |  | 0.33               |
| ≤1                       | 233/1924      | 64.4                                  | 300/1940      | 83.5                                  | 0.71 (0.60-0.85)         |                                | 23.1 (3.9)                                       |                    |
| 2                        | 104/706       | 75.6                                  | 113/663       | 88.1                                  | 0.85 (0.65-1.11)         |                                | 24.3 (4.1)                                       |                    |
| ≥3                       | 95/674        | 72.4                                  | 145/702       | 106.9                                 | 0.66 (0.51-0.85)         |                                | 29.5 (5.0)                                       |                    |
| Overall                  | 432/3304      | 68.5                                  | 558/3305      | 89.6                                  | 0.72 (0.64-0.82)         |                                |  |                    |
| KEY SECONDA              | RY OUTCO      | OMES                                  |               |                                       |                          |                                |  |                    |
| Hospitalisation f        | or heart fail | ure or death                          | n from cardio | ovascular ca                          | uses                     | 0.70                           |  | 0.09               |
| ≤1                       | 21/1924       | 5.6                                   | 29/1940       | 7.8                                   | 0.71 (0.41-1.25)         |                                | 1.2 (0.8)  |                    |
| 2                        | 37/706        | 26.3                                  | 36/663        | 27.4                                  | 0.98 (0.62-1.55)         |                                | 4.3 (2.8)  |                    |
| ≥3                       | 73/674        | 56.1                                  | 87/702        | 63.9                                  | 0.86 (0.63-1.17)         |                                | 10.0 (6.4)                                       |                    |
| Overall                  | 131/3304      | 20.4                                  | 152/3305      | 23.7                                  | 0.84 (0.67-1.07)         |                                |  |                    |
| Hospitalisation f        | or any cause  | (first and a                          | ll subsequen  | t events)                             |                          | 0.78                           |  | 0.44               |
| ≤1                       | 638           | 290                                   | 728           | 333                                   | 0.89 (0.77-1.03)         |                                | 46.8 (14.5)                                      |                    |
| 2                        | 426           | 299                                   | 486           | 363                                   | 0.83 (0.68-1.01)         |                                | 51.0 (15.8)                                      |                    |
| ≥3                       | 547           | 407                                   | 681           | 483                                   | 0.83 (0.69-1.00)         |                                | 67.8 (21.0)                                      |                    |
| Overall                  | 1611          | 248                                   | 1895          | 292                                   | 0.86 (0.78-0.95)         |                                |  |                    |
| Death from any           | cause         |                                       |               |                                       |                          | 0.86                           |  |                    |
| ≤1                       | 41/1924       | 11.0                                  | 48/1940       | 12.8                                  | 0.84 (0.55-1.27)         |                                | 1.7 (1.3)  |                    |
| 2                        | 40/706        | 28.1                                  | 38/663        | 28.4                                  | 0.98 (0.63-1.53)         |                                | 3.7 (2.8)  |                    |
| ≥3                       | 67/674        | 49.9                                  | 81/702        | 57.4                                  | 0.86 (0.62-1.19)         |                                | 7.5 (5.6)  |                    |
| Overall                  | 148/3304      | 22.8                                  | 167/3305      | 25.8                                  | 0.87 (0.70-1.08)         |                                |  |                    |
| OTHER SECON              | DARY OUT      | TCOMES                                |               |                                       |                          |                                |  |                    |
| Any kidney disea         | ase progressi | on                                    |               |                                       |                          | 0.59                           |  | 0.92               |
| ≤1                       | 223/1924      | 61.7                                  | 287/1940      | 79.9                                  | 0.71 (0.59-0.84)         |                                | 23.3 (3.8)                                       |                    |
| 2                        | 91/706        | 66.2                                  | 106/663       | 82.7                                  | 0.79 (0.60-1.04)         |                                | 24.1 (4.0)                                       |                    |
| ≥3                       | 70/674        | 53.4                                  | 111/702       | 81.8                                  | 0.63 (0.47-0.86)         |                                | 23.8 (3.9)                                       |                    |
| Overall                  | 384/3304      | 60.9                                  | 504/3305      | 80.9                                  | 0.71 (0.62-0.81)         |                                |  |                    |
| Death from card          | iovascular c  | auses                                 |               |                                       |                          | 0.44                           |  | 0.36               |
| ≤1                       | 12/1924       | 3.2                                   | 13/1940       | 3.5                                   | 0.91 (0.41-1.99)         |                                | 0.5 (0.5)  |                    |
| 2                        | 15/706        | 10.5                                  | 11/663        | 8.2                                   | 1.31 (0.60-2.85)         |                                | 1.3 (1.2)  |                    |
| ≥3                       | 32/674        | 23.8                                  | 45/702        | 31.9                                  | 0.73 (0.46-1.15)         |                                | 5.0 (4.8)  |                    |
| Overall                  | 59/3304       | 9.1                                   | 69/3305       | 10.6                                  | 0.84 (0.60-1.19)         |                                |  |                    |
| ESKD or death f          | rom cardiov   | ascular cau                           | ses†          |                                       |                          | 0.49                           |  | 0.08               |
| ≤1                       | 74/1924       | 20.1                                  | 94/1940       | 25.5                                  | 0.74 (0.54-1.00)         |                                | 6.9 (1.9)  |                    |
| 2                        | 41/706        | 29.1                                  | 45/663        | 34.3                                  | 0.90 (0.59-1.38)         |                                | 9.3 (2.6)  |                    |
| ≥3                       | 48/674        | 36.1                                  | 78/702        | 56.2                                  | 0.64 (0.45-0.92)         |                                | 15.2 (4.3)                                       |                    |
| Overall                  | 163/3304      | 25.4                                  | 217/3305      | 34.0                                  | 0.73 (0.59-0.89)         |                                |  |                    |
|                          |               |                                       |               |                                       |                          |                                |  |                    |

The p values shown are standard chi-square tests for trend across categories of predicted risk of hospitalisation for the relative and estimated absolute effects; respectively. Hazard ratios are not presented for outcomes with fewer than 10 events. \* Absolute events avoided per 1000 patients treated with empagliflozin for 1 year (SE) were estimated by applying the overall hazard ratio to the subgroup-specific event rate per 1000 patient-years in the placebo group. <sup>†</sup> ESKD: End-Stage Kidney Disease, defined as start of maintenance dialysis or receipt of a kidney transplant.

#### Table 7-9: Primary and secondary outcomes by concomitant medication count

| No. of                             | Empagliflozin  |                                   | Placebo         |                                   | Relative effects         |                  | Estimated absolute<br>effects*                   |                    |
|------------------------------------|----------------|-----------------------------------|-----------------|-----------------------------------|--------------------------|------------------|--|--------------------|
| concomitant<br>medications         | n/N            | Rate<br>per 1000<br>patient-years | n/N             | Rate<br>per 1000<br>patient-years | Hazard Ratio<br>(95% CI) | P <sub>het</sub> | Events avoided per<br>1000 patient-years<br>(SE) | P <sub>trend</sub> |
| PRIMARY OUTCOME AND ITS COMPONENTS |                |                                   |                 |                                   |                          |                  |  |                    |
| Primary outcome                    | e: progressio  | n of kidney o                     | lisease or de   | ath from car                      | diovascular causes       | 0.16             |  | 0.08               |
| ≤5                                 | 133/1128       | 62.1                              | 144/1121        | 68.0                              | 0.88 (0.69-1.11)         |                  | 18.8 (3.2)                                       |                    |
| ≥6 <9                              | 134/1010       | 69.4                              | 192/1004        | 102.1                             | 0.67 (0.54-0.83)         |                  | 28.2 (4.7)                                       |                    |
| ≥9                                 | 165/1166       | 74.0                              | 222/1180        | 99.5                              | 0.67 (0.55-0.82)         |                  | 27.5 (4.6)                                       |                    |
| Overall                            | 432/3304       | 68.5                              | 558/3305        | 89.6                              | 0.72 (0.64-0.82)         |                  |  |                    |
| KEY SECONDA                        | RY OUTCO       | MES                               |                 |                                   |                          |                  |  |                    |
| Hospitalisation fo                 | or heart failu | re or death                       | from cardiov    | ascular caus                      | ses                      | 0.26             |  | 0.13               |
| ≤5                                 | 7/1128         | 3.2                               | 14/1121         | 6.4                               | 0.48 (0.19-1.19)         |                  | 1.0 (0.6)  |                    |
| ≥6 <9                              | 38/1010        | 19.3                              | 35/1004         | 17.9                              | 1.08 (0.68-1.72)         |                  | 2.8 (1.8)  |                    |
| ≥9                                 | 86/1166        | 38.0                              | 103/1180        | 45.3                              | 0.82 (0.62-1.09)         |                  | 7.1 (4.6)  |                    |
| Overall                            | 131/3304       | 20.4                              | 152/3305        | 23.7                              | 0.84 (0.67-1.07)         |                  |  |                    |
| Hospitalisation fo                 | or any cause   | (first and all                    | subsequent      | events)                           |                          | 0.05             |  | 0.04               |
| ≤5                                 | 353            | 160                               | 335             | 153                               | 1.06 (0.87-1.28)         |                  | 21.5 (6.6)                                       |                    |
| ≥6 <9                              | 444            | 202                               | 568             | 258                               | 0.77 (0.65-0.92)         |                  | 36.2 (11.2)                                      |                    |
| ≥9                                 | 814            | 354                               | 992             | 425                               | 0.83 (0.71-0.96)         |                  | 59.6 (18.5)                                      |                    |
| Overall                            | 1611           | 248                               | 1895            | 292                               | 0.86 (0.78-0.95)         |                  |  |                    |
| Death from any c                   | ause           |                                   |                 |                                   |                          | 0.75             |  |                    |
| ≤5                                 | 19/1128        | 8.6                               | 19/1121         | 8.7                               | 0.96 (0.51-1.81)         |                  | 1.1 (0.9)  |                    |
| ≥6 <9                              | 43/1010        | 21.6                              | 43/1004         | 21.9                              | 0.98 (0.64-1.49)         |                  | 2.9 (2.1)  |                    |
| ≥9                                 | 86/1166        | 37.4                              | 105/1180        | 45.0                              | 0.82 (0.61-1.09)         |                  | 5.9 (4.4)  |                    |
| Overall                            | 148/3304       | 22.8                              | 167/3305        | 25.8                              | 0.87 (0.70-1.08)         |                  |  |                    |
| OTHER SECON                        | DARY OUT       | COMES                             |                 |                                   |                          |                  |  |                    |
| Any kidney disea                   | se progressio  | on                                |                 |                                   |                          | 0.08             |  | 0.22               |
| ≤5                                 | 128/1128       | 59.7                              | 138/1121        | 65.2                              | 0.89 (0.70-1.13)         |                  | 19.0 (3.1)                                       |                    |
| ≥6 <9                              | 122/1010       | 63.2                              | 178/1004        | 94.6                              | 0.66 (0.52-0.83)         |                  | 27.6 (4.6)                                       |                    |
| ≥9                                 | 134/1166       | 60.1                              | 188/1180        | 84.3                              | 0.63 (0.50-0.78)         |                  | 24.5 (4.1)                                       |                    |
| Overall                            | 384/3304       | 60.9                              | 504/3305        | 80.9                              | 0.71 (0.62-0.81)         |                  |  |                    |
| Death from cardi                   | ovascular ca   | uses                              |                 |                                   | 1                        | 0.81             |  | 0.33               |
| ≤5                                 | 5/1128         | 2.3                               | 8/1121          | 3.7                               | 0.61 (0.20-1.86)         |                  | 0.6 (0.5)  |                    |
| ≥6 <9                              | 16/1010        | 8.0                               | 19/1004         | 9.7                               | 0.82 (0.42-1.60)         |                  | 1.5 (1.4)  |                    |
| ≥9                                 | 38/1166        | 16.5                              | 42/1180         | 18.0                              | 0.90 (0.58-1.40)         |                  | 2.8 (2.7)  |                    |
| Overall                            | 59/3304        | 9.1                               | 69/3305         | 10.6                              | 0.84 (0.60-1.19)         |                  |  |                    |
| ESKD or death f                    | rom cardiova   | ascular caus                      | es <sup>†</sup> | 1                                 |                          | 0.53             |  | 0.02               |
| ≤5                                 | 37/1128        | 16.9                              | 40/1121         | 18.5                              | 0.87 (0.56-1.37)         |                  | 5.0 (1.4)  |                    |
| ≥6 <9                              | 46/1010        | 23.4                              | 74/1004         | 38.3                              | 0.63 (0.44-0.91)         |                  | 10.4 (2.9)                                       |                    |
| ≥9                                 | 80/1166        | 35.3                              | 103/1180        | 45.0                              | 0.75 (0.56-1.00)         |                  | 12.2 (3.4)                                       |                    |
| Overall                            | 163/3304       | 25.4                              | 217/3305        | 34.0                              | 0.73 (0.59-0.89)         |                  |  |                    |
|                                    |                |                                   |                 |                                   |                          |                  |  |                    |

The p values shown are standard chi-square tests for trend across categories of predicted risk of hospitalisation for the relative and estimated absolute effects; respectively. Hazard ratios are not presented for outcomes with fewer than 10 events. \* Absolute events avoided per 1000 patients treated with empagliflozin for 1 year (SE) were estimated by applying the overall hazard ratio to the subgroup-specific event rate per 1000 patient-years in the placebo group.  $^{\dagger}$  ESKD: End-Stage Kidney Disease, defined as start of maintenance dialysis or receipt of a kidney transplant.

#### Table 7-10: Primary and secondary outcomes by health-related quality of life

| EQ-5D index  |                | liflozin       | Placebo      |                                   | Relative effects         |                  | Estimated absolute<br>effects*                   |                             |
|--|----------------|----------------|--------------|-----------------------------------|--------------------------|------------------|--|-----------------------------|
| value  | value n/N      |                | n/N          | Rate<br>per 1000<br>patient-years | Hazard Ratio<br>(95% CI) | P <sub>het</sub> | Events avoided per<br>1000 patient-years<br>(SE) | $\mathbf{P}_{\text{trend}}$ |
| PRIMARY OUT  | COME AND       |                |              |                                   |                          |                  |  |                             |
| Primary outcome: progression of kidney disease or death from cardiovascular causes |                |                |              |                                   |                          |                  |  | 0.64                        |
| >0.987   | 126/1064       | 63.3           | 169/1083     | 83.2                              | 0.78 (0.62-0.98)         |                  | 23.0 (3.9)                                       |                             |
| >0.811 ≤0.987  | 151/1117       | 71.1           | 196/1142     | 92.5                              | 0.70 (0.57-0.87)         |                  | 25.5 (4.3)                                       |                             |
| ≤0.811   | 155/1123       | 70.8           | 193/1080     | 92.8                              | 0.69 (0.56-0.86)         |                  | 25.6 (4.3)                                       |                             |
| Overall  | 432/3304       | 68.5           | 558/3305     | 89.6                              | 0.72 (0.64-0.82)         |                  |  |                             |
| KEY SECONDA  | RY OUTCO       | MES            |              |                                   |                          |                  |  |                             |
| Hospitalisation fo   | or heart failu | re or death f  | from cardiov | ascular caus                      | ses                      | 0.21             |  | 0.45                        |
| >0.987   | 21/1064        | 10.3           | 30/1083      | 14.4                              | 0.76 (0.43-1.32)         |                  | 2.3 (1.4)  |                             |
| >0.811 ≤0.987  | 25/1117        | 11.4           | 38/1142      | 17.4                              | 0.59 (0.36-0.98)         |                  | 2.7 (1.8)  |                             |
| ≤0.811   | 85/1123        | 38.5           | 84/1080      | 39.5                              | 0.99 (0.73-1.33)         |                  | 6.2 (4.0)  |                             |
| Overall  | 131/3304       | 20.4           | 152/3305     | 23.7                              | 0.84 (0.67-1.07)         |                  |  |                             |
| Hospitalisation fo   | or any cause   | (first and all | subsequent   | events)                           | ·                        | 0.01             |  | 0.22                        |
| >0.987   | 401            | 196            | 453          | 215                               | 0.99 (0.83-1.20)         |                  | 30.2 (9.4)                                       |                             |
| >0.811 ≤0.987  | 407            | 185            | 579          | 263                               | 0.67 (0.56-0.80)         |                  | 36.9 (11.4)                                      |                             |
| ≤0.811   | 803            | 356            | 863          | 397                               | 0.90 (0.77-1.05)         |                  | 55.7 (17.2)                                      |                             |
| Overall  | 1611           | 248            | 1895         | 292                               | 0.86 (0.78-0.95)         |                  |  |                             |
| Death from any c   | ause           |                |              |                                   |                          | 0.08             |  | 0.34                        |
| >0.987   | 22/1064        | 10.8           | 26/1083      | 12.4                              | 0.91 (0.52-1.61)         |                  | 1.6 (1.2)  |                             |
| >0.811 ≤0.987  | 28/1117        | 12.7           | 47/1142      | 21.3                              | 0.54 (0.34-0.86)         |                  | 2.8 (2.1)  |                             |
| ≤0.811   | 98/1123        | 43.5           | 94/1080      | 43.2                              | 1.02 (0.76-1.35)         |                  | 5.7 (4.2)  |                             |
| Overall  | 148/3304       | 22.8           | 167/3305     | 25.8                              | 0.87 (0.70-1.08)         |                  |  |                             |
| OTHER SECON  | DARY OUT       | COMES          |              |                                   |                          |                  |  |                             |
| Any kidney disea   | se progressio  | on             |              |                                   |                          | 0.70             |  | 0.89                        |
| >0.987   | 118/1064       | 59.3           | 161/1083     | 79.3                              | 0.77 (0.61-0.98)         |                  | 23.1 (3.8)                                       |                             |
| >0.811 ≤0.987  | 137/1117       | 64.5           | 183/1142     | 86.4                              | 0.68 (0.54-0.85)         |                  | 25.2 (4.2)                                       |                             |
| ≤0.811   | 129/1123       | 58.9           | 160/1080     | 76.9                              | 0.68 (0.54-0.86)         |                  | 22.4 (3.7)                                       |                             |
| Overall  | 384/3304       | 60.9           | 504/3305     | 80.9                              | 0.71 (0.62-0.81)         |                  |  |                             |
| Death from cardi   | ovascular ca   | uses           |              |                                   |                          | 0.89             |  | 0.56                        |
| >0.987   | 8/1064         | 3.9            | 10/1083      | 4.8                               | 0.85 (0.34-2.16)         |                  | 0.7 (0.7)  |                             |
| >0.811 ≤0.987  | 15/1117        | 6.8            | 14/1142      | 6.3                               | 0.98 (0.47-2.02)         |                  | 1.0 (1.0)  |                             |
| ≤0.811   | 36/1123        | 16.0           | 45/1080      | 20.7                              | 0.79 (0.51-1.23)         |                  | 3.2 (3.1)  |                             |
| Overall  | 59/3304        | 9.1            | 69/3305      | 10.6                              | 0.84 (0.60-1.19)         |                  |  |                             |
| ESKD or death f  | rom cardiova   | ascular cause  | es‡          |                                   |                          | 0.88             |  | 0.13                        |
| >0.987   | 34/1064        | 16.8           | 50/1083      | 24.0                              | 0.72 (0.46-1.11)         |                  | 6.5 (1.8)  |                             |
| >0.811 ≤0.987  | 57/1117        | 26.3           | 68/1142      | 31.3                              | 0.78 (0.55-1.11)         |                  | 8.5 (2.4)  |                             |
| ≤0.811   | 72/1123        | 32.3           | 99/1080      | 46.4                              | 0.69 (0.51-0.94)         |                  | 12.6 (3.5)                                       |                             |
| Overall  | 163/3304       | 25.4           | 217/3305     | 34.0                              | 0.73 (0.59-0.89)         |                  |  |                             |
|  |                |                |              |                                   |                          |                  |  |                             |

The p values shown are standard chi-square tests for trend across categories of predicted risk of hospitalisation for the relative and estimated absolute effects; respectively. Hazard ratios are not presented for outcomes with fewer than 10 events. \* Absolute events avoided per 1000 patients treated with empagliflozin for 1 year (SE) were estimated by applying the overall hazard ratio to the subgroup-specific event rate per 1000 patient-years in the placebo group. <sup>†</sup> If subgroup-specific hazard ratios (or CIs) were used to estimate absolute effects on all-cause hospitalization by health-related quality of life, based on P for heterogeneity = 0.01 for relative effects; estimated absolute events avoided (SE) would be 1.3 (20.1), 87.0 (15.9) and 38.8 (28.4) rather than 30.2 (9.4), 36.9 (11.4) and 55.7 (17.2). <sup>‡</sup> ESKD: End-Stage Kidney Disease, defined as start of maintenance dialysis or receipt of a kidney transplant.

# 7.2.6 EFFECTS OF EMPAGLIFLOZIN ON SAFETY OUTCOMES BY FRAILTY INDICATORS

#### 7.2.6.1 RELATIVE EFFECTS ON SAFETY OUTCOMES

Safety outcomes were more common in participants with indicators of increased frailty, but their incidence was not affected by study treatment. In particular, allocation to empagliflozin relative to placebo did not result in any excess of ketoacidosis, symptomatic dehydration or fractures (Table 7-11 to Table 7-14). Averaged across the follow-up period, total body weight was ~1 kg lower in the empagliflozin versus placebo group (-0.9 [-1.2, - 0.6] kg) with similar between-group differences in all frailty (by predicted risk of hospitalisation) subgroups (P for heterogeneity = 0.88; Figure 7-8). Similarly, there was no evidence of heterogeneity of treatment effect on blood pressure (P for heterogeneity = 0.66 and 0.80 for systolic and diastolic blood pressure, respectively; Figure 7-8).

Figure 7-8: Effects of empagliflozin versus placebo on weight and blood pressure by frailty

| WEIGHT (kg)         |                    |                   |                           |  |  |  |  |  |
|---------------------|--------------------|-------------------|---------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
|                     | Baseline Mean (SE) | Difference        | (95% CI) P <sub>het</sub> |  |  |  |  |  |
| Risk of hospitalis: | ation              |                   | 0.88                      |  |  |  |  |  |
| ≤20%                | 80.2 (0.5)         | <b>-</b>          | -0.9 (-1.5, -0.4)         |  |  |  |  |  |
| >20%≤35%            | 82.3 (0.4)         |                   | -1.0 (-1.4, -0.5)         |  |  |  |  |  |
| >35%≤45%            | 87.1 (0.7) -       |                   | -1.1 (-1.8, -0.3)         |  |  |  |  |  |
| >45%                | 91.5 (0.7)         |                   | -0.7 (-1.4, 0.0)          |  |  |  |  |  |
| Overall             | 84.0 (0.3)         | $\langle \rangle$ | -0.9 (-1.2, -0.6)         |  |  |  |  |  |
|                     | -2                 | -15 -1 -05 0      | 0.5                       |  |  |  |  |  |

SYSTOLIC BLOOD PRESSURE (mmHg)

|                 | Baseline Mean (SE) | Difference        | e (95% CI)        | $\mathbf{P}_{het}$ |
|-----------------|--------------------|-------------------|-------------------|--------------------|
| Risk of hospita | lisation           |                   |                   | 0.66               |
| ≤20%            | 131.6(0.3)         |                   | -2.1 (-3.4, -0.8) |                    |
| >20%≤35%        | 138.4(0.4)         | <b>#</b>          | -2.6 (-3.7, -1.5) |                    |
| >35%≤45%        | 140.5(0.6)         |                   | -2.6 (-4.4, -0.9) |                    |
| >45%            | 137.7(0.6)         |                   | -3.4 (-5.0, -1.8) |                    |
| Overall         | 136.5(0.2)         | $\langle \rangle$ | -2.6 (-3.3, -1.9) |                    |
|                 | -5                 | -4 -3 -2 -1       |                   |                    |

DIASTOLIC BLOOD PRESSURE (mmHg)

| ]                    | Baseline Mean (SE) | Difference (95% CI) |      |  |
|----------------------|--------------------|---------------------|------|--|
| Risk of hospitalisat | ion                |                     | 0.80 |  |
| ≤20%                 | 81.7 (0.2)         | -0.4 (-1.2, 0.3)    | )    |  |
| >20%≤35%             | 78.8 (0.2)         | -0.3 (-0.9, 0.3)    | )    |  |
| >35%≤45%             | 74.9 (0.4)         | -0.7 (-1.7, 0.4)    | )    |  |
| >45%                 | 72.7 (0.4)         | -0.8 (-1.8, 0.1)    | )    |  |
| Overall              | 78.1 (0.1)         | -0.5 (-0.9, -0.1)   | )    |  |
|                      | []                 |                     |      |  |
|                      | -5 -4              | -3 -2 -1 0 1        |      |  |

Study-average differences are adjusted for baseline values of the dependent variable (in continuous form) and for any differences in key baseline characteristics (categories of age, sex, diabetes, estimated glomerular filtration rate, urinary albumin-to-creatinine ratio and region) between treatment groups and weighted in proportion to the amount of time between follow-up visits. Each analysis includes all individuals with measurement of the outcome variable at baseline and at least once during follow-up.

#### Table 7-11: Safety outcomes by predicted risk of hospitalisation

| Predicted risk of             | Empag            | gliflozin     | Pla       | cebo          | Relative effe                           | ects  | Estimated absolute     | effects* |
|-------------------------------|------------------|---------------|-----------|---------------|---|-------|------------------------|----------|
| hospitalisation               | n/N              | Rate per 1000 | n/N       | Rate per 1000 | Hazard Ratio                            | Pu    | Events caused per 1000 | Р.,      |
| (%)                           |                  | patient-years | 1/11      | patient-years | (95% CI)                                | * net | patient-years (SE)     | 1 trend  |
| Serious urinary tra           | ct infection     | 27            | 0/1005    | 1.2           |   | 0.99  | 0.2 (0.0)              | 0.76     |
| $\leq 20\%$                   | 12/12/15         | 5.1           | 8/1005    | 4.2           |   |       | -0.3 (0.8)             |          |
| >35% <45%                     | 13/1243          | 12.4          | 13/1239   | 13.7          |   |       | -0.4 (1.1)             |          |
| >45%                          | 20/589           | 17.0          | 18/560    | 16.3          |   |       | -1.0 (3.0)             |          |
| Overall                       | 52/3304          | 8.1           | 54/3305   | 8.4           | 0.94 (0.64-1.37)                        |       |                        |          |
| Serious genital infe          | ction            |               |           |               |   | -     |                        | -        |
| ≤20%                          | 0/983            | 0.0           | 0/1005    | 0.0           |   |       | -                      |          |
| >20% ≤35%                     | 0/1245           | 0.0           | 0/1259    | 0.0           |   |       | -                      |          |
| >35% ≤45%                     | 1/487            | 1.0           | 0/481     | 0.0           |   |       | -                      |          |
| >45%                          | 0/589            | 0.0           | 1/560     | 0.9           |   |       | -                      |          |
| Overall<br>Serious hyperkelse | 1/3304           | 0.2           | 1/3305    | 0.2           | -                                       | 0.50  |                        | 0.27     |
| <20%                          | 11/983           | 5.9           | 17/1005   | 9.1           |   | 0.39  | -16(11)                | 0.27     |
| >20% <35%                     | 32/1245          | 13.3          | 41/1259   | 16.7          |   |       | -2.9 (2.0)             |          |
| >35% ≤45%                     | 21/487           | 21.8          | 16/481    | 17.0          |   |       | -2.9 (2.0)             |          |
| >45%                          | 28/589           | 24.3          | 35/560    | 32.6          |   |       | -5.6 (3.8)             |          |
| Overall                       | 92/3304          | 14.4          | 109/3305  | 17.2          | 0.83 (0.63-1.09)                        |       |                        |          |
| Serious acute kidne           | ey injury        |               |           |               |   | 0.28  |                        | 0.01     |
| <u>≤20%</u>                   | 7/983            | 3.7           | 13/1005   | 6.9           |   |       | -1.5 (0.7)             |          |
| $>20\% \le 35\%$              | 37/1245          | 15.4          | 41/1259   | 16.6          |   |       | -3.7 (1.7)             |          |
| >35% ≤45%                     | 14/48/           | 14.4          | 28/481    | 29.9          |   |       | -0.0 (3.0)             |          |
| Overall                       | 107/3304         | 42.8          | 135/3305  | 21.1          | 0 78 (0 60-1 00)                        |       | -10.7 (4.9)            |          |
| Serious dehvdratio            | n                | 10.7          | 100/0000  | 21.1          | 0.70 (0.00-1.00)                        | 0.84  |                        | _        |
| <pre></pre>                   | 0/983            | 0.0           | 0/1005    | 0.0           |   | 0.01  | 0.0 (0.0)              |          |
| >20% ≤35%                     | 12/1245          | 4.9           | 8/1259    | 3.2           |   |       | 0.8 (1.1)              |          |
| >35% ≤45%                     | 5/487            | 5.1           | 6/481     | 6.3           |   |       | 1.6 (2.1)              |          |
| >45%                          | 13/589           | 11.0          | 10/560    | 9.0           |   |       | 2.3 (3.1)              |          |
| Overall                       | 30/3304          | 4.6           | 24/3305   | 3.7           | 1.25 (0.73-2.14)                        |       |                        |          |
| Liver injury                  | 2/002            | 11            | 2/1005    | 1.1           |   | 0.67  | 0.1 (0.5)              | 0.88     |
| <u>&lt;20%</u><br>>20% <25%   | 2/983            | 1.1           | 2/1005    | 1.1           |   |       | 0.1 (0.5)              |          |
| >35% <45%                     | 2/487            | 2.5           | 3/481     | 3.1           |   |       | 0.1 (0.3)              |          |
| >45%                          | 3/589            | 2.5           | 4/560     | 3.6           |   |       | 0.3 (1.4)              |          |
| Overall                       | 13/3304          | 2.0           | 12/3305   | 1.9           | 1.09 (0.50-2.38)                        |       |                        |          |
| Ketoacidosis                  |                  |               |           |               | , | -     |                        | -        |
| ≤20%                          | 0/983            | 0.0           | 0/1005    | 0.0           |   |       | -                      |          |
| >20% ≤35%                     | 3/1245           | 1.2           | 0/1259    | 0.0           |   |       | -                      |          |
| >35% ≤45%                     | 0/487            | 0.0           | 1/481     | 1.0           |   |       | -                      |          |
| >45%                          | 3/589            | 2.5           | 0/560     | 0.0           | ( )= (0,75,52,02)                       |       | -                      |          |
| Uverall<br>Lower limb ampute  | 0/3304           | 0.9           | 1/3305    | 0.2           | 0.25 (0.75-52.05)                       | 0.40  |                        | 0.03     |
| <20%                          | 1/983            | 0.5           | 1/1005    | 0.5           |   | 0.40  | 0.2 (0.2)              | 0.95     |
| >20% <35%                     | 7/1245           | 2.9           | 1/1259    | 0.4           |   |       | 0.2 (0.2)              |          |
| >35% ≤45%                     | 8/487            | 8.2           | 7/481     | 7.4           |   |       | 3.2 (3.1)              |          |
| >45%                          | 12/589           | 10.2          | 10/560    | 9.0           |   |       | 3.9 (3.8)              |          |
| Overall                       | 28/3304          | 4.3           | 19/3305   | 2.9           | 1.43 (0.80-2.57)                        |       |                        |          |
| Bone fracture                 | 00/000           | 10.1          | 00/1007   | 17.0          |   | 0.29  |                        | 0.77     |
| <u>≤20%</u>                   | 23/983           | 12.4          | 28/1005   | 15.0          |   |       | 1.1 (2.0)              |          |
| >20% <15%                     | 38/1243          | 15.8          | 22/491    | 15.8          |   |       | 1.0 (1.9)              |          |
| >45%                          | 37/589           | 30.9          | 39/560    | 36.0          |   |       | 27(4.8)                |          |
| Overall                       | 133/3304         | 20.9          | 123/3305  | 19.3          | 1.08 (0.84-1.38)                        |       | 2.7 (4.0)              |          |
| Severe hypoglycaer            | nia <sup>‡</sup> | -003          | 120/00/00 | 1710          | 100 (001 100)                           | 0.45  |                        | 0.96     |
| ≤20%                          | 4/983            | 2.1           | 2/1005    | 1.1           |   |       | -0.0 (0.2)             |          |
| >20% ≤35%                     | 21/1245          | 8.7           | 29/1259   | 11.7          |   |       | -0.1 (1.9)             |          |
| >35% ≤45%                     | 17/487           | 17.6          | 20/481    | 21.3          |   |       | -0.1 (3.4)             |          |
| >45%                          | 35/589           | 30.5          | 26/560    | 24.1          | 4 00 (0 75 1 75                         |       | -0.1 (3.9)             |          |
| Overall                       | 77/3304          | 12.0          | 77/3305   | 12.1          | <1.00 (0.73-1.37)                       | 0.005 |                        | 0.50     |
| symptomatic dehye             | urauon°          | 5 /           | 10/1005   | 5.2           |   | 0.995 | 0.5 (0.0)              | 0.59     |
| >20% <35%                     | 30/1245          | 12.5          | 27/1259   | 10.9          |   |       | 11(19)                 |          |
| >35% <45%                     | 14/487           | 14.6          | 12/481    | 12.7          |   |       | 1.3 (2.2)              |          |
| >45%                          | 29/589           | 25.1          | 27/560    | 24.7          |   |       | 2.6 (4.3)              |          |
| Overall                       | 83/3304          | 13.0          | 76/3305   | 11.9          | 1.10 (0.81-1.51)                        |       |                        |          |

\* See section 2.7.5 for methods. <sup>‡</sup> Defined as low blood sugar causing severe cognitive impairment which requires assistance from another person for recovery. <sup>§</sup> Defined as whether or not a participant has experienced symptoms they attribute to dehydration, such as feeling faint or fainting.

### Table 7-12: Safety outcomes by multimorbidity

| No of conditions         | Empagliflozin               |                                | Placebo       |                                | Relative effects               |                  | Estimated absolute effects*                  |                    |
|--------------------------|-----------------------------|--------------------------------|---------------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|------------------|--|--------------------|
| (excluding CKD)          | n/N                         | Rate per 1000<br>patient-years | n/N           | Rate per 1000<br>patient-years | Hazard Ratio<br>(95% CI)       | P <sub>het</sub> | Events caused per 1000<br>patient-years (SE) | P <sub>trend</sub> |
| Serious urinary tract    | t infection                 |                                |               |                                |                                | 0.42             |  | 0.87               |
| ≤1                       | 18/1924                     | 4.9                            | 23/1940       | 6.2                            |                                |                  | -0.4 (1.1)                                   |                    |
| 2                        | 13/706                      | 9.2                            | 15/663        | 11.3                           |                                |                  | -0.7 (2.1)                                   |                    |
| ≥3                       | 21/674                      | 15.8                           | 16/702        | 11.5                           |                                |                  | -0.7 (2.1)                                   |                    |
| Overall                  | 52/3304                     | 8.1                            | 54/3305       | 8.4                            | 0.94 (0.64-1.37)               |                  |  |                    |
| Serious genital infect   | tion                        |                                |               |                                |                                |                  |  | -                  |
| ≤1                       | 0/1924                      | 0.0                            | 0/1940        | 0.0                            |                                | -                | -  |                    |
| 2                        | 0/706                       | 0.0                            | 0/663         | 0.0                            |                                |                  | -  |                    |
| ≥3                       | 1/674                       | 0.7                            | 1/702         | 0.7                            |                                |                  | -  |                    |
| Overall                  | 1/3304                      | 0.2                            | 1/3305        | 0.2                            | -                              |                  |  |                    |
| Serious hyperkalaem      | nia                         |                                |               |                                |                                | 0.61             |  | 0.66               |
| ≤1                       | 50/1924                     | 13.6                           | 51/1940       | 13.9                           |                                |                  | -2.4 (1.6)                                   |                    |
| 2                        | 22/706                      | 15.8                           | 30/663        | 23.2                           |                                |                  | -4.0 (2.7)                                   |                    |
| ≥3                       | 20/674                      | 15.2                           | 28/702        | 20.2                           |                                |                  | -3.5 (2.4)                                   |                    |
| Overall                  | 92/3304                     | 14.4                           | 109/3305      | 17.2                           | 0.83 (0.63-1.09)               |                  |  |                    |
| Serious acute kidney     | injury                      |                                |               |                                |                                | 0.64             |  | 0.15               |
| _≤1                      | 35/1924                     | 9.5                            | 51/1940       | 13.8                           |                                |                  | -3.0 (1.4)                                   |                    |
| 2                        | 35/706                      | 25.1                           | 36/663        | 27.5                           |                                |                  | -6.1 (2.8)                                   |                    |
| ≥3                       | 37/674                      | 28.3                           | 48/702        | 34.7                           |                                |                  | -7.6 (3.5)                                   |                    |
| Overall                  | 107/3304                    | 16.7                           | 135/3305      | 21.1                           | 0.78 (0.60-1.00)               |                  |  |                    |
| Serious dehydration      |                             |                                |               |                                |                                | 0.77             |  | 0.60               |
| ≤1                       | 8/1924                      | 2.2                            | 8/1940        | 2.1                            |                                |                  | 0.5 (0.7)                                    |                    |
| 2                        | 9/706                       | 6.3                            | 5/663         | 3.7                            |                                |                  | 0.9 (1.3)                                    |                    |
| ≥3                       | 13/674                      | 9.7                            | 11/702        | 7.9                            |                                |                  | 2.0 (2.7)                                    |                    |
| Overall                  | 30/3304                     | 4.6                            | 24/3305       | 3.7                            | 1.25 (0.73-2.14)               |                  |  |                    |
| Liver injury             |                             |                                | 1             |                                |                                | 0.55             |  | 0.88               |
| ≤1                       | 7/1924                      | 1.9                            | 4/1940        | 1.1                            |                                |                  | 0.1 (0.5)                                    |                    |
| 2                        | 3/706                       | 2.1                            | 3/663         | 2.2                            |                                |                  | 0.2 (1.0)                                    |                    |
| ≥3                       | 3/674                       | 2.2                            | 5/702         | 3.6                            |                                |                  | 0.3 (1.5)                                    |                    |
| Overall                  | 13/3304                     | 2.0                            | 12/3305       | 1.9                            | 1.09 (0.50-2.38)               |                  |  |                    |
| Ketoacidosis             |                             |                                |               |                                |                                | -                |  | -                  |
| _≤1                      | 1/1924                      | 0.3                            | 0/1940        | 0.0                            |                                |                  | -  |                    |
| 2                        | 2/706                       | 1.4                            | 0/663         | 0.0                            |                                |                  | -  |                    |
| ≥3                       | 3/674                       | 2.2                            | 1/702         | 0.7                            |                                |                  | -  |                    |
| Overall                  | 6/3304                      | 0.9                            | 1/3305        | 0.2                            | 6.25 (0.75-52.03)              |                  |  |                    |
| Lower limb amputat       | ion                         |                                |               | 0.7                            |                                | 0.33             |  | 0.20               |
| ≤1                       | 7/1924                      | 1.9                            | 2/1940        | 0.5                            |                                |                  | 0.2 (0.2)                                    |                    |
| 2                        | 11//06                      | 7.8                            | 6/663         | 4.5                            |                                |                  | 1.9 (1.9)                                    |                    |
| <u>25</u>                | 10/6/4                      | 1.5                            | 11//02        | 7.9                            | 1 42 (0.89.3.55)               |                  | 5.4 (5.4)                                    |                    |
| Overall<br>Rono freature | 28/3304                     | 4.5                            | 19/3305       | 2.9                            | 1.45 (0.80-2.57)               | 0.00             |  | 0.77               |
| some fracture            | 68/1024                     | 10 6                           | 52/1040       | 1.1.1                          |                                | 0.09             | 11(10)                                       | 0.77               |
| 2                        | 22/706                      | 16.0                           | 32/1940       | 14.1<br>25.2                   |                                |                  | 1.1(1.9)<br>10(3.4)                          |                    |
| >3                       | 42/674                      | 22 /                           | 38/702        | 23.2                           |                                |                  | 1.7 (3.4)<br>2 1 (3 7)                       |                    |
|                          | +2/0/4<br>133/330/          | 20.0                           | 123/3305      | 10.3                           | 1.08 (0.84-1.38)               |                  | 2.1 (3.7)                                    |                    |
| Severe hypoglycoom       | 133/3304<br>19 <sup>‡</sup> | 20.7                           | 123/3303      | 19.0                           | 1.00 (0.04-1.30)               | 0.34             |  | 0.97               |
| <1                       | 19/102/                     | 51                             | 13/10/0       | 35                             |                                | 0.54             | -0.0.0.6)                                    | 0.77               |
| 2                        | 26/706                      | 18.7                           | 23/663        | 17.6                           |                                |                  | -0.1.(2.8)                                   |                    |
| >3                       | 32/674                      | 24.5                           | 41/702        | 30.2                           |                                |                  | -0.1 (2.0)                                   |                    |
| Overall                  | 77/3304                     | 12.0                           | 77/3305       | 12.1                           | <1.00 (0.73-1.37)              |                  | 0.1 (7.7)                                    |                    |
| Symptomatic dehydr       | ration <sup>§</sup>         | 14.0                           | 1113303       | 1.44.1                         | ×1.00 (0.75 <sup>-</sup> 1.57) | 0.74             |  | 0.73               |
| <1                       | 31/1924                     | 84                             | 30/1940       | 81                             |                                | 0.74             | 08(14)                                       | 0.15               |
| 2                        | 23/706                      | 16.5                           | 16/663        | 12.1                           |                                |                  | 1.3 (2.1)                                    |                    |
| >3                       | 29/674                      | 22.2                           | 30/702        | 21.8                           |                                |                  | 2.3 (3.8)                                    |                    |
| Overall                  | 83/3304                     | 13.0                           | 76/3305       | 11.9                           | 1.10 (0.81-1.51)               |                  |  |                    |
| * Absolute events avo    | pided per 1000 t            | patients treated               | with empaglif | flozin for 1 yea               | r (SE) were estimated          | by applyi        | ng the overall hazard ra                     | atio to the        |

\* Absolute events avoided per 1000 patients treated with empagliflozin for 1 year (SE) were estimated by applying the overall hazard ratio to the subgroup-specific event rate per 1000 patient-years in the placebo group. <sup>‡</sup> Defined as low blood sugar causing severe cognitive impairment which requires assistance from another person for recovery. <sup>§</sup> Defined as whether or not a participant has experienced symptoms they attribute to dehydration, such as feeling faint or fainting.

#### Table 7-13: Safety outcomes by concomitant medication count

| No. of Em                  |                         | gliflozin                      | Placebo        |                                | <b>Relative effects</b>                 |                  | Estimated absolute effects*                  |             |
|----------------------------|-------------------------|--------------------------------|----------------|--------------------------------|---|------------------|--|-------------|
| concomitant<br>medications | n/N                     | Rate per 1000<br>patient-years | n/N            | Rate per 1000<br>patient-years | Hazard Ratio<br>(95% CI)                | P <sub>het</sub> | Events caused per 1000<br>patient-years (SE) | Ptrend      |
| Serious urinary            | tract infection         | n                              |                | 1                              | (,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, | 0.40             |  | 0.87        |
| ≤5                         | 8/1128                  | 3.6                            | 12/1121        | 5.5                            |   |                  | -0.3 (1.0)                                   |             |
| ≥6 <9                      | 14/1010                 | 7.1                            | 17/1004        | 8.7                            |   |                  | -0.5 (1.6)                                   |             |
| <u>&gt;</u> 9              | 30/1166                 | 13.2                           | 25/1180        | 10.8                           |   |                  | -0.7 (2.0)                                   |             |
| Overall                    | 52/3304                 | 8.1                            | 54/3305        | 8.4                            | 0.94 (0.64-1.37)                        |                  |  |             |
| Serious genital            | infection               | 1                              | 1              | 1                              |   | -                |  | -           |
| ≤5                         | 0/1128                  | 0.0                            | 0/1121         | 0.0                            |   |                  | -  |             |
| ≥6 <9                      | 0/1010                  | 0.0                            | 1/1004         | 0.5                            |   |                  | -  |             |
| <u>&gt;</u> 9              | 1/1166                  | 0.4                            | 0/1180         | 0.0                            |   |                  | -  |             |
| Overall                    | 1/3304                  | 0.2                            | 1/3305         | 0.2                            | -                                       |                  |  |             |
| Serious hyperka            | alaemia                 |                                |                |                                | 1                                       | 0.97             |  | 0.64        |
| ≤5                         | 24/1128                 | 11.0                           | 29/1121        | 13.5                           |   |                  | -2.3 (1.6)                                   |             |
| ≥6 <9                      | 24/1010                 | 12.2                           | 30/1004        | 15.5                           |   |                  | -2.7 (1.8)                                   |             |
| ≥9                         | 44/1166                 | 19.6                           | 50/1180        | 22.1                           |   |                  | -3.8 (2.6)                                   |             |
| Overall                    | 92/3304                 | 14.4                           | 109/3305       | 17.2                           | 0.83 (0.63-1.09)                        |                  |  |             |
| Serious acute ki           | idney injury            |                                |                |                                |   | 0.26             |  | 0.12        |
| ≤5                         | 16/1128                 | 7.3                            | 23/1121        | 10.6                           |   |                  | -2.3 (1.1)                                   |             |
| ≥6 <9                      | 25/1010                 | 12.6                           | 42/1004        | 21.7                           |   |                  | -4.8 (2.2)                                   |             |
| ≥9                         | 66/1166                 | 29.5                           | 70/1180        | 30.6                           |   |                  | -6.7 (3.1)                                   |             |
| Overall                    | 107/3304                | 16.7                           | 135/3305       | 21.1                           | 0.78 (0.60-1.00)                        |                  |  |             |
| Serious dehydra            | ation                   |                                |                |                                |   | 0.30             |  | 0.57        |
| ≤5                         | 1/1128                  | 0.5                            | 3/1121         | 1.4                            |   |                  | 0.3 (0.5)                                    |             |
| <br>≥6 <9                  | 4/1010                  | 2.0                            | 5/1004         | 2.6                            |   |                  | 0.6 (0.9)                                    |             |
| <u>&gt;</u> 9              | 25/1166                 | 11.0                           | 16/1180        | 6.9                            |   |                  | 1.7 (2.4)                                    |             |
| Overall                    | 30/3304                 | 4.6                            | 24/3305        | 3.7                            | 1.25 (0.73-2.14)                        |                  |  |             |
| Liver injury               |                         |                                |                |                                | . ,                                     | 0.22             |  | 0.97        |
| ≤5                         | 6/1128                  | 2.7                            | 3/1121         | 1.4                            |   |                  | 0.1 (0.6)                                    |             |
| ≥6 <9                      | 4/1010                  | 2.0                            | 2/1004         | 1.0                            |   |                  | 0.1 (0.4)                                    |             |
| ≥9                         | 3/1166                  | 1.3                            | 7/1180         | 3.0                            |   |                  | 0.3 (1.3)                                    |             |
| Overall                    | 13/3304                 | 2.0                            | 12/3305        | 1.9                            | 1.09 (0.50-2.38)                        |                  |  |             |
| Ketoacidosis               |                         |                                |                |                                | . ,                                     | -                |  | -           |
| ≤5                         | 2/1128                  | 0.9                            | 0/1121         | 0.0                            |   |                  | -  |             |
| ≥6 <9                      | 3/1010                  | 1.5                            | 0/1004         | 0.0                            |   |                  | -  |             |
| ≥9                         | 1/1166                  | 0.4                            | 1/1180         | 0.4                            |   |                  | -  |             |
| Overall                    | 6/3304                  | 0.9                            | 1/3305         | 0.2                            | 6.25 (0.75-52.03)                       |                  |  |             |
| Lower limb am              | putation                | -                              |                |                                | · · · ·                                 | 0.96             |  | 0.22        |
| ≤5                         | 2/1128                  | 0.9                            | 1/1121         | 0.5                            |   |                  | 0.2 (0.2)                                    |             |
| ≥6 <9                      | 10/1010                 | 5.1                            | 7/1004         | 3.6                            |   |                  | 1.5 (1.5)                                    |             |
| ≥9                         | 16/1166                 | 7.0                            | 11/1180        | 4.7                            |   |                  | 2.0 (2.0)                                    |             |
| Overall                    | 28/3304                 | 4.3                            | 19/3305        | 2.9                            | 1.43 (0.80-2.57)                        |                  |  |             |
| Bone fracture              |                         |                                |                |                                |   | 0.29             |  | 0.75        |
| ≤5                         | 36/1128                 | 16.6                           | 25/1121        | 11.6                           |   |                  | 0.9 (1.6)                                    |             |
| ≥6 <9                      | 42/1010                 | 21.6                           | 34/1004        | 17.5                           |   |                  | 1.3 (2.4)                                    |             |
| ≥9                         | 55/1166                 | 24.5                           | 64/1180        | 28.2                           |   |                  | 2.1 (3.8)                                    |             |
| Overall                    | 133/3304                | 20.9                           | 123/3305       | 19.3                           | 1.08 (0.84-1.38)                        |                  |  |             |
| Severe hypogly             | caemia‡                 |                                |                |                                |   | 0.50             |  | 0.98        |
| ≤5                         | 8/1128                  | 3.6                            | 5/1121         | 2.3                            |   |                  | -0.0 (0.4)                                   |             |
| ≥6 <9                      | 20/1010                 | 10.2                           | 16/1004        | 8.2                            |   |                  | -0.0 (1.3)                                   |             |
| ≥9                         | 49/1166                 | 21.8                           | 56/1180        | 24.8                           |   |                  | -0.1 (4.0)                                   |             |
| Overall                    | 77/3304                 | 12.0                           | 77/3305        | 12.1                           | <1.00 (0.73-1.37)                       |                  |  |             |
| Symptomatic de             | ehydration <sup>§</sup> |                                |                |                                | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·   | 0.60             |  | 0.80        |
| ≤5                         | 13/1128                 | 6.0                            | 16/1121        | 7.4                            |   |                  | 0.8 (1.3)                                    |             |
| ≥6 <9                      | 18/1010                 | 9.2                            | 16/1004        | 8.2                            |   |                  | 0.9 (1.4)                                    |             |
| ≥9                         | 52/1166                 | 23.2                           | 44/1180        | 19.2                           |   |                  | 2.0 (3.4)                                    |             |
| Overall                    | 83/3304                 | 13.0                           | 76/3305        | 11.9                           | 1.10 (0.81-1.51)                        |                  |  |             |
| * Absolute even            | ts avoided per          | 1000 patients tr               | eated with emp | agliflozin for 1               | vear (SE) were estimat                  | ed by apply      | ing the overall hazard r                     | atio to the |

\* Absolute events avoided per 1000 patients treated with empagliflozin for 1 year (SE) were estimated by applying the overall hazard ratio to the subgroup-specific event rate per 1000 patient-years in the placebo group. Hazard ratios are not presented for outcomes with <10 events. <sup>‡</sup> Defined as low blood sugar causing severe cognitive impairment which requires assistance from another person for recovery. <sup>§</sup> Defined as whether or not a participant has experienced symptoms they attribute to dehydration, such as feeling faint or fainting.

#### Table 7-14: Safety outcomes by health-related quality of life

| FO-5D index        | Empagliflozin     |                                | Placebo  |                                | Relative effects         |                  | Estimated absolute effects <sup>†</sup>      |                    |
|--------------------|-------------------|--------------------------------|----------|--------------------------------|--------------------------|------------------|--|--------------------|
| value*             | n/N               | Rate per 1000<br>patient-years | n/N      | Rate per 1000<br>patient-years | Hazard Ratio<br>(95% CI) | P <sub>het</sub> | Events caused per 1000<br>patient-years (SE) | P <sub>trend</sub> |
| Serious urinary t  | ract infection    |                                | -        |                                |                          | 0.55             |  | 0.88               |
| >0.987             | 8/1064            | 3.9                            | 11/1083  | 5.3                            |                          |                  | -0.3 (1.0)                                   |                    |
| >0.811 ≤0.987      | 17/1117           | 7.8                            | 13/1142  | 5.9                            |                          |                  | -0.4 (1.1)                                   |                    |
| ≤0.811             | 27/1123           | 12.1                           | 30/1080  | 14.0                           |                          |                  | -0.9 (2.5)                                   |                    |
| Overall            | 52/3304           | 8.1                            | 54/3305  | 8.4                            | 0.94 (0.64-1.37)         |                  |  |                    |
| Serious genital in | fection           |                                | -        |                                |                          | -                |  | -                  |
| >0.987             | 0/1064            | 0.0                            | 0/1083   | 0.0                            |                          |                  | -  |                    |
| >0.811 ≤0.987      | 0/1117            | 0.0                            | 0/1142   | 0.0                            |                          |                  | -  |                    |
| ≤0.811             | 1/1123            | 0.4                            | 1/1080   | 0.5                            |                          |                  | -  |                    |
| Overall            | 1/3304            | 0.2                            | 1/3305   | 0.2                            | -                        |                  |  |                    |
| Serious hyperkal   | aemia             |                                |          |                                |                          | 0.87             |  | 0.81               |
| >0.987             | 25/1064           | 12.4                           | 33/1083  | 16.0                           |                          |                  | -2.8 (1.9)                                   |                    |
| >0.811 ≤0.987      | 22/1117           | 10.1                           | 28/1142  | 12.9                           |                          |                  | -2.2 (1.5)                                   |                    |
| ≤0.811             | 45/1123           | 20.4                           | 48/1080  | 22.8                           |                          |                  | -3.9 (2.7)                                   |                    |
| Overall            | 92/3304           | 14.4                           | 109/3305 | 17.2                           | 0.83 (0.63-1.09)         |                  |  |                    |
| Serious acute kid  | ney injury        | ·                              |          | ·                              | ·                        | 0.11             |  | 0.22               |
| >0.987             | 26/1064           | 12.8                           | 27/1083  | 13.0                           |                          |                  | -2.9 (1.3)                                   |                    |
| >0.811 ≤0.987      | 23/1117           | 10.6                           | 45/1142  | 20.7                           |                          |                  | -4.6 (2.1)                                   |                    |
| ≤0.811             | 58/1123           | 26.4                           | 63/1080  | 29.6                           |                          |                  | -6.5 (3.0)                                   |                    |
| Overall            | 107/3304          | 16.7                           | 135/3305 | 21.1                           | 0.78 (0.60-1.00)         |                  |  |                    |
| Serious dehydrat   | ion               | ·                              |          | ·                              | ·                        | 0.25             |  | 0.62               |
| >0.987             | 4/1064            | 2.0                            | 4/1083   | 1.9                            |                          |                  | 0.5 (0.7)                                    |                    |
| >0.811 ≤0.987      | 7/1117            | 3.2                            | 10/1142  | 4.6                            |                          |                  | 1.1 (1.6)                                    |                    |
| ≤0.811             | 19/1123           | 8.5                            | 10/1080  | 4.6                            |                          |                  | 1.2 (1.6)                                    |                    |
| Overall            | 30/3304           | 4.6                            | 24/3305  | 3.7                            | 1.25 (0.73-2.14)         |                  |  |                    |
| Liver injury       |                   |                                |          |                                |                          | 0.41             |  | 0.89               |
| >0.987             | 5/1064            | 2.5                            | 2/1083   | 1.0                            |                          |                  | 0.1 (0.4)                                    |                    |
| >0.811 ≤0.987      | 3/1117            | 1.4                            | 5/1142   | 2.3                            |                          |                  | 0.2 (1.0)                                    |                    |
| ≤0.811             | 5/1123            | 2.2                            | 5/1080   | 2.3                            |                          |                  | 0.2 (1.0)                                    |                    |
| Overall            | 13/3304           | 2.0                            | 12/3305  | 1.9                            | 1.09 (0.50-2.38)         |                  |  |                    |
| Ketoacidosis       |                   |                                |          |                                |                          | -                |  | -                  |
| >0.987             | 1/1064            | 0.5                            | 1/1083   | 0.5                            |                          |                  | -  |                    |
| >0.811 ≤0.987      | 1/1117            | 0.5                            | 0/1142   | 0.0                            |                          |                  | -  |                    |
| ≤0.811             | 4/1123            | 1.8                            | 0/1080   | 0.0                            |                          |                  | -  |                    |
| Overall            | 6/3304            | 0.9                            | 1/3305   | 0.2                            | 6.25 (0.75-52.03)        |                  |  |                    |
| Lower limb amp     | utation           |                                |          |                                | 1                        | 0.17             |  | 0.28               |
| >0.987             | 8/1064            | 3.9                            | 1/1083   | 0.5                            |                          |                  | 0.2 (0.2)                                    |                    |
| >0.811 ≤0.987      | 6/1117            | 2.7                            | 4/1142   | 1.8                            |                          |                  | 0.8 (0.8)                                    |                    |
| ≤0.811             | 14/1123           | 6.3                            | 14/1080  | 6.5                            |                          |                  | 2.8 (2.8)                                    |                    |
| Overall            | 28/3304           | 4.3                            | 19/3305  | 2.9                            | 1.43 (0.80-2.57)         |                  |  |                    |
| Bone fracture      |                   |                                |          |                                |                          | 0.39             |  | 0.79               |
| >0.987             | 37/1064           | 18.4                           | 27/1083  | 13.0                           |                          |                  | 1.0 (1.8)                                    |                    |
| >0.811 ≤0.987      | 37/1117           | 17.1                           | 38/1142  | 17.5                           |                          |                  | 1.3 (2.4)                                    |                    |
| ≤0.811             | 59/1123           | 27.0                           | 58/1080  | 27.4                           |                          |                  | 2.1 (3.7)                                    |                    |
| Overall            | 133/3304          | 20.9                           | 123/3305 | 19.3                           | 1.08 (0.84-1.38)         |                  |  |                    |
| Severe hypoglyca   | emia <sup>®</sup> |                                |          |                                |                          | 0.20             |  | 0.98               |
| >0.987             | 11/1064           | 5.4                            | 6/1083   | 2.9                            |                          |                  | -0.0 (0.5)                                   |                    |
| >0.811 ≤0.987      | 22/1117           | 10.2                           | 17/1142  | 7.8                            |                          |                  | -0.0 (1.2)                                   |                    |
| ≤0.811             | 44/1123           | 19.9                           | 54/1080  | 25.7                           |                          |                  | -0.1 (4.1)                                   |                    |
| Overall            | 77/3304           | 12.0                           | 77/3305  | 12.1                           | <1.00 (0.73-1.37)        | 0.00             |  | 0.70               |
| Symptomatic deh    | ydration"         |                                |          |                                | 1                        | 0.82             |  | 0.58               |
| >0.987             | 12/1064           | 5.9                            | 9/1083   | 4.3                            |                          |                  | 0.4 (0.8)                                    |                    |
| >0.811 ≤0.987      | 25/1117           | 11.6                           | 25/1142  | 11.5                           |                          |                  | 1.2 (2.0)                                    |                    |
| ≤0.811             | 46/1123           | 20.9                           | 42/1080  | 19.8                           | 4 40 40 01 1             |                  | 2.0 (3.5)                                    |                    |
| Overall            | 83/3304           | 13.0                           | 76/3305  | 11.9                           | 1.10 (0.81-1.51)         | <u> </u>         |  |                    |

\* Weighted index of 5 EQ-5D domain scores (mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort and anxiety/depression); lower values indicate poorer quality of life. <sup>†</sup> Absolute events avoided per 1000 patients treated with empagliflozin for 1 year (SE) were estimated by applying the overall hazard ratio to the subgroup-specific event rate per 1000 patient-years in the placebo group. <sup>§</sup> Defined as low blood sugar causing severe cognitive impairment which requires assistance from another person for recovery. <sup>1</sup> Defined as whether or not a participant has experienced symptoms they attribute to dehydration, such as feeling faint or fainting.

### 7.2.6.2 ABSOLUTE EFFECTS ON SAFETY OUTCOMES

Uncertainty exists around the estimates of the effect of empagliflozin on safety outcomes due to low event numbers overall. However, on an absolute scale, there were numerically more excess occurrences of fracture and symptomatic dehydration in participants in the highest (versus lowest) categories of frailty, multimorbidity and polypharmacy and in those with poorest (versus greatest) HRQoL although there was no statistical evidence of trend and even in the highest risk participants, these events were infrequent (Table 7-11 to Table 7-14).

# 7.2.7 AGGREGATED ABSOLUTE EFFECTS OF EMPAGLIFLOZIN BY FRAILTY INDICATORS

When estimated absolute benefits of empagliflozin versus placebo were plotted alongside estimated absolute potential harms, across frailty indicator levels, it could be seen that the estimated absolute benefits substantially outweighed any potential serious harms in the studied population (Figure 7-9).



Figure 7-9: Absolute benefits and harms of empagliflozin per 1000 patient-years by frailty

Absolute events avoided per 1000 patients treated with empagliflozin per 1 year (and SE represented by error bars) were estimated by applying the overall hazard ratio (since no significant trend was observed across subgroups) to the event rate per 1000 patient-years in the placebo group. Pre-specified analyses of all-cause hospitalisations include first and recurrent events; all other events are time-to-first event analyses.

## 7.2.8 EFFECTS OF EMPAGLIFLOZIN ON BIOIMPEDANCE PARAMETERS BY FRAILTY INDICATORS

All of the indicators of frailty and related metrics showed clear patterns of association with bioimpedance parameters at baseline in the 635 participants with a valid baseline bioimpedance measurement. Increased absolute "Fluid Overload", increased adipose tissue mass and decreased lean tissue mass were associated with greater levels of frailty (by predicted risk of hospitalisation, Figure 7-10), greater numbers of comorbid conditions (Figure 7-11) and concomitant medications (Figure 7-12) and poorer HRQoL (Figure 7-13).

*Figure 7-10: Associations between predicted risk of hospitalisation and bioimpedance parameters at baseline* 



*Figure 7-11: Associations between multimorbidity and bioimpedance parameters at baseline* 



*Figure 7-12: Associations between polypharmacy and bioimpedance parameters at baseline* 



*Figure 7-13: Associations between HRQoL (EQ5D index) and bioimpedance parameters at baseline* 



The effect of empagliflozin on "Fluid Overload" in the bioimpedance substudy (reported in Chapter 4) was not modified by predicted risk of hospitalisation at baseline (Figure 7-14).

Figure 7-14: Effect of empagliflozin on absolute "Fluid Overload" (L) by predicted risk of hospitalisation

|                         | Baseline Mean (SE) | Difference (95% CI)   | P <sub>het</sub> |
|-------------------------|--------------------|---|------------------|
| Risk of hospitalisation |                    |   | 0.97             |
| ≤20%                    | -0.41 (0.10)       | -0.20 (-0.64, 0.24)   |                  |
| >20% <u>&lt;</u> 35%    | 0.17 (0.10)        | -0.09 (-0.43, 0.26)   |                  |
| >35% ≤45%               | 0.78 (0.13)        | -0.17 (-0.68, 0.34)   |                  |
| >45%                    | 1.35 (0.14)        | -0.19 (-0.60, 0.22)   |                  |
| Overall                 | 0.43 (0.06)        | -0.24 (-0.38, -0.11)  |                  |
|                         |                    |   |                  |
|                         |                    | $\underbrace{-0.8  -0.4  0}_{\longleftarrow}  \underbrace{-0.4}_{\longleftarrow}$ |                  |
|                         |                    | Empagliflozin Lower Placebo Lower   |                  |
|                         |                    | 204   |                  |

#### 7.3 DISCUSSION

In EMPA-KIDNEY, there was no evidence of effect modification on a relative scale for the primary outcome, hospitalisation or any of the safety assessments by any of the indicators of frailty (or related characteristics). Adverse events and treatment discontinuation occurred more frequently in patients with a greater degree of frailty but neither adverse events nor treatment discontinuation were more common with SGLT2 inhibition than with placebo irrespective of levels of frailty. In absolute terms, since those with indicators of frailty were generally at higher baseline risk of kidney disease progression/cardiovascular death and hospitalisation, these participants experienced the largest absolute net benefits.

The results of these analyses demonstrate that consistent treatment effects on the relative scale do not imply lack of difference in treatment effects on the absolute scale. Understanding such heterogeneity of treatment effect is critical to inform evidence-based medicine and individualised patient care. It is essential to conduct these analyses for both efficacy and safety outcomes since the group which derived the largest absolute benefits on kidney outcomes were also the group with the highest frequency of adverse events. Presenting both the estimated absolute benefits and potential harms (Figure 7-9) allows clear communication of benefits versus risks of treatment and can be used in patient and family discussions.

Frailty assessments can broadly be split into either frailty phenotypes or frailty indices. The former (such as the Fried frailty phenotype (Fried et al., 2001)) requires physical assessments (e.g. grip strength) which are not available in streamlined trials such as EMPA-KIDNEY and include components which can be subjective (Clark et al., 2021). Commonly used frailty indicators are derived from general populations and not widely validated across the spectrum of CKD (Hurst et al., 2022, Anderson et al., 2021, Nixon et al., 2019). Furthermore, frailty phenotypes and frailty indices have been found to produce vastly different estimates of frailty prevalence in CKD (Worthen et al., 2021). Within the limitations of randomised controlled trials designed to answer a different question, analyses of frailty have typically been conducted using the Rockwood Frailty Index (Searle et al., 2008). This approach has been used in exploratory analyses of the DELIVER (Butt et al., 2022c), DAPA-HF (Butt et al., 2022b) and DAPA-CKD (Vart et al., 2023) trials to

205

assess whether the effects of SGLT2 inhibition in patients with heart failure or proteinuric CKD (mainly diabetic kidney disease) may vary by level of frailty at recruitment. The Rockwood Frailty Index has several limitations in this context: it was developed in community-dwelling adults aged over 70 years in the United States of America and applies weights to each comorbidity (Searle et al., 2008) which may not be generalisable across diseased populations like in CKD. Therefore, a bespoke approach was used in analyses of the EMPA-KIDNEY trial population based upon baseline predicted risk of hospitalisation during follow-up due to the established association between hospital use and clinical frailty. The "predicted risk of hospitalisation" frailty indicator derived in EMPA-KIDNEY was an effective discriminator of risk of adverse outcomes, specifically hospitalisation and mortality, which are the most commonly reported outcomes in studies of frailty in CKD (Hurst et al., 2022). Predicted risk of hospitalisation correlated with other concepts related to frailty, namely multimorbidity, polypharmacy and health-related quality of life. Clear evidence of greater absolute benefits was observed when clinical risk reflected multiple domains (using predicted risk of hospitalisation) which was less apparent when considering multimorbidity, polypharmacy or health-related quality of life in isolation. Developing a multivariable model predicting risk of hospitalisation using numerous clinical characteristics follows the approach described as "predictive heterogeneity of treatment effect (HTE) analysis" in the PATH Statement (Kent et al., 2020). This more finely characterises individual participants' combined risk of adverse outcomes based on multiple characteristics and may expose important heterogeneity not manifested in conventional subgroup analyses stratifying by a single variable (which may underestimate true clinical heterogeneity) (Kent and Hayward, 2007). Predictive HTE analysis using an internal model (developed using trial data) is an accepted approach though carries the risk of exaggerating the extent of heterogeneity due to overfitting data. Use of an externallydeveloped model is preferred to overcome this limitation however a validated risk prediction model for all-cause hospitalisations in non-dialysis chronic kidney disease does not exist.

Analyses according to concomitant medication count may be more difficult to interpret than frailty (predicted risk of hospitalisation) or multimorbidity. Numerical polypharmacy categorisations do not take into account appropriateness of treatment and polypharmacy is expected in CKD, particularly with implementation of recent advances in diseasemodifying treatments for CKD and cardiovascular disease. Polypharmacy may therefore reflect individuals on appropriate medical therapy with multiple agents which can be expected to improve prognosis; yet polypharmacy also reflects extent of disease burden with cumulative deleterious impacts upon prognosis. The number of medications a patient is taking is likely therefore to be a poorer discriminant than other metrics related to frailty or multimorbidity. It is commonly reported that as the number of prescribed drugs increases, so do the chances of adverse drug events and likelihood of harm (Hanlon et al., 2020). In EMPA-KIDNEY, adverse events were numerically more frequent in those taking more medications but importantly and reassuringly, there were no significant increased harms of empagliflozin associated with polypharmacy, compared with placebo.

These analyses have some limitations. The assessment of frailty is limited by lack of standardised frailty assessment tools which have been validated in CKD populations. A formal frailty index was not applied in EMPA-KIDNEY due to the limitations of these tools and data availability however the bespoke frailty indicators derived in the EMPA-KIDNEY population were employed to derive a scientifically robust assessment of frailty using predicted risk of hospitalisation based on its established associations with clinical frailty. This tool also performed well for prediction of death. Although considered an appropriately robust assessment of frailty, this approach means results are not directly comparable to data from other populations. Furthermore, the selected clinical trial population is likely to exhibit lower levels of frailty and hospitalisation risk than the general CKD population. Furthermore, measures of multimorbidity in EMPA-KIDNEY are an underestimate since retrospectively derived based on pre-specified data collected (based upon questions asked at randomisation which largely capture cardiovascular disease and do not include, for example, respiratory or neuropsychiatric disease).

In conclusion, empagliflozin safely lowered risk of progression of CKD or death from cardiovascular causes among a broad range of patients with CKD, irrespective of baseline frailty (or related metrics). Absolute benefits for the primary outcome were greater in frailer patients and far outweighed potential harms. Clinical guidelines should therefore encourage evidence-based prescribing of SGLT2 inhibitors even in frail individuals with CKD and emphasise that these patients may stand to gain most from treatment.

#### **CHAPTER 8 – FINAL DISCUSSION**

This chapter assimilates the key findings from Chapters 3-7 and discusses implications of the work.

#### 8.1 SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

The main conclusions from each research question are summarised in this section.

**Research question 1**: Is bioimpedance spectroscopy a valuable tool in clinical and research settings in non-dialysis chronic kidney disease (CKD) - what are the associations between bioimpedance-derived fluid overload and clinical outcomes?

Chapter 3 reports the first systematic review assessing associations between bioimpedance indices of fluid excess and cardiorenal outcomes in non-dialysis CKD and heart failure cohorts. Bioimpedance indices of fluid excess were consistently positively associated with mortality and adverse cardiovascular outcomes in included populations with non-dialysis CKD and/or heart failure. These associations were analogous to previously wellestablished associations in patients with kidney failure requiring dialysis in whom clinically apparent fluid excess is much more prevalent. From the systematic review, thresholds of moderate and severe "Fluid Overload" (>7%,  $\leq$ 15 and >15% relative "Fluid Overload", respectively) were proposed and applied in analyses of the EMPA-KIDNEY bioimpedance substudy.

The systematic review confirmed that a variety of bioimpedance devices are in use in clinical practice and research settings. This presented a challenge in aggregating outcomes using different methods of assessment therefore conclusions were qualitative only. This heterogeneity also acts as a barrier to the efficient adoption of bioimpedance in clinical and research contexts. A key advantage of the BCM device, which was selected for use in the EMPA-KIDNEY bioimpedance substudy, over all other commercially-available bioimpedance devices is the ability to quantify fluid status independent of body composition (i.e. lean and adipose tissue mass). This device therefore seems to be the optimum currently-available method to assess fluid excess for patients with CKD and/or heart failure and is the most widely used in dialysis practice, favouring its adoption in earlier stage CKD. The success of the EMPA-KIDNEY bioimpedance substudy (research questions 2 and 3; Chapters 4 and 5) demonstrates that bioimpedance spectroscopy can be

successfully incorporated into a streamlined randomised trial design and provide valuable outcome data and mechanistic insight.

**Research question 2**: What are the effects of empagliflozin on fluid status estimated by bioimpedance spectroscopy?

Empagliflozin, compared with placebo, caused a sustained reduction in body water which occurred early (by 2 months) and was maintained until at least 18 months. Quantitatively, the between-group difference in the primary outcome measure of absolute "Fluid Overload" was -0.24 (-0.38, -0.11) L. This "Fluid Overload" parameter represents *excess* ECW; the difference in *total* ECW between the treatment groups was -0.49 (-0.69, -0.30) L. Added to a between-group difference in ICW of -0.30 (-0.57, -0.03) L; the difference in total body water between the groups was ~0.8 L. Substudy average total body weight was 0.7 kg lower in participants allocated to empagliflozin therefore, in EMPA-KIDNEY, sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibitor-induced weight loss was largely explained by fluid loss. The diuretic effects of empagliflozin appear to be maintained across the spectrum of eGFR studied in EMPA-KIDNEY and no significant heterogeneity of treatment effect was noted in any of the studied subgroups including by sex, diabetes and NT-proBNP at baseline.

**Research question 3**: What are the effects of empagliflozin on body composition and is weight lost due to fluid or reduced adiposity?

Empagliflozin had no statistically significant observable effect on fat or lean tissue parameters in EMPA-KIDNEY. This finding makes sense in CKD since at lower levels of glomerular filtration, glycosuric effects are attenuated (particularly in patients without diabetes) resulting in lower propensity for caloric and fat loss. Taken together with the effects on fluid parameters which equate to the between-group difference in body weight, it can therefore be concluded that in patients with CKD, the weight lost during SGLT2 inhibitor treatment is accounted for by loss of fluid and not body tissue (fat or lean tissue). Like the effects on "Fluid Overload", the effects of empagliflozin on total body weight occurred early and were sustained across the follow-up period and neither was there any significant heterogeneity in subgroup analyses, supporting the conclusion that weight loss is explained by diuresis since similar patterns were observed. It had previously been suggested that SGLT2 inhibitors may cause a degree of breakdown of skeletal muscle and loss of lean tissue mass (Zhang et al., 2023, Sasaki et al., 2019), a theoretical concern in underweight or malnourished patients. This theory was based on gluconeogenesis as a result of reduced glucose reabsorption leading to lipolysis of adipose tissue and proteolysis in skeletal muscle (Sasaki, 2019) so may be less relevant in patients with CKD without diabetes (in whom glycosuria is attenuated). There was no significant difference in lean tissue mass between participants allocated to empagliflozin or placebo in EMPA-KIDNEY, providing reassurance that SGLT2 inhibitors can be safely used without concern of loss of lean tissue. The effects of empagliflozin on weight translated into minor differences in body mass index and waist-to-hip ratio however these are imperfect markers of body composition which cannot distinguish changes in body water from tissue mass, evidencing the value of bioimpedance in this work.

**Research question 4**: What are the effects of empagliflozin on blood pressure and how do these relate to effects on fluid status?

Empagliflozin caused modest reductions in both systolic and diastolic blood pressure which were sustained throughout the follow-up period but particularly marked early during follow-up, consistent with the acute haemodynamic effect of SGLT2 inhibition. The between-group differences in blood pressure were -2.6 mmHg (95% CI -3.3, -1.9) and -0.5 mmHg (95% CI -0.9, -0.1) for systolic and diastolic blood pressure, respectively. Subgroup analyses revealed larger antihypertensive effects in patients with diabetes but preserved blood pressure lowering across eGFR and other key subgroups. Accepting the possibility of a chance finding considering multiplicity of testing, the exaggerated blood pressure lowering effect in patients with diabetes cannot be easily explained and requires further research into the differing mechanisms of SGLT2 inhibition in patients with and without diabetes. What these differing patterns in antihypertensive effects suggest, compared with consistent reductions in weight and "Fluid Overload" across time and subgroups, is that the antihypertensive effects of SGLT2 inhibitors cannot be solely or largely explained by diuresis and other mechanisms must be contributing, such as effects on endothelial function and vascular stiffness (Lytvyn et al., 2017, Lytvyn et al., 2022, Cherney et al., 2014).

**Research question 5**: What is the impact of frailty, multimorbidity, polypharmacy and health-related quality of life on the effects of empagliflozin on clinical outcomes and physical measurements?

In EMPA-KIDNEY, the relative effects of empagliflozin on kidney disease progression were maintained across the studied population irrespective of baseline levels of frailty (based upon predicted risk of hospitalisation at baseline), multimorbidity, polypharmacy or health-related quality of life (HRQoL). Estimating the absolute effects of treatment, participants with the highest levels of frailty actually received the greatest absolute benefits owing to higher baseline risk of adverse outcomes. These patients are also those most at risk of adverse effects of treatment however there was no significant excess of adverse events in the empagliflozin group relative to placebo in any frailty category. It can therefore be concluded that the benefits of empagliflozin treatment considerably outweigh the harms even in those with the highest burden of frailty amongst patients studied. Analyses were broadly consistent when considering multimorbidity, polypharmacy and HRQoL (which overlapped considerably with predicted risk of hospitalisation) but with less clear trends in absolute effects, likely because these metrics reflect a single domain whereas predicted risk of hospitalisation as a surrogate for frailty likely more completely captures risk.

Predicted risk of hospitalisation was effectively used as a surrogate for frailty in analyses of the EMPA-KIDNEY trial based on its established associations with clinical frailty, aiming to address limitations of other available methods, in the absence of a gold standard method of assessment of frailty within clinical trial data. A model was derived using logistic regression which satisfactorily discriminated between participants who were hospitalised versus not and between participants who died versus survived. The strongest predictor of hospitalisation of the variables available for analysis was found to be Nterminal pro B-type natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP), a surrogate (albeit non-specific) for fluid overload; and self-reported ankle swelling was also a significant independent predictor of all-cause hospitalisation and therefore retained in the final model. Taken together, the effects of empagliflozin in reducing fluid excess may therefore be considered to indirectly have beneficial effects on clinical frailty since markers of fluid excess (NTproBNP, ankle swelling) were important determinants of hospitalisation risk inferring clinical frailty. These data also suggest that the diuretic effects of SGLT2 inhibitors are likely to contribute to the reductions in hospitalisations and heart failure which have been observed in meta-analyses of the SGLT2 inhibitor trials including EMPA-KIDNEY.

In addition, the effects of empagliflozin on weight, blood pressure and "Fluid Overload" were not modified by baseline predicted risk of hospitalisation. This provides reassurance to prescribing clinicians that these additional benefits of SGLT2 inhibition prescribed for kidney function preservation can be achieved safely even in individuals at greater risk of adverse effects due to low body weight, frailty and associated increased risks of postural hypotension and falls. The finding from the bioimpedance substudy that empagliflozin had no significant effect on lean tissue mass also further supports the safe use of these drugs in patients with frailty in whom muscle mass preservation and risk of falls are important clinical considerations. These supplementary analyses focusing on frailty, multimorbidity, polypharmacy and HRQoL therefore support the use of empagliflozin for its kidney protective effects and additional diuretic and blood pressure lowering effects in a broad range of patients with CKD, irrespective of indicators of frailty. Since diuretic and antihypertensive effects may reduce the need for additional therapeutic agents, the use of SGLT2 inhibitors may even have the potential to reduce polypharmacy in CKD, along with their beneficial effects on other common comorbidities such as anaemia and gout which typically require additional drug therapy in CKD.

#### 8.2 IMPLICATIONS

#### 8.2.1 PATIENTS

For patients with CKD, the findings from this thesis demonstrate that the benefits of SGLT2 inhibitor treatment extend beyond the main effects on slowing kidney disease progression. Fluid overload commonly manifests as swelling and breathlessness as CKD advances which cause patients discomfort and erodes quality of life. Slowing of kidney disease progression may be difficult for individual patients to conceptualise since they do not feel this effect of treatment nor see the alternative trajectory in their estimated kidney function were they not on treatment. On the other hand, improvement in symptoms such as fluid overload is more tangible and education on such effects may support compliance. Furthermore, treatment with empagliflozin reduces the need for hospitalisation which is a major event that many patients with CKD will have experienced and wish to avoid wherever possible therefore including this observation in patient counselling may also aid patients' understanding of the extent of benefit afforded by SGLT2 inhibitor treatment. For patients with frailty, multimorbidity and/or polypharmacy, it may be helpful for them to know that empagliflozin affords them the same (if not greater) benefits and is safe. Patients

212

should not be deterred by the addition of another daily medication and should be counselled on the expected benefits when polypharmacy or pill burden is a concern. Clinical practice guidelines should be updated to reflect this and encourage SGLT2 inhibitor use in patients with CKD and frailty as they are the most likely to benefit in absolute terms. Current UK guidelines on SGLT2 inhibitor use from the UK Kidney Association infer reticence in recommending "an approach to care that takes account of frailty and multimorbidity... (and) consideration of the balance of disease and treatment burden." (UK Kidney Association, 2023).

The willingness of patients to participate in randomised controlled trials is absolutely critical to the generation of such reliable evidence. The dissemination of trial results to participants (and other patients) is critically important to communicate the impact of their contribution to advancing the care of people with CKD. This can be expected to motivate patients to continue to contribute to clinical research. Patients cite very positive experiences of participating in clinical trials and it is the vision of many organisations such as charities like Kidney Research UK that all patients have the opportunity to participate in research. Trialists and clinicians have a responsibility to ensure all patients are afforded such opportunities where available and to ensure appropriate recruitment of underrepresented groups such as women and ethnic minorities to future trials to ensure generation of widely applicable evidence.

#### 8.2.2 CLINICIANS

Following EMPA-KIDNEY, SGLT2 inhibitors have now been cemented as standard of care for the majority of patients with CKD and updated clinical guidelines reflect this. The work of this thesis expands upon the range of established benefits and should further support prescribing of SGLT2 inhibitors in CKD. Findings from this thesis can be used to support patient counselling regarding the tangible benefits of SGLT2 inhibitor therapy in addition to the invisible slowing of kidney disease progression. In EMPA-KIDNEY, empagliflozin caused significant reductions in interstitial fluid and while bioimpedance spectroscopy does not estimate intravascular fluid, the reassuring lack of excess dehydration adverse events supports the safe reduction in interstitial fluid without the plasma volume contraction seen with conventional diuretic agents. These data therefore provide clinically valuable information to support the notion that SGLT2 inhibitors can

213

safely relieve congestion with little impact on arterial filling and perfusion, an observation that is likely to be of particular importance in patients with CKD and concomitant heart failure (in whom reduced cardiac output reduces arterial filling pressures which can be exacerbated by conventional diuretics). Analyses within this thesis additionally ought to provide particular reassurance to support prescribing of SGLT2 inhibitors in patients with frailty, multimorbidity and/or polypharmacy, an area where there was previously uncertainty and potential for perceived altered risk-benefit ratio.

In addition to the effects of empagliflozin in CKD which are the findings from this thesis which have the greatest clinical impact, this work also provides rationale for the expanded use of bioimpedance spectroscopy in CKD. Although interventional trials in dialysis populations have failed to demonstrate meaningful benefits on hard endpoints, the use of bioimpedance has been shown to improve blood pressure, left ventricular mass and arterial stiffness (Scotland et al., 2018, Hur et al., 2013, Onofriescu et al., 2014, Huan-Sheng et al., 2016). Bioimpedance is routinely used in dialysis settings but not in the earlier stages of CKD. Bioimpedance is able to detect subclinical levels of fluid excess at which patients would not be expected to manifest clinical signs or symptoms and the observed associations with adverse outcomes in this thesis highlight a potential opportunity for early intervention with diuretic agents to avoid complications such as development of, and hospitalisation for heart failure in CKD.

#### 8.2.3 RESEARCHERS

Results within this thesis from the EMPA-KIDNEY trial reflect considerable advancement in the field of nephrology research in recent years. EMPA-KIDNEY is an example of how large properly conducted randomised clinical trials in nephrology can impact the treatment of CKD and lives of people with kidney disease. Research efforts should be focused on such methodology as the gold standard of evidence generation, wherever possible, to ensure continued progress in the treatment of CKD.

Understanding of the effects of SGLT2 inhibitors continues to grow and the mechanisms by which their benefits are achieved remain incompletely understood. There is a need for basic and translational science to better understand the physiology underlying the clinical outcome data in order to ensure the benefits of SGLT2 inhibitor treatment are realised by all who might benefit.

The bioimpedance substudy of EMPA-KIDNEY is also an example of how a mechanistic substudy can be incorporated into such a trial to provide valuable insights into more detailed effects of the intervention in a subset of the trial population. The application of bioimpedance spectroscopy in the setting of a randomised controlled trial assessing the effect of another intervention (such as empagliflozin) is relatively novel. Consistent use of bioimpedance parameter terminology and application of moderate and severe thresholds of "Fluid Overload" used in the EMPA-KIDNEY bioimpedance substudy will aid utility.

#### 8.3 FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Several key groups have been understudied in SGLT2 inhibitor trials. Patients requiring dialysis or with kidney transplants were excluded from trials conducted to date and the efficacy of SGLT2 inhibition in these populations, particularly with little or no residual kidney function in patients receiving dialysis, is unknown. It is conceivable that continued SGLT2 inhibition after initiation of dialysis therapy may afford cardiovascular protection even if there is little to be gained in terms of kidney protection. The ongoing RENAL LIFECYCLE trial (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT05374291) is testing the effects of dapagliflozin in patients with advanced CKD including with a kidney transplant or receiving dialysis with residual urine output and is due to report in 2027. Patients with CKD due to polycystic kidney disease were also excluded from completed trials due to potential safety concerns yet there is reason to believe they may also benefit from SGLT2 inhibition in slowing of the "final common pathway" stage of the disease characterised by tubulointerstitial fibrosis. Also excluded due to fears related to excessive risk of ketoacidosis and perhaps hypoglycaemia were patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus. Reassuring safety data from large numbers of patients studied with type 2 diabetes may provide rationale to pursue investigation of the effects of SGLT2 inhibition in this group with significant risks of nephropathy and cardiovascular disease.
The slowing of kidney disease progression achieved by SGLT2 inhibition is insufficient to halt the disease process or completely avoid progression to kidney failure in all patients. For that reason, there is a need for continued efforts to expand the treatment landscape of CKD. Both the non-steroidal mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist finerenone and the glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) receptor agonist semaglutide have also been shown to be efficacious in slowing kidney disease progression in patients with CKD and diabetes (Agarwal et al., 2022, Perkovic et al., 2024). Trials of both agents are ongoing in patients without diabetes and promising evidence of beneficial effects of semaglutide on kidney outcomes has recently emerged from the SELECT trial (Colhoun et al., 2024). A challenge associated with the improving treatment of CKD is falling event rates in clinical trials meaning future trials need to be sufficiently large, long and make use of efficient trial designs and in some situations, surrogate endpoints to feasibly, reliably and efficiently test new treatments.

# 8.4 CONCLUSIONS

Bioimpedance devices - and particularly the BCM - have a range of potential clinical and research applications in a range of patient groups, not just kidney failure with replacement therapy and may have particular value where CKD and heart failure coexist.

EMPA-KIDNEY was the largest placebo-controlled CKD progression trial of an SGLT2 inhibitor in CKD and reported a 28% reduction in the risk of kidney disease progression or cardiovascular death in its population of 6609 patients at risk of progression. The 660-participant embedded bioimpedance substudy demonstrated that, compared to placebo, empagliflozin reduced bioimpedance-derived "Fluid Overload" by about a quarter of a litre, and weight by nearly 1 kg. This effect was consistent across the broad range of patients studied, including those with and without diabetes, with different levels of hydration status at baseline, and even at low levels of kidney function. Empagliflozin reduced systolic blood pressure by about 2 mmHg, with effects that may be larger in people with diabetes than without diabetes. This is perhaps unexpected given that diabetes status did not modify the effect on fluid status and suggests additional distinct mechanisms underlying blood pressure lowering.

Empagliflozin had no significant effect on fat mass, consistent with the minimal effect of SGLT2 inhibition on glycaemic control among those with decreased kidney function.

SGLT2 inhibition is well-tolerated in patients with CKD. In *post-hoc* exploratory analyses, this was found to be true in EMPA-KIDNEY participants with the highest levels of frailty. In fact, estimates of the absolute benefits of empagliflozin on the primary outcome and risk of all-cause hospitalisation suggested large benefits in those who were frail, and the benefits outweighed any absolute risks of adverse events.

In conclusion, SGLT2 inhibitors should be widely used in patients with CKD. They are well-tolerated; favourably reduce fluid overload and lower blood pressure; modify risk of kidney disease progression and cardiovascular disease; and have demonstrable large net absolute benefits, even in individuals with indicators of frailty.

# REFERENCES

- AGARWAL, R., FILIPPATOS, G., PITT, B., ANKER, S. D., ROSSING, P., JOSEPH, A., KOLKHOF, P., NOWACK, C., GEBEL, M., RUILOPE, L. M., BAKRIS, G. L. & INVESTIGATORS, F.-D. A. F.-D. 2022. Cardiovascular and kidney outcomes with finerenone in patients with type 2 diabetes and chronic kidney disease: the FIDELITY pooled analysis. *Eur Heart J*, 43, 474-484.
- ALBERT, N. M. 2006. Bioimpedance to prevent heart failure hospitalization. *Curr Heart Fail Rep,* 3, 136-42.
- ANDERSON, B. M., QASIM, M., CORREA, G., EVISON, F., GALLIER, S., FERRO, C. J., JACKSON, T. A. & SHARIF, A. 2021. Correlations, agreement and utility of frailty instruments in prevalent haemodialysis patients: baseline cohort data from the FITNESS study. *Clinical Kidney Journal*, 15, 145-152.
- ANDRONE, A. S., HRYNIEWICZ, K., HUDAIHED, A., MANCINI, D., LAMANCA, J. & KATZ, S. D. 2004. Relation of unrecognized hypervolemia in chronic heart failure to clinical status, hemodynamics, and patient outcomes. *Am J Cardiol*, 93, 1254-9.
- ANKER, S. D., BUTLER, J., FILIPPATOS, G., FERREIRA, J. P., BOCCHI, E., BÖHM, M., BRUNNER-LA ROCCA, H. P., CHOI, D. J., CHOPRA, V., CHUQUIURE-VALENZUELA, E., GIANNETTI, N., GOMEZ-MESA, J. E., JANSSENS, S., JANUZZI, J. L., GONZALEZ-JUANATEY, J. R., MERKELY, B., NICHOLLS, S. J., PERRONE, S. V., PIÑA, I. L., PONIKOWSKI, P., SENNI, M., SIM, D., SPINAR, J., SQUIRE, I., TADDEI, S., TSUTSUI, H., VERMA, S., VINEREANU, D., ZHANG, J., CARSON, P., LAM, C. S. P., MARX, N., ZELLER, C., SATTAR, N., JAMAL, W., SCHNAIDT, S., SCHNEE, J. M., BRUECKMANN, M., POCOCK, S. J., ZANNAD, F., PACKER, M. & INVESTIGATORS, E.-P. T. 2021. Empagliflozin in Heart Failure with a Preserved Ejection Fraction. N Engl J Med.
- ANTLANGER, M., JOSTEN, P., KAMMER, M., EXNER, I., LORENZ-TURNHEIM, K., EIGNER, M., PAUL, G., KLAUSER-BRAUN, R., SUNDER-PLASSMANN, G., SÄEMANN, M. D. & HECKING, M. 2017. Blood volumemonitored regulation of ultrafiltration to decrease the dry weight in fluidoverloaded hemodialysis patients: a randomized controlled trial. *BMC Nephrol*, 18, 238.
- ARROYO, D., PANIZO, N., ABAD, S., VEGA, A., RINCÓN, A., DE JOSÉ, A. P. & LÓPEZ-GÓMEZ, J. M. 2015. Intraperitoneal fluid overestimates hydration status assessment by bioimpedance spectroscopy. *Perit Dial Int,* 35, 85-9.
- BANSAL, N., ZELNICK, L. R., HIMMELFARB, J. & CHERTOW, G. M. 2018. Bioelectrical Impedance Analysis Measures and Clinical Outcomes in CKD. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 72, 662-672.
- BEAL, B., SCHUTTE, A. E. & NEUEN, B. L. 2023. Blood Pressure Effects of SGLT2 Inhibitors: Mechanisms and Clinical Evidence in Different Populations. *Curr Hypertens Rep*, 25, 429-435.
- BEAUBIEN-SOULIGNY, W., KONTAR, L., BLUM, D., BOUCHARD, J., DENAULT, A. Y. & WALD, R. 2019. Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials Using Tool-Assisted Target Weight Adjustments in Chronic Dialysis Patients. *Kidney Int Rep*, 4, 1426-1434.
- BELLO, A. K., ALRUKHAIMI, M., ASHUNTANTANG, G. E., BASNET, S., ROTTER, R. C., DOUTHAT, W. G., KAZANCIOGLU, R., KÖTTGEN, A.,

NANGAKU, M., POWE, N. R., WHITE, S. L., WHEELER, D. C. & MOE, O. 2017. Complications of chronic kidney disease: current state, knowledge gaps, and strategy for action. *Kidney Int Suppl (2011)*, *7*, 122-129.

- BOLINDER, J., LJUNGGREN, Ö., JOHANSSON, L., WILDING, J., LANGKILDE, A. M., SJÖSTRÖM, C. D., SUGG, J. & PARIKH, S. 2014. Dapagliflozin maintains glycaemic control while reducing weight and body fat mass over 2 years in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus inadequately controlled on metformin. *Diabetes Obes Metab*, 16, 159-69.
- BRENNER, B. M., COOPER, M. E., DE ZEEUW, D., KEANE, W. F., MITCH, W. E., PARVING, H. H., REMUZZI, G., SNAPINN, S. M., ZHANG, Z., SHAHINFAR, S. & INVESTIGATORS, R. S. 2001. Effects of losartan on renal and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes and nephropathy. N Engl J Med, 345, 861-9.
- BUTT, J. H., DEWAN, P., JHUND, P. S., ANAND, I. S., ATAR, D., GE, J., DESAI,
  A. S., ECHEVERRIA, L. E., KØBER, L., LAM, C. S. P., MAGGIONI, A. P.,
  MARTINEZ, F., PACKER, M., ROULEAU, J. L., SIM, D., VAN
  VELDHUISEN, D. J., VRTOVEC, B., ZANNAD, F., ZILE, M. R., GONG, J.,
  LEFKOWITZ, M. P., RIZKALA, A. R., SOLOMON, S. D. & MCMURRAY, J.
  J. V. 2022a. Sacubitril/Valsartan and Frailty in Patients With Heart Failure
  and Preserved Ejection Fraction. J Am Coll Cardiol, 80, 1130-1143.
- BUTT, J. H., DEWAN, P., MERKELY, B., BELOHLÁVEK, J., DROŻDŻ, J., KITAKAZE, M., INZUCCHI, S. E., KOSIBOROD, M. N., MARTINEZ, F. A., TERESHCHENKO, S., PONIKOWSKI, P., BENGTSSON, O., LINDHOLM, D., LANGKILDE, A. M., SCHOU, M., SJÖSTRAND, M., SOLOMON, S. D., SABATINE, M. S., CHIANG, C. E., DOCHERTY, K. F., JHUND, P. S., KØBER, L. & MCMURRAY, J. J. V. 2022b. Efficacy and Safety of Dapagliflozin According to Frailty in Heart Failure With Reduced Ejection Fraction : A Post Hoc Analysis of the DAPA-HF Trial. Ann Intern Med, 175, 820-830.
- BUTT, J. H., JHUND, P. S., BELOHLÁVEK, J., DE BOER, R. A., CHIANG, C. E., DESAI, A. S., DROŻDŻ, J., HERNANDEZ, A. F., INZUCCHI, S. E., KATOVA, T., KITAKAZE, M., KOSIBOROD, M. N., LAM, C. S. P., MARIA LANGKILDE, A., LINDHOLM, D., BACHUS, E., MARTINEZ, F., MERKELY, B., PETERSSON, M., SARAIVA, J. F. K., SHAH, S. J., VADUGANATHAN, M., VARDENY, O., WILDERÄNG, U., CLAGGETT, B. L., SOLOMON, S. D. & MCMURRAY, J. J. V. 2022c. Efficacy and Safety of Dapagliflozin According to Frailty in Patients With Heart Failure: A Prespecified Analysis of the DELIVER Trial. *Circulation*, 146, 1210-1224.
- CAETANO, C., VALENTE, A., OLIVEIRA, T. & GARAGARZA, C. 2016. Body Composition and Mortality Predictors in Hemodialysis Patients. *J Ren Nutr*, 26, 81-6.
- CASTELLANO, S., PALOMARES, I., MOISSL, U., CHAMNEY, P., CARRETERO, D., CRESPO, A., MORENTE, C., RIBERA, L., WABEL, P., RAMOS, R. & MERELLO, J. I. 2016. Risk identification in haemodialysis patients by appropriate body composition assessment. *Nefrologia*, 36, 268-74.
- CEFALU, W. T., STENLÖF, K., LEITER, L. A., WILDING, J. P., BLONDE, L., POLIDORI, D., XIE, J., SULLIVAN, D., USISKIN, K., CANOVATCHEL, W. & MEININGER, G. 2015. Effects of canagliflozin on body weight and relationship to HbA1c and blood pressure changes in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia*, 58, 1183-7.
- CHAMNEY, P. W., WABEL, P., MOISSL, U. M., MÜLLER, M. J., BOSY-WESTPHAL, A., KORTH, O. & FULLER, N. J. 2007. A whole-body model to

distinguish excess fluid from the hydration of major body tissues. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 85, 80-9.

- CHANG, A. R., GRAMS, M. E., BALLEW, S. H., BILO, H., CORREA, A., EVANS, M., GUTIERREZ, O. M., HOSSEINPANAH, F., ISEKI, K., KENEALY, T., KLEIN, B., KRONENBERG, F., LEE, B. J., LI, Y., MIURA, K., NAVANEETHAN, S. D., RODERICK, P. J., VALDIVIELSO, J. M., VISSEREN, F. L. J., ZHANG, L., GANSEVOORT, R. T., HALLAN, S. I., LEVEY, A. S., MATSUSHITA, K., SHALEV, V., WOODWARD, M. & (CKD-PC), C. P. C. 2019. Adiposity and risk of decline in glomerular filtration rate: meta-analysis of individual participant data in a global consortium. *BMJ*, 364, k5301.
- CHAZOT, C., WABEL, P., CHAMNEY, P., MOISSL, U., WIESKOTTEN, S. & WIZEMANN, V. 2012. Importance of normohydration for the long-term survival of haemodialysis patients. *Nephrol Dial Transplant,* 27, 2404-10.
- CHEN, J. M., HERAN, B. S. & WRIGHT, J. M. 2009. Blood pressure lowering efficacy of diuretics as second-line therapy for primary hypertension. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, CD007187.
- CHERNEY, D. Z., PERKINS, B. A., SOLEYMANLOU, N., HAR, R., FAGAN, N., JOHANSEN, O. E., WOERLE, H. J., VON EYNATTEN, M. & BROEDL, U.
  C. 2014. The effect of empagliflozin on arterial stiffness and heart rate variability in subjects with uncomplicated type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Cardiovasc Diabetol*, 13, 28.
- CHERNEY, D. Z. I., COOPER, M. E., TIKKANEN, I., PFARR, E., JOHANSEN, O. E., WOERLE, H. J., BROEDL, U. C. & LUND, S. S. 2018. Pooled analysis of Phase III trials indicate contrasting influences of renal function on blood pressure, body weight, and HbA1c reductions with empagliflozin. *Kidney Int*, 93, 231-244.
- CHINTAM, K. & CHANG, A. R. 2021. Strategies to Treat Obesity in Patients With CKD. *Am J Kidney Dis,* 77, 427-439.
- CLARK, D., MATHESON, K., WEST, B., VINSON, A., WEST, K., JAIN, A., ROCKWOOD, K. & TENNANKORE, K. 2021. Frailty Severity and Hospitalization After Dialysis Initiation. *Can J Kidney Health Dis*, 8, 20543581211023330.
- COLHOUN, H. M., LINGVAY, I., BROWN, P. M., DEANFIELD, J., BROWN-FRANDSEN, K., KAHN, S. E., PLUTZKY, J., NODE, K., PARKHOMENKO, A., RYDÉN, L., WILDING, J. P. H., MANN, J. F. E., TUTTLE, K. R., IDORN, T., RATHOR, N. & LINCOFF, A. M. 2024. Long-term kidney outcomes of semaglutide in obesity and cardiovascular disease in the SELECT trial. *Nat Med*.
- COLÍN-RAMÍREZ, E., CASTILLO-MARTÍNEZ, L., OREA-TEJEDA, A., VÁZQUEZ-DURÁN, M., RODRÍGUEZ, A. E. & KEIRNS-DAVIS, C. 2012. Bioelectrical impedance phase angle as a prognostic marker in chronic heart failure. *Nutrition*, 28, 901-5.
- DAVIES, S. J., COYLE, D., LINDLEY, E. J., KEANE, D., BELCHER, J., CASKEY, F. J., DASGUPTA, I., DAVENPORT, A., FARRINGTON, K., MITRA, S., ORMANDY, P., WILKIE, M., MACDONALD, J., ZANGANEH, M., ANDRONIS, L., SOLIS-TRAPALA, I. & SIM, J. 2023. Bio-impedance spectroscopy added to a fluid management protocol does not improve preservation of residual kidney function in incident hemodialysis patients in a randomized controlled trial. *Kidney Int*.
- DEKKER, M. J., MARCELLI, D., CANAUD, B. J., CARIONI, P., WANG, Y., GRASSMANN, A., KONINGS, C. J., KOTANKO, P., LEUNISSEN, K. M.,

LEVIN, N. W., VAN DER SANDE, F. M., YE, X., MAHESHWARI, V., USVYAT, L. A., KOOMAN, J. P. & INITIATIVE, M. 2017. Impact of fluid status and inflammation and their interaction on survival: a study in an international hemodialysis patient cohort. *Kidney Int*, 91, 1214-1223.

- EKINCI, C., KARABORK, M., SIRIOPOL, D., DINCER, N., COVIC, A. & KANBAY, M. 2018. Effects of Volume Overload and Current Techniques for the Assessment of Fluid Status in Patients with Renal Disease. *Blood Purif*, 46, 34-47.
- ELSAYED, E. F., SARNAK, M. J., TIGHIOUART, H., GRIFFITH, J. L., KURTH, T., SALEM, D. N., LEVEY, A. S. & WEINER, D. E. 2008. Waist-to-hip ratio, body mass index, and subsequent kidney disease and death. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 52, 29-38.
- EMPA-KIDNEY COLLABORATIVE GROUP 2023. Empagliflozin in Patients with Chronic Kidney Disease. *N Engl J Med*, 388, 117-127.
- FOLEY, R. N. 2003. Clinical epidemiology of cardiac disease in dialysis patients: left ventricular hypertrophy, ischemic heart disease, and cardiac failure. *Semin Dial*, 16, 111-7.
- FONAROW, G. C. & HEYWOOD, J. T. 2006. The confounding issue of comorbid renal insufficiency. *Am J Med*, 119, S17-25.
- FOREMAN, K. J., MARQUEZ, N., DOLGERT, A., FUKUTAKI, K., FULLMAN, N., MCGAUGHEY, M., PLETCHER, M. A., SMITH, A. E., TANG, K., YUAN, C. W., BROWN, J. C., FRIEDMAN, J., HE, J., HEUTON, K. R., HOLMBERG, M., PATEL, D. J., REIDY, P., CARTER, A., CERCY, K., CHAPIN, A., DOUWES-SCHULTZ, D., FRANK, T., GOETTSCH, F., LIU, P. Y., NANDAKUMAR, V., REITSMA, M. B., REUTER, V., SADAT, N., SORENSEN, R. J. D., SRINIVASAN, V., UPDIKE, R. L., YORK, H., LOPEZ, A. D., LOZANO, R., LIM, S. S., MOKDAD, A. H., VOLLSET, S. E. & MURRAY, C. J. L. 2018. Forecasting life expectancy, years of life lost, and all-cause and cause-specific mortality for 250 causes of death: reference and alternative scenarios for 2016-40 for 195 countries and territories. *Lancet*, 392, 2052-2090.
- FRIED, L. P., TANGEN, C. M., WALSTON, J., NEWMAN, A. B., HIRSCH, C., GOTTDIENER, J., SEEMAN, T., TRACY, R., KOP, W. J., BURKE, G., MCBURNIE, M. A. & GROUP, C. H. S. C. R. 2001. Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 56, M146-56.
- GANSEVOORT, R. T., ANDERS, H. J., COZZOLINO, M., FLISER, D., FOUQUE, D., ORTIZ, A., SOLER, M. J. & WANNER, C. 2023. What should European nephrology do with the new CKD-EPI equation? *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 38, 1-6.
- GBD CHRONIC KIDNEY DISEASE COLLABORATION 2020. Global, regional, and national burden of chronic kidney disease, 1990-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *Lancet*, 395, 709-733.
- GHEORGHIADE, M., FOLLATH, F., PONIKOWSKI, P., BARSUK, J. H., BLAIR, J.
  E., CLELAND, J. G., DICKSTEIN, K., DRAZNER, M. H., FONAROW, G. C., JAARSMA, T., JONDEAU, G., SENDON, J. L., MEBAZAA, A., METRA, M., NIEMINEN, M., PANG, P. S., SEFEROVIC, P., STEVENSON, L. W., VAN VELDHUISEN, D. J., ZANNAD, F., ANKER, S. D., RHODES, A., MCMURRAY, J. J., FILIPPATOS, G., CARDIOLOGY, E. S. O. & MEDICINE, E. S. O. I. C. 2010. Assessing and grading congestion in acute heart failure: a scientific statement from the acute heart failure committee of the heart failure association of the European Society of Cardiology and

endorsed by the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine. *Eur J Heart Fail*, 12, 423-33.

- GRIFFIN, M., RAO, V. S., IVEY-MIRANDA, J., FLEMING, J., MAHONEY, D., MAULION, C., SUDA, N., SIWAKOTI, K., AHMAD, T., JACOBY, D., RIELLO, R., BELLUMKONDA, L., COX, Z., COLLINS, S., JEON, S., TURNER, J. M., WILSON, F. P., BUTLER, J., INZUCCHI, S. E. & TESTANI, J. M. 2020. Empagliflozin in Heart Failure: Diuretic and Cardiorenal Effects. *Circulation*, 142, 1028-1039.
- HALLOW, K. M., HELMLINGER, G., GREASLEY, P. J., MCMURRAY, J. J. V. & BOULTON, D. W. 2018. Why do SGLT2 inhibitors reduce heart failure hospitalization? A differential volume regulation hypothesis. *Diabetes Obes Metab*, 20, 479-487.
- HANLON, P., BUTTERLY, E., LEWSEY, J., SIEBERT, S., MAIR, F. S. & MCALLISTER, D. A. 2020. Identifying frailty in trials: an analysis of individual participant data from trials of novel pharmacological interventions. *BMC Med*, 18, 309.
- HANNAN, W. J., COWEN, S. J., PLESTER, C. E., FEARON, K. C. & DEBEAU, A. 1995. Comparison of bio-impedance spectroscopy and multi-frequency bioimpedance analysis for the assessment of extracellular and total body water in surgical patients. *Clin Sci (Lond)*, 89, 651-8.
- HAYDEN, J. A., VAN DER WINDT, D. A., CARTWRIGHT, J. L., CÔTÉ, P. & BOMBARDIER, C. 2013. Assessing bias in studies of prognostic factors. *Ann Intern Med*, 158, 280-6.
- HECKING, M., MOISSL, U., GENSER, B., RAYNER, H., DASGUPTA, I., STUARD, S., STOPPER, A., CHAZOT, C., MADDUX, F. W., CANAUD, B., PORT, F. K., ZOCCALI, C. & WABEL, P. 2018. Greater fluid overload and lower interdialytic weight gain are independently associated with mortality in a large international hemodialysis population. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 33, 1832-1842.
- HEERSPINK, H. J., PROVENZANO, M., VART, P., JONGS, N., CORREA-ROTTER, R., ROSSING, P., MARK, P. B., PECOITS-FILHO, R., MCMURRAY, J. J., LANGKILDE, A. M., WHEELER, D. C., TOTO, R. B. & CHERTOW, G. M. 2024. Dapagliflozin and Blood Pressure in Patients with Chronic Kidney Disease and Albuminuria. *Am Heart J*, 270, 125-135.
- HEERSPINK, H. J. L., STEFÁNSSON, B. V., CORREA-ROTTER, R., CHERTOW, G. M., GREENE, T., HOU, F. F., MANN, J. F. E., MCMURRAY, J. J. V., LINDBERG, M., ROSSING, P., SJÖSTRÖM, C. D., TOTO, R. D., LANGKILDE, A. M., WHEELER, D. C. & INVESTIGATORS, D.-C. T. C. A. 2020. Dapagliflozin in Patients with Chronic Kidney Disease. N Engl J Med, 383, 1436-1446.
- HERAN, B. S., WONG, M. M., HERAN, I. K. & WRIGHT, J. M. 2008. Blood pressure lowering efficacy of angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors for primary hypertension. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev,* 2008, CD003823.
- HERDMAN, M., GUDEX, C., LLOYD, A., JANSSEN, M., KIND, P., PARKIN, D., BONSEL, G. & BADIA, X. 2011. Development and preliminary testing of the new five-level version of EQ-5D (EQ-5D-5L). *Qual Life Res*, 20, 1727-36.
- HERRINGTON, W. G., SAVARESE, G., HAYNES, R., MARX, N., MELLBIN, L., LUND, L. H., DENDALE, P., SEFEROVIC, P., ROSANO, G., STAPLIN, N., BAIGENT, C. & COSENTINO, F. 2021. Cardiac, renal, and metabolic effects of sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 inhibitors: a position paper from

the European Society of Cardiology ad-hoc task force on sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 inhibitors. *Eur J Heart Fail*, 23, 1260-1275.

- HERRINGTON, W. G., SMITH, M., BANKHEAD, C., MATSUSHITA, K., STEVENS, S., HOLT, T., HOBBS, F. D., CORESH, J. & WOODWARD, M. 2017. Body-mass index and risk of advanced chronic kidney disease: Prospective analyses from a primary care cohort of 1.4 million adults in England. *PLoS One*, 12, e0173515.
- HO, I. S. S., AZCOAGA-LORENZO, A., AKBARI, A., DAVIES, J., KHUNTI, K., KADAM, U. T., LYONS, R. A., MCCOWAN, C., MERCER, S. W., NIRANTHARAKUMAR, K., STANISZEWSKA, S. & GUTHRIE, B. 2022. Measuring multimorbidity in research: Delphi consensus study. *BMJ Med*, 1, e000247.
- HOCKHAM, C., SCHANSCHIEFF, F. & WOODWARD, M. 2022. Sex Differences in CKD-Associated Mortality From 1990 to 2019: Data From the Global Burden of Disease Study. *Kidney Med*, 4, 100535.
- HOUSE, A. A., WANNER, C., SARNAK, M. J., PIÑA, I. L., MCINTYRE, C. W., KOMENDA, P., KASISKE, B. L., DESWAL, A., DEFILIPPI, C. R., CLELAND, J. G. F., ANKER, S. D., HERZOG, C. A., CHEUNG, M., WHEELER, D. C., WINKELMAYER, W. C., MCCULLOUGH, P. A. & PARTICIPANTS, C. 2019. Heart failure in chronic kidney disease: conclusions from a Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Controversies Conference. *Kidney Int*, 95, 1304-1317.
- HSU, C. Y., MCCULLOCH, C. E., IRIBARREN, C., DARBINIAN, J. & GO, A. S. 2006. Body mass index and risk for end-stage renal disease. *Ann Intern Med*, 144, 21-8.
- HUAN-SHENG, C., YEONG-CHANG, C., MING-HSING, H., FAN-LIEH, T., CHU-CHENG, L., TSAI-KUN, W., HUNG-PING, C., SZE-HUNG, H., HSIEN-CHANG, C., CHIA-CHEN, L., CHUN-CHENG, H., CHUN-TING, C., HUNG-HSIANG, L., CHUN-JU, L. & PAIK-SEONG, L. 2016. Application of bioimpedance spectroscopy in Asian dialysis patients (ABISAD-III): a randomized controlled trial for clinical outcomes. *Int Urol Nephrol*, 48, 1897-1909.
- HUNG, S.-C., LAI, Y.-S., KUO, K.-L. & TARNG, D.-C. 2015. Volume overload and adverse outcomes in chronic kidney disease: clinical observational and animal studies. *Journal of the American Heart Association,* 4.
- HUR, E., USTA, M., TOZ, H., ASCI, G., WABEL, P., KAHVECIOGLU, S., KAYIKCIOGLU, M., DEMIRCI, M. S., OZKAHYA, M., DUMAN, S. & OK, E.
  2013. Effect of fluid management guided by bioimpedance spectroscopy on cardiovascular parameters in hemodialysis patients: a randomized controlled trial. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 61, 957-65.
- HURST, H., YOUNG, H. M. L., NIXON, A. C., ORMANDY, P., BRETTLE, A. & ACKD, S. R. A. C. F. O. A. C. P. F. O. P. W. 2022. Outcomes and care priorities for older people living with frailty and advanced chronic kidney disease: a multi-professional scoping review. *Age Ageing*, 51.
- INKER, L. A., ENEANYA, N. D., CORESH, J., TIGHIOUART, H., WANG, D., SANG, Y., CREWS, D. C., DORIA, A., ESTRELLA, M. M., FROISSART, M., GRAMS, M. E., GREENE, T., GRUBB, A., GUDNASON, V., GUTIÉRREZ, O. M., KALIL, R., KARGER, A. B., MAUER, M., NAVIS, G., NELSON, R. G., POGGIO, E. D., RODBY, R., ROSSING, P., RULE, A. D., SELVIN, E., SEEGMILLER, J. C., SHLIPAK, M. G., TORRES, V. E., YANG, W., BALLEW, S. H., COUTURE, S. J., POWE, N. R., LEVEY, A. S. & COLLABORATION, C. K. D. E. 2021. New Creatinine- and Cystatin C-

Based Equations to Estimate GFR without Race. *N Engl J Med*, 385, 1737-1749.

- INZUCCHI, S. E., ZINMAN, B., FITCHETT, D., WANNER, C., FERRANNINI, E., SCHUMACHER, M., SCHMOOR, C., OHNEBERG, K., JOHANSEN, O. E., GEORGE, J. T., HANTEL, S., BLUHMKI, E. & LACHIN, J. M. 2018. How Does Empagliflozin Reduce Cardiovascular Mortality? Insights From a Mediation Analysis of the EMPA-REG OUTCOME Trial. *Diabetes Care*, 41, 356-363.
- JAFFRIN, M. Y. & MOREL, H. 2008. Body fluid volumes measurements by impedance: A review of bioimpedance spectroscopy (BIS) and bioimpedance analysis (BIA) methods. *Med Eng Phys*, 30, 1257-69.
- JENSEN, J., OMAR, M., KISTORP, C., TUXEN, C., GUSTAFSSON, I., KØBER, L., GUSTAFSSON, F., FABER, J., MALIK, M. E., FOSBØL, E. L., BRUUN, N. E., FORMAN, J. L., JENSEN, L. T., MØLLER, J. E. & SCHOU, M. 2021. Effects of empagliflozin on estimated extracellular volume, estimated plasma volume, and measured glomerular filtration rate in patients with heart failure (Empire HF Renal): a prespecified substudy of a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol*, 9, 106-116.
- JOTTERAND DREPPER, V., KIHM, L. P., KÄLBLE, F., DIEKMANN, C., SECKINGER, J., SOMMERER, C., ZEIER, M. & SCHWENGER, V. 2016. Overhydration Is a Strong Predictor of Mortality in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients - Independently of Cardiac Failure. *PLoS One*, 11, e0158741.
- KANANURAKS, S., ASSANATHAM, M., BOONGIRD, S., KITIYAKARA, C., THAMMAVARANUCUPT, K., LIMPIJARNKIJ, T., WARODOMWICHIT, D., DAVENPORT, A. & NONGNUCH, A. 2020. Bioimpedance Analysis-Guided Volume Expansion for the Prevention of Contrast-Induced Acute Kidney Injury (the BELIEVE Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial). *Kidney Int Rep,* 5, 1495-1502.
- KDIGO 2024. KDIGO 2024 Clinical Practice Guideline for the Evaluation and Management of Chronic Kidney Disease. *Kidney Int,* 105, S117-S314.
- KEANE, D. 2016. Characterising fluid status, distribution and dynamics in haemodialysis patients to improve fluid management strategies. Doctor of Philosophy thesis, The University of Leeds.
- KEBER, G., HOJS, R., DVORŠAK, B., BEVC, S., VODOŠEK HOJS, N., PETRESKI, T. & EKART, R. 2021. Assessment of volume status with bioimpendance prior to hemodialysis and its importance for predicting survival in hemodialysis patients. *Clin Nephrol*, 96, 68-73.
- KENT, D. M. & HAYWARD, R. A. 2007. Limitations of applying summary results of clinical trials to individual patients: the need for risk stratification. JAMA, 298, 1209-12.
- KENT, D. M., PAULUS, J. K., VAN KLAVEREN, D., D'AGOSTINO, R.,
  GOODMAN, S., HAYWARD, R., IOANNIDIS, J. P. A., PATRICK-LAKE, B.,
  MORTON, S., PENCINA, M., RAMAN, G., ROSS, J. S., SELKER, H. P.,
  VARADHAN, R., VICKERS, A., WONG, J. B. & STEYERBERG, E. W.
  2020. The Predictive Approaches to Treatment effect Heterogeneity (PATH)
  Statement. Ann Intern Med, 172, 35-45.
- KHAN, M. S., SEGAR, M. W., USMAN, M. S., SINGH, S., GREENE, S. J., FONAROW, G. C., ANKER, S. D., FELKER, G. M., JANUZZI, J. L., BUTLER, J. & PANDEY, A. 2022. Frailty, Guideline-Directed Medical Therapy, and Outcomes in HFrEF: From the GUIDE-IT Trial. JACC Heart Fail, 10, 266-275.

- KIM, C., KIM, J. K., LEE, H. S., KIM, S. G. & SONG, Y. R. 2021. Longitudinal changes in body composition are associated with all-cause mortality in patients on peritoneal dialysis. *Clin Nutr*, 40, 120-126.
- KIM, Y. J., JEON, H. J., KIM, Y. H., JEON, J., HAM, Y. R., CHUNG, S., CHOI, D. E., NA, K. R. & LEE, K. W. 2015. Overhydration measured by bioimpedance analysis and the survival of patients on maintenance hemodialysis: a single-center study. *Kidney Res Clin Pract*, 34, 212-8.
- KOHAN, D. E., FIORETTO, P., TANG, W. & LIST, J. F. 2014. Long-term study of patients with type 2 diabetes and moderate renal impairment shows that dapagliflozin reduces weight and blood pressure but does not improve glycemic control. *Kidney Int*, 85, 962-71.
- KOVESDY, C. P. 2022. Epidemiology of chronic kidney disease: an update 2022. *Kidney Int Suppl (2011),* 12, 7-11.
- KRAMER, H., SHOHAM, D., MCCLURE, L. A., DURAZO-ARVIZU, R., HOWARD, G., JUDD, S., MUNTNER, P., SAFFORD, M., WARNOCK, D. G. & MCCLELLAN, W. 2011. Association of waist circumference and body mass index with all-cause mortality in CKD: The REGARDS (Reasons for Geographic and Racial Differences in Stroke) Study. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 58, 177-85.
- KURINAMI, N., SUGIYAMA, S., NISHIMURA, H., MORITA, A., YOSHIDA, A., HIESHIMA, K., MIYAMOTO, F., KAJIWARA, K., JINNOUCHI, K., JINNOUCHI, T. & JINNOUCHI, H. 2018. Clinical Factors Associated with Initial Decrease in Body-Fat Percentage Induced by Add-on Sodium-Glucose Co-transporter 2 Inhibitors in Patient with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Clin Drug Investig*, 38, 19-27.
- KURIYAMA, S. 2019. A Potential Mechanism of Cardio-Renal Protection with Sodium-Glucose Cotransporter 2 Inhibitors: Amelioration of Renal Congestion. *Kidney Blood Press Res*, 44, 449-456.
- LAMBERS HEERSPINK, H. J., DE ZEEUW, D., WIE, L., LESLIE, B. & LIST, J. 2013. Dapagliflozin a glucose-regulating drug with diuretic properties in subjects with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Obes Metab*, 15, 853-62.
- LEVEY, A. S., ECKARDT, K. U., DORMAN, N. M., CHRISTIANSEN, S. L., HOORN, E. J., INGELFINGER, J. R., INKER, L. A., LEVIN, A., MEHROTRA, R., PALEVSKY, P. M., PERAZELLA, M. A., TONG, A., ALLISON, S. J., BOCKENHAUER, D., BRIGGS, J. P., BROMBERG, J. S., DAVENPORT, A., FELDMAN, H. I., FOUQUE, D., GANSEVOORT, R. T., GILL, J. S., GREENE, E. L., HEMMELGARN, B. R., KRETZLER, M., LAMBIE, M., LANE, P. H., LAYCOCK, J., LEVENTHAL, S. E., MITTELMAN, M., MORRISSEY, P., OSTERMANN, M., REES, L., RONCO, P., SCHAEFER, F., ST CLAIR RUSSELL, J., VINCK, C., WALSH, S. B., WEINER, D. E., CHEUNG, M., JADOUL, M. & WINKELMAYER, W. C. 2020. Nomenclature for kidney function and disease: report of a Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Consensus Conference. *Kidney Int*, 97, 1117-1129.
- LEVEY, A. S., STEVENS, L. A., SCHMID, C. H., ZHANG, Y. L., CASTRO, A. F., FELDMAN, H. I., KUSEK, J. W., EGGERS, P., VAN LENTE, F., GREENE, T., CORESH, J. & COLLABORATION), C.-E. C. K. D. E. 2009. A new equation to estimate glomerular filtration rate. *Ann Intern Med*, 150, 604-12.
- LI, M., YI, T., FAN, F., QIU, L., WANG, Z., WENG, H., MA, W., ZHANG, Y. & HUO, Y. 2022. Effect of sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitors on blood pressure in patients with heart failure: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Cardiovasc Diabetol*, 21, 139.

- LIN, T. Y., PENG, C. H., HUNG, S. C. & TARNG, D. C. 2018. Body composition is associated with clinical outcomes in patients with non-dialysis-dependent chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int*, 93, 733-740.
- LIU, A. Y. L., PEK, S., LOW, S., MOH, A., ANG, K., TANG, W. E., LIM, Z., SUBRAMANIAM, T., SUM, C. F. & LIM, S. C. 2021. Association of overhydration and serum pigment epithelium-derived factor with CKD progression in diabetic kidney disease: A prospective cohort study. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract*, 174, 108754.
- LOW, S., PEK, S., LIU, Y. L., MOH, A., ANG, K., TANG, W. E., LIM, Z., SUBRAMANIAM, T., SUM, C. F., LIM, C. L., ALI, Y. & LIM, S. C. 2021. Higher extracellular water to total body water ratio was associated with chronic kidney disease progression in type 2 diabetes. *Journal of diabetes and its complications*, 35, 107930.
- LYONS, K. J., BISCHOFF, M. K., FONAROW, G. C. & HORWICH, T. B. 2017. Noninvasive Bioelectrical Impedance for Predicting Clinical Outcomes in Outpatients With Heart Failure. *Crit Pathw Cardiol*, 16, 32-36.
- LYTVYN, Y., BJORNSTAD, P., UDELL, J. A., LOVSHIN, J. A. & CHERNEY, D. Z.
   I. 2017. Sodium Glucose Cotransporter-2 Inhibition in Heart Failure: Potential Mechanisms, Clinical Applications, and Summary of Clinical Trials. *Circulation*, 136, 1643-1658.
- LYTVYN, Y., KIMURA, K., PETER, N., LAI, V., TSE, J., CHAM, L., PERKINS, B. A., SOLEYMANLOU, N. & CHERNEY, D. Z. I. 2022. Renal and Vascular Effects of Combined SGLT2 and Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Inhibition. *Circulation*, 146, 450-462.
- MAJOR, R. W., SHEPHERD, D., MEDCALF, J. F., XU, G., GRAY, L. J. & BRUNSKILL, N. J. 2019. The Kidney Failure Risk Equation for prediction of end stage renal disease in UK primary care: An external validation and clinical impact projection cohort study. *PLoS Med*, 16, e1002955.
- MARK, P. B., MANGION, K., RANKIN, A. J., RUTHERFORD, E., LANG, N. N., PETRIE, M. C., STOUMPOS, S. & PATEL, R. K. 2022. Left ventricular dysfunction with preserved ejection fraction: the most common left ventricular disorder in chronic kidney disease patients. *Clinical Kidney Journal*.
- MARSHALL, M. R., VANDAL, A. C., DE ZOYSA, J. R., GABRIEL, R. S., HALOOB, I. A., HOOD, C. J., IRVINE, J. H., MATHESON, P. J., MCGREGOR, D. O. R., RABINDRANATH, K. S., SCHOLLUM, J. B. W., SEMPLE, D. J., XIE, Z., MA, T. M., SISK, R. & DUNLOP, J. L. 2020. Effect of Low-Sodium versus Conventional Sodium Dialysate on Left Ventricular Mass in Home and Self-Care Satellite Facility Hemodialysis Patients: A Randomized Clinical Trial. J Am Soc Nephrol, 31, 1078-1091.
- MASNOON, N., SHAKIB, S., KALISCH-ELLETT, L. & CAUGHEY, G. E. 2017. What is polypharmacy? A systematic review of definitions. *BMC Geriatr*, 17, 230.
- MASSARI, F., SCICCHITANO, P., IACOVIELLO, M., PASSANTINO, A., GUIDA, P., SANASI, M., PISCOPO, A., ROMITO, R., VALLE, R., CALDAROLA, P. & CICCONE, M. M. 2020. Multiparametric approach to congestion for predicting long-term survival in heart failure. *J Cardiol*, 75, 47-52.
- MATSUSHITA, K., BALLEW, S. H., WANG, A. Y., KALYESUBULA, R., SCHAEFFNER, E. & AGARWAL, R. 2022. Epidemiology and risk of cardiovascular disease in populations with chronic kidney disease. *Nat Rev Nephrol,* 18, 696-707.

- MATSUSHITA, K., VAN DER VELDE, M., ASTOR, B. C., WOODWARD, M., LEVEY, A. S., DE JONG, P. E., CORESH, J., GANSEVOORT, R. T. & CONSORTIUM, C. K. D. P. 2010. Association of estimated glomerular filtration rate and albuminuria with all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in general population cohorts: a collaborative meta-analysis. *Lancet*, 375, 2073-81.
- MAZIDI, M., REZAIE, P., GAO, H. K. & KENGNE, A. P. 2017. Effect of Sodium-Glucose Cotransport-2 Inhibitors on Blood Pressure in People With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of 43 Randomized Control Trials With 22 528 Patients. *J Am Heart Assoc,* 6.
- MCDONAGH, T. A., METRA, M., ADAMO, M., GARDNER, R. S., BAUMBACH, A., BÖHM, M., BURRI, H., BUTLER, J., ČELUTKIENĖ, J., CHIONCEL, O., CLELAND, J. G. F., COATS, A. J. S., CRESPO-LEIRO, M. G., FARMAKIS, D., GILARD, M., HEYMANS, S., HOES, A. W., JAARSMA, T., JANKOWSKA, E. A., LAINSCAK, M., LAM, C. S. P., LYON, A. R., MCMURRAY, J. J. V., MEBAZAA, A., MINDHAM, R., MUNERETTO, C., FRANCESCO PIEPOLI, M., PRICE, S., ROSANO, G. M. C., RUSCHITZKA, F., KATHRINE SKIBELUND, A. & GROUP, E. S. D. 2021. 2021 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure. *Eur Heart J*, 42, 3599-3726.
- MCMAHON, E. J., BAUER, J. D., HAWLEY, C. M., ISBEL, N. M., STOWASSER, M., JOHNSON, D. W. & CAMPBELL, K. L. 2013. A randomized trial of dietary sodium restriction in CKD. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 24, 2096-103.
- MCMURRAY, J. J. V., SOLOMON, S. D., INZUCCHI, S. E., KØBER, L., KOSIBOROD, M. N., MARTINEZ, F. A., PONIKOWSKI, P., SABATINE, M. S., ANAND, I. S., BĚLOHLÁVEK, J., BÖHM, M., CHIANG, C. E., CHOPRA, V. K., DE BOER, R. A., DESAI, A. S., DIEZ, M., DROZDZ, J., DUKÁT, A., GE, J., HOWLETT, J. G., KATOVA, T., KITAKAZE, M., LJUNGMAN, C. E. A., MERKELY, B., NICOLAU, J. C., O'MEARA, E., PETRIE, M. C., VINH, P. N., SCHOU, M., TERESHCHENKO, S., VERMA, S., HELD, C., DEMETS, D. L., DOCHERTY, K. F., JHUND, P. S., BENGTSSON, O., SJÖSTRAND, M., LANGKILDE, A. M. & INVESTIGATORS, D.-H. T. C. A. 2019. Dapagliflozin in Patients with Heart Failure and Reduced Ejection Fraction. *N Engl J Med*, 381, 1995-2008.
- MEI, F., GAO, Q., CHEN, F., ZHAO, L., SHANG, Y., HU, K., ZHANG, W., ZHAO, B. & MA, B. 2021. Frailty as a Predictor of Negative Health Outcomes in Chronic Kidney Disease: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Am Med Dir Assoc, 22, 535-543.e7.
- MILLER, W. L. 2016. Fluid Volume Overload and Congestion in Heart Failure: Time to Reconsider Pathophysiology and How Volume Is Assessed. *Circ Heart Fail*, 9, e002922.
- MOISSL, U. M., WABEL, P., CHAMNEY, P. W., BOSAEUS, I., LEVIN, N. W., BOSY-WESTPHAL, A., KORTH, O., MÜLLER, M. J., ELLEGÅRD, L., MALMROS, V., KAITWATCHARACHAI, C., KUHLMANN, M. K., ZHU, F. & FULLER, N. J. 2006. Body fluid volume determination via body composition spectroscopy in health and disease. *Physiol Meas*, 27, 921-33.
- NEAL, B., PERKOVIC, V., MAHAFFEY, K. W., DE ZEEUW, D., FULCHER, G., ERONDU, N., SHAW, W., LAW, G., DESAI, M., MATTHEWS, D. R. & GROUP, C. P. C. 2017. Canagliflozin and Cardiovascular and Renal Events in Type 2 Diabetes. *N Engl J Med*, 377, 644-657.

- NIXON, A. C., BAMPOURAS, T. M., PENDLETON, N., MITRA, S. & DHAYGUDE, A. P. 2019. Diagnostic Accuracy of Frailty Screening Methods in Advanced Chronic Kidney Disease. *Nephron*, 141, 147-155.
- NJOROGE, J. N. & TEERLINK, J. R. 2021. Pathophysiology and Therapeutic Approaches to Acute Decompensated Heart Failure. *Circ Res*, 128, 1468-1486.
- NUFFIELD DEPARTMENT OF POPULATION HEALTH RENAL STUDIES GROUP AND SGLT2 INHIBITOR META-ANALYSIS CARDIO-RENAL TRIALISTS' CONSORTIUM 2022. Impact of diabetes on the effects of sodium glucose co-transporter-2 inhibitors on kidney outcomes: collaborative meta-analysis of large placebo-controlled trials. *Lancet*, 400, 1788-1801.
- NÚÑEZ, J., MASCARELL, B., STUBBE, H., VENTURA, S., BONANAD, C., BODÍ, V., NÚÑEZ, E., MIÑANA, G., FÁCILA, L., BAYÉS-GENIS, A., CHORRO, F. J. & SANCHIS, J. 2016. Bioelectrical impedance vector analysis and clinical outcomes in patients with acute heart failure. J Cardiovasc Med (Hagerstown), 17, 283-90.
- O'LONE, E. L., VISSER, A., FINNEY, H. & FAN, S. L. 2014. Clinical significance of multi-frequency bioimpedance spectroscopy in peritoneal dialysis patients: independent predictor of patient survival. *Nephrol Dial Transplant,* 29, 1430-7.
- OH, K. H., BAEK, S. H., JOO, K. W., KIM, D. K., KIM, Y. S., KIM, S., OH, Y. K., HAN, B. G., CHANG, J. H., CHUNG, W., NA, K. Y. & STUDY, C. O. F. B. G. B. B. C. M. I. P. O. P. D. C. 2018. Does Routine Bioimpedance-Guided Fluid Management Provide Additional Benefit to Non-Anuric Peritoneal Dialysis Patients? Results from COMPASS Clinical Trial. *Perit Dial Int,* 38, 131-138.
- OHARA, K., MASUDA, T., MORINARI, M., OKADA, M., MIKI, A., NAKAGAWA, S., MURAKAMI, T., OKA, K., ASAKURA, M., MIYAZAWA, Y., MAESHIMA, A., AKIMOTO, T., SAITO, O. & NAGATA, D. 2020. The extracellular volume status predicts body fluid response to SGLT2 inhibitor dapagliflozin in diabetic kidney disease. *Diabetol Metab Syndr*, 12, 37.
- OHASHI, Y., TAI, R., AOKI, T., MIZUIRI, S., OGURA, T., TANAKA, Y., OKADA, T., AIKAWA, A. & SAKAI, K. 2015. The Associations of Malnutrition and Aging with Fluid Volume Imbalance between Intra- and Extracellular Water in Patients with Chronic Kidney Disease. *J Nutr Health Aging*, 19, 986-93.
- ONOFRIESCU, M., HOGAS, S., VORONEANU, L., APETRII, M., NISTOR, I., KANBAY, M. & COVIC, A. C. 2014. Bioimpedance-guided fluid management in maintenance hemodialysis: a pilot randomized controlled trial. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 64, 111-8.
- ONOFRIESCU, M., SIRIOPOL, D., VORONEANU, L., HOGAS, S., NISTOR, I., APETRII, M., FLOREA, L., VEISA, G., MITITIUC, I., KANBAY, M., SASCAU, R. & COVIC, A. 2015. Overhydration, Cardiac Function and Survival in Hemodialysis Patients. *PLoS One*, 10, e0135691.
- PACKER, M. 2023. Mechanisms of enhanced renal and hepatic erythropoietin synthesis by sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 inhibitors. *Eur Heart J*, 44, 5027-5035.
- PACKER, M., ANKER, S. D., BUTLER, J., FILIPPATOS, G., FERREIRA, J. P., POCOCK, S. J., SATTAR, N., BRUECKMANN, M., JAMAL, W., COTTON, D., IWATA, T., ZANNAD, F. & INVESTIGATORS, E.-R. T. C. A. 2021. Empagliflozin in Patients With Heart Failure, Reduced Ejection Fraction,

and Volume Overload: EMPEROR-Reduced Trial. *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 77, 1381-1392.

- PACKER, M., ANKER, S. D., BUTLER, J., FILIPPATOS, G., POCOCK, S. J., CARSON, P., JANUZZI, J., VERMA, S., TSUTSUI, H., BRUECKMANN, M., JAMAL, W., KIMURA, K., SCHNEE, J., ZELLER, C., COTTON, D., BOCCHI, E., BÖHM, M., CHOI, D. J., CHOPRA, V., CHUQUIURE, E., GIANNETTI, N., JANSSENS, S., ZHANG, J., GONZALEZ JUANATEY, J. R., KAUL, S., BRUNNER-LA ROCCA, H. P., MERKELY, B., NICHOLLS, S. J., PERRONE, S., PINA, I., PONIKOWSKI, P., SATTAR, N., SENNI, M., SERONDE, M. F., SPINAR, J., SQUIRE, I., TADDEI, S., WANNER, C., ZANNAD, F. & INVESTIGATORS, E.-R. T. 2020. Cardiovascular and Renal Outcomes with Empagliflozin in Heart Failure. N Engl J Med, 383, 1413-1424.
- PARK, J., AHMADI, S. F., STREJA, E., MOLNAR, M. Z., FLEGAL, K. M., GILLEN, D., KOVESDY, C. P. & KALANTAR-ZADEH, K. 2014. Obesity paradox in end-stage kidney disease patients. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis*, 56, 415-25.
- PARTHASARATHY, R., OEI, E. & FAN, S. L. 2019. Clinical value of body composition monitor to evaluate lean and fat tissue mass in peritoneal dialysis. *Eur J Clin Nutr*, 73, 1520-1528.
- PELLICORI, P., PLATZ, E., DAUW, J., TER MAATEN, J. M., MARTENS, P.,
  PIVETTA, E., CLELAND, J. G. F., MCMURRAY, J. J. V., MULLENS, W.,
  SOLOMON, S. D., ZANNAD, F., GARGANI, L. & GIRERD, N. 2021.
  Ultrasound imaging of congestion in heart failure: examinations beyond the heart. *Eur J Heart Fail*, 23, 703-712.
- PERKOVIC, V., JARDINE, M. J., NEAL, B., BOMPOINT, S., HEERSPINK, H. J.
  L., CHARYTAN, D. M., EDWARDS, R., AGARWAL, R., BAKRIS, G., BULL,
  S., CANNON, C. P., CAPUANO, G., CHU, P. L., DE ZEEUW, D., GREENE,
  T., LEVIN, A., POLLOCK, C., WHEELER, D. C., YAVIN, Y., ZHANG, H.,
  ZINMAN, B., MEININGER, G., BRENNER, B. M., MAHAFFEY, K. W. &
  INVESTIGATORS, C. T. 2019. Canagliflozin and Renal Outcomes in Type
  2 Diabetes and Nephropathy. N Engl J Med, 380, 2295-2306.
- PERKOVIC, V., TUTTLE, K. R., ROSSING, P., MAHAFFEY, K. W., MANN, J. F. E., BAKRIS, G., BAERES, F. M. M., IDORN, T., BOSCH-TRABERG, H., LAUSVIG, N. L., PRATLEY, R. & INVESTIGATORS, F. T. C. A. 2024. Effects of Semaglutide on Chronic Kidney Disease in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes. N Engl J Med.
- PETO, R. & PETO, J. 1972. Asymptotically Efficient Rank Invariant Test Procedures. 135, 185-207.
- PETO, R., PIKE, M. C., ARMITAGE, P., BRESLOW, N. E., COX, D. R., HOWARD, S. V., MANTEL, N., MCPHERSON, K., PETO, J. & SMITH, P. G. 1976. Design and analysis of randomized clinical trials requiring prolonged observation of each patient. I. Introduction and design. *Br J Cancer*, 34, 585-612.
- PETO, R., PIKE, M. C., ARMITAGE, P., BRESLOW, N. E., COX, D. R., HOWARD, S. V., MANTEL, N., MCPHERSON, K., PETO, J. & SMITH, P. G. 1977. Design and analysis of randomized clinical trials requiring prolonged observation of each patient. II. analysis and examples. *Br J Cancer*, 35, 1-39.
- PETRYKIV, S., SJÖSTRÖM, C. D., GREASLEY, P. J., XU, J., PERSSON, F. & HEERSPINK, H. J. L. 2017. Differential Effects of Dapagliflozin on Cardiovascular Risk Factors at Varying Degrees of Renal Function. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol*, 12, 751-759.

- PORTER, A. M. 1997. Ramipril in non-diabetic renal failure (REIN study) Ramipril Efficiency in Nephropathy Study. *Lancet*, 350, 736; author reply 736-7.
- POSTORINO, M., MARINO, C., TRIPEPI, G., ZOCCALI, C. & GROUP, C. C. R.
   O. D. A. T. W. 2009. Abdominal obesity and all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in end-stage renal disease. *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 53, 1265-72.
- RASTOGI, T., BOZEC, E., PELLICORI, P., BAYES-GENIS, A., COIRO, S., DOMINGO, M., GARGANI, L., PALAZZUOLI, A. & GIRERD, N. 2022. Prognostic Value and Therapeutic Utility of Lung Ultrasound in Acute and Chronic Heart Failure: A Meta-Analysis. *JACC Cardiovasc Imaging*, 15, 950-952.
- RIDDERSTRÅLE, M., ANDERSEN, K. R., ZELLER, C., KIM, G., WOERLE, H. J., BROEDL, U. C. & INVESTIGATORS, E.-R. H. H.-S. T. 2014. Comparison of empagliflozin and glimepiride as add-on to metformin in patients with type 2 diabetes: a 104-week randomised, active-controlled, double-blind, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol,* 2, 691-700.
- ROCKWOOD, K., SONG, X., MACKNIGHT, C., BERGMAN, H., HOGAN, D. B., MCDOWELL, I. & MITNITSKI, A. 2005. A global clinical measure of fitness and frailty in elderly people. *CMAJ*, 173, 489-95.
- ROSSIGNOL, P., MASSY, Z. A., AZIZI, M., BAKRIS, G., RITZ, E., COVIC, A., GOLDSMITH, D., HEINE, G. H., JAGER, K. J., KANBAY, M., MALLAMACI, F., ORTIZ, A., VANHOLDER, R., WIECEK, A., ZOCCALI, C., LONDON, G. M., STENGEL, B., FOUQUE, D., GROUP, E.-E. E.-M. W., NETWORK, R. D. I. R. R. & NETWORK, C. A. R. C. T. F.-C. I.-C. 2015. The double challenge of resistant hypertension and chronic kidney disease. *Lancet*, 386, 1588-98.
- SASAKI, T. 2019. Sarcopenia, frailty circle and treatment with sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 inhibitors. *J Diabetes Investig*, 10, 193-195.
- SASAKI, T., SUGAWARA, M. & FUKUDA, M. 2019. Sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 inhibitor-induced changes in body composition and simultaneous changes in metabolic profile: 52-week prospective LIGHT (Luseogliflozin: the Components of Weight Loss in Japanese Patients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus) Study. J Diabetes Investig, 10, 108-117.
- SCHOLTES, R. A., MUSKIET, M. H. A., VAN BAAR, M. J. B., HESP, A. C., GREASLEY, P. J., KARLSSON, C., HAMMARSTEDT, A., ARYA, N., VAN RAALTE, D. H. & HEERSPINK, H. J. L. 2021. Natriuretic Effect of Two Weeks of Dapagliflozin Treatment in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes and Preserved Kidney Function During Standardized Sodium Intake: Results of the DAPASALT Trial. *Diabetes Care*, 44, 440-447.
- SCHORK, A., BOHNERT, B. N., HEYNE, N., BIRKENFELD, A. L. & ARTUNC, F. 2020. Overhydration Measured by Bioimpedance Spectroscopy and Urinary Serine Protease Activity Are Risk Factors for Progression of Chronic Kidney Disease. *Kidney Blood Press Res*, 45, 955-968.
- SCHORK, A., SAYNISCH, J., VOSSELER, A., JAGHUTRIZ, B. A., HEYNE, N., PETER, A., HÄRING, H. U., STEFAN, N., FRITSCHE, A. & ARTUNC, F. 2019. Effect of SGLT2 inhibitors on body composition, fluid status and renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system in type 2 diabetes: a prospective study using bioimpedance spectroscopy. *Cardiovasc Diabetol,* 18, 46.
- SCOTLAND, G., CRUICKSHANK, M., JACOBSEN, E., COOPER, D., FRASER, C., SHIMONOVICH, M., MARKS, A. & BRAZZELLI, M. 2018. Multiplefrequency bioimpedance devices for fluid management in people with chronic kidney disease receiving dialysis: a systematic review and economic evaluation. *Health Technol Assess*, 22, 1-138.

- SEARLE, S. D., MITNITSKI, A., GAHBAUER, E. A., GILL, T. M. & ROCKWOOD, K. 2008. A standard procedure for creating a frailty index. *BMC Geriatr*, 8, 24.
- SHOCHAT, M., SHOTAN, A., BLONDHEIM, D. S., KAZATSKER, M., DAHAN, I., ASIF, A., SHOCHAT, I., FRIMERMAN, A., ROZENMAN, Y. & MEISEL, S.
   R. 2015. Derivation of baseline lung impedance in chronic heart failure patients: use for monitoring pulmonary congestion and predicting admissions for decompensation. J Clin Monit Comput, 29, 341-9.
- SHU, Y., LIU, J., ZENG, X., HONG, H. G., LI, Y., ZHONG, H., MA, L. & FU, P. 2018. The Effect of Overhydration on Mortality and Technique Failure Among Peritoneal Dialysis Patients: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Blood Purif*, 46, 350-358.
- SIRIOPOL, D., HOGAS, S., VORONEANU, L., ONOFRIESCU, M., APETRII, M., OLENIUC, M., MOSCALU, M., SASCAU, R. & COVIC, A. 2013. Predicting mortality in haemodialysis patients: a comparison between lung ultrasonography, bioimpedance data and echocardiography parameters. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 28, 2851-9.
- SIRIOPOL, D., ONOFRIESCU, M., VORONEANU, L., APETRII, M., NISTOR, I., HOGAS, S., KANBAY, M., SASCAU, R., SCRIPCARIU, D. & COVIC, A. 2017a. Dry weight assessment by combined ultrasound and bioimpedance monitoring in low cardiovascular risk hemodialysis patients: a randomized controlled trial. *Int Urol Nephrol*, 49, 143-153.
- SIRIOPOL, D., SIRIOPOL, M., STUARD, S., VORONEANU, L., WABEL, P., MOISSL, U., VOICULESCU, D. & COVIC, A. 2019. An analysis of the impact of fluid overload and fluid depletion for all-cause and cardiovascular mortality. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 34, 1385-1393.
- SIRIOPOL, D., VORONEANU, L., HOGAS, S., APETRII, M., GRAMATICU, A., DUMEA, R., BURLACU, A., SASCAU, R., KANBAY, M. & COVIC, A. 2016. Bioimpedance analysis versus lung ultrasonography for optimal risk prediction in hemodialysis patients. *Int J Cardiovasc Imaging*, 32, 263-270.
- SIRIOPOL, I., SIRIOPOL, D., VORONEANU, L. & COVIC, A. 2017b. Predictive abilities of baseline measurements of fluid overload, assessed by bioimpedance spectroscopy and serum N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide, for mortality in hemodialysis patients. *Arch Med Sci*, 13, 1121-1129.
- SMEETS, C. J. P., LEE, S., GROENENDAAL, W., SQUILLACE, G., VRANKEN, J., DE CANNIÈRE, H., VAN HOOF, C., GRIETEN, L., MULLENS, W., NIJST, P. & VANDERVOORT, P. M. 2020. The Added Value of In-Hospital Tracking of the Efficacy of Decongestion Therapy and Prognostic Value of a Wearable Thoracic Impedance Sensor in Acutely Decompensated Heart Failure With Volume Overload: Prospective Cohort Study. *JMIR Cardio*, 4, e12141.
- SOLOMON, S. D., MCMURRAY, J. J. V., CLAGGETT, B., DE BOER, R. A., DEMETS, D., HERNANDEZ, A. F., INZUCCHI, S. E., KOSIBOROD, M. N., LAM, C. S. P., MARTINEZ, F., SHAH, S. J., DESAI, A. S., JHUND, P. S., BELOHLAVEK, J., CHIANG, C. E., BORLEFFS, C. J. W., COMIN-COLET, J., DOBREANU, D., DROZDZ, J., FANG, J. C., ALCOCER-GAMBA, M. A., AL HABEEB, W., HAN, Y., CABRERA HONORIO, J. W., JANSSENS, S. P., KATOVA, T., KITAKAZE, M., MERKELY, B., O'MEARA, E., SARAIVA, J. F. K., TERESHCHENKO, S. N., THIERER, J., VADUGANATHAN, M., VARDENY, O., VERMA, S., PHAM, V. N., WILDERÄNG, U., ZAOZERSKA, N., BACHUS, E., LINDHOLM, D., PETERSSON, M., LANGKILDE, A. M. &

INVESTIGATORS, D. T. C. A. 2022. Dapagliflozin in Heart Failure with Mildly Reduced or Preserved Ejection Fraction. *N Engl J Med*, 387, 1089-1098.

STAPLIN, N., HAYNES, R., JUDGE, P. K., WANNER, C., GREEN, J. B., EMBERSON, J., PREISS, D., MAYNE, K. J., NG, S. Y. A., SAMMONS, E., ZHU, D., HILL, M., STEVENS, W., WALLENDSZUS, K., BRENNER, S., CHEUNG, A. K., LIU, Z. H., LI, J., HOOI, L. S., LIU, W. J., KADOWAKI, T., NANGAKU, M., LEVIN, A., CHERNEY, D., MAGGIONI, A. P., PONTREMOLI, R., DEO, R., GOTO, S., ROSSELLO, X., TUTTLE, K. R., STEUBL, D., PETRINI, M., SEIDI, S., LANDRAY, M. J., BAIGENT, C., HERRINGTON, W. G., ABAT, S., ABD RAHMAN, R., ABDUL CADER, R., ABDUL HAFIDZ, M. I., ABDUL WAHAB, M. Z., ABDULLAH, N. K., ABDUL-SAMAD, T., ABE, M., ABRAHAM, N., ACHEAMPONG, S., ACHIRI, P., ACOSTA, J. A., ADELEKE, A., ADELL, V., ADEWUYI-DALTON, R., ADNAN, N., AFRICANO, A., AGHARAZII, M., AGUILAR, F., AGUILERA, A., AHMAD, M., AHMAD, M. K., AHMAD, N. A., AHMAD, N. H., AHMAD, N. I., AHMAD MISWAN, N., AHMAD ROSDI, H., AHMED, I., AHMED, S., AIELLO, J., AITKEN, A., AITSADI, R., AKER, S., AKIMOTO, S., AKINFOLARIN, A., AKRAM, S., ALBERICI, F., ALBERT, C., ALDRICH, L., ALEGATA, M., ALEXANDER, L., ALFARESS, S., ALHADJ ALI, M., ALI, A., ALICIC, R., ALIU, A., ALMARAZ, R., ALMASARWAH, R., ALMEIDA, J., ALOISI, A., AL-RABADI, L., ALSCHER, D., ALVAREZ, P., AL-ZEER, B., AMAT, M., AMBROSE, C., AMMAR, H., AN, Y., ANDRIACCIO, L., ANSU, K., APOSTOLIDI, A., ARAI, N., ARAKI, H., ARAKI, S., et al. 2023. Effects of empagliflozin on progression of chronic kidney disease: a prespecified secondary analysis from the empa-kidney trial. The Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology.

- TABINOR, M., ELPHICK, E., DUDSON, M., KWOK, C. S., LAMBIE, M. & DAVIES, S. J. 2018. Bioimpedance-defined overhydration predicts survival in end stage kidney failure (ESKF): systematic review and subgroup metaanalysis. *Sci Rep*, 8, 4441.
- TANGRI, N., STEVENS, L. A., GRIFFITH, J., TIGHIOUART, H., DJURDJEV, O., NAIMARK, D., LEVIN, A. & LEVEY, A. S. 2011. A predictive model for progression of chronic kidney disease to kidney failure. *JAMA*, 305, 1553-9.
- TANGVORAPHONKCHAI, K. & DAVENPORT, A. 2016. Pre-dialysis and postdialysis hydration status and N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide and survival in haemodialysis patients. *Int J Artif Organs*, 39, 282-7.
- THOMAS, G., XIE, D., CHEN, H. Y., ANDERSON, A. H., APPEL, L. J., BODANA, S., BRECKLIN, C. S., DRAWZ, P., FLACK, J. M., MILLER, E. R., STEIGERWALT, S. P., TOWNSEND, R. R., WEIR, M. R., WRIGHT, J. T., RAHMAN, M. & INVESTIGATORS, C. S. 2016. Prevalence and Prognostic Significance of Apparent Treatment Resistant Hypertension in Chronic Kidney Disease: Report From the Chronic Renal Insufficiency Cohort Study. *Hypertension*, 67, 387-96.
- THOMPSON, S., JAMES, M., WIEBE, N., HEMMELGARN, B., MANNS, B., KLARENBACH, S., TONELLI, M. & NETWORK, A. K. D. 2015. Cause of Death in Patients with Reduced Kidney Function. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 26, 2504-11.
- TIAN, N., YANG, X., GUO, Q., ZHOU, Q., YI, C., LIN, J., CAO, P., YE, H., CHEN, M. & YU, X. 2020. Bioimpedance Guided Fluid Management in Peritoneal Dialysis: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol*, 15, 685-694.

- TORRA, R., FURLANO, M., ORTIZ, A. & ARS, E. 2021. Genetic kidney diseases as an underrecognized cause of chronic kidney disease: the key role of international registry reports. *Clin Kidney J*, 14, 1879-1885.
- TSAI, Y.-C., CHIU, Y.-W., TSAI, J.-C., KUO, H.-T., HUNG, C.-C., HWANG, S.-J., CHEN, T.-H., KUO, M.-C. & CHEN, H.-C. 2015. Association of fluid overload with cardiovascular morbidity and all-cause mortality in stages 4 and 5 CKD. *Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology : CJASN*, 10, 39-46.
- TSAI, Y. C., TSAI, H. J., LEE, C. S., CHIU, Y. W., KUO, H. T., LEE, S. C., CHEN, T. H. & KUO, M. C. 2018. The interaction between N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide and fluid status in adverse clinical outcomes of late stages of chronic kidney disease. *PLoS One*, 13, e0202733.
- TUEGEL, C. & BANSAL, N. 2017. Heart failure in patients with kidney disease. *Heart*, 103, 1848-1853.
- UK KIDNEY ASSOCIATION. 2023. UKKA Guideline: SGLT-2i and Kidney Disease. Available: https://ukkidney.org/renal-association/news/sglt-2-inhibition-adults-kidney-disease.
- UNITED STATES RENAL DATA SYSTEM 2022. 2022 USRDS Annual Data Report: Epidemiology of kidney disease in the United States. National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases, Bethesda, MD.
- VALLE, R., ASPROMONTE, N., MILANI, L., PEACOCK, F. W., MAISEL, A. S., SANTINI, M. & RONCO, C. 2011. Optimizing fluid management in patients with acute decompensated heart failure (ADHF): the emerging role of combined measurement of body hydration status and brain natriuretic peptide (BNP) levels. *Heart Fail Rev*, 16, 519-29.
- VAN BIESEN, W., VERGER, C., HEAF, J., VRTOVSNIK, F., BRITTO, Z. M. L., DO, J. Y., PRIETO-VELASCO, M., MARTÍNEZ, J. P., CREPALDI, C., DE LOS RÍOS, T., GAULY, A., IHLE, K., RONCO, C. & GROUP, I.-P. S. 2019. Evolution Over Time of Volume Status and PD-Related Practice Patterns in an Incident Peritoneal Dialysis Cohort. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol*, 14, 882-893.
- VAN BIESEN, W., WILLIAMS, J. D., COVIC, A. C., FAN, S., CLAES, K., LICHODZIEJEWSKA-NIEMIERKO, M., VERGER, C., STEIGER, J., SCHODER, V., WABEL, P., GAULY, A., HIMMELE, R. & GROUP, E. S. 2011. Fluid status in peritoneal dialysis patients: the European Body Composition Monitoring (EuroBCM) study cohort. *PLoS One*, 6, e17148.
- VAN DER VELDE, M., MATSUSHITA, K., CORESH, J., ASTOR, B. C., WOODWARD, M., LEVEY, A., DE JONG, P., GANSEVOORT, R. T., LEVEY, A. S., DE JONG, P. E., EL-NAHAS, M., ECKARDT, K. U., KASISKE, B. L., NINOMIYA, T., CHALMERS, J., MACMAHON, S., TONELLI, M., HEMMELGARN, B., SACKS, F., CURHAN, G., COLLINS, A. J., LI, S., CHEN, S. C., HAWAII COHORT, K. P., LEE, B. J., ISHANI, A., NEATON, J., SVENDSEN, K., MANN, J. F., YUSUF, S., TEO, K. K., GAO, P., NELSON, R. G., KNOWLER, W. C., BILO, H. J., JOOSTEN, H., KLEEFSTRA, N., GROENIER, K. H., AUGUSTE, P., VELDHUIS, K., WANG, Y., CAMARATA, L., THOMAS, B., MANLEY, T. & CONSORTIUM, C. K. D. P. 2011. Lower estimated glomerular filtration rate and higher albuminuria are associated with all-cause and cardiovascular mortality. A collaborative meta-analysis of high-risk population cohorts. *Kidney Int*, 79, 1341-52.
- VAN RUITEN, C. C., SMITS, M. M., KOK, M. D., SERNÉ, E. H., VAN RAALTE, D. H., KRAMER, M. H. H., NIEUWDORP, M. & IJZERMAN, R. G. 2022.

Mechanisms underlying the blood pressure lowering effects of dapagliflozin, exenatide, and their combination in people with type 2 diabetes: a secondary analysis of a randomized trial. *Cardiovasc Diabetol*, 21, 63.

- VART, P., BUTT, J. H., JONGS, N., SCHECHTER, M., CHERTOW, G. M., WHEELER, D. C., PECOITS-FILHO, R., LANGKILDE, A. M., CORREA-ROTTER, R., ROSSING, P., MCMURRAY, J. J. V. & HEERSPINK, H. J. L. 2023. Efficacy and Safety of Dapagliflozin in Patients with Chronic Kidney Disease across the Spectrum of Frailty. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.
- VEGA, A., ABAD, S., MACÍAS, N., ARAGONCILLO, I., GARCÍA-PRIETO, A., LINARES, T., TORRES, E., HERNÁNDEZ, A. & LUÑO, J. 2018. Any grade of relative overhydration is associated with long-term mortality in patients with Stages 4 and 5 non-dialysis chronic kidney disease. *Clin Kidney J*, 11, 372-376.
- VIVANTE, A., GOLAN, E., TZUR, D., LEIBA, A., TIROSH, A., SKORECKI, K. & CALDERON-MARGALIT, R. 2012. Body mass index in 1.2 million adolescents and risk for end-stage renal disease. *Arch Intern Med*, 172, 1644-50.
- VRTOVSNIK, F., VERGER, C., VAN BIESEN, W., FAN, S., SHIN, S. K., RODRÍGUEZ, C., GARCIA MÉNDEZ, I., VAN DER SANDE, F. M., DE LOS RÍOS, T., IHLE, K., GAULY, A., RONCO, C., HEAF, J. & GROUP, I.-P. S. 2021. The impact of volume overload on technique failure in incident peritoneal dialysis patients. *Clin Kidney J*, 14, 570-577.
- WABEL, P., CHAMNEY, P., MOISSL, U. & JIRKA, T. 2009. Importance of wholebody bioimpedance spectroscopy for the management of fluid balance. *Blood Purif,* 27, 75-80.
- WABEL P, C. P., MOISSL U ET AL. Reproducibility of bioimpedance spectroscopy (BIS) for the assessment of body composition and dry weight., 2007. J Am Soc Nephrol 255.
- WABEL, P., MOISSL, U., CHAMNEY, P., JIRKA, T., MACHEK, P., PONCE, P., TABORSKY, P., TETTA, C., VELASCO, N., VLASAK, J., ZALUSKA, W. & WIZEMANN, V. 2008. Towards improved cardiovascular management: the necessity of combining blood pressure and fluid overload. *Nephrol Dial Transplant,* 23, 2965-71.
- WANG, Y. & GU, Z. 2021. Effect of bioimpedance-defined overhydration parameters on mortality and cardiovascular events in patients undergoing dialysis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Int Med Res, 49, 3000605211031063.
- WARD, L. C., ESSEX, T. & CORNISH, B. H. 2006. Determination of Cole parameters in multiple frequency bioelectrical impedance analysis using only the measurement of impedances. *Physiol Meas*, 27, 839-50.
- WIESKOTTEN, S., HEINKE, S., WABEL, P., MOISSL, U., BECKER, J., PIRLICH, M., KEYMLING, M. & ISERMANN, R. 2008. Bioimpedance-based identification of malnutrition using fuzzy logic. *Physiol Meas*, 29, 639-54.
- WILCOX, C. S. 2020. Antihypertensive and Renal Mechanisms of SGLT2 (Sodium-Glucose Linked Transporter 2) Inhibitors. *Hypertension*, 75, 894-901.
- WILKINSON, T. J., MIKSZA, J., ZACCARDI, F., LAWSON, C., NIXON, A. C., YOUNG, H. M. L., KHUNTI, K. & SMITH, A. C. 2022. Associations between frailty trajectories and cardiovascular, renal, and mortality outcomes in chronic kidney disease. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle, 13, 2426-2435.
- WIZEMANN, V., WABEL, P., CHAMNEY, P., ZALUSKA, W., MOISSL, U., RODE, C., MALECKA-MASALSKA, T. & MARCELLI, D. 2009. The mortality risk of

overhydration in haemodialysis patients. *Nephrol Dial Transplant,* 24, 1574-9.

- WORTHEN, G., VINSON, A., CARDINAL, H., DOUCETTE, S., GOGAN, N., GUNARATNAM, L., KEOUGH-RYAN, T., KIBERD, B. A., PRASAD, B., ROCKWOOD, K., SILLS, L., SURI, R. S., TANGRI, N., WALSH, M., WEST, K., YOHANNA, S. & TENNANKORE, K. 2021. Prevalence of Frailty in Patients Referred to the Kidney Transplant Waitlist. *Kidney360*, 2, 1287-1295.
- YE, N., JARDINE, M. J., OSHIMA, M., HOCKHAM, C., HEERSPINK, H. J. L., AGARWAL, R., BAKRIS, G., SCHUTTE, A. E., ARNOTT, C., CHANG, T. I., GÓRRIZ, J. L., CANNON, C. P., CHARYTAN, D. M., DE ZEEUW, D., LEVIN, A., MAHAFFEY, K. W., NEAL, B., POLLOCK, C., WHEELER, D. C., LUCA DI TANNA, G., CHENG, H., PERKOVIC, V. & NEUEN, B. L. 2021. Blood Pressure Effects of Canagliflozin and Clinical Outcomes in Type 2 Diabetes and Chronic Kidney Disease: Insights From the CREDENCE Trial. *Circulation*, 143, 1735-1749.
- YOON, H. E., KWON, Y. J., SHIN, S. J., LEE, S. Y., LEE, S., KIM, S. H., LEE, E. Y., SHIN, S. K. & KIM, Y. S. 2019. Bioimpedance spectroscopy-guided fluid management in peritoneal dialysis patients with residual kidney function: A randomized controlled trial. *Nephrology (Carlton)*, 24, 1279-1289.
- YU, C. M., WANG, L., CHAU, E., CHAN, R. H., KONG, S. L., TANG, M. O., CHRISTENSEN, J., STADLER, R. W. & LAU, C. P. 2005. Intrathoracic impedance monitoring in patients with heart failure: correlation with fluid status and feasibility of early warning preceding hospitalization. *Circulation*, 112, 841-8.
- YU, Z., CORESH, J., QI, G., GRAMS, M., BOERWINKLE, E., SNIEDER, H., TEUMER, A., PATTARO, C., KÖTTGEN, A., CHATTERJEE, N. & TIN, A. 2020. A bidirectional Mendelian randomization study supports causal effects of kidney function on blood pressure. *Kidney Int*, 98, 708-716.
- ZANNAD, F., FERREIRA, J. P., BUTLER, J., FILIPPATOS, G., JANUZZI, J. L., SUMIN, M., ZWICK, M., SAADATI, M., POCOCK, S. J., SATTAR, N., ANKER, S. D. & PACKER, M. 2022. Effect of empagliflozin on circulating proteomics in heart failure: mechanistic insights into the EMPEROR programme. *Eur Heart J*, 43, 4991-5002.
- ZHANG, Q., MA, Y., LIN, F., ZHAO, J. & XIONG, J. 2020. Frailty and mortality among patients with chronic kidney disease and end-stage renal disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int Urol Nephrol*, 52, 363-370.
- ZHANG, S., QI, Z., WANG, Y., SONG, D. & ZHU, D. 2023. Effect of sodiumglucose transporter 2 inhibitors on sarcopenia in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Front Endocrinol* (Lausanne), 14, 1203666.
- ZHU, P., HERRINGTON, W. G., HAYNES, R., EMBERSON, J., LANDRAY, M. J., SUDLOW, C. L. M., WOODWARD, M., BAIGENT, C., LEWINGTON, S. & STAPLIN, N. 2021. Conventional and Genetic Evidence on the Association between Adiposity and CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol, 32, 127-137.
- ZINMAN, B., WANNER, C., LACHIN, J. M., FITCHETT, D., BLUHMKI, E., HANTEL, S., MATTHEUS, M., DEVINS, T., JOHANSEN, O. E., WOERLE, H. J., BROEDL, U. C., INZUCCHI, S. E. & INVESTIGATORS, E.-R. O.
  2015. Empagliflozin, Cardiovascular Outcomes, and Mortality in Type 2 Diabetes. N Engl J Med, 373, 2117-28.

ZOCCALI, C., MOISSL, U., CHAZOT, C., MALLAMACI, F., TRIPEPI, G., ARKOSSY, O., WABEL, P. & STUARD, S. 2017. Chronic Fluid Overload and Mortality in ESRD. J Am Soc Nephrol, 28, 2491-2497.

ZOCCALI, C., TORINO, C., MALLAMACI, F., SARAFIDIS, P., PAPAGIANNI, A., EKART, R., HOJS, R., KLINGER, M., LETACHOWICZ, K., FLISER, D., SEILER-MUßLER, S., LIZZI, F., WIECEK, A., MISKIEWICZ, A., SIAMOPOULOS, K., BALAFA, O., SLOTKI, I., SHAVIT, L., STAVROULOPOULOS, A., COVIC, A., SIRIOPOL, D., MASSY, Z. A., SEIDOWSKY, A., BATTAGLIA, Y., MARTINEZ-CASTELAO, A., POLO-TORCAL, C., COUDERT-KRIER, M. J., ROSSIGNOL, P., FIACCADORI, E., REGOLISTI, G., HANNEDOUCHE, T., BACHELET, T., JAGER, K. J., DEKKER, F. W., TRIPEPI, R., TRIPEPI, G., GARGANI, L., SICARI, R., PICANO, E. & LONDON, G. M. 2021. A randomized multicenter trial on a lung ultrasound-guided treatment strategy in patients on chronic hemodialysis with high cardiovascular risk. *Kidney Int,* 100, 1325-1333.

# Effects of empagliflozin on fluid overload, weight and blood pressure in chronic kidney disease

# Dr Kaitlin Jane Mayne MBChB (Hons) MRCP PGCert

# **CHAPTER 9 APPENDICES**

| Appendix<br>number | Title  | Page |
|--------------------|--|------|
| 1                  | PROSPERO International prospective register of systematic reviews record           | 2    |
| 2                  | Literature search strategies   | 10   |
| 3                  | Quality in Prognostic Studies (QUIPS) tool for risk of bias                        | 17   |
| 4                  | BCM Substudy Training Slides   | 19   |
| 5                  | BCM Substudy Protocol Supplement   | 20   |
| 6                  | BCM Substudy Information Leaflet & Consent Form                                    | 26   |
| 7                  | BCM Substudy Instruction Leaflet   | 27   |
| 8                  | Local Research Coordinator BCM Substudy Training Signature Form                    | 29   |
| 9                  | BCM Substudy Datacard Collection & Data Extraction Internal<br>Operating Procedure | 30   |
| 10                 | BCM Substudy Data Transfer for Outcome Derivation Internal<br>Operating Procedure  | 43   |
| 11                 | BCM Substudy Data Analysis Plan  | 47   |
| 12                 | University of Glasgow Data Management Plan   | 73   |



Bioimpedance-measured fluid overload and cardiorenal outcomes in chronic kidney disease and heart failure: a systematic review

Review methods were amended after registration. Please see the revision notes and previous versions for detail.

#### Citation

Kaitlin Mayne, Richard Shemilt, Jennifer Lees, Paddy Mark, Will Herrington, David Keane, Richard Haynes. Bioimpedance-measured fluid overload and cardiorenal outcomes in chronic kidney disease and heart failure: a systematic review. PROSPERO 2022 CRD42022316312 Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?ID=CRD42022316312

# **Review question**

The purpose of this review is to investigate the association between fluid overload, measured by bioimpedance spectroscopy/analysis and mortality, cardiovascular disease and progression of chronic kidney disease (CKD) in those with chronic kidney disease and heart failure.

# Searches [1 change]

Sources: MEDLINE (Ovid), Embase (Ovid) and the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL).

Dates will be searched from the beginning of database records until February 2022.

No language restriction will be applied to the initial search. Efforts will be made to source potentially relevant papers in English or translation support used, where available, to assess eligibility for inclusion. If papers cannot be sourced in English and adequately assessed, they will be excluded.

Additional search strategy information can be found in the attached PDF document (link provided below).

# Types of study to be included [1 change]

The systematic review will include observational study designs (including prospective and retrospective cohort studies) as well as interventional studies/trials.

Case series/reports/narrative reviews will be excluded.

# Condition or domain being studied [1 change]

Fluid overload in people with chronic kidney disease or heart failure and its associations with mortality, cardiovascular outcomes and association with progression of CKD.

# Participants/population [1 change]

# NIHR National Institute for Health Research

Studies including adult participants aged over 18 years will be included. Studies of participants with and without CKD and heart failure will be included. CKD will be defined according to the KDIGO staging system and will include CKD stages 1-5, not yet requiring kidney replacement therapy (dialysis or transplant). Studies of people with functioning kidney transplants or on maintenance dialysis will be excluded.

(The protocol and therefore search strategy originally included dialysis populations however this was revised on the basis of the number of search results and due to existing systematic reviews in dialysis populations but not in non-dialysis CKD and heart failure).

# Intervention(s), exposure(s) [1 change]

The exposure to be measured is fluid overload, or overhydration, measured by bioimpedance techniques - bioimpedance spectroscopy or bioimpedance analysis. The exposure may be defined in different ways:

- Relative overhydration or overhydration index:
- o Ratio of overhydration to extracellular water, expressed as %
- $o \ge 7\%$  generally considered = relative overhydration (based on 90th percentile of healthy population)
- o Comparisons between overhydrated and non-overhydrated reported as hazard ratios
- Overhydration index expressed in litres:
- o Reported either as a continuous variable or in quantiles different cutpoints
- o Studies generally consider >1L = overhydration however one study defines overhydration as >0L
- o Comparisons between highest and lowest quantiles
- Other parameters may include:
- o Ratios of measured extracellular water (ECW), intracellular water (ICW), total body water (TBW)
- o Phase angle
- o Bioimpedance vector analysis measurements
- Studies may use single or repeated measurements of overhydration

o In studies using repeated measurements, all data will be extracted and the baseline measurement may be favoured (more recent measurements may have been affected by treatment)

o If repeated measurements are common to several studies, a sensitivity analysis will be performed comparing baseline versus latest measurements to assess the potential impact of treatment for overhydration on CKD progression.

# Comparator(s)/control [1 change]

Not required - expected to include largely observational studies. In interventional studies with a comparator, this is likely to be standard clinical fluid status assessment using clinical examination and dry weight assessment.

# Context [1 change]



The purpose of this review is to investigate the association between fluid overload, measured by bioimpedance spectroscopy or analysis and adverse cardiovascular and kidney outcomes. Fluid overload, firstly, is common in chronic kidney disease (CKD), particularly in the advanced stages of the disease, and has been found to predict mortality and cardiovascular morbidity. Studies have generally focused on the kidney failure population receiving kidney replacement therapy, specifically haemodialysis, a population more likely to have problematic fluid overload than those with early CKD. Bioimpedance spectroscopy has been specifically validated in kidney failure but is not routinely used in earlier stages of CKD. The significance of fluid overload in the earlier stages of CKD is less clear however it has been suggested that extracellular water excess is evident in very early CKD. Some studies have suggested a link between fluid overload and cardiorenal outcomes in early CKD however to our knowledge, this has not been addressed by existing systematic reviews. There is a need to understand the risk associated with fluid overload in all stages of CKD as a potentially modifiable risk factor for adverse cardiorenal outcomes. The heart failure population are another patient group in whom fluid overload is common but not well studied using bioimpedance techniques - we seek to summarise the existing literature.

# Main outcome(s) [2 changes]

- 1. All-cause mortality.
- 2. Cardiovascular outcomes: fatal and nonfatal incident cardiovascular disease requiring hospitalisation:
- Myocardial infarction
- Stroke
- Cardiovascular death
- Coronary heart disease including unstable angina and revascularisation procedures
- Hospitalisation for heart failure

Study definitions are expected to differ, especially in observational studies. For the purposes of this review, study definitions of cardiovascular events and composite outcomes will be used and heterogeneity assessed to consider whether aggregation is appropriate.

3. Progression of chronic kidney disease:

• Incident end-stage kidney disease requiring initiation of renal replacement therapy (RRT) (haemodialysis, peritoneal dialysis or renal transplantation including pre-emptive transplantation)

- By percentage decline in glomerular filtration rate (GFR) or eGFR (definitions vary eg.  $\geq 25$ ,  $\geq 30\%$ ,  $\geq 40\%$  or  $\geq 50\%$ )
- By decline in GFR or eGFR per year (definitions vary eg.  $\geq$ 3ml/min/1.73m2 per year)
- Doubling of serum creatinine from baseline
- Onset of self-reported persistent anuria (definitions vary eg. urine volume <100mL/24 hours)

Study definitions are expected to differ, especially in observational studies. All of the above will be summarised and heterogeneity assessed to consider whether aggregation is appropriate.

#### Measures of effect

Hazard ratios for risk of death, cardiovascular outcomes or kidney disease progression.

#### Additional outcome(s)

# NIHR National Institute for Health Research

Depending on availability of data, secondary outcomes may include hospitalisations or urgent visits for heart failure or other. Data may also be summarised on related cardiac markers such as NTpro-BNP and echocardiographic/magnetic resonance markers of cardiac function, where reported.

# Data extraction (selection and coding) [1 change]

Two reviewers will independently screen studies for inclusion, blinded to each other's decisions. Studies which are clearly not relevant to the review question will be removed based on title alone. Abstracts will then be screened to identify studies for full-text review. Reviewers' included studies will be compared and where there is disagreement, this will be resolved by discussion or, where necessary, a third author will be consulted. Hand searches of reference lists of eligible studies and review articles will be performed and any further identified studies reviewed for eligibility. Unpublished studies will not be sought and only full-text papers will be screened (conference abstracts excluded), studies with only abstracts available will not be included. If eligibility is unclear, contact with investigators will be attempted and contribution acknowledged accordingly. Papers which are not available in English will be excluded. Searches will be stored within each platform (Ovid and CENTRAL) to allow them to be re-run prior to final analysis and/or repeated in future. Covidence software will be used to import the search results directly and remove duplicates. Title and abstract screening, full text review and data extraction will all be performed within Covidence by two reviewers, independently.

Covidence allows generation of a bespoke data extraction form which the same two reviewers will use to independently extract relevant data. Data will be extracted on study design, methodology (including bioimpedance technique studied), participant demographics, baseline characteristics, kidney disease progression and how this is defined/measured.

# Risk of bias (quality) assessment [1 change]

Two reviewers will independently assess the risk of bias for each study individually and then compare their assessments, with disagreement resolved by discussion (involvement of a third reviewer if consensus cannot be reached). Quality in Prognostic Studies (QUIPS) tool will be used to assess risk of bias for cohort studies and the Cochrane risk-of-bias 2 tool used for randomised trials. This will include assessment of the following:

Cohort studies (QUIPS)

- 1. Study participation
- 2. Study attrition
- 3. Prognostic factor measurement
- 4. Outcome measure
- 5. Study confounding
- 6. Statistical analysis reporting
- Randomised trials (Cochrane ROB 2)
- Study design randomisation/allocation process, deviations from intended intervention
- Analysis appropriate analysis to estimate effect of intervention, pre-specified data analysis plan
- Outcome completeness of follow-up data/missingness, appropriateness of outcome ascertainment method, influence of allocation

No validated threshold score exists for the QUIPS. Trials assessed as high risk of bias according to the Cochrane risk-ofbias assessment will be de-emphasised (tabulated but excluded from meta-analysis).

# Strategy for data synthesis [1 change]

If sufficiently similar studies (in outcome measurement) are identified, meta-analysis may be useful. A statistical analysis plan will be developed depending on the available data and will consider the most appropriate methods to allow aggregation of data and testing for between study differences. We anticipate conducting meta-analyses for the mortality and kidney disease progression outcomes, cardiovascular outcomes will depend on search results/data availability. A proposed plan is outlined here:

Fixed-effect and random-effects models will be assessed, depending on the heterogeneity of included studies, assessed using the I<sup>2</sup> statistic. Hazard ratios (and 95% confidence intervals) and odds ratios will be the preferred estimates of effect size. Statistical analysis will depend on outcome definition and measurement in included studies and statistician advice will be sought if combining binary and continuous outcome data in meta-analysis is deemed necessary. Meta-analyses may include:

- Time-to-event analyses for progression to ESKD requiring renal replacement therapy
- Logistic regression models for initiation of renal replacement therapy

• Linear regression for changes in eGFR or serum creatinine using mean difference (or standardised mean difference if creatinine reported using different scales)

o Where change-from-baseline measurements are reported (eg. ANCOVA), these will be combined in meta-analysis using the generic inverse-variance method

o If data are skewed and studies not sufficiently large to address this, transformation will be applied

Regression analyses may will be performed to assess additional exposures/baseline characteristics associated with the exposure (fluid overload) and outcome where sufficient data exists. Results will be summarised in tables and forest plots created to illustrate results. Trim and fill analysis and forest plots will be used to assess publication bias. All analyses will be conducted using Stata software.

# Analysis of subgroups or subsets

If sufficient data are available, subgroup analysis will be performed by:

- CKD status: absence of CKD; by CKD stage (1-4 and stage 5 not yet requiring RRT); ESKD requiring dialysis
- CKD aetiology
- Diabetes mellitus status
- History of cardiovascular disease.

# Contact details for further information

Kaitlin Mayne kaitlin.mayne@ndph.ox.ac.uk

# Organisational affiliation of the review

University of Oxford

University of Glasgow

https://www.ndph.ox.ac.uk/



https://www.gla.ac.uk/researchinstitutes/icams/

# Review team members and their organisational affiliations [1 change]

Dr Kaitlin Mayne. University of Oxford Dr Richard Shemilt. University of Glasgow Dr Jennifer Lees. University of Glasgow Dr Paddy Mark. University of Glasgow Assistant/Associate Professor Will Herrington. University of Oxford Dr David Keane. Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust Professor Richard Haynes. University of Oxford

# Type and method of review

Epidemiologic, Meta-analysis, Systematic review

# Anticipated or actual start date

01 February 2022

#### Anticipated completion date

01 October 2022

#### Funding sources/sponsors

No funding required for the review.

# Conflicts of interest [1 change]

KM, WH & RH acknowledge institutional funding and sponsorship from Boehringer Ingelheim for the EMPA-KIDNEY trial. Fresenius Medical Care have provided body composition monitor (BCM) devices for use in EMPA-KIDNEY. Yes

#### Language

English

# Country

England, Scotland

# Published protocol

https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPEROFILES/316312\_PROTOCOL\_20220622.pdf



# Stage of review [1 change]

Review Completed published

# Details of final report/publication(s) or preprints if available [1 change]

Mayne KJ, Shemilt R, Keane DF, Lees JS, Mark PB, Herrington WG. Bioimpedance Indices of Fluid Overload and Cardiorenal Outcomes in Heart Failure and Chronic Kidney Disease: a Systematic Review. J Card Fail. 2022 Nov;28(11):1628-1641. doi: 10.1016/j.cardfail.2022.08.005. Epub 2022 Aug 28. PMID: 36038013; PMCID: PMC7613800.

https://www.onlinejcf.com/article/S1071-9164(22)00684-4/fulltext

#### Subject index terms status

Subject indexing assigned by CRD

#### Subject index terms

Adult; Body Fluids; Cardiovascular Diseases; Dielectrc Spectroscopy; Disease Progression; Electric Impedance; Heart Failure; Humans; Mortality; Organism Hydration Status; Renal Insufficiency, Chronic

# Date of registration in PROSPERO

16 March 2022

Date of first submission

11 March 2022

# Stage of review at time of this submission [2 changes]

| Stage   | Started | Completed |
|---|---------|-----------|
| Preliminary searches  | Yes     | Yes       |
| Piloting of the study selection process                         | Yes     | Yes       |
| Formal screening of search results against eligibility criteria | Yes     | Yes       |
| Data extraction   | Yes     | Yes       |
| Risk of bias (quality) assessment                               | Yes     | Yes       |
| Data analysis   | Yes     | Yes       |

# Revision note

Updated status to completed and details of publication provided



The record owner confirms that the information they have supplied for this submission is accurate and complete and they understand that deliberate provision of inaccurate information or omission of data may be construed as scientific misconduct.

The record owner confirms that they will update the status of the review when it is completed and will add publication details in due course.

Versions

16 March 2022

16 March 2022

23 June 2022

18 February 2023

# Fluid overload by bioimpedance methods in chronic kidney disease and heart failure - mortality, cardiovascular and kidney outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis

Kaitlin J. Mayne <sup>1-2</sup>, Richard Shemilt <sup>2</sup>, Jennifer S. Lees <sup>2</sup>, Patrick B. Mark <sup>2</sup>, William G. Herrington <sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Nuffield Department of Population Health, University of Oxford

<sup>2</sup> Institute of Cardiovascular & Medical Sciences, University of Glasgow

# MEDLINE (Ovid) search strategy

- 1. overhydration.ab,ti.
- 2. hyperhydration.ab,ti.
- 3. hypervol?emia.ab,ti.
- 4. fluid overload.ab,ti.
- 5. fluid status.ab,ti.
- 6. volume overload.ab,ti.
- 7. volume status.ab,ti.
- 8. (dry adj2 weight).ab,ti.
- 9. hydration.ab,ti.
- 10. congestion.ab,ti.
- 11. body composition.ab,ti.
- 12. bioimpedance.ab,ti.
- 13. bio-impedance.ab,ti.
- 14. bioelectrical impedance.ab,ti.
- 15. bio-electrical impedance.ab,ti.
- 16. extracellular.ab,ti.
- 17. phase angle.ab,ti.
- 18. exp electric impedance/
- 19. 1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10
- 20. 11 or 12 or 13 or 14 or 15 or 16 or 17 or 18
- 21. 19 and 20
- 22. (cardiovascular adj2 outcome\$).ab,ti.
- 23. (cardiovascular adj2 event\$).ab,ti.
- 24. (cardiovascular adj2 endpoint\$).ab,ti.
- 25. (cardiovascular adj2 disease\$).ab,ti.
- 26. (cardiac adj2 outcome\$).ab,ti.
- 27. (cardiac adj2 event\$).ab,ti.
- 28. (cardiac adj2 endpoint\$).ab,ti.
- 29. (cardiac adj2 disease\$).ab,ti.
- 30. (coronary adj2 disease\$).ab,ti.
- 31. isch?emic heart disease\$.ab,ti.
- 32. myocardial infarction.ab,ti.
- 33. myocardial isch?emia.ab,ti.
- 34. acute coronary syndrome.ab,ti.
- 35. heart failure.ab,ti.
- 36. cardiac failure.ab,ti.
- 37. stroke.ab,ti.
- 38. cerebrovascular accident.ab,ti.
- 39. cerebrovascular disease.ab,ti.
- 40. survival.ab,ti.
- 41. mortality.ab,ti.
- 42. death.ab,ti.

- 43. exp cardiovascular diseases/
- 44. exp heart diseases/
- 45. exp coronary disease/
- 46. exp myocardial ischemia/
- 47. exp heart failure/
- 48. exp stroke/
- 49. exp survival/
- 50. exp mortality/
- 51. exp death/
- 52. 22 or 23 or 24 or 25 or 26 or 27 or 28 or 29 or 30 or 31 or 32 or 33 or 34 or 35 or 36 or 37 or 38 or 39 or 40 or 41 or 42 or 43 or 44 or 45 or 46 or 47 or 48 or 49 or 50 or 51
- 53. ((egfr or gfr) adj slope).ab,ti.
- 54. ((egfr or gfr) adj3 decline).ab,ti.
- 55. ((egfr or gfr) adj3 change).ab,ti.
- 56. glomerular filtration rate slope.ab,ti.
- 57. (glomerular filtration rate adj3 decline).ab,ti.
- 58. (glomerular filtration rate adj3 change).ab,ti.
- 59. (kidney disease adj2 progression).ab,ti.
- 60. end stage kidney disease.ab,ti.
- 61. (kidney adj3 failure).ab,ti.
- 62. (kidney adj3 outcome\$).ab,ti.
- 63. (kidney adj3 event\$).ab,ti.
- 64. (kidney adj3 endpoint\$).ab,ti.
- 65. (renal disease adj2 progression).ab,ti.
- 66. end stage renal disease.ab,ti.
- 67. (renal adj3 failure).ab,ti.
- 68. (renal adj3 outcome\$).ab,ti.
- 69. (renal adj3 event\$).ab,ti.
- 70. (renal adj3 endpoint\$).ab,ti.
- 71. renal insufficiency.ab,ti.
- 72. anuria.ab,ti.
- 73. residual kidney function.ab,ti.
- 74. residual renal function.ab,ti.
- 75. (doubl\$ adj3 creatinine).ab,ti.
- 76. renal replacement.ab,ti.
- 77. kidney replacement.ab,ti.
- 78. dialysis.ab,ti.
- 79. h?emodialysis.ab,ti.
- 80. renal transplant\$.ab,ti.
- 81. kidney transplant\$.ab,ti.
- 82. exp glomerular filtration rate/
- 83. exp renal insufficiency, chronic/
- 84. exp creatinine/
- 85. exp renal dialysis/
- 86. exp kidney transplantation/
- 87. 53 or 54 or 55 or 56 or 57 or 58 or 59 or 60 or 61 or 62 or 63 or 64 or 65 or 66 or 67 or 68 or
- 69 or 70 or 71 or 72 or 73 or 74 or 75 or 76 or 77 or 78 or 79 or 80 or 81 or 82 or 83 or 84 or 85 or 86
- 88. 52 or 87
- 89. 21 and 88

#### FINAL EMBASE 140322 EXPLODING ALL

- 1. overhydration.ab,ti.
- 2. hyperhydration.ab,ti.
- 3. hypervol?emia.ab,ti.
- 4. fluid overload.ab,ti.
- 5. fluid status.ab,ti.
- 6. volume overload.ab,ti.
- 7. volume status.ab,ti.
- 8. (dry adj2 weight).ab,ti.
- 9. hydration.ab,ti.
- 10. congestion.ab,ti.
- 11. body composition.ab,ti.
- 12. bioimpedance.ab,ti.
- 13. bio-impedance.ab,ti.
- 14. bioelectrical impedance.ab,ti.
- 15. bio-electrical impedance.ab,ti.
- 16. extracellular.ab,ti.
- 17. phase angle.ab,ti.
- 18. exp impedance/
- 19. exp body water/ or exp total body water/
- 20. exp hypervolemia/
- 21. 1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10
- 22. 11 or 12 or 13 or 14 or 15 or 16 or 17 or 18 or 19 or 20
- 23. 21 and 22
- 24. (cardiovascular adj2 outcome\$).ab,ti.
- 25. (cardiovascular adj2 event\$).ab,ti.
- 26. (cardiovascular adj2 endpoint\$).ab,ti.
- 27. (cardiovascular adj2 disease\$).ab,ti.
- 28. (cardiac adj2 outcome\$).ab,ti.
- 29. (cardiac adj2 event\$).ab,ti.
- 30. (cardiac adj2 endpoint\$).ab,ti.
- 31. (cardiac adj2 disease\$).ab,ti.
- 32. (coronary adj2 disease\$).ab,ti.
- 33. isch?emic heart disease\$.ab,ti.
- 34. myocardial infarction.ab,ti.
- 35. myocardial isch?emia.ab,ti.
- 36. acute coronary syndrome.ab,ti.
- 37. heart failure.ab,ti.
- 38. cardiac failure.ab,ti.
- 39. stroke.ab,ti.
- 40. cerebrovascular accident.ab,ti.
- 41. cerebrovascular disease.ab,ti.
- 42. survival.ab,ti.
- 43. mortality.ab,ti.
- 44. death.ab,ti.
- 45. exp cardiovascular disease/
- 46. exp heart disease/

- 47. exp coronary artery disease/
- 48. exp heart muscle ischemia/
- 49. exp heart failure/
- 50. exp cerebrovascular accident/
- 51. exp survival/
- 52. exp mortality/
- 53. exp death/
- 54. ((egfr or gfr) adj slope).ab,ti.
- 55. ((egfr or gfr) adj3 decline).ab,ti.
- 56. ((egfr or gfr) adj3 change).ab,ti.
- 57. glomerular filtration rate slope.ab,ti.
- 58. (glomerular filtration rate adj3 decline).ab,ti.
- 59. (glomerular filtration rate adj3 change).ab,ti.
- 60. (kidney disease adj2 progression).ab,ti.
- 61. end stage kidney disease.ab,ti.
- 62. (kidney adj3 failure).ab,ti.
- 63. (kidney adj3 outcome\$).ab,ti.
- 64. (kidney adj3 event\$).ab,ti.
- 65. (kidney adj3 endpoint\$).ab,ti.
- 66. (renal disease adj2 progression).ab,ti.
- 67. end stage renal disease.ab,ti.
- 68. (renal adj3 failure).ab,ti.
- 69. (renal adj3 outcome\$).ab,ti.
- 70. (renal adj3 event\$).ab,ti.
- 71. (renal adj3 endpoint\$).ab,ti.
- 72. renal insufficiency.ab,ti.
- 73. anuria.ab,ti.
- 74. residual kidney function.ab,ti.
- 75. residual renal function.ab,ti.
- 76. (doubl\$ adj3 creatinine).ab,ti.
- 77. renal replacement.ab,ti.
- 78. kidney replacement.ab,ti.
- 79. dialysis.ab,ti.
- 80. h?emodialysis.ab,ti.
- 81. renal transplant\$.ab,ti.
- 82. kidney transplant\$.ab,ti.
- 83. exp glomerulus filtration rate/
- 84. exp kidney failure/ not acute kidney failure/
- 85. exp creatinine blood level/
- 86. exp hemodialysis/
- 87. exp peritoneal dialysis/
- 88. exp kidney graft/

89.24 or 25 or 26 or 27 or 28 or 29 or 30 or 31 or 32 or 33 or 34 or 35 or 36 or 37 or 38 or 39 or40 or 41 or 42 or 43 or 44 or 45 or 46 or 47 or 48 or 49 or 50 or 51 or 52 or 53

90. 54 or 55 or 56 or 57 or 58 or 59 or 60 or 61 or 62 or 63 or 64 or 65 or 66 or 67 or 68 or 69 or 70 or 71 or 72 or 73 or 74 or 75 or 76 or 77 or 78 or 79 or 80 or 81 or 82 or 83 or 84 or 85 or 86 or 87 or 88

91. 89 or 90

# 92. 23 and 91

- 93. conference\*.pt.
- 94. 92 and 93
- 95. 92 not 93

#### CENTRAL 140322

- #1 (overhydration):ab,ti
- #2 (hyperhydration):ab,ti
- #3 (hypervol?emia):ab,ti
- #4 (fluid overload):ab,ti
- #5 (fluid status):ab,ti
- #6 (volume overload):ab,ti
- #7 (volume status):ab,ti
- #8 (dry NEAR/2 weight):ab,ti
- #9 (hydration):ab,ti
- #10 (congestion):ab,ti
- #11 (body composition):ab,ti
- #12 (bioimpedance):ab,ti
- #13 (bio-impedance):ab,ti
- #14 (bioelectrical impedance):ab,ti
- #15 (bio-electrical impedance):ab,ti
- #16 (extracellular):ab,ti
- #17 (phase angle):ab,ti
- #18 MeSH descriptor: [Electric Impedance] explode all trees
- #19 MeSH descriptor: [Body Water] explode all trees
- #20 #1 OR #2 OR #3 OR #4 OR #5 OR #6 OR #7 OR #8 OR #9 OR #10
- #21 #11 OR #12 OR #13 OR #14 OR #15 OR #16 OR #17 OR #18 OR #19
- #22 #20 AND #21
- #23 (cardiovascular NEAR/2 outcome\*):ab,ti
- #24 (cardiovascular NEAR/2 event\*):ab,ti
- #25 (cardiovascular NEAR/2 endpoint\*):ab,ti
- #26 (cardiovascular NEAR/2 disease\*):ab,ti
- #27 (cardiac NEAR/2 outcome\*):ab,ti
- #28 (cardiac NEAR/2 event\*):ab,ti
- #29 (cardiac NEAR/2 endpoint\*):ab,ti
- #30 (cardiac NEAR/2 disease\*):ab,ti
- #31 (coronary NEAR/2 disease\*):ab,ti
- #32 (isch?emic heart disease\*):ab,ti
- #33 (myocardial infarction):ab,ti
- #34 (myocardial isch?emia):ab,ti
- #35 (acute coronary syndrome):ab,ti
- #36 (heart failure):ab,ti
- #37 (cardiac failure):ab,ti
- #38 (stroke):ab,ti
- #39 (cerebrovascular accident):ab,ti
- #40 (cerebrovascular disease):ab,ti
- #41 (survival):ab,ti
- #42 (mortality):ab,ti
- #43 (death):ab,ti
- #44 MeSH descriptor: [Cardiovascular Diseases] explode all trees
- #45 MeSH descriptor: [Heart Diseases] explode all trees
- #46 MeSH descriptor: [Coronary Artery Disease] explode all trees
- #47 MeSH descriptor: [Myocardial Ischemia] explode all trees
- #48 MeSH descriptor: [Heart Failure] explode all trees
- #49 MeSH descriptor: [Stroke] explode all trees
#50 MeSH descriptor: [Survival] explode all trees

#51 MeSH descriptor: [Mortality] explode all trees

#52 MeSH descriptor: [Death] explode all trees 222

#53 #23 OR #24 OR #25 OR #26 OR #27 OR #28 OR #29 OR #30 OR #31 OR #32 OR #33 OR #34

OR #35 OR #36 OR #37 OR #38 OR #39 OR #40 OR #41 OR #42 OR #43 OR #44 OR #45 OR #46 OR #47 OR #48 OR #49 OR #50 OR #51 OR #52

- #54 ((egfr or gfr) NEXT slope):ab,ti
- #55 ((egfr or gfr) NEAR/3 decline):ab,ti
- #56 ((egfr or gfr) NEAR/3 change):ab,ti
- #57 (glomerular filtration rate slope):ab,ti
- #58 (glomerular filtration rate NEAR/3 decline):ab,ti
- #59 (glomerular filtration rate NEAR/3 change):ab,ti
- #60 (kidney disease NEAR/2 progression):ab,ti
- #61 (end stage kidney disease):ab,ti
- #62 (kidney NEAR/3 failure):ab,ti
- #63 (kidney NEAR/3 outcome\*):ab,ti
- #64 (kidney NEAR/3 event\*):ab,ti
- #65 (kidney NEAR/3 endpoint\*):ab,ti
- #66 (renal disease NEAR/2 progression):ab,ti
- #67 (end stage renal disease):ab,ti
- #68 (renal NEAR/3 failure):ab,ti
- #69 (renal NEAR/3 outcome\*):ab,ti
- #70 (renal NEAR/3 event\*):ab,ti
- #71 (renal NEAR/3 endpoint\*):ab,ti
- #72 (renal insufficiency):ab,ti
- #73 (anuria):ab,ti
- #74 (residual kidney function):ab,ti
- #75 (residual renal function):ab,ti
- #76 (doubl\* NEAR/3 creatinine):ab,ti
- #77 (renal replacement):ab,ti
- #78 (kidney replacement):ab,ti
- #79 (dialysis):ab,ti
- #80 (h?emodialysis):ab,ti
- #81 (renal transplant\*):ab,ti
- #82 (kidney transplant\*):ab,ti
- #83 MeSH descriptor: [Glomerular Filtration Rate] explode all trees
- #84 MeSH descriptor: [Renal Insufficiency, Chronic] explode all trees
- #85 MeSH descriptor: [Creatinine] explode all trees
- #86 MeSH descriptor: [Renal Dialysis] explode all trees
- #87 MeSH descriptor: [Kidney Transplantation] explode all trees

#88 #54 OR #55 OR #56 OR #57 OR #58 OR #59 OR #60 OR #61 OR #62 OR #63 OR #64 OR #65

OR #66 OR #67 OR #68 OR #69 OR #70 OR #71 OR #72 OR #73 OR #74 OR #75 OR #76 OR #77 OR #78

- OR #79 OR #80 OR #81 OR #82 OR #83 OR #84 OR #85 OR #86 OR #87
- #89 #53 OR #88
- #90 #22 AND #89
- #91 (conference\*):pt
- #93 #90 NOT #91

# Quality in Prognostic Studies (QUIPS) tool for risk of bias

1. Study Participation: The study sample adequately represents the population of interest

Consider the following:

a) The source population or population of interest is adequately described for key characteristics (CKD/HF history/eGFR, proteinuria, diabetes, CVD).

b) The sampling frame and recruitment are adequately described, including methods to identify the sample sufficient to limit potential bias (number and type used, e.g., referral patterns in health care)

c) Period of recruitment is adequately described

d) Place of recruitment (setting and geographic location) are adequately described

e) "Inclusion and exclusion criteria are adequately described (e.g., including explicit diagnostic criteria or "zero time" description)."

f) There is adequate participation in the study by eligible individuals

g) The baseline study sample (i.e., individuals entering the study) is adequately described for key characteristics (CKD/HF history/eGFR, proteinuria, diabetes, CVD).

**High risk of bias**: The relationship between fluid overload and outcome is very likely to be different for participants and eligible nonparticipants

**Moderate risk of bias**: The relationship between fluid overload and outcome may be different for participants and eligible nonparticipants

Low risk of bias: The relationship between fluid overload and outcome is unlikely to be different for participants and eligible nonparticipants

**2. Study Attrition:** The study data available (i.e., participants not lost to follow-up) adequately represent the study sample

Consider the following:

a) Response rate (i.e., proportion of study sample completing the study and providing outcome data) is adequate.

b) Attempts to collect information on participants who dropped out of the study are described.

c) Reasons for loss to follow-up are provided.

d) Participants lost to follow-up are adequately described for key characteristics (CKD/HF history/eGFR, proteinuria, diabetes, CVD).

e) There are no important differences between key characteristics (CKD/HF history/eGFR, proteinuria, diabetes, CVD) and outcomes in participants who completed the study and those who did not.

**High risk of bias**: The relationship between fluid overload and outcome is very likely to be different for completing and noncompleting participants

**Moderate risk of bias**: The relationship between fluid overload and outcome may be different for completing and noncompleting participants

Low risk of bias: The relationship between fluid overload and outcome is unlikely to be different for completing and noncompleting participants

**3. Prognostic Factor (fluid overload) Measurement**: The prognostic factor (fluid overload) is measured in a similar way for all participants

Consider the following:

a) A clear definition or description of fluid overload measurement is provided (method, device, parameter used, timing of measurement).

b) Method of fluid overload measurement is adequately valid and reliable to limit misclassification bias

c) Continuous variables are reported or appropriate cut-points (i.e., not data-dependent) are used.

d) The method and setting of measurement of fluid overload is the same for all study participants.

e) Adequate proportion of the study sample has complete data for fluid overload variable.

f) Appropriate methods of imputation are used for missing fluid overload data.

**High risk of bias**: The measurement of fluid overload is very likely to be different for different levels of the outcome **Moderate risk of bias**: The measurement of fluid overload may be different for different levels of the outcome **Low risk of bias**: The measurement of fluid overload is unlikely to be different for different levels of the outcome

4. Outcome(s) Measurement: The outcome(s) of interest is measured in a similar way for all participants

Consider the following:

a) A clear definition of outcome is provided, including duration of follow-up and level and extent of the outcome construct.

b) The method of outcome measurement used is adequately valid and reliable to limit misclassification bias

# Appendix Page 17 of 75

c) The method and setting of outcome measurement is the same for all study participants.

**High risk of bias**: The measurement of the outcome is very likely to be different by the baseline level of fluid overload **Moderate risk of bias**: The measurement of the outcome may be different by the baseline level of fluid overload **Low risk of bias**: The measurement of the outcome is unlikely to be different by the baseline level of fluid overload

5. Study Confounding: Important potential confounding factors are appropriately accounted for

Consider the following:

a) All important confounders (eGFR/CKD stage, HF type/EF, diabetes, proteinuria, BP etc), are measured.

b) Clear definitions of the important confounders measured are provided

c) Measurement of all important confounders is adequately valid and reliable

d) The method and setting of confounding measurement are the same for all study participants.

e) Appropriate methods are used if imputation is used for missing confounder data.

f) Important potential confounders are accounted for in the study design (e.g., matching for key variables, stratification, or initial assembly of comparable groups).

g) Important potential confounders are accounted for in the analysis (i.e., appropriate adjustment).

**High risk of bias**: The observed effect of fluid overload on the outcome is very likely to be distorted by another factor related to fluid overload and outcome

**Moderate risk of bias**: The observed effect of fluid overload on outcome may be distorted by another factor related to fluid overload and outcome

Low risk of bias: The observed effect of fluid overload on outcome is unlikely to be distorted by another factor related to fluid overload and outcome

6. Statistical Analysis and Reporting: The statistical analysis is appropriate, and all primary outcomes are reported

a) There is sufficient presentation of data to assess the adequacy of the analysis.

b) The strategy for model building (i.e., inclusion of variables in the statistical model) is appropriate and is based on a conceptual framework or model.

c) The selected statistical model is adequate for the design of the study.

d) There is no selective reporting of results.

High risk of bias: The reported results are very likely to be spurious or biased related to analysis or reporting Moderate risk of bias: The reported results may be spurious or biased related to analysis or reporting Low risk of bias: The reported results are unlikely to be spurious or biased related to analysis or reporting













## EMPA-KIDNEY Body Composition Measurement Substudy

| Study Title: A       | nulticentre international randomized parallel group double-blind placebo-  |
|----------------------|--|
| CC                   | ntrolled clinical trial of EMPAgliflozin once daily to assess cardio-renal |
| 01                   | tcomes in patients with chronic KIDNEY disease                             |
| Sponsor protocol num | <b>er:</b> 1245-0137   |
| Protocol identifier: | CTSUEMPA-KIDNEY1.4 2018-04-25  |
| EudraCT number:      | 2017-002971-24   |

#### Summary

This document provides the rationale and design of an EMPA-KIDNEY substudy to measure body composition in a subset of the 5000 EMPA-KIDNEY participants using bioimpedenace spectroscopy. The substudy does not alter the main protocol in any respect.

#### Background

In the EMPA-REG OUTCOME trial, empagliflozin 10-25mg was shown to reduce the composite outcome of death from cardiovascular causes, nonfatal myocardial infarction, or nonfatal stroke by 14% compared to placebo (hazard ratio [HR] 0.86, 0.74-0.99) in 7020 people with type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and prior atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease.<sup>1</sup> This effect was in large part the result of a highly significant 38% (HR 0.62, 0.49-0.77) reduction in cardiovascular death. The pre-specified secondary outcome of hospitalization for heart failure was reduced by 35% (HR 0.65, 0.50-0.85).<sup>1</sup> Exploration of EMPA-REG OUTCOME data has suggested that the increase in haematocrit caused by empagliflozin, a possible surrogate for reductions in plasma volume, was the intermediate clinical parameter with the largest mediating effect on the reduction in cardiovascular death.<sup>2</sup> These observations may have particular relevance in people with chronic kidney disease (CKD) who have disturbed salt and water homeostasis which may cause chronic fluid overload which in turn contributes to the observed excess of structural heart disease and heart failure.<sup>3</sup>

In EMPA-REG OUTCOME, allocation to empagliflozin led to a sustained loss of weight (of about 2Kg from a mean of 86Kg) and a 2cm reduction in waist circumference (from a mean of 105cm).<sup>1</sup> How much of this weight change reflected reduction in total body water versus adipose tissue is unknown. A previous trial suggested that, after 2 years, weight loss resulting from SGLT-2 inhibition in people with T2DM appears almost completely attributable to reduced adipose tissue (measured using dual energy X-ray absorptiometry).<sup>5</sup> Lower kidney function substantially reduces glycosuric effects of SGLT-2 inhibition, and so reduced calorie loss at lower levels of kidney function may attenuate any loss of adipose tissue. However, no attenuation of the weight-lowering effects of SGLT-2 inhibition

EMPA-KIDNEY Body composition measurement substudy justification and design (EDMS 6251) V1.0 - 02-MAR-2019

#### Appendix Page 20 of 75



was identified in those with CKD compared to those without (within the range of kidney function studied to date).<sup>6-8</sup> Furthermore, meta-analysis of three large placebo-controlled trials suggests effects of SGLT-2 inhibition on heart failure are at least as large among those with reduced kidney function.<sup>9</sup> Part of the preserved effect of SGLT-2 inhibition on body weight and heart failure in CKD may therefore result from reductions in excess extracellular water (ECW) being preserved in those with CKD, despite attenuated effects on glycosuria. This raises a hypothesis that the effects of empagliflozin on excess ECW and fat levels may be different in people with different levels of kidney function.

Figure 1: Effect of SGLT-2 inhibition versus placebo on hospitalization for heart failure, by baseline kidney function (meta-analysis EMPA-REG OUTCOME, CANVAS and DECLARE)<sup>9</sup>



Trend across subgroups p=0.03

Bioimpedance spectroscopy can assess different resistance patterns in the body which are affected by the amount of water present. Low frequency current exclusively passes extracellularly, whereas high frequencies can pass through all body water compartments. Comparing spectroscopy readings over a range of frequencies it is possible to derive total body water in Litres and separately the volume of ECW. From such measurements it is also possible to estimate normally hydrated adipose tissue and lean tissue mass, from which an index referred to as "Fluid Overload" (or overhydration) can be algorithmically calculated.<sup>10</sup> Sustained "Fluid Overload" measured by bioimpedance spectroscopy has been associated with increased risk of mortality among people on dialysis,<sup>4</sup> and some dialysis units are now using bioimpedance spectroscopy measurements clinically to guide patients' fluid management and dialysis prescription.

At each Follow-up Visit, EMPA-KIDNEY participants will have their weight measured and central plasma/serum blood samples collected. At Randomization, 2 & 18 months and Final Follow-up Visit, they will also have a measure of waist and hip circumference. A substudy using bioimpedance-based body composition measurements will ensure uncertainty about the effects of empagliflozin on ECW, adipose tissue and particularly "Fluid Overload" will be assessed in a CKD population.

EMPA-KIDNEY Body composition measurement substudy justification and design (EDMS 6251) V1.0 - 02-MAR-2019

# Appendix Page 21 of 75



## Aims

The primary aim of this substudy is to use bioimpedance spectroscopy to assess, in a subset of EMPA-KIDNEY participants, the effect of empagliflozin 10mg versus matching placebo on "Fluid Overload" at the 2 month and 18 month Follow-up Visits.

Secondary aims are to use bioimpedance spectroscopy to assess:

- 1. Whether any effects of empagliflozin 10mg versus matching placebo on "Fluid Overload" are modified by baseline factors, in particular by level of kidney function, glycosylated haemoglobin, body mass index, NT-proBNP, age, sex, RAS inhibitor use, and different diuretics
- 2. The effects of empagliflozin 10mg versus matching placebo early and later during follow-up on:
  - ECW
  - Intracellular water (ICW)
  - Adipose tissue mass indexed to weight (i.e. %)
  - Lean tissue mass indexed to weight (i.e. %)

Exploratory aims are to:

 Assess if changes in ECW, ICW, % adipose tissue mass, % lean tissue mass and "Fluid Overload" correlate with changes in blood pressure and relevant other biomarkers.

#### Sample size estimates

The study will start a vanguard phase in a small number of sites in which bioimpedance spectroscopy will be performed at Randomization, 2 months and 18 months of Follow-up Visits. This vanguard phase will be expanded to other sites once feasibility of adding a bioimpedance spectroscopy measurement is demonstrated. Feasibility will be based on feedback from the participating sites, successful completion of the other protocol-specified procedures and logistical considerations. It is estimated that at least 400 (of the 5000) EMPA-KIDNEY participants with follow-up bioimpedance spectroscopy measurements will provide ample power (>90%, 2p=0.05) to detect at least a  $\pm 300$ mL difference in "Fluid Overload" (reference range in healthy adults is  $\pm 1100$ mL with a standard deviation of 900mL) based on an independent 2-sided t-test (Table 1).

| Outcome                             | Effect size | Standard deviation | Required sample size |
|-------------------------------------|-------------|--------------------|----------------------|
| "Fluid Overload" (ref range: ±1.1L) | ±300mL      | 900mL              | 382                  |

Note: An estimate of the correlation between successive bioimpedance spectroscopy measurements would be required to calculate the reduction in sample size that could be achieved by using ANCOVA analyses, but no such longitudinal data has yet been collected in a CKD population.

EMPA-KIDNEY Body composition measurement substudy justification and design (EDMS 6251) V1.0 - 02-MAR-2019

# Appendix Page 22 of 75



If a bioimpedance spectroscopy measurement at the Randomization Visit is shown to be infeasible, the substudy will be modifed to exclude the measurement at the Randomization Visit and only be performed at the relatively less busy phases of the study (i.e. measurements will be restricted to the 2 and 18 month Follow-up Visits). In this design, the sample size would need to increase to 850. This is because the absence of a bioimpedance spectroscopy measurement at the Randomization Visit means any imbalances in "Fluid Overload" between treatment arms at baseline cannot be corrected for. These imbalances could result in either the treatment effect being overestimated or a smaller than expected difference in mean "Fluid Overload" at follow-up. However, with a sample size of 850, the probability of large baseline imbalances is small, making it unlikely that the treatment effect would be overstated by more than 100mL (Table 2). With a sample size of 850, there would be sufficient power to detect a reduced difference in mean "Fluid Overload" of  $\pm$  200 mL at follow-up. This calculation is based on an independent 2-sided t-test using data from a healthy population (Note: sample size estimates differ little if dialysis population data are used).

| Sample size | Assumed<br>possible baseline<br>imbalance in<br>Fluid Overload<br>(mL) | Probability of a<br>baseline<br>imbalance at<br>least this size<br>due to chance<br>(1-sided) | Difference between<br>groups at follow-up<br>(mL) after subtracting<br>possible baseline<br>imbalance from<br>assumed treatment<br>effect of 300 mL | Power to detect<br>reduced difference in<br>follow-up values at<br>2p=0.05 |
|-------------|--|---|---|--|
| 850         |  |   |   |  |
|             | 0  | Not applicable  | 300   | >99%   |
|             | 50   | 12.6%   | 250   | 98%  |
|             | 100  | 1.1%  | 200   | 90%  |
|             | 150  | 0.03%   | 150   | 68%  |
|             | 200  | 0.0002%   | 100   | 37%  |

| Table 2: Sample size | e calculations for | a study withou | It Randomization | Visit measurements |
|----------------------|--------------------|----------------|------------------|--------------------|
|                      |                    | ,              |                  |                    |

#### Data Analysis Plan

The primary analysis will estimate the differences in "Fluid Overload" between treatment groups across all time points, regardless of whether a participant received all, some or none of their allocated treatment (i.e. intention-to-treat analyses). Secondary outcomes include ECW, ICW, % adipose tissue mass, and % lean tissue mass". Differences in "Fluid Overload" and the secondary outcomes between treatment groups overall, and separately at 2 and 18 months, will be calculated using linear regression adjusted (or stratified) for the elements included in the minimization algorithm. The primary analysis will focus on a weighted average of the values at the two time points (with weights proportional to the amount of time between visits). Missing measurements will be imputed. Results from the imputed analyses will be compared with those from equivalent "complete-case" analyses, but primary emphasis will be placed on the results after multiple imputation. More complete details of statistical methods, including definitions of subgroups, methods of imputation, approaches to adjustments and

EMPA-KIDNEY Body composition measurement substudy justification and design (EDMS 6251) V1.0 - 02-MAR-2019

#### Appendix Page 23 of 75





weighting of averages will be set out in a separate full Data Analysis Plan which will be consistent with the main study Data Analysis Plan.

# Flowchart of Substudy Activities

### INVITATION

- Invite potential participants shortly before or at the time of the Randomization Visit
- Written informed consent is sought from willing individuals at the first visit when a bioimpedance spectroscopy measurement is offered

# **RANDOMIZATION VISIT AND AT 2 & 18 MONTHS OF FOLLOW-UP**

 A bioimpedance spectroscopy measurement is added to the protocol-specified study follow-up visit procedures

#### Design

*Eligibility:* In selected regions, EMPA-KIDNEY Local Clinical Centres (LCCs) with a Fresenius Medical Care Body Composition Monitor (BCM) machine will be invited to join this optional substudy. All those participants at these LCCs who have yet to attend the relevant scheduled study visit are eligible for invitation. There are no exclusion criteria.

*Invitation and methods:* Potential participants will be invited to join this substudy at before or around the time of their Randomization Visit. At the relevant visit, clinic staff will explain the substudy to potential participants using the Participant Information Leaflet and Consent Form. Consenting participants will have a measure of bioimpedance made in addition to the protocol-specified follow-up procedures. Bioimpedance measurements take about 2 minutes to record and pose no risk to health (although it is conceivable the 4 self-adhesive pads could rarely cause a skin reaction).

#### **Body Composition Measurement**



Training materials on how to perform Body Composition Measurements will be provided. The measurement requires four disposable self-adhesive electrode pads (2x on a wrist and the other 2x on an ankle) to be attached to a portable machine whilst a participant is lying supine. Bioimpedance spectroscopy readings are made automatically across about 50 frequencies over a range of 5-1000 kHz. The measurements take about 2 minutes to make. Data are then automatically transferrable onto a Storage Card which is linked securely to the participant



by means of a unique Storage Card ID entered onto the relevant study visit form on trial's web-based data entry system (i.e. Storage Cards containing results are pseudonymised). The Storage Card will be stored securely before being transferred securely to the Central Coordinating Office in Oxford for downloading into the study database. Data may be transferred securely to specialists in bioimpedance for Quality Control review.

#### References

- 1. Zinman B, Wanner C, Lachin JM, et al. Empagliflozin, Cardiovascular Outcomes, and Mortality in Type 2 Diabetes. *N Engl J Med.* 2015;373(22):2117-2128.
- Inzucchi SE, Zinman B, Fitchett D, et al. How Does Empagliflozin Reduce Cardiovascular Mortality? Insights From a Mediation Analysis of the EMPA-REG OUTCOME Trial. *Diabetes Care*. 2018;41(2):356-363.
- 3. Bui AL, Horwich TB, Fonarow GC. Epidemiology and risk profile of heart failure. Nat Rev Cardiol. 2011;8(1):30-41.
- 4. Zoccali C, Moissl U, Chazot C, et al. Chronic Fluid Overload and Mortality in ESRD. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2017;28(8):2491-2497.
- 5. Ridderstrale M, Andersen KR, Zeller C, et al. Comparison of empagliflozin and glimepiride as add-on to metformin in patients with type 2 diabetes: a 104-week randomised, active-controlled, double-blind, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* 2014;2(9):691-700.
- 6. Petrykiv S, Sjostrom CD, Greasley PJ, Xu J, Persson F, Heerspink HJL. Differential Effects of Dapagliflozin on Cardiovascular Risk Factors at Varying Degrees of Renal Function. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* 2017;12(5):751-759.
- 7. Kohan DE, Fioretto P, Tang W, List JF. Long-term study of patients with type 2 diabetes and moderate renal impairment shows that dapagliflozin reduces weight and blood pressure but does not improve glycemic control. *Kidney Int.* 2014;85(4):962-971.
- 8. Cherney DZI, Cooper ME, Tikkanen I, et al. Pooled analysis of Phase III trials indicate contrasting influences of renal function on blood pressure, body weight, and HbA1c reductions with empagliflozin. *Kidney Int.* 2018;93(1):231-244.
- 9. Zelniker TA, Wiviott SD, Raz I, et al. SGLT2 inhibitors for primary and secondary prevention of cardiovascular and renal outcomes in type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cardiovascular outcome trials. *Lancet.* 2019;393(10166):31-39.
- 10. Wabel P, Chamney P, Moissl U, Jirka T. Importance of whole-body bioimpedance spectroscopy for the management of fluid balance. *Blood Purif.* 2009;27(1):75-80.
- 11. Moissl U, Arias-Guillen M, Wabel P, et al. Bioimpedance-guided fluid management in hemodialysis patients. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* 2013;8(9):1575-1582.

| Participant ID: | 9 |  |  |  |  |  |
|-----------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| Site ID:        | 9 |  |  |  |  |  |

**OXFORD** 

# Optional Body Composition Measurement Substudy Information Leaflet & Consent Form

You are invited to join an EMPA-KIDNEY substudy.

With your permission, we would like to measure your body water and fat levels using a body composition machine during the study so scientists can assess whether or not empagliflozin affects water and/or fat levels in people with kidney problems.

This substudy is entirely optional and does not affect any aspect of the consent you provided to join the main trial. As before, you are entirely free to decide to take part, and can withdraw at any time without affecting your participation in the main trial and without affecting your medical care or legal rights.

# What does the substudy involve?

We would like to measure your body water & fat levels upto 3 times during the substudy.

At your second, third and fifth scheduled study follow-up visits, your study nurse may ask you if you are willing to undergo a body composition measurement. This is performed by connecting a bioimpedance machine to sticky pads placed over one of your wrists (two pads) and over one of your ankles (two pads) whilst you are lying down. The measurement, which is much like having an ECG heart trace, takes about 2 minutes to record. Body Composition Machines pose no major risk to your health (although rarely, the sticky pads could cause a mild skin reaction).

Body composition recordings will be stored securely on data cards which do not contain your name (i.e the cards are "de-identified"). The cards need a special reader and computer program to download and interpret the data. We will therefore not be able to provide you with results of your body water or fat levels from the study data cards.

Full details on how information about you is stored/handled and your data protection rights were provided in the main EMPA-KIDNEY Participant Information Leaflet you received at the study start.

# Consent

I understand that I have already consented to join the EMPA-KIDNEY study and I agree to take part in the optional Body Composition Measurement Substudy

| PRINTED name of consenting patient | Signature | <b>D D / M M M / Y Y Y Y</b><br>Today's date |
|------------------------------------|-----------|--|
|                                    |           | D D / M M M / Y Y Y Y                        |
| PRINTED name of consent taker      | Signature | Today's date                                 |

Top copy (**yellow**): participant's trial file - Middle copy (**pink**): clinical notes - Bottom copy (**white**): participant EMPA-KIDNEY Body Composition Measurement Substudy Consent Form V1.0. IRAS no.: 236211 01-MAR-2019

# Appendix Page 26 of 75





#### Body Composition Monitor (BCM) Substudy Instruction Leaflet

#### Preparation

- 1. Each EMPA-KIDNEY BCM kit contains:
  - i. 4x BCM self-adhesive electrodes;
  - ii. 1x BCM chip card;
  - iii. 1x skin wipe (optional use); and
  - iv. Instruction leaflet.
- 2. Use a new EMPA-KIDNEY BCM kit for each visit.

3. Only use the EMPA-KIDNEY BCM chip-card provided to the participant during their EMPA-KIDNEY study visit (as it has been linked specifically to them within *Livia*).

#### Fitting electrodes

1. Remove all wrist/ankle jewellery (including watches) on the relevant side.

2. If moisturizing cream has been applied, clean an area on the back of the wrist and the ankle with the skin wipe and allow time for the skin to dry.

3. Whilst sitting or lying on a bed, stick 2x electrodes on the wrist and 2x on the ankle on the same side of the body as shown below (try to use the same side of the body at each visit).

4. Attach the red and black wire clips to the electrodes (red clips are always nearest the fingernails/toenails), then connect to the Fresenius BCM machine.



EDMS6240. V1.0, 02MAY2019

Page 1 of 2





#### Making a BCM measurement

1. Insert the EMPA-KIDNEY BCM chip card into the Fresenius BCM machine.

2. DO NOT CHANGE the information on the pre-prepared EMPA-KIDNEY BCM chip card (it has been preloaded with dummy data).

3. Press <Continue>, <New meas> and <Confirm> until "Start measurement" appears on the screen. There is also no need to change the weight or enter blood pressure or UF-volume.

4. Ensure the participant's:

- i. Legs are not touching each other;
- ii. Arms and hands are away from the body; and
- iii. Whole body is not touching any metal objects (e.g. the bedside).

5. When positioned correctly, ask the participant to remain still and silent, and then <Start> the measurement.

6. The measurement takes about 20 seconds, and the results are displayed after 1-2 minutes.

7. A single reliable measurement is required. It needs to have a:

- i. Q value of 80 or over; and a
- ii. Cole plot which looks like an inverted cone (as depicted here).



8. If an unreliable measurement is recorded, check the electrodes and participant's position before making a new measurement on the same EMPA-KIDNEY BCM chip card (there is no need to delete the unreliable measurement).

#### Storing the BCM chip card

1. Do not provide displayed BCM results to the participants as dummy age, sex and height data have been used on EMPA-KIDNEY BCM chip cards (the coordinating centre will re-process these data to get the true reading using the information on *Livia*).

2. Once the measurement has been automatically saved onto the EMPA-KIDNEY BCM chip card, remove and store the EMPA-KIDNEY BCM chip card safely in a locked cupboard awaiting collection by the coordinating centre.





# **EMPA-KIDNEY Local Research Coordinator**

# Body Composition Monitor (BCM) Substudy Training Signature Form

| Local Research Coordinator (LRC) Name: |  |
|--|--|
| Local Clinical Centre (LCC) Name:      |  |
| LCC Site Number (if known):            |  |

- I have read the Ethics Committee approved EMPA-KIDNEY BCM Substudy protocol supplement
- I have read the Ethics Committee approved EMPA-KIDNEY BCM Substudy information leaflet & consent form
- I have read the EMPA-KIDNEY BCM Substudy kit leaflet
- I have watched the EMPA-KIDNEY BCM Substudy training video

Signature: ...... Date: ...../20.......

(Traditional hand-written signature)

(DD/MMM/20YY)

Original copy of this completed form to be kept in the LCC site file (investigator site file). Scanned copy to be sent to Shraddha Shah at cco.empakidney@ndph.ox.ac.uk EMPA-KIDNEY LRC BCM substudy training signature form 03-May-2019 version 1.0





# Internal Operating Procedure:

# **BCM Measurement Substudy Datacard Collection & Data Extraction**

# **EMPA-KIDNEY**

# EDMS #6433

#### **Version History**

| Version | Version Date | Author                 | Description     |
|---------|--------------|------------------------|-----------------|
| 1.0     | 08 Aug 2019  | Shraddha Shah, Richard | Initial version |
|         | _            | Brown, Will Herrington |                 |

This is a controlled document. Distribution and approval is to be managed using the Electronic Document Management System.



# TABLE OF CONTENTS

| 1  | Pur   | pose  | 3  |
|----|-------|---|----|
| 2  | Inte  | nded Readership                                       | 3  |
| 3  | Def   | initions and Abbreviations                            | 3  |
| 4  | Sco   | pe  | 3  |
| 5  | Gui   | dance on BCM datacard collection and data extraction  | 4  |
| ł  | 5.1   | Selection of BCM datacards for collection from an LCC | 4  |
| Ę  | 5.2   | Secure couriering of the BCM cards to the CCO         | 4  |
| Ę  | 5.3   | BCM datacard receipt at the CCO                       | 4  |
| ł  | 5.4   | BCM data download                                     | 4  |
| 6  | Dat   | a backup  | 9  |
| 7  | Dat   | a quality control checks                              | 9  |
| 8  | Ret   | urn of the BCM datacards to LCCs for archiving        | 11 |
| Ap | pendi | x 1: Example BCM Substudy Datacard Tracker            | 12 |
| Ap | pendi | x 2: Example BCM Substudy Download Datacard Tracker   | 13 |



# 1 Purpose

This Internal Operating Procedure (IOP) describes the procedures to be followed within the Central Coordinating Office (CCO) for BCM datacard collection and data extraction.

## 2 Intended Readership

This is a controlled document. Distribution and approval is to be managed using the Electronic Document Management System in accordance with SOP0 (Development and Maintenance of Project Specific Operating Procedures). This document and any updates are to be made available to all CTSU based trial-specific staff. The main readership is the CCO administrative staff who are responsible for BCM measurement substudy datacard collection and data extraction. This document may be made available to the relevant teams within the external organisation(s).

| BCM  | Body Composition Monitor, Fresenius's bioimpedance machine               |
|------|--|
| CCO  | Central Coordinating Office: responsible for the overall coordination of |
|      | the trial internationally, based at CTSU in Oxford                       |
| CTSU | Clinical Trial Service Unit and Epidemiological Studies Unit, University |
|      | of Oxford, home of the CCO   |
| EDMS | Electronic Document Management System utilized by the CCO                |
| FMT  | Fluid Management Tool, the software used to create and download          |
|      | data from the BCM datacards  |
| IOP  | Internal Operating Procedure: a document used within the CCO to          |
|      | describe a procedure to be followed in the CCO                           |
| LCC  | Local Clinical Centre  |
| RCC  | Regional Coordinating Centre.  |
|      |  |

#### **3** Definitions and Abbreviations

# 4 Scope

EMPA-KIDNEY will assess the clinical effects of empagliflozin versus matching placebo in over 5,000 participants with pre-existing chronic kidney disease who have been treated with renin-angiotensin system blockade (wherever indicated and tolerated). Follow-up for about 3-4 years will allow reliable assessments of any beneficial or adverse effects of empagliflozin on the primary composite endpoint of kidney disease progression or cardiovascular death.

The BCM measurement substudy is assessing the effect of empagliflozin versus placebo on "overhydration" measured using bioimpedance on a BCM measurement machine in a subset of about 400 participants. BCM measurements are made at randomization, 2 month and 18 month follow-up visits, using a datacard linked to the participant in the study's web-based IT system called *Livia*.

The setup of BCM substudy datacards is detailed in EDMS6242. This IOP's scope includes guidance on the approximate 6 monthly process of:

- 1. Selection of BCM datacards for collection from an LCC (section 5.1);
- 2. Secure couriering of the BCM card to the CCO (section 5.2);
- 3. BCM datacard receipt at the CCO (section 5.3);
- 4. BCM data download (section 5.4);
- 5. BCM data backup (section 6);
- 6. BCM data quality checks (section 7);
- 7. Return of the datacards to LCCs for archiving (section 8) and
- 8. BCM Substudy Datacard tracker and BCM Substudy Download Datacard Tracker (appendices 1 & 2)



## 5 Guidance on BCM datacard collection and data extraction

#### 5.1 Selection of BCM datacards for collection from an LCC

A site-specific 'BCM Substudy Datacard Tracker' report from *Livia* (or its mirror database) will be used to identify BCM datacards, which have been linked to a participant ID and used for measurement (see appendix 1 for a template of this tracker report).

This report will be generated (approximately) every few months and sent to relevant LCCs and BCM datacards requested. The site will be asked to check all BCM datacards are available and document any lost card(s) on the tracker report. Once completed the tracker report should be signed off and returned to the CCO with the datacards.

#### 5.2 Secure couriering of the BCM cards to the CCO

The CCO is responsible for arranging secure couriering (where necessary) to the CCO. In certain countries (e.g. Germany), it may be more appropriate for the BCM datacards to be collected at the RCC and then sent as a batch to the CCO.

#### 5.3 BCM datacard receipt at the CCO

On receipt of the BCM substudy datacards at the CCO, the completeness of the shipment and date of the delivery should be entered on the 'BCM Substudy Datacard Tracker' report (appendix 1).

#### 5.4 BCM data download

A separate site-specific 'BCM Substudy Download Datacard Tracker' report from *Livia* (or its mirror database) will be used to track the downloading of data from the BCM datacards (see appendix 2 for a template of this tracker report).

BCM datacard download is performed using the BCM substudy encrypted laptop running the Fluid Management Tool (FMT) program:



• Open the FMT program





| BCM Patientcard (FMT) - known patient |  |                        |  |  |
|---------------------------------------|--|------------------------|--|--|
|                                       | Patient-ID 1001001003<br>Last name DO NOT CHANGE<br>First name DO NOT CHANGE                     | Info                   |  |  |
| Saved measurements (1 total,          | Gender X Male Female<br>Height 180 cm<br>DOB 1 / 1 / 1950 Day / Month / Year<br>0 deleted, 1 new | Delete<br>measurements |  |  |
| Status<br>new Date<br>10/07/2019      | Time Status Date Time<br>11:04   |                        |  |  |
|                                       |  | Back                   |  |  |

• Insert the card into the card reader and click on the 'Cardreader' button

- The status of the saved measurement will be shown as 'new', as it contains the measurements, which are yet to be downloaded into the FMT database. There may be more than one measurement. All measurements should be downloaded
- Before the data are downloaded, check the FMT displayed Patient ID matches the BCM datacard ID on the sticker affixed to the BCM card and record this on the 'BCM Substudy Download Datacard Tracker'
- Confirm the date of measurement matches the date in the tracker report. This
  check should be recorded on the 'BCM Substudy Download Datacard Tracker'. If
  there are any discrepancies, record them on the tracker report and inform the
  EMPA-KIDNEY Chief Investigator without downloading the data. Any
  discrepancies will need to be recorded on a spreadsheet on the K:EMPA drive
  together with the advice given by the Chief Investigator





- MRC Population Health Research Unit
- If the Patient ID and date of measurement are confirmed, download the data by clicking on the 'Import data' button



- Ensure the number of imported measurements displayed matched the number on the previous screen (it will usually be one)
- Confirm data download by clicking the 'Yes' button

| Confirm database update  |      |
|--|------|
|  | Info |
| The data has been imported successfully.   |      |
| The database contains data which has been measured with<br>an older version of the BCM - Body Composition Monitor. Do<br>you want to update this data? |      |
| Remark: Depending on the size of the database, this might take some minutes. Additionally, a backup of the database is created automatically.          | Yes  |
|  | lo   |

- The confirm database update screen will be displayed, confirming the data has been imported successfully
- There is no need to update the data if this was measured with an older version of the BCM, click 'No' if this message is displayed





• After the data has been imported successfully, click the 'OK' button

| 3CM Patientcard (FMT) - known patient |  |                        |     |                        |  |
|---------------------------------------|--|------------------------|-----|------------------------|--|
|                                       |  |                        |     | Info                   |  |
|                                       | Patient-ID 1001001003<br>Last name DO NOT CH/      | NGE                    |     |                        |  |
| F                                     | First name DO NOT CHA<br>Gender X Male<br>Height 1 | NGE<br>Female<br>80 cm |     | Import data            |  |
| Sayed measurements (1 total, 0 dele   | DOB <u>1 / 1 / 19</u><br>eted, 0 new)              | 0 Day / Month / Year   | (1) | Delete<br>measurements |  |
| Status Date Tin<br>10/07/2019 11:0    | ne Status<br>04                                    | Date Time              |     | Back                   |  |

- After a successful download, the status now appears as being blank
- Record the data download as successful on the 'BCM Substudy Download Data Card Tracker' and then click the 'Back' button to return to the FMT main menu
- The next BCM datacard can now be inserted in the cardreader and the steps detailed in section 5.4 can be repeated for each BCM datacard to be downloaded





Notes

#### Never delete any measurements from the BCM datacard

If there are any problems during downloading, record the affected BCM datacard ID on the tracker record (in comments) and contact the EMPA-KIDNEY Chief Investigator for advice.



| MRC Population Health<br>Research Unit |  |
|--|--|
|--|--|

#### 6 Data backup

After completing data downloading, and before turning off the BCM substudy laptop, **you must** perform a database backup. This is performed by connecting the encrypted external backup hard drive and clicking on the 'BACKUP' icon (as shown below) on the desktop. This icon will only appear after the hard drive has connected to the laptop.



Once the backup is complete, the data on the hard drive **<u>must</u>** be transferred onto the K:drive. Full details on how this is performed are provided in EDMS6432.

# 7 Data quality control checks

After completing the data backup, the Q score should be checked for each patient and added to the tracker.

Sites with a substantial proportion of measurements with a Q score of <85% will be contacted and asked to review the training video.

Obtaining Q score from the FMT program.

• Open the FMT program



• Click on the Saved Measurements



|               |      |   | ! Info   |
|---------------|------|---|----------|
| Vame          | Pat. | Description                                 |          |
| All groups    | 3002 | All patients in all groups                  |          |
| Default_group | 0    | Default group created by FMT.               |          |
| Demodata      | 1    | Group with sample patients.                 |          |
| KITS_01       | 260  | BCM Kits Group 01, 1001000006 to 1001002598 |          |
| KITS_02       | 200  | BCM Kits Group 02, 1001002604 to 1001004592 |          |
| KITS_03       | 200  | BCM Kits Group 03, 1001004608 to 1001006596 |          |
| KITS_04       | 200  | BCM Kits Group 04, 1001006602 to 1001008590 |          |
| KITS_05       | 140  | BCM Kits Group 05, 1001008606 to 1001009993 |          |
| KITS_06       | 200  | BCM Kits Group 06, 1001010005 to 1001011996 |          |
| KITS_07       | 200  | BCM Kits Group 07, 1001012009 to 1001013990 |          |
| KITS_08       | 200  | BCM Kits Group 08, 1001014003 to 1001015994 |          |
| KITS_09       | 200  | BCM Kits Group 09, 1001016007 to 1001017998 |          |
| KITS_10       | 200  | BCM Kits Group 10, 1001018001 to 1001019992 | Ok       |
| KITS_11       | 200  | BCM Kits Group 11, 1001020004 to 1001021995 |          |
| KITS_12       | 200  | BCM Kits Group 12, 1001022008 to 1001023999 |          |
| KITS_13       | 200  | BCM Kits Group 13, 1001024002 to 1001025993 |          |
| KITS_14       | 200  | BCM Kits Group 14, 1001026006 to 1001027997 |          |
| KITS_15       | 200  | BCM Kits Group 15, 1001028000 to 1001029991 | ( 1 Back |
| Test          | 1    | Test - not for use                          | Duck     |

- Select the relevant Patient ID from the list (screenshot not shown)
- Once you click on the Patient ID, the page below will be displayed showing the patient's measurements, and the date and time when they were taken (at site)

| atie   | nt: 100       | 10009  | )14 - D( | D NOT   | CHAN        | IGE, DO     | D NOT CI     | HANGE | - 01/01/195           |
|--------|---------------|--------|----------|---------|-------------|-------------|--------------|-------|-----------------------|
| 1-1    | -             |        |          |         |             |             |              | !     | Info                  |
| No.    | Date          | Time   | Height   | Weight  | OH          | UFV         | BP pre       |       |                       |
| 1      | 20/06/2019    | 09:22  | 180 cm   | 99.5 kg | 0.4 L       | ml 1        | 18 / 78 mmHg | R     | Show diagram          |
|        |               |        |          |         |             |             |              |       | Show data             |
|        |               |        |          |         |             |             |              |       | Print patient profile |
| Comm   | ent on this p | atient |          | Com     | ment on thi | s measureme | nt           |       |                       |
| (no co | mment given   | )      |          | (no c   | omment giv  | /en)        |              |       | Back                  |

Click on show data





| Patier | nt: 1001   | 1000  | 914 - D( | D NOT CHANGE, DO NOT CHANGE - 01/01/19   |
|--------|------------|-------|----------|--|
| No.    | Date       | Time  | Weight   | Param Value  |
| 1      | 20/06/2019 | 09:22 | 99.5 kg  | Quality 94.272<br>Error 28.64<br>Duration 135 s<br>Opt. Yes<br>Device 2BJA2295<br>Meas. no. 369<br>Delete selecter<br>measurement<br>Add missing<br>data<br>Back |

• Select the 'Info' tab to display the patient's Quality 'Q' value. Enter this Q value on the 'BCM Substudy Download Datacard Tracker'. You do not need to record the numbers after the decimal point on the tracker, just record the initial two numbers (without rounding)

#### 8 Return of the BCM datacards to LCCs for archiving

Once the 'BCM Substudy Datacard Tracker' and 'BCM Substudy Download Datacard Tracker' have been completed, and signed off, the BCM datacards can be returned to their originating LCC for archiving as source data, with the site file.

A copy of the 'BCM Substudy Datacard Tracker' should be returned to the LCC with the BCM datacards. The LCC should acknowledge receipt of the cards on the tracker, and once signed off, return a scanned copy to the CCO and file the LCC copy at site.

The original completed 'BCM Substudy Download Datacard Tracker' does not need to be sent to the LCC and should be retained at the CCO.



# Appendix 1: Example BCM Substudy Datacard Tracker







# Appendix 2: Example BCM Substudy Download Datacard Tracker







## EMPA-KIDNEY BCM Substudy: BCM Card Data Transfer for Outcome Derivation

#### Internal Operating Procedure

#### EDMS #7248

| Version | Date             |     | Author(s)                         | Summary              |
|---------|------------------|-----|-----------------------------------|----------------------|
| 1.0     | 18 <sup>th</sup> | Aug | Will Herrington/Will Stevens/John | First issued version |
|         | 2021             |     | Nolan/David Keane/Dani Trinca     |                      |

#### Purpose

This document sets out the procedure for collating and transferring BCM study related data to and from the Central Coordinating Centre based at the University of Oxford ("Oxford") to and from collaborators at the Leeds Teaching Hospital NHS Trust ("Leeds") where derivation of the BCM study outcomes is performed. A study-specific Data Analysis Plan will be specified before the trial results are unblinded to the Chief Investigator.

#### Summary of process

#### 1. Data preparation Oxford

Data from BCM cards received from EMPA-KIDNEY sites in Oxford are downloaded and backed up according to EDMS #6433. The backup process is performed after any work has been done on the BCM study laptop computer which has (or may have) changed the data (see EDMS 6432 for backup procedure details). All measurements are downloaded (including multiple measurements on the same day) as the Data Analysis Plan will specify which is the optimum BCM measurement (or measurements) to use.

At periodic intervals, Oxford will export a backup of the Fluid Management Tool (FMT) database .pat files into a .zip file using the FMT software.

In addition, the *Livia* database will be queried for the following fields (after running Erato):

- 1. Age
- 2. Weight
- 3. Height
- 4. Sex
- 5. BCM card ID

The following fields will be added to an Excel spreadsheet for each BCM measurement:

| New field | LIVIA_Identifiers | Notes  |  |  |
|-----------|-------------------|--|--|--|
| BCM card  | LIVIA_BCM         | Recorded directly into relevant visit form or via  |  |  |
| ID        |                   | Erato  |  |  |
| Age       | LIVIA_AGE         | Record as whole years on day of BCM  |  |  |
|           |                   | measurement  |  |  |
| Weight    | LIVIA_WT          | Recorded to 1 decimal place in kg as entered into<br><i>Livia</i> (or via ERATO) on day of BCM measurement |  |  |
|           |                   | (i.e. Randomization or Follow-up visit). Missing   |  |  |
|           |                   | weigins will be entered as 0.0 kg  |  |  |





| 3 | UNIVERSITY OF |
|---|---------------|
| Ż | OXFORD        |

| Height | LIVIA_HT  | Recorded in cm from Randomization Visit. Missing height will be entered as 0.0 cm and sought from site |
|--------|-----------|--|
| Sex    | LIVIA_SEX | F = Female, M = Male, U = Unknown  |

## 2. Data transfer to and from Oxford-Leeds

The Excel spreadsheet containing *Livia* data and the database backup will be transferred to Leeds for BCM Outcome derivation. According to the Service Agreement, data transfer needs to be using secure methods (i.e. encrypted via 7-zip and sent using Oxfile [or similarly secure method]). Similar secure methods could include encrypted via 7-zip between NHS.net email addresses.

Oxford team email addresses:

| Will Stevens                             | will.stevens@ndph.ox.ac.uk    |
|--|-------------------------------|
| Cc: Will Herrington (Chief Investigator) | will.herrington@ndph.ox.ac.uk |
| Mobile number: 07970 520390              | will.herrington@nhs.net       |

Leeds team email addresses:

| Dani Trinca | daniele.trinca@nhs.net |
|-------------|------------------------|
| David Keane | david.keane@nhs.net    |

#### 3. Data processing in Leeds

The age, sex, height and weight entered on the BCM cards are dummy data and should be ignored. The BCM measurement plus the LIVIA\_ fields\_described above should be used to derive the BCM outcome value.

Each time data is sent to Leeds, the following steps outline the process of re-deriving BCM outcome variables:

- A macro written in Microsoft Excel will be used to extract all summary BCM measurement data needed for data processing (Re and Ri) from the .pat files (see appendix 1 for validation of the macro)
- The ID from the BCM card, corresponding to the ID in the *Livia* spreadsheet, will be used match the two data sources
- Body composition parameters are calculated using the *Livia* demographic parameters and the impedance information from the BCM

#### 4. Processed data transfer from Leeds to Oxford

Data should be returned to Oxford using the secure methods described above (i.e. encryption and Oxfile).



#### Appendix I: Pat file importer validation documentation

#### 1 Introduction

This document aims to describe the process of importing the BCM .pat file into a Microsoft Excel<sup>™</sup> spreadsheet and the validation of the data compute using a VBA Macro.

#### 2 Data import

The VBA Macro imports all the .pat files present in the folder the Excel file is located.

The code reads each .pat file and imports the following:

- Patient ID (which in the case of the BCM substudy will be the BCM card ID)
- Date & time of measurement (to allow a check between *Livia* data and BCM card data)
- Birthday Year
- Age
- Gender
- Height cm
- Pre weight Kg
- BMI
- Re
- Ri
- ECW\_L
- ICW\_L
- OHPre\_L
- ATM
- LTM

A number of rows are created based on the amount of measurements present in the file.

Once the data from the .pat files are imported the spreadsheet computes the following variables.

- K\_ECW
- K\_ICW
- ECW
- ICW

The above variables are calculated using the formulas listed in the Moissl's paper from 2006. (formula 9-12)

LTM, ATM and OH are derived from the Chamney's paper. These formulae have been adjusted since publication and the new coefficients haven't been released to the public.

A total of 892 measurements taken from 141 patients has been analysed. The Bland Altman plot (Figure 1) , shows the level of agreement of the two measurements. The bias (Avg (OH Excel- OH BCM)) is 0.02 liters.

Figure 2 shows the current flow of the data in the Excel spreadsheet.









EDMS #7248 EMPA-KIDNEY BCM Outcome Derivation Procedures of 4



# EMPA-KIDNEY Body Composition Monitor Substudy Extended Data Analysis Plan

# Version History

| Version | Description                |  |  |
|---------|----------------------------|--|--|
| 1.0     | First released version     | Created by: Kaitlin J. Mayne, Natalie Staplin, Richard |  |
| Н       |                            | Haynes & William G. Herrington (JAN-MAR2022)           |  |
|         |                            | Reviewed by Rebecca Sardell, Will Stevens, Karl        |  |
|         |                            | Wallendszus, Jonathan Emberson, John Nolan, Dani       |  |
|         |                            | Trinca, David Keane, Simon Davies, Rejive              |  |
|         |                            | Dayanandan, Akiko Omata, Parminder Judge,              |  |
|         |                            | Ryonfa Lee, Patrick Mark, Jennifer Lees, Vladimir      |  |
|         |                            | Cejka, Christoph Wanner (MAR2022)                      |  |
| 1.1     | Revision to Appendix       | Revised by: Kaitlin J. Mayne, David Keane, & William   |  |
|         | 8.1: Definition of a valid | G, Herrington (18OCT-16NOV2022)                        |  |
|         | BCM measurement            | Released for use by William G. Herrington              |  |
|         | Addition of Appendices     | (17NOV2022)  |  |
|         | 8.4 and 8.5.               |  |  |

This document is an extension to EDMS #7635, the primary Data Analysis Plan (DAP) for the EMPA-KIDNEY Body Composition Monitor (BCM) Substudy which is subject to review by the Steering Committee. This extended DAP adds background information supporting the rationale for the primary and secondary assessments and lays out, in detail, the planned exploratory analyses which are not fully described in EDMS #7635.



# TABLE OF CONTENTS

| 1          | RELEVANT PROCEDURAL DOCUMENTS  | 3    |
|------------|--|------|
| 2          | ABBREVIATIONS  | 4    |
| 3          | INTRODUCTION   | 5    |
| 4<br>COMP  | KEY FLUID OVERLOAD DEFINITIONS & JUSTIFICATION FOR CLINICAL OSITE OUTCOMES     | . 6  |
| 5          | BASELINE CHARACTERISTICS   | 10   |
| 6          | DEFINITIONS OF KEY RANDOMIZED ASSESSMENTS                                      | 12   |
| 6.1        | Hypotheses   | 12   |
| 6.2        | Primary randomized assessment  | 12   |
| 6.3        | Key secondary randomized assessment  | 13   |
| 6.4        | Other secondary randomized assessment  | 13   |
| 6.5        | Tertiary randomized assessments including subgroup analyses                    | 13   |
| 6.6        | Exploratory observational analyses using baseline data                         | 14   |
| 6.7        | Exploratory analyses using randomized assessments                              | 15   |
| 7          | STATISTICAL METHODOLOGY  | 16   |
| 7.1        | Handling of missing and extreme values   | 16   |
| 7.2        | Methods of analysis  | 16   |
| 7.2.1      | Primary randomized assessment  | 16   |
| 7.2.2      | Assessment for key secondary randomized assessment                             | . 17 |
| 7.2.3      | Other secondary randomized assessment  | 17   |
| 7.2.4      | Tertiary randomized assessments including subgroup analyses                    | . 17 |
| 7.2.5      | Exploratory observational analyses using baseline data                         | 17   |
| 7.2.6      | Exploratory analyses using randomized assessments                              | 18   |
| 8<br>HANDI | APPENDIX: DEFINITION OF VALID BCM MEASUREMENTS AND DATA<br>LING CONSIDERATIONS | 19   |
| 8.1        | Definition of a valid BCM measurement  | 19   |
| 8.2        | Handling multiple BCM measurements   | 20   |
| 8.2.1      | Multiple valid BCM measurements at the same visit                              | 20   |
| 8.2.2      | Multiple valid BCM measurements within a Follow-up window                      | 20   |
| 8.2.3      | Multiple measurements at different visits on a single BCM card                 | 20   |
| 8.3        | Data processing: BCM variables   | . 20 |
| REFE       | RENCES   | 22   |



# 1 RELEVANT PROCEDURAL DOCUMENTS

| Document title                                       | EDMS# |
|--|-------|
| EMPA-KIDNEY Protocol                                 | 5434  |
| EMPA-KIDNEY BCM Substudy Protocol Supplement         | 6251  |
| EMPA-KIDNEY Data Analysis Plan (SOP11)               | 6290  |
| EMPA-KIDNEY BCM datacard download IOP                | 6433  |
| EMPA-KIDNEY Leeds BCM Card Data Transfer for Outcome | 7248  |
| Derivation   |       |
| EMPA-KIDNEY BCM kit leaflet                          | 6240  |
| EMPA-KIDNEY BCM Substudy Data Analysis Plan          | 7635  |



MRC Population Health Research Unit

# 2 ABBREVIATIONS

| Abbreviation  | Definition   |
|---------------|--|
| ACR           | Albumin-to-creatinine ratio                        |
| ATM           | Adipose tissue mass                                |
| BCM           | Body composition monitor                           |
| BMI           | Body mass index                                    |
| CKD           | Chronic kidney disease                             |
| CKD-EPI       | Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration  |
| DPP-4         | Dipeptidyl peptidase-4                             |
| ECW           | Extracellular water                                |
| EDMS          | Electronic document management system              |
| eGFR          | Estimated glomerular filtration rate               |
| FTI           | Fat tissue index                                   |
| GLP-1 agonist | Glucagon-like peptide-1                            |
| HbA1c         | Glycosylated haemoglobin                           |
| ICW           | Intracellular water                                |
| LTI           | Lean tissue index                                  |
| LTM           | Lean tissue mass                                   |
| MMRM          | Mixed model repeated measures                      |
| NT-proBNP     | N-terminus prohormone of brain natriuretic peptide |
| PD            | Peritoneal dialysis                                |
| RAS           | Renin-angiotensin system                           |
| SOP           | Standard operating procedure                       |
| TBW           | Total body water                                   |



OXFORD

# **3** INTRODUCTION

This document provides a Data Analysis Plan for the EMPA-KIDNEY substudy, which has measured body composition of a subset of approximately 650 EMPA-KIDNEY participants recruited from the UK and Germany using bioimpedenace spectroscopy on a body composition monitor (BCM). An outline BCM data analysis plan was provided in the BCM substudy's Protocol Supplement (EDMS#6251). The purpose of this BCM Data Analysis Plan is to define, before unblinding of the treatment allocation, detail of pre-specified randomized analyses to be presented in initial publication(s) of the substudy. The nature of all analyses (randomized or observational) including those related to subsequent publications and exploratory analyses cannot be specified in detail but, where appropriate, a general analytical approach is set out. Approaches, wherever possible, will follow those set out in EMPA-KIDNEY's main data analysis plan (SOP11; EDMS#6290).

Note: this pre-specified Data Analysis Plan re-orders the priority of some of the assessments set out in the BCM substudy Protocol Supplement (EDMS#6251). Certain assessments have been moved from secondary to tertiary assessments, and a new key secondary assessment introduced. This follows a more detailed review of data whilst compiling this plan. This pre-specified Data Analysis Plan therefore supersedes the proposed assessments set out in the Protocol Supplement and prevails in the event of any discrepancies between the two documents. In addition to the pre-specified comparisons, other post-hoc analyses may be performed with due allowance for their exploratory and, perhaps, data-dependent nature.

This extended version of the BCM DAP is an extension to EDMS #7635, the primary Data Analysis Plan (DAP) for the EMPA-KIDNEY Body Composition Monitor (BCM) Substudy which is subject to review by the Steering Committee. This extended DAP adds background information supporting the rationale for the primary and secondary assessments and lays out, in detail, the planned exploratory analyses which are not fully described in EDMS #7635. The extended DAP forms the basis of a statistical plan for a doctoral research project.


OXFORD

# 4 KEY FLUID OVERLOAD DEFINITIONS & JUSTIFICATION FOR CLINICAL COMPOSITE OUTCOMES

There is no standard nomenclature for BCM-derived fluid overload parameters in existing literature, with a range of terminology and threshold values to infer clinical significance employed. We have used the following approach to report the EMPA-KIDNEY BCM substudy

| EMPA-KIDNEY<br>Terminology                     |          | Definition  | Alternative<br>Terminology   |
|--|----------|---|--|
| Fluid Overload                                 |          | Overhydration in litres, computed as the difference between expected (based upon weight and body composition) versus measured extracellular water (ECW) volume (1), with positive values representing excess fluid Fluid Overload = ECW <sub>measured</sub> - ECW <sub>expected</sub> | Overhydration (2)<br>Hydration status (1) <sup>†</sup><br>Absolute tissue<br>hydration (3)                   |
| Relative Fluid Overload                        |          | Overhydration index relative to measured ECW<br>volume, expressed as a percentage (4)<br>Relative Fluid Overload = Fluid Overload ÷<br>ECW <sub>measured</sub>  | Overhydration index<br>(2, 5) *<br>Relative hydration<br>status (4, 6) †<br>Relative tissue<br>hydration (3) |
| Clinically<br>Significant<br>Fluid<br>Overload | Moderate | Relative Fluid Overload >7%, ≤15% where 7% reflects the 90 <sup>th</sup> percentile in a healthy reference population (3) and is approximately equivalent to absolute Fluid Overload of +1.1L (3)   |  |
|  | Severe   | Relative Fluid Overload >15% which represents<br>the highest quartile in a haemodialysis reference<br>population (1, 4); approximately equivalent to<br>absolute Fluid Overload of +2.5L (3, 4, 7, 8)   | Hyperhydration (4)   |

\* Although scientific literature has used the term "overhydration index" to refer to both absolute Fluid Overload in litres and Relative Fluid Overload (5, 9), we consider it to most accurately describe overhydration indexed to ECW.

<sup>*†*</sup> Hydration status expressed as  $\Delta$ HS has also been used to refer to both absolute Fluid Overload in litres (1) as well as Relative Fluid Overload (4, 6).

Fluid overload is a hallmark of decompensated heart failure (10, 11) and therefore BCMderived fluid overload could be a surrogate for decompensated heart failure. Observational studies in both dialysis and non-dialysis chronic kidney disease (CKD) have demonstrated that bioimpedance-derived fluid overload is strongly associated with mortality (5, 6, 12). Data in heart failure, although limited to small cohorts, consistently demonstrate the association between fluid parameters derived from bioimpedance analysis - a less precise technique than bioimpedance spectroscopy employed by the BCM - and mortality and hospital readmission for decompensated heart failure (13-17).

The key secondary assessment of the BCM substudy is a composite outcome combining BCM-derived Clinically Significant Fluid Overload with the clinical outcomes of death from



The Fluid Overload parameters defined above are based upon the three-compartment model described by Chamney et al. comprising normally hydrated adipose tissue, normally hydrated lean tissue and excess fluid (18). The excess fluid compartment is derived from extracellular water (ECW), intracellular water (ICW) and total body water (TBW) however ECW is used as standard and forms the basis of the more recently developed Fluid Overload and Relative Fluid Overload parameters derived using the Fresenius BCM. This measurement of fluid overload has been validated against gold standard techniques (19) and reproducibility demonstrated (20, 21). The Clinically Significant Fluid Overload BCM-derived component of the composite secondary outcome is defined based upon established thresholds values of Relative Fluid Overload reported in existing literature. Relative Fluid Overload is considered to be more clinically meaningful than Fluid Overload because normalization to ECW facilitates comparison between patients (4). Wizemann et al. established a 15% threshold value of Relative Fluid Overload (referred to as relative hydration status) based upon the highest quartile of a reference haemodialysis population (4). In EMPA-KIDNEY, the threshold of >15% Relative Fluid Overload is referred to as "severe" as the study population can be expected to exhibit lower levels of fluid overload than dialysis populations. This threshold is approximately equivalent to >+2.5L absolute Fluid Overload in patients on haemodialysis (1, 4, 22). In the Wizemann et al. cohort of 269 patients on haemodialysis, 86 died during 3.5 years of followup and the adjusted hazard ratio (HR) for all-cause mortality associated with pre-dialysis Relative Fluid Overload >15% was 2.1 (95% confidence interval [CI] 1.4-3.2) compared to ≤15% (4). Pre-dialysis Relative Fluid Overload >15% was more strongly associated with death than age or systolic blood pressure (4). The >15% threshold (or equivalent in litres) has subsequently been widely used in confirmatory studies in haemodialysis populations (5, 7, 8, 23-27).

Other studies have also used a lower threshold of >7% Relative Fluid Overload, which in a healthy reference population is equivalent to approximately +1.1L absolute Fluid Overload and to the 90<sup>th</sup> percentile (3, 28, 29). In EMPA-KIDNEY, this level of fluid overload is referred to as "moderate". Fluid Overload of >7% is also associated with risk of death in dialysis cohorts (8, 27-29). For example, Dekker *et al.* reported that, compared with patients considered to be euvolaemic pre-dialysis (defined as Fluid Overload -1.1L to +1.1L), those with pre-dialysis



#### 

values of >+1.1,  $\leq$ +2.5L (equivalent to 7-15% Relative Fluid Overload) and >+2.5,  $\leq$ +5.0L (equivalent to >15% Relative Fluid Overload), hazards of death were increased by 1.6- and 2.7-times, respectively (HR 1.6 [95% CI 1.4-2.0] & 2.7 [95% CI 2.3-3.4]) (8). Similar sized HRs were also reported for BCM assessments of Fluid Overload made after completing a dialysis session (8). Siriopol *et al.* report similar findings comparing haemodialysis patients with moderate (>+1.1L, <+2.5L) and severe (>2.5L) Fluid Overload pre-dialysis to those considered normovolaemic (-1.1L to +1.1L) (HR 1.5 [95% CI 1.2–1.9] & 2.0 [95% CI 1.6–2.6]; respectively) (27).

In peritoneal dialysis (PD) populations, a study by Jotterand Drepper et al. applied the same 15% threshold to a cohort of 54 PD patients and demonstrated a significant association with hazards of death (HR for each for 1-SD [11%] increase in Relative Fluid Overload 7.8 [95% CI 1.1-29.1]) (30). In the IPOD-PD study, van Biesen et al. studied the association between serial measurements of Relative Fluid Overload and mortality in a cohort of 1054 incident PD patients (31). Moderate Relative Fluid Overload was defined as >7% and severe >17.3% (31). The severe threshold value of >17.3% is derived from the 75<sup>th</sup> percentile of their population at 1 month since commencing PD. It was associated with a 59% increased hazards of all-cause mortality (HR 1.6 [95% CI 1.1-2.3], compared with Relative Fluid Overload  $\leq$ 17.3%) (31). In a subgroup analysis of the cohort who developed PD technique failure (composite of death or transfer to haemodialysis), they used the same principle of a cut-off value based on the 75<sup>th</sup> percentile of the study population (who developed technique failure) and therefore a value of >14.4% was used. This was associated with a significantly higher risk of PD technique failure (HR 2.7 ([95% CI 1.8-4.3) (32). O'Lone et al. applied another alternative threshold value of ≥10% (representing the top 30% of the studied cohort), and reported that Relative Fluid Overload of ≥10% was strongly associated with risk of death in 529 patients on PD (HR 2.1 [95% CI 1.4-3.2]) compared to those with <10% Fluid Overload (9). Other cohorts have not assessed the same 17.3% or 10% threshold used in these studies. Of note, it is generally considered that BCM measurements are not affected by presence or absence of peritoneal dialysate, (3) although measurements are generally obtained with dialysate in situ (9, 30), and there is some uncertainty (33).

Data in the non-dialysis CKD population are limited to assessing the relevance of the >7% threshold because of lower levels of fluid overload compared to patients on dialysis. A study by Tsai *et al.* demonstrated that in patients with CKD stages G4-5 not requiring dialysis, Relative Fluid Overload  $\geq$ 7% was associated with about a doubling of the hazards of the composite outcome of death or cardiovascular event (incident myocardial infarction, stroke, peripheral artery disease, or hospitalization for heart failure or arrhythmia) compared to <7%

#### Appendix Page 54 of 75





Fluid Overload (HR 1.9 [95% CI 1.0-3.7]) (6). Associations were similar in a study by Hung *et al.* conducted in patients with CKD stages G3-5 (not requiring dialysis): Relative Fluid Overload  $\geq$ 7% was associated with significantly increased risk of a composite outcome of myocardial infarction, hospitalization for congestive heart failure or unstable angina, or death from cardiovascular causes (HR 2.7 [95% CI 1.1-6.5]) (34). These and other studies have also reported associations between Relative Fluid Overload >7% and kidney disease progression (35, 36), but these may simply reflect Fluid Overload as a marker of risk rather than be directly responsible for CKD progression.



## 5 BASELINE CHARACTERISTICS

In order to assess balance of baseline characteristics between randomized arms of BCM substudy, the following variables recorded at Randomization (or at Screening) will be presented for each of the empagliflozin and placebo groups. All participants with at least one valid BCM measurement will be included, with missing baseline BCM values imputed using methods set out in <u>section 7.1</u>.

Note that these are a subset of the characteristics pre-specified in the main Data Analysis Plan (SOP11; EDMS#6290) plus other measures of anthropometry and BCM measurement variables. Categories will be consistent with those from the main trial publications or subgroup analyses:

- a. History of prior disease:
  - i. Diabetes mellitus (presence vs absence);
  - ii. Self-reported heart failure (presence vs absence);
  - iii. Primary renal diagnosis (diabetic kidney disease, hypertensive/renovascular disease, glomerular disease, other or unknown<sup>1</sup>)
- b. Patient characteristics;
  - i. Age (continuous and categorised: <60;  $\geq 60 < 70$ ;  $\geq 70$  years);
  - ii. Sex (male vs female);
  - iii. Race (White, Black/African American, South Asian, Southeast Asian, Mixed or Other);
  - iv. Smoking status (ever smoked regularly at Randomization, yes vs no);
  - v. Weight in kg\*;
  - vi. Body mass index (BMI) (continuous and categorised: <25; ≥25 <30; ≥30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>);
  - vii. Waist-to-hip ratio\*;
  - viii. Extracelllular water (ECW) in litres\*;
  - ix. Intracellular water (ICW) in litres\*;
  - x. Fluid Overload in litres\*;
  - xi. Relative Fluid Overload (%)\*;
  - xii. Clinically Significant Fluid Overload (%, presence vs absence)\*;
    - Moderate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Other includes tubulointerstitial disease, familial/hereditary nephropathies, other systemic disorders and miscellaneous renal disorders. Glomerular disease is subcategorised as follows: focal segmental glomerulosclerosis, IgA nephropathy, membranous nephropathy, minimal change disease and other glomerular disease.



OXFORD

- Severe (see <u>section 4</u> for definitions)
- xiii. Lean tissue index (LTI) (lean tissue mass [LTM] indexed to height) \*;
- xiv. Fat tissue index (FTI) (adipose tissue mass [ATM] indexed to height) \*;
- xv. Systolic blood pressure (continuous and categorised: <130; ≥130 <145; ≥145 mmHg);</li>
- xvi. Diastolic blood pressure (continuous and categorised: <75; ≥75 <85; ≥85 mmHg);
- c. Laboratory values at Randomization:
  - a. CKD-EPI estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) (continuous and categorised: <30, ≥30 <45, ≥45 mL/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup> estimated from central enzymatic creatinine [or local creatinine where central value unavailable])
  - b. Urinary albumin:creatinine ratio (ACR): (continuous and categorised: <30, ≥30 ≤300, >300 mg/g)
  - c. Glycosylated haemoglobin (HbA1c) (continuous and categorised: <39 [normoglycaemia], ≥39<48 [pre-diabetes], ≥48<75 [well-controlled diabetes], ≥75 [poor glycaemic control] mmol/mol, or missing</li>
  - d. N-terminus prohormone of brain natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP) (continuous and categorised: <110, ≥110 <330, ≥330 ng/L)</li>
  - e. Haematocrit (continuous and categorised: <37%; ≥37% <41%; ≥41%)
- d. Medication use at randomization:
  - i. RAS inhibition (yes vs no);
  - ii. Diuretics (yes vs no, and analyses by type [loop vs thiazide vs mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist vs other potassium-sparing].
  - iii. Antidiabetic medications (yes vs no, and analyses by type [biguanide vs sulphonylurea vs insulin vs DPP-4 inhibitor vs GLP-1 agonist vs other]

\* continuous and categorized into approximate thirds of the distribution.

In general, baseline characteristics presented in publications will include all those listed above, with those provided in main versus subsidiary tables selected based upon relevance to the publication. For continuous variables, mean (standard deviation) will be presented unless the variable has a skewed distribution, in which case median (interquartile range) will be used. For all categorical variables, the number and percentage of participants in the category will be presented. All possible categories will be displayed, zero-filled where necessary, the category 'missing' will only be displayed (e.g. in footnotes) if there are actually missing values.



#### 6 DEFINITIONS OF KEY RANDOMIZED ASSESSMENTS

BCM measurements were specified to be performed at Randomization, 2 and 18 months of Follow-up Visits (EDMS#6251). At these visits, weight, waist circumference, and hip circumference were measured together with blood and urine for central analysis and storage. The COVID-19 pandemic caused a substantial proportion of face-to-face Follow-up Visits to be delayed, however BCM measurements were permitted at later attended Follow-up Visit appointments, as outlined in the table below. Unless otherwise specified, all analyses will involve an intention-to-treat comparison among all randomized participants with at least one valid BCM measurement during Follow-up of the effects of allocation to empagliflozin versus placebo during the scheduled treatment period (i.e. all participants will be included irrespective of whether they take none, some or all of their allocated treatment) (8-10). Handling of missing valid BCM measurements is described in <u>section 7.1</u>.

| Trial visit | Follow-up month | Follow-up period       | Ideal Follow-up day |
|-------------|-----------------|------------------------|---------------------|
| number      |                 |                        |                     |
| 1           | 2               | ≥30, <400 days         | 60 days             |
| 4           | 18              | ≥400 days, until Final | 540 days            |
|             |                 | Follow-up*             |                     |

Scheduled Follow-up Visits relative to the Randomization Visit date

\* Assume <680 days for maximum window for purposes of calculating weighting.

#### 6.1 Hypotheses

For all statistical tests (other than tests for heterogeneity or trend), the null hypothesis will be that the effect of allocation to empagliflozin on the parameter of interest (e.g. Fluid Overload) in the target population is the same as the effect of allocation to placebo (and hence the alternative hypothesis will be that the effect of allocation to empagliflozin is not the same as the effect of allocation to placebo).

#### 6.2 Primary randomized assessment

The primary assessment will be the effect of allocation to empagliflozin on mean absolute Fluid Overload in litres. Effects on Relative Fluid Overload (overhydration indexed to ECW, expressed as a percentage) will be presented alongside. Effects will be averaged over the two Follow-up time points (with weights proportional to the amount of time between visits, see <u>section 7.2.1</u>), adjusted for Randomization Fluid Overload values. The details of analysis methods for the primary assessment are described in <u>section 7.2.1</u>.



#### 6.3 Key secondary randomized assessment

The key secondary composite outcome combines clinical outcome data with BCM measurements. Important data on fluid overload captured by BCM measurements is missed when remote Follow-up visits are necessary (e.g. as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic) or after death, so the composite outcome serves to capture all recorded data on fluid overload and its clinical consequences (whether measured by BCM or reflected in reported adverse events). The key secondary assessment is time-to-first development or worsening of Clinically Significant Fluid Overload. The composite outcome is defined as:

- Death from Heart Failure;
- Hospitalization for Heart Failure (as defined for the main trial analyses in SOP11; EDMS#6290); or
- Development of <u>moderate</u> Clinically Significant Fluid Overload (defined as >7% to ≤15% Relative Fluid Overload) among those without any Clinically Significant Fluid Overload at baseline; or
- Development of <u>severe</u> Clinically Significant Fluid Overload (defined as >15% Relative Fluid Overload) among those without this outcome at baseline.

The analysis method is described in section 7.2.2.

#### 6.4 Other secondary randomized assessment

The other secondary assessment is to test whether the effects of empagliflozin 10mg versus matching placebo on Fluid Overload vary with time – in addition to the primary randomized assessment, analyses will be presented for the separate early (2-month) versus late (18-month) time points. The analysis method is described in <u>section 7.2.3</u>.

#### 6.5 Tertiary randomized assessments including subgroup analyses

Tertiary assessments include:

i. Whether any effects of empagliflozin 10mg versus matching placebo are modified by baseline factors listed in <u>section 5</u> for the primary assessment (absolute Fluid Overload). Subgroups based on sex, diabetes status, NT-proBNP, and eGFR will be the key subgroups and will be emphasised in presentation and interpretation. The sensitivity of subgroup assessments to indexing to ECW will be assessed by repeating subgroup analyses for the outcome of Relative Fluid Overload.

ii. The effects of empagliflozin 10mg versus matching placebo overall, and also early versus later during follow-up on:



- b. Intracellular water (ICW)
- c. Lean tissue index (LTI) (lean tissue mass [LTM] indexed to height)
- d. Fat tissue index (FTI) (adipose tissue mass [ATM] indexed to height)
- e. Body weight
- f. BMI
- g. Waist circumference
- h. Hip circumference
- i. Waist-to-hip ratio

iii. The effects of empagliflozin 10mg versus matching placebo on the four separate components of the key secondary outcome of development or worsening of Clinically Significant Fluid Overload.

iv. The effects of empagliflozin 10mg versus matching placebo on regression of Clinically Significant Fluid Overload from Severe (>15%) to Moderate (>7%); Severe to normal (≤7%); or Moderate to normal.

The analysis method for tertiary assessments is described in section 7.2.4.

## 6.6 Exploratory observational analyses using baseline data

Descriptive cross-sectional analyses correlating baseline characteristics with baseline anthropometry and with baseline BCM measurements will also be performed which will include assessing correlations between:

- Absolute and Relative Fluid Overload and:
  - Age; sex; race; BMI; eGFR; NT-proBNP; urinary ACR; haematocrit; blood pressure; (systolic and diastolic separately); diabetes status; self-reported history of heart failure; primary renal diagnosis; RAS inhibitor use; diuretic (any and by subtype) use; smoking status (ever smoked regularly at Randomization)
- Lean tissue index (LTI), fat tissue index (FTI); and:
  - Age; sex; race; body weight; BMI; waist circumference; hip circumference; waist-to-hip ratio; urinary ACR; blood pressure (systolic and diastolic separately); heart failure (self-reported history of heart failure; NT-proBNP); diabetes mellitus status; HbA1c; diabetes therapy (by class); smoking status (ever smoked regularly at Randomization).

OXFORD



A predictive model for Fluid Overload will be developed using characteristics recorded at baseline (methods outlined in <u>section 7.2.5</u>).

#### 6.7 Exploratory analyses using randomized assessments

Exploratory assessments are planned to better understand how any effects of empagliflozin versus placebo on Fluid Overload compare with related measures. These may include, for example, examining the relationship between effects of empagliflozin versus placebo on BCM parameters (e.g. Fluid Overload, ECW, and ICW) with effects on:

- o Blood pressure
- o eGFR

Exploratory assessments are planned to better understand how any effects of empagliflozin versus placebo on adiposity compare with related measures. These may include, for example, examining the relationship between effects of empagliflozin versus placebo on relevant BCM parameters (lean tissue index and fat tissue index) with its effects on:

- o Body weight; BMI; Waist circumference; Hip circumference; Waist-hip ratio
- o HbA1c

For the potential surrogate endpoint proposed here to be validated in future, this requires confirmation that relative effects of an intervention on the surrogate mirror the size of relative effects on the clinical outcome the surrogate purports to measure. In order to assess if either of the BCM-derived outcomes which are included in the composite outcome of development or worsening of Clinically Significant Fluid Overload could be useful surrogates of the clinical components of the composite (i.e. death or hospitalization for heart failure), the relative effect sizes will be compared. This will require exploratory analyses of the effect of empagliflozin versus placebo on the BCM-derived measures of the development or worsening of Clinically Significant Fluid Overload to be compared to results of randomized assessments of the effect of empagliflozin versus placebo on the composite of death from heart failure or hospitalization for heart failure from the full EMPA-KIDNEY trial cohort of 6609 participants.



#### RC Population Health Research Unit

#### 7 STATISTICAL METHODOLOGY

#### 7.1 Handling of missing and extreme values

Participants with a missing baseline BCM measurement will still be included in analyses if subsequent BCM measurements are obtained within the 2- and/or 18-month Follow-up windows. Missing baseline BCM measurements will be imputed with the average observed value (in both treatment groups combined). Sensitivity analyses will be performed limited to participants with complete baseline BCM data. Participants with missing baseline values relevant to subgroup analyses will be included in the subgroup containing the average value (or the most frequent category for a binary variable). Missing Follow-up BCM measurements including Fluid Overload at 2 and 18 months will be handled in the mixed model repeated measures (MMRM) approach (as outlined in <u>section 7.2.1</u>).

#### 7.2 Methods of analysis

#### 7.2.1 Primary randomized assessment

Absolute Fluid Overload in litres will be analysed as a continuous variable. Extreme outliers (defined as >2 standard deviations from the mean) will be reviewed prior to unblinding to assess data quality and plausibility (see Appendix <u>section 8.1</u>). These analyses will be completed before any randomized comparisons are conducted. Differences in Fluid Overload between treatment groups will be assessed using a mixed model repeated measures (MMRM) approach adjusted for the elements included in the minimization algorithm which determined treatment allocation (age, sex, prior diabetes, eGFR, and urinary ACR [but not region as the BCM substudy was only conducted in Europe]).

The primary assessment will focus on a weighted average of the values at the two Follow-up time points with weighting based on the relative size of each Follow-up window as set out in <u>section 6</u>. As the first Follow-up window (2-month Follow-up) is 370 days (days 30-400 post-Randomization) and the second window (18-month Follow-up) assumed to be 280 days (days 400-680 post-Randomization), this effectively weights information at the first Follow-up visits as 55% compared to 45% at the second. This is appropriate as we hypothesise that there will be a greater effect of empagliflozin versus placebo on Fluid Overload at 2 months versus 18 months as the effect of empagliflozin on Fluid Overload is expected to develop rapidly and diminish over time. Additionally, changes to other medication which can influence fluid balance may occur over time. Time will be included in the model as a categorical variable to avoid assuming a linear association between treatment allocation and Fluid Overload over time. The model will include fixed, categorical effects of treatment allocation, treatment-by-time interaction, and the prognostic variables used in the minimization algorithm (in the same



categories used in the minimization process) along with continuous effects of baseline (randomization) measurements and baseline-by-time interaction. The within-person error correlations will be assumed to be unstructured.

#### 7.2.2 Assessment for key secondary randomized assessment

Time-to-first event analyses will use adjusted Cox regression. The general statistical methods and approaches to subgroup analyses are set out in the main Data Analysis Plan (SOP11; EDMS#6290). Follow-up for the clinical components of the composite outcome will be censored according to the main Data Analysis Plan. Follow-up for the BCM-derived components of the development or worsening of Fluid Overload outcomes (see <u>section 4</u> for definitions) will be censored on the day after the last valid BCM measurement (but these individuals may remain at risk of clinical outcomes) or at death/withdrawal of consent.

#### 7.2.3 Other secondary randomized assessment

The effect of treatment allocation on Fluid Overload separately at 2 and 18 months (see section 6.4) will be analysed using the same MMRM approach outlined in 7.2.1.

#### 7.2.4 Tertiary randomized assessments including subgroup analyses

The same MMRM approach outlined in <u>section 7.2.1</u> will be used for tertiary assessments (i) and (ii) as described in <u>section 6.5</u>. Tertiary assessment (i) is an analysis of the primary outcome by subgroup. Subgroup analysis will be performed by fitting relevant interaction terms for subgroups in the MMRM model with the aim of assessing whether the proportional effects in specific subgroups are statistically different from the overall effect. Interpretation will take into account the number of subgroups assessed as well as biological rationale. Tertiary assessment (ii) will use the same MMRM approach as for the primary assessment (<u>section 7.2.1</u>). Tertiary assessments (iii) and (iv) which analyse effects of treatment allocation on the components of the composite key secondary outcome and regression of Clinically Significant Fluid Overload will be analysed according to the same time-to-event approach outlined in section 7.2.2.

#### 7.2.5 Exploratory observational analyses using baseline data

While the trial is ongoing and unblinded randomized data not yet available, exploratory analyses of baseline data will be possible and may generate hypotheses for subsequent analyses and allow checking of the assumptions made in this Data Analysis Plan. Correlations between Fluid Overload, ECW and ICW; LTI and FTI at baseline with the baseline



characteristics and measurements outlined in <u>section 5</u> will be assessed using univariable and multivariable linear regression models considering confounding and effect modification.

Before unblinding, a predictive model for moderate and severe Clinically Significant Fluid Overload will be developed using characteristics recorded at baseline using linear regression, with predictors selected by backward elimination, with factors remaining in the model if they were statistically significant at the 5% level, and with age, sex and treatment allocation forced to remain irrespective of statistical significance.

#### 7.2.6 Exploratory analyses using randomized assessments

Exploratory assessments are planned to better understand how any effects of empagliflozin versus placebo on BCM-derived measures (Fluid Overload, ECW, ICW, LTI and FTI) compare with effects on related measures (such as blood pressure, eGFR, HbA1c and anthropometric measures, as outlined in <u>section 6.7</u>). Effects will be estimated using the MMRM approach outlined in <u>section 7.2.1</u>, using baseline-adjusted mean follow-up values.

Validation of surrogate endpoints (see key secondary randomized assessment, sections <u>6.3</u> and <u>7.3.2</u>) will use the results of time-to-event analyses of the BCM-derived components of the primary outcome (see tertiary randomized assessment (iii) described in sections <u>6.5</u>, <u>7.2.2</u> and <u>7.2.4</u>) and compare these to results of randomized assessments of the effect of empagliflozin versus placebo on the composite of death from, or hospitalization for heart failure from the full EMPA-KIDNEY trial cohort of 6609 participants (using methods set out in SOP11; EDMS#6290).

Further technical documentation to accompany this Data Analysis Plan may also be added as an appendix, if additional methodological details for the approaches described in <u>section 7</u> are found to be required. In addition to the pre-specified comparisons, other post-hoc analyses may be performed with due allowance for their exploratory and, perhaps, data-dependent nature.

# 8 APPENDIX: DEFINITION OF VALID BCM MEASUREMENTS AND DATA HANDLING CONSIDERATIONS

#### 8.1 Definition of a valid BCM measurement

To be included in analyses, an EMPA-KIDNEY participant must have at least one valid BCM measurement during Follow-up and been allocated to empagliflozin 10mg or matching placebo. To be included in analyses, each BCM measurement must have a corresponding weight measurement recorded at the same visit, from which BCM parameters can be derived according to the procedure set out in EDMS#7248.

Validity of BCM measurements will be assessed, prior to unblinding. Measurements with an absolute Fluid Overload value more negative than -5 litres will be excluded due to implausibility<sup>1</sup>. Measurements with a Q value<sup>2</sup> of <80 (site staff were trained to repeat BCM measurements if the Q value was <80; EDMS#6240) will be identified for visual inspection of the associated Cole-Cole plot<sup>3</sup> to assess data quality and determine inclusion in analyses. Two observers blind to treatment allocation will independently assess Cole-Cole plots by visual inspection, applying pre-specified criteria (outlined in <u>section 8.4</u>), with any differences resolved by consensus discussion.

Information on completeness of valid BCM data at each visit (i.e. number of participants with at least one valid BCM measurement at each visit, no valid BCM measurement but at least one invalid measure, or no BCM measurement) will be presented in the substudy CONSORT flow diagram. Statistical comparisons by treatment will be presented for the following parameters:

- The distribution of Q values for measurements included in the main comparison and sensitivity analyses
- The distribution of time-to-measurements from Randomization for each Follow-up window.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In pilot work, Cole-Cole plots were reviewed for all measurements with absolute Fluid Overload values >2 standard deviations from the mean in a preliminary dataset to inform this cut-off. Values more negative than -5 litres were consistently associated with poor quality Cole-Cole plots. Conversely, outlying positive values were found to consistently have good quality Cole-Cole plots (and are considered plausible results).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Q score is an assessment of data quality generated by the BCM where 100 is a perfect Q value. In pilot work, a random subset of 50 measurements with a Q score  $\geq$ 80 were selected for Cole-Cole plot review. Q scores above this threshold were confirmed to be a reliable indicator of good data quality in the cohort.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Cole-Cole plot generated by the BCM device fits a curve to the measured impedance data and defines the extracellular and intracellular resistances upon which all body composition data are based. Visual inspection of Cole-Cole plots identifies artefact within the impedance data.



#### MRC Population Heal Research Unit

#### 8.2 Handling multiple BCM measurements

#### 8.2.1 Multiple valid BCM measurements at the same visit

In all analyses, if more than one valid BCM measurement is available at a single Follow-up visit (i.e. date), the measurement with the highest Q value will be used and additional measurements ignored. In the situation where >1 valid measurements are obtained with an identical Q value, the first measurement will be used.

#### 8.2.2 Multiple valid BCM measurements within a Follow-up window

In all analyses, if valid BCM measurements are made on more than one day within a Followup period, then the valid BCM measurement made on the day nearest the ideal follow-up day will be used and other BCM measurement excluded (see<u>section 6</u> for Follow-up days). In the situation where >1 valid BCM measurements are obtained within the Follow-up window on dates which are equidistant from the ideal Follow-up date, a mean value will be calculated and used in analyses. This is considered a more scientifically robust approach in this unique situation due to the hypothesised interaction of time in the association between treatment allocation and Fluid Overload which means that selecting one or other equidistant measurement on the basis of Q values could introduce bias.

#### 8.2.3 Multiple measurements at different visits on a single BCM card

Where data for two separate visits is recorded on a single BCM card, valid BCM results will be derived for the separate visits, wherever possible.



### 8.3 Data processing: BCM variables

The BCM provides measurement of:

- Extracellular water (ECW) resistance (denoted as R<sub>e</sub>)
- Intracellular water (ICW) resistance (denoted as R<sub>i</sub>)

BCM data are downloaded to study-specific laptops in a .pat file format and imported into a Microsoft Excel<sup>™</sup> spreadsheet according to the procedure set out in EDMS#7248.

The following data are extracted from the analysis database to allow processing of the BCM data:

- Age, recorded in whole years at the time of each BCM measurement
- Weight, measured in kilograms, at the time of each BCM measurement
- Height, measured in centimetres, at Randomization
- Sex, recorded as male or female, at Randomization

along with Re and Ri reported by the BCM

Standard formulae will be applied to methodology described by Moissl and Chamney et al (11,

12) <sup>1</sup> to derive the following:

- Body mass index (BMI) in kg/m<sup>2</sup> using height and weight
- Extracellular water (ECW) in litres
- Intracellular water (ICW) in litres
- Total body water (TBW) in litres, by addition of ECW and ICW values
- Absolute Fluid Overload in litres
- Relative Fluid Overload (indexed to ECW), expressed as %
- Lean tissue index (LTI)
- Fat tissue index (FTI)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Methods will use different coefficients to those available in published the current literature (coefficients which have been shared with permission).



### 8.4 Criteria for rejecting BCM measurements by Cole-Cole plot visual inspection



The two diagrams below provide a basic interpretation of the Cole-Cole plot:

When manually reviewing Cole-Cole plots generated by the BCM for quality assurance, the following rule will be used to classify measurements as having poor data quality.

KEY CRITERION: In the opinion of the observer blind to treatment allocation, a good quality Cole-Cole plot should have the basic structure of a parabola, ignoring any artefacts at the high and low frequency end, and the plotted blue curve should closely fit the raw data red. Examples of good ("pass") and poor ("fail") quality bioimpedance data are provided below:



Parabola with good fit of plotted curve against raw data



Ignoring artefact at high frequency, acceptable parabola with good fit



Raw data is not parabolic in shape & consequently poor fit



OXFORD

Unacceptable fit of plotted curve against raw data

Note: review of the Cole-Cole plot is not affected by the height or width of the plot, length of either end of a parabola, nor its position in the plot region.



#### 8.5 Sensitivity analyses

Data quality assessment outlined in <u>section 8.1</u> will be used to determine data inclusion in the primary analysis. Sensitivity analyses will also be conducted to assess the impact of the data quality assessments on the effects of empagliflozin versus placebo on the primary randomized assessment. These include analyses:

- Of all single BCM measurements, irrespective of quality assessment or outlying values (i.e. the complete "unreviewed" set)
- Restricted to single BCM measurements with a Q value ≥80 (i.e. a stricter criterion than the primary approach)

The criteria outlined in <u>section 8.1</u> are thought to represent the optimal data quality assessment procedure to determine inclusion in the primary analysis and these sensitivity analyses represent the two alternative most extreme approaches.



#### REFERENCES

1. Wabel P, Moissl U, Chamney P, Jirka T, Machek P, Ponce P, et al. Towards improved cardiovascular management: the necessity of combining blood pressure and fluid overload. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2008;23(9):2965-71.

2. Wang Y, Gu Z. Effect of bioimpedance-defined overhydration parameters on mortality and cardiovascular events in patients undergoing dialysis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Int Med Res. 2021;49(9):3000605211031063.

3. Van Biesen W, Williams JD, Covic AC, Fan S, Claes K, Lichodziejewska-Niemierko M, et al. Fluid status in peritoneal dialysis patients: the European Body Composition Monitoring (EuroBCM) study cohort. PLoS One. 2011;6(2):e17148.

4. Wizemann V, Wabel P, Chamney P, Zaluska W, Moissl U, Rode C, et al. The mortality risk of overhydration in haemodialysis patients. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2009;24(5):1574-9.

5. Tabinor M, Elphick E, Dudson M, Kwok CS, Lambie M, Davies SJ. Bioimpedancedefined overhydration predicts survival in end stage kidney failure (ESKF): systematic review and subgroup meta-analysis. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):4441.

6. Tsai YC, Chiu YW, Tsai JC, Kuo HT, Hung CC, Hwang SJ, et al. Association of fluid overload with cardiovascular morbidity and all-cause mortality in stages 4 and 5 CKD. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2015;10(1):39-46.

7. Zoccali C, Moissl U, Chazot C, Mallamaci F, Tripepi G, Arkossy O, et al. Chronic Fluid Overload and Mortality in ESRD. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2017;28(8):2491-7.

8. Dekker MJ, Marcelli D, Canaud BJ, Carioni P, Wang Y, Grassmann A, et al. Impact of fluid status and inflammation and their interaction on survival: a study in an international hemodialysis patient cohort. Kidney Int. 2017;91(5):1214-23.

9. O'Lone EL, Visser A, Finney H, Fan SL. Clinical significance of multi-frequency bioimpedance spectroscopy in peritoneal dialysis patients: independent predictor of patient survival. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2014;29(7):1430-7.

10. Gheorghiade M, Follath F, Ponikowski P, Barsuk JH, Blair JE, Cleland JG, et al. Assessing and grading congestion in acute heart failure: a scientific statement from the acute heart failure committee of the heart failure association of the European Society of Cardiology and endorsed by the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine. Eur J Heart Fail. 2010;12(5):423-33.

11. Njoroge JN, Teerlink JR. Pathophysiology and Therapeutic Approaches to Acute Decompensated Heart Failure. Circ Res. 2021;128(10):1468-86.

12. Caravaca F, Martínez del Viejo C, Villa J, Martínez Gallardo R, Ferreira F. Hydration status assessment by multi-frequency bioimpedance in patients with advanced chronic kidney disease. Nefrologia. 2011;31(5):537-44.

13. Alves FD, Souza GC, Clausell N, Biolo A. Prognostic role of phase angle in hospitalized patients with acute decompensated heart failure. Clin Nutr. 2016;35(6):1530-4.

14. Castillo Martínez L, Colín Ramírez E, Orea Tejeda A, Asensio Lafuente E, Bernal Rosales LP, Rebollar González V, et al. Bioelectrical impedance and strength measurements in patients with heart failure: comparison with functional class. Nutrition. 2007;23(5):412-8.

15. Colín-Ramírez E, Castillo-Martínez L, Orea-Tejeda A, Vázquez-Durán M, Rodríguez AE, Keirns-Davis C. Bioelectrical impedance phase angle as a prognostic marker in chronic heart failure. Nutrition. 2012;28(9):901-5.

16. Trejo-Velasco B, Fabregat-Andrés Ó, Montagud V, Morell S, Núñez J, Fácila L. Prognostic value of analysing the bioimpedance vector for patients hospitalised for acute decompensated heart failure: A validation cohort. Rev Clin Esp (Barc). 2016;216(3):121-5.

17. Sakaguchi T, Yasumura K, Nishida H, Inoue H, Furukawa T, Shinouchi K, et al. Quantitative Assessment of Fluid Accumulation Using Bioelectrical Impedance Analysis in Patients With Acute Decompensated Heart Failure. Circ J. 2015;79(12):2616-22.





18. Chamney PW, Wabel P, Moissl UM, Müller MJ, Bosy-Westphal A, Korth O, et al. A whole-body model to distinguish excess fluid from the hydration of major body tissues. Am J Clin Nutr. 2007;85(1):80-9.

 Wabel P, Chamney P, Moissl U, Jirka T. Importance of whole-body bioimpedance spectroscopy for the management of fluid balance. Blood Purif. 2009;27(1):75-80.
Wabel P CP, Moissl U et al., editor Reproducibility of bioimpedance spectroscopy (BIS) for the assessment of body composition and dry weight. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2007; 18 A: 255.

 Hannan WJ, Cowen SJ, Plester CE, Fearon KC, deBeau A. Comparison of bioimpedance spectroscopy and multi-frequency bio-impedance analysis for the assessment of extracellular and total body water in surgical patients. Clin Sci (Lond). 1995;89(6):651-8.
Wieskotten S, Heinke S, Wabel P, Moissl U, Becker J, Pirlich M, et al. Bioimpedance-

based identification of malnutrition using fuzzy logic. Physiol Meas. 2008;29(5):639-54.

23. Caetano C, Valente A, Oliveira T, Garagarza C. Body Composition and Mortality Predictors in Hemodialysis Patients. J Ren Nutr. 2016;26(2):81-6.

24. Chazot C, Wabel P, Chamney P, Moissl U, Wieskotten S, Wizemann V. Importance of normohydration for the long-term survival of haemodialysis patients. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2012;27(6):2404-10.

25. Kim YJ, Jeon HJ, Kim YH, Jeon J, Ham YR, Chung S, et al. Overhydration measured by bioimpedance analysis and the survival of patients on maintenance hemodialysis: a single-center study. Kidney Res Clin Pract. 2015;34(4):212-8.

26. Onofriescu M, Siriopol D, Voroneanu L, Hogas S, Nistor I, Apetrii M, et al. Overhydration, Cardiac Function and Survival in Hemodialysis Patients. PLoS One. 2015;10(8):e0135691.

27. Siriopol D, Siriopol M, Stuard S, Voroneanu L, Wabel P, Moissl U, et al. An analysis of the impact of fluid overload and fluid depletion for all-cause and cardiovascular mortality. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2019;34(8):1385-93.

28. Siriopol D, Voroneanu L, Hogas S, Apetrii M, Gramaticu A, Dumea R, et al. Bioimpedance analysis versus lung ultrasonography for optimal risk prediction in hemodialysis patients. Int J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2016;32(2):263-70.

29. Siriopol I, Siriopol D, Voroneanu L, Covic A. Predictive abilities of baseline measurements of fluid overload, assessed by bioimpedance spectroscopy and serum N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide, for mortality in hemodialysis patients. Arch Med Sci. 2017;13(5):1121-9.

30. Jotterand Drepper V, Kihm LP, Kälble F, Diekmann C, Seckinger J, Sommerer C, et al. Overhydration Is a Strong Predictor of Mortality in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients - Independently of Cardiac Failure. PLoS One. 2016;11(7):e0158741.

31. Van Biesen W, Verger C, Heaf J, Vrtovsnik F, Britto ZML, Do JY, et al. Evolution Over Time of Volume Status and PD-Related Practice Patterns in an Incident Peritoneal Dialysis Cohort. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2019;14(6):882-93.

32. Vrtovsnik F, Verger C, Van Biesen W, Fan S, Shin SK, Rodríguez C, et al. The impact of volume overload on technique failure in incident peritoneal dialysis patients. Clin Kidney J. 2021;14(2):570-7.

33. Arroyo D, Panizo N, Abad S, Vega A, Rincón A, de José AP, et al. Intraperitoneal fluid overestimates hydration status assessment by bioimpedance spectroscopy. Perit Dial Int. 2015;35(1):85-9.

34. Hung SC, Lai YS, Kuo KL, Tarng DC. Volume overload and adverse outcomes in chronic kidney disease: clinical observational and animal studies. J Am Heart Assoc. 2015;4(5).

35. Liu AYL, Pek S, Low S, Moh A, Ang K, Tang WE, et al. Association of overhydration and serum pigment epithelium-derived factor with CKD progression in diabetic kidney disease: A prospective cohort study. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2021;174:108754.



36. Schork A, Bohnert BN, Heyne N, Birkenfeld AL, Artunc F. Overhydration Measured by Bioimpedance Spectroscopy and Urinary Serine Protease Activity Are Risk Factors for Progression of Chronic Kidney Disease. Kidney Blood Press Res. 2020;45(6):955-68.

37. Peto R, Peto J. Asymptotically Efficient Rank Invariant Test Procedures. 1972;135(2):185-207.

38. Peto R, Pike MC, Armitage P, Breslow NE, Cox DR, Howard SV, et al. Design and analysis of randomized clinical trials requiring prolonged observation of each patient. I. Introduction and design. Br J Cancer. 1976;34(6):585-612.

39. Jaffrin MY, Morel H. Body fluid volumes measurements by impedance: A review of bioimpedance spectroscopy (BIS) and bioimpedance analysis (BIA) methods. Med Eng Phys. 2008;30(10):1257-69.

#### UNIVERSITY OF GLASGOW

Data Management Plan template for PGR students

| 1. Overview           |   |  |  |  |
|-----------------------|---|--|--|--|
| Student name          | Kaitlin Mayne (KM)  |  |  |  |
| Supervisor name       | Prof Paddy Mark (PM) & Dr Jennifer Lees (JL)                          |  |  |  |
|                       | [& Associate Prof Will G. Herrington (WGH), University of Oxford,     |  |  |  |
|                       | EMPA-KIDNEY Co-Chief Investigator]                                    |  |  |  |
|                       | [Support from Professor Richard Haynes (RH), University of Oxford,    |  |  |  |
|                       | EMPA-KIDNEY Co-Chief Investigator]                                    |  |  |  |
| Project title         | The effect of empagliflozin on overhydration and adiposity in chronic |  |  |  |
|                       | kidney disease measured by bioimpedance spectroscopy                  |  |  |  |
| Funder & award number | Nuffield Department of Population Health, University of Oxford        |  |  |  |
| Project Summary       | Study of the effect of empagliflozin on fluid overload measured by    |  |  |  |
|                       | bioimpedance spectroscopy [using Fresenius Body Composition           |  |  |  |
|                       | Monitor (BCM) device] in people with chronic kidney disease used      |  |  |  |
|                       | randomised controlled trial data (EMPA-KIDNEY). Further analyses      |  |  |  |
|                       | will also be conducted examining associations between fluid overload  |  |  |  |
|                       | (measured by bioimpedance spectroscopy) and various measured          |  |  |  |
|                       | characteristics and clinical outcomes.                                |  |  |  |

#### 2. Data

What types of data will be collected or created?

Study identifier, age, sex, anthropometry, serum and urine biomarkers, other clinical data including medication use and kidney disease status and BCM measurements.

What formats will you use?

Data is already being collected using a bespoke online trial data collection system (*Livia*). From this, a data management team will derive relevant fields into CDISC STDM domains for analyses. BCM-specific data are collected on BCM cards linked to the participant and transferred using a standardised process into a backed up substudy laptop system, from which BCM measurements will be derived for analysis.

How much data will you collect?

Data on 664 trial participants participating in BCM substudy. Recruitment is complete (6609 participants in main EMPA-KIDNEY trial) and follow-up ongoing. BCM data has been collected at randomisation and 2 month follow-up and 18 month data collection is ongoing.

3. Documentation

How will the data be documented and described?

Data dictionary created according to standards outlined below

Are there any standards for this in your field of research?

Clinical Data Interchange Standards Consortium (CDISC) Study Data Tabulation Model (SDTM) used in clinical trials

4. Ethics and Intellectual Property

Who owns the data in your project?

Co-owned by Nuffield Department of Population Health (NDPH), University of Oxford and trial sponsor, Boehringer Ingelheim.

Detail any ethical, legal or commercial considerations relating to your research data

Ethical approval is in place for EMPA-KIDNEY [Oxford Research Ethics Committee (REC) reference number: 18/SC/0155; IRAS project ID: 236211]. The substantial amendment pertaining to the BCM substudy is dated 14 March 2019. The trial sponsor is Boehringer Ingelheim who provide the study drug and any publications resulting from the BCM substudy will need to be approved by the Steering Committee however the data is co-owned by NDPH.

How will these concerns be dealt with?

Data will remain within NDPH and only be shared externally (with PM & JL) in a limited manner where required for this project – access to analyses but not direct access to raw data. We will explore whether a Confidential Disclosure Agreement is required or whether existing permissions will suffice as the University of Glasgow is an EMPA-KIDNEY site (Glasgow Clinical Research Facility, Queen Elizabeth University Hospital, Glasgow).

5. Storage and organisation

How will the data be named, organised and structured?

A pseudonmymised dataset ready for analysis will be derived from the SDTM data in a suitable format to be used with statistical software (eg. dta file for use with Stata). This will be named such as "EMPA-KIDNEY\_BCM\_dataset\_MASTER\_date" with subsequent copies created during analysis and stored in a systematic manner, preserving the original data file.

How will the data be stored for the duration of the project?

A specific folder will be requested on the NDPH network drive to which only myself and the Chief/Co-Principal Investigators (WGH and RH) will have access. This will be accessed via a departmental encrypted laptop or desktop only.

How will the data be backed up during the project?

Raw BCM data and analysis data will be stored on K:EMPA network drive and subject to daily back up and "EMPA-KIDNEY Disaster Recovery Plan" [Electronic Document Management System (EDMS) reference number 6154] which includes an outline of the strategy used in recovery of the *Livia* database were this ever required.

Does access to the data need to be controlled for the duration of the project?

Yes (see earlier), especially until unblinded data from the trial is published. Unblinded analyses will not be possible until the completion of the main trial (due in 2022) but analyses of baseline data can begin at the time of writing.

Who has the right to access the data during the project? KM, WGH and RH.

6. Deposit and long-term preservation

Which data should be retained long-term?

All data will need to be maintained for at least 25 years from trial completion to be consistent with consent and trial regulations.

How long will data be retained for?

At least 25 years.

Where will the data be archived at the end of the project?

NDPH servers.

What formats will the data be archived in?

As earlier described using CDISC SDTM formats.

7. Data sharing

Is any of the data suitable for sharing?

Data sharing will not be possible during the course of this PhD, but once all planned publications are complete, open access sharing of data will be implemented according to local internal policy.

How will the data be shared?

According to local internal policy.

Who should be able to access and use the shared data? Open access.

8. Implementation

Who is responsible for implementing this plan?

Already implemented under the responsibility of Chief Investigator and co-Principal Investigator (WGH/RH).

How will this plan be kept up-to-date?

Reviewed annually by KM & WGH as required by UoG however established trial processes are not expected to change.

What actions are necessary to implement this plan?

KM to maintain documentation and storage of data according to DMP with oversight from WGH. What training or further information are needed to implement this plan?

UoG Introduction to Research Data Management for PGRs course to be completed by end of first year.